

Report of the New York State Bar Association **Task Force on the New York Bar Examination**

April 2020

The views expressed in this report are solely those of the Task Force and do not represent those of the New York State Bar Association unless and until adopted by the House of Delegates.

Report of the NYSBA Task Force on the New York Bar Examination

March 5, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

I.	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 1				
II.	INTRODUCTION				
III.	BACKGROUND				
	A. The New York Bar Examination Prior to the Adoption of the UBE				
	B.	BOLE Proposal to Change to the UBE			
		(i)	Background		
		(ii)	Rationale	12	
	C.	Consi	deration of the UBE Proposal	12	
		(i)	Public Comment Period	12	
		(ii)	Advisory Committee Recommendation	15	
	D.	Decision by Court of Appeals to Adopt the UBE			
		(i)	Rationale	17	
		(ii)	Expectations	17	
	E.	Current State of the Bar Exam			
		(i)	UBE	18	
		(ii)	State-Specific Requirement for Admission	20	
IV.	THE EFFECT OF NEW YORK'S ADOPTION OF THE UBE			21	
	A.	Anecdotal Evidence of a Problem			
	B.	Public Hearings Across the State			
		(i)	Western New York	22	
		(ii)	Nassau County	23	
		(iii)	Capital Region	24	
	C.	Viewp	points of the Deans of New York Law Schools	25	
	D.	Studer	nt Survey	28	
	E.	Presentations from Experts and Studies on Bar Exams		28	
		(i)	Alternative Approaches to Licensing Lawyers: Presentations of Professor Deborah Merritt and Dean Judith Wegner on Assessing Legal Competency	28	
		(ii)	Building a Better Bar Exam: Report by Andrea A. Curcio, Carol L. Chomsky, and Eileen Kaufman		
		(iii)	Assessing the Transition to the UBE: Professors Suzanne Darrow- Kleinhaus and Allison Robbins	25	
		(iv)	New York Study on the Transition to the UBE		
		(\mathbf{v})	NCBE Study on the Transition to the UBE		

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

	F.	Meeting with the BOLE			
V.	FINDINGS				
	A.	The Lost Purpose of the Bar Exam			
	B.	The NYLE has Failed			
	C.	The Problems with the UBE	44		
		1. Understanding the Methodology	45		
		2. Summary of the Issue	47		
		3. The Reliability Issue: Scaling the Written Component to the MBE	48		
		4. The Low Correlation Between the Written Component and the MBE is Attributable to Differences in the Skills and Knowledge Tested	52		
		5. The MBE Issue			
	D.	The Loss of Meaningful New York Testing			
	E.	The Devaluation of New York Law and the Teaching of New York Law	61		
	F.	The Undue Predominance of Multiple-Choice Questions and its Disparities	62		
	G.	The Portability Issue	64		
	H.	Foreign Law School Graduates			
	I.	Employment and Employers	68		
VI.	OPTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS		68		
		1. Do Nothing	70		
		2. Eliminate the NYLC and NYLE	70		
		3. A More Robust New York Test Component	70		
		4. UBE and New York Choices	73		
		5. UBE Plus New York Test	74		
		6. New York Law Certification	76		
		7. New York CLEs	77		
		8. Study and Reform the UBE	77		
		9. Experiential Learning Pilot Program	78		
VII.	CONC	CONCLUSION			

I. <u>EXECUTIVE SUMMARY</u>

The Task Force on the New York Bar Examination (the "Task Force") was formed in April 2019 by then-President Michael Miller to investigate and report on the impact of New York's adoption of the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE) on applicants, on the qualifications and relevant legal knowledge of newly-admitted New York attorneys, on potential employers, on members of the Bar, on the court system, and on diversity in the profession. This report sets forth the results of our work and our recommendations for New York's bar examination.

We begin with a simple statement of fact: New York no longer has its own bar examination. It uses the UBE. As the rules of the Court of Appeals declare, the New York State bar examination consists of the UBE, developed by the National Conference of Bar Examiners (NCBE).¹ The only component of the bar examination experience that "tests" New York law is the New York Law Examination (NYLE) which, while an examination in name, is not an examination in fact. It is a means, according to the New York Board of Law Examiners (BOLE), to give candidates exposure to important principles of New York law. Candidates are not required to demonstrate that they have meaningful knowledge of New York law. The BOLE acknowledges that the "initial versions" of the NYLE were "overly simplistic," but claims the NYLE has become "more challenging overall." Since the NYLE has only been administered since 2016, it is disheartening that the bulk of its administrations were, even for an exercise in consciousness-raising, "overly simplistic."

As set forth in this report, we have identified serious problems with both the UBE and the NYLE. The NYLE is not taken seriously as a test by anyone and is widely held in disrepute. Even with its low bar for passage, there are incidents of cheating, which are compounded by applicants attesting in affirmations that they did not cheat, with no effective means of either policing the administration of the test or policing the accuracy of the anti-cheating affirmations. It is ironic that one of the first steps a prospective attorney takes on the path to admission may be to dissemble on the affirmation relating to honesty in taking the NYLE.

The UBE, with its reliance on testing the "law of nowhere," has led to the training of lawyers on matters that bear little relation to the legal issues that they will encounter in practice. The grading and scoring practices are questionable and no independent analysis has been conducted into whether the UBE accurately measures what it purports to assess. While we are cognizant that a three-year study has recently been published as to New York's experience with the UBE, we are concerned by the fact that the study was conducted by the NCBE, which is the sponsor of the UBE. It is as if the author of a book wrote its own book review. Moreover, even that study finds that the UBE perpetuates a disparate impact to women and, to some extent, minorities. While that study reports that the disparate impact is no greater than under the former testing regime, we are not satisfied with leaving a known disparate impact in place on the premise that it was not made worse.

The vaunted portability of the UBE benefits, at best, a minority of New York test takers, while the majority of test takers are admitted to practice in New York without having to demonstrate any knowledge of New York law. For the most part, foreign law school graduates, who now comprise roughly one-third of the New York test takers, use their New York admission

¹ 22 N.Y.C.R.R. § 520.8(a).

only as a credential, without practicing here. In the main, scores are transferred out of state, not into New York. Since UBE scores can be used for portability only for three years, and many states, including New York, permit admission after five years of practice elsewhere, the portability of the UBE is limited under any circumstances.

We can debate whether any test can properly measure an applicant's ability to practice law in New York. Nevertheless, the adoption of the UBE has had the unintended, though foreseeable, consequence of rendering applicants less, not more, equipped to meet the challenges of practicing law in New York. And this may not be entirely the test's fault. What we have learned is that many of the New York-based law schools, in adjusting to the UBE, have ceased offering courses in New York law and students have similarly stopped enrolling in the courses that are offered. Law students are incentivized to study that which is most relevant to their most immediate objective—passing the bar exam. Law schools, whose rankings and accreditation may be dependent to a significant degree on their bar passage rate, are incentivized to teach to the bar. If New York law is not a bar exam tested subject, law students are disinclined, in general, to study it and law schools are less inclined, in general, to teach it.

There was a time when debates as to legal education centered around whether it was more beneficial to attend a "New York" law school or one that considered itself "national." We never thought, however, that New York law would not be included in a meaningful way on any examination for admission to the New York State Bar. It is likewise almost unfathomable that there are those who maintain that there is no need to test New York law at all, just some New York distinctions from otherwise generally accepted legal principles. Most important, because the primary arguments in favor of the UBE center around convenience or lack of hardship to bar applicants, we are concerned that the focus of the bar examination has shifted away from its primary purpose—the protection of the public from attorneys lacking competence. We should not be ashamed or embarrassed for wanting those attorneys who desire to practice law in New York to meet the highest standards—not just the least common denominator.

We need to cease the administration of the NYLE as soon as possible as that examination is so lightly-regarded as to be unworthy of our State. We need to demand independent answers to the scoring and grading questions surrounding the UBE. We cannot simply rely upon the assurances of NCBE, which composes, licenses, and scores the UBE, as to the quality of its own product. Regardless of whether or not the UBE is retained, a rigorous New York component must be added as a prerequisite for admission to practice in New York. Otherwise, the problem of unprepared newly-admitted attorneys practicing law in New York will only get worse, to the great disadvantage of New York consumers of legal services. Adding a rigorous New York component also has the advantage of giving New York the opportunity to mitigate its existing dependence upon the UBE scoring regimen as well as the opportunity to develop our own innovative methods for truly testing lawyer competency. We also believe that a new New York bar examination could test on subjects that, while not New York specific, are quite relevant to practice in New York and which are not currently tested on the UBE. As Dean Craig M. Boise of Syracuse University College of Law has pointed out, important subjects such as cybersecurity and data privacy, as well as the law of health care and corporate compliance, are not currently tested.² We also believe that attorneys seeking admission to New York after five years of practice elsewhere should likewise be required to pass a New York law-based examination.

The UBE has led to the admission in New York of law graduates who do not intend to practice here and use New York admission as a mere credential. This is imposing an unforeseen but potentially significant regulatory burden in New York. New York requires that admitted attorneys register in New York, and pay a registration fee, prior to taking the constitutional oath, then re-register every two years.³ Examination of the published orders of suspensions of attorneys for failure to register reflect a high incidence of out-of-state addresses, frequently comprising an overwhelming majority of the names listed. While these suspensions thus far have typically involved attorneys admitted for at least several years, we are concerned that at least some newly-admitted attorneys may not register or stay registered, leading to enforcement activities by the disciplinary authorities. The admission in New York of substantial numbers of attorneys who do not stay registered is an unanticipated burden on New York's disciplinary processes. It is also unclear whether there is any effective complaint process, let alone disciplinary process, for attorneys admitted to practice in New York but who do not, in fact, practice here and who commit acts of professional misconduct elsewhere. If such attorneys are admitted elsewhere, reciprocal discipline could be imposed as the result of a New York disciplinary process but, in order for a disciplinary proceeding to be brought, notice of the foreign discipline must be provided.

As detailed in this Report, we recommend:

- The NYLE be eliminated;
- Passage of a rigorous examination on New York law should be made a prerequisite to admission to the New York Bar;
- An independent psychometric analysis should be conducted on the grading and scaling of the UBE;
- Pending such analysis, the UBE should be retained to accommodate law graduates, especially foreign law school graduates, who seek admission to American UBE jurisdictions; however, any graduates who seek New York admission should pass a separate, rigorous New York based test. Those who pass the UBE in New York should receive from the BOLE an appropriate certification that they passed.
- While the Multi-State Bar Examination (MBE) and the Multistate Performance Test (MPT) should be re-examined, pending their revision, law graduates who intend to practice only in New York would need to take the MBE and MPT and pass a separate, rigorous New York based test;
- Alternatively, if the UBE continues as it is now, no candidate should be admitted in New York without passing a separate, rigorous New York law-based examination. We acknowledge that this would require an additional day of

² Craig M. Boise, Dean of Syracuse University College of Law, Keynote Address to the NYSBA Judicial Section, (Jan. 31, 2020).

³ N.Y. JUD. LAW § 468-a; 22 N.Y.C.R.R. § 118.1.

testing but we cannot endorse perpetuating the current system, which favors a minority of test-takers and disadvantages New York consumers of legal services who do not benefit if we continue to admit attorneys who have not demonstrated any meaningful knowledge of New York law. Furthermore, there are means readily available to mitigate any hardship;

- We urge consideration of a New York Law Certification program that would permit people to forego the bar exam entirely. Under this path, ABA-accredited law schools inside and outside New York would offer courses meeting defined criteria as to New York-law based content. For example, a course on New York Civil Procedure would be entirely credited towards a New York certification, while a course on Evidence could give partial credit if the curriculum contained a specific amount of New York law content. Students have to graduate with a sufficient grade point average in a sufficient number of New York course credits; and
- We also recommend consideration of an experiential learning pilot program, modeled on New Hampshire's Daniel Webster Scholars Honors Program. Students would be permitted to enter the program after their first year of law school and spend their second and third years counseling clients, working with practicing lawyers, conducting depositions, participating in court appearances, negotiating business documents, thus creating a portfolio of work to be assessed every semester.

II. INTRODUCTION

Admission to the New York Bar has traditionally been regarded as the gold standard in the legal profession. The common law of the State of New York is one of the foremost, if not the foremost, set of governing legal principles in the world.⁴ There is no federal general common law.⁵ While federal law displaces state law in narrow areas involving uniquely federal interests,⁶ American common law is determined by the states. No state has been more influential in the development of American common law than New York. Since 1848, the New York Court of Appeals has been widely-recognized as America's leading expositor of common law. Led by such distinguished Chief Judges as Benjamin Cardozo, Stanley Fuld, Charles Breitel, Judith Kaye, and now Janet DiFiore, the Court has created a body of common law and other jurisprudence that is truly a beacon to the world. New York is the leading law of choice for contracting parties who agree to have their disputes governed by American law.

⁴ See Deutsche Bank Nat'l Trust Co. v. Barclays Bank PLC, — N.Y.3d —, 2019 N.Y. Slip Op. 08519, 2019 WL 6255792, at *1 (2019) ("New York State is a national and international leader in commerce. As a result, large numbers of contracting parties in the United States include New York choice-of-law and forum selection clauses in their contracts. This fact amplifies the effect of every decision made by this Court in the area of contract law.").

⁵ See Erie R.R. Co. v. Tompkins, 304 U.S. 64, 78 (1938); Republic of Iraq v. ABB AG, 768 F.3d 145, 172 (2d Cir. 2004).

⁶ See Texas Indus., Inc. v. Radcliff Materials, Inc., 451 U.S. 630, 641-42 (1981); O'Melveny & Myers v. FDIC, 512 U.S. 79, 87 (1994); see also 29 U.S.C. § 1144(a) (Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 § 514(a)).

On the occasion of the Court's 150th anniversary, the prominence of the Court was justly celebrated:

During its first 150 years, the New York Court of Appeals has had more impact on more areas of law than any other court in the United States. Other state courts—the California Supreme Court in the Traynor era, the New Jersey Supreme Court under Chief Justice Weintraub, to take two obvious examples have had enormous impact, but no other state court has generated leading case after leading case in every decade for 150 years. Federal courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have had an enormous impact on American law, but that impact has been concentrated in public law; no federal court has exerted influence comparable to that of the Court of Appeals over the wide range of problems that confront most Americans in their everyday lives: contracts, torts, property, trusts, wills, divorce law (to name a few).

Why has the Court of Appeals exercised such influence? In part, because of New York's importance as a center of commerce and finance. In large measure, however, the significance of the Court of Appeals' decisions is attributable to the wisdom (and the style) of the judges who have graced the Court during its first century and a half. The leading law school casebooks—the sources that introduce law students into the profession—are filled with Court of Appeals opinions, most of them chosen because they serve as the best exposition of important legal principles.⁷

New York has developed a stable, reliable body of common law worthy of its central role as a global financial center. New York common law has become the choice nationally and internationally.

"The substantive benefits to international and domestic businesses of New York law and New York courts and arbitral tribunals have made it a common choice for business contracts around the globe."⁸ In the ever-expanding arbitration arena, the parties to contracts containing arbitration clauses frequently designate New York law to govern issues of arbitrability, the interpretation of the contract, and its enforcement.⁹

This primacy of New York law carries with it a concomitant need for attorneys knowledgeable in New York law, whether to litigate a personal injury case, to prepare a will or trust, or to guide a complex international financial transaction.

New York's status as a world-leading commercial center, with active and influential bar associations and a deep and creative bar, militates toward, not against, New York-centric

⁷ Stewart E. Sterk, *The New York Court of Appeals: 150 Years of Leading Decisions*, 48 SYRACUSE L. REV. 1391, 1392 (1998).

⁸ Andre R. Jaglom & Michael W. Galligan, *New York Law as the Gold Standard Choice for Global Business Contracts*, 91 NYSBA JOURNAL 13, 14 (Nov. 2019).

⁹ See, e.g., N.J.R. Assocs. v. Tausend, 19 N.Y.3d 597, 602 (2012) (interpreting contract expressly stating that "New York law shall govern both the agreement and its enforcement"); see also Siegel & Connors, New York Practice §§ 588, 607 (6th ed. Thomson 2018).

principles. New York is an incubator of ideas and initiatives and should not be afraid to take the road less traveled. For example, the New York courts recently revised and extended its Standards of Civility, thus assuming a leadership role in heightening focus on civility and its role in today's world. New York and its attorneys should not shy away from things that make them different.

New York attorneys are and should be proud of New York's historic leadership role in American and international law. Until the advent of the UBE, admission to the New York Bar certified that the attorney had the competence and fitness to practice, not just anywhere, but in New York, the veritable mothership of American law. With the adoption of the UBE, it is no longer necessary for an attorney to know anything about New York law to gain admission. We now actually have two distinct groups of New York Bar members: those who happen to be admitted here though utterly lacking in our laws and those who are competent to practice here. Because the members of both groups are admitted in New York equally, there is no effective means to distinguish between them. Foreign law offices are now staffed with New Yorkadmitted attorneys but the qualification to answer a New York law question is no longer provided by admission alone. More importantly, a client in New York can no longer rely upon a new lawyer's admission in New York as reflecting competence to provide appropriate representation.

There was, and should be, nothing wrong with New York's being distinct and distinguishable in the way it handles the testing of prospective New York attorneys. Indeed, New York is the wrong jurisdiction to be leading any movement towards standardization of the bar examination. Unlike many other American jurisdictions, New York has its unique and complex court structure as well as its own unique codes and governing procedure in the various courts. Unlike many other American jurisdictions, New York does not have codified rules of evidence, relying primarily on caselaw principles. New York has its own individualized principles for determining the validity of wills, for dividing property among divorcing spouses, and for governing the relationship between landlord and tenant. These are just a few of the matters that are of paramount importance to the millions residing in New York and to the just determination of the millions of cases heard in the New York courts each year. New York has an interest in establishing the baseline information that prospective New York attorneys should have and the standards that New York attorneys should meet.

The licensure of attorneys is required for the protection of the public. Over 100 years ago, Judge Crane of our Court of Appeals posed, and answered, the critical question:

Why have we in this state such strict requirements for admission to the bar? A regents' certificate or college degree, followed by three years in a law school or an equivalent study in a law office, marks the course to a bar examination, which must finally be passed to entitle the applicant to practice as an attorney. Recognizing that knowledge and ability alone are insufficient for the standards of the profession, a character committee also investigates and reports upon the honesty and integrity of the [person], and all of this with but one purpose in view, and that to protect the public from ignorance, inexperience, and unscrupulousness.¹⁰

¹⁰ People v. Alfani, 227 N.Y. 334, 339 (1919)

Judge Crane went on to say that outside of court, when the attorney is alone with the client,

[i]gnorance and stupidity may ... create damage which the courts of the land cannot thereafter undo. Did the Legislature mean to leave this field to any person out of which to make a living? Reason says no. Practicing law as an attorney likewise covers the drawing of legal instruments as a business.¹¹

The need to protect the public from ignorance, inexperience, and unscrupulousness is as great today as it was 100 years ago. It is imperative for New York to assure that the persons it admits to practice are competent to practice law in New York. Indeed, before we presume that any New York attorney is competent to practice elsewhere, we must look inward first and assure ourselves, and the public, that attorneys are not admitted here simply so that they can gain a credential that enables them to represent themselves as being competent to represent clients in New York.

New York administered its own bar examination until 1979, when it adopted the MultiState Bar Examination (MBE), which displaced roughly one-half of the local examination. When the Court of Appeals decided to adopt the UBE in 2015, Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman stressed that "New York will remain the gold standard of the legal profession because rather than being insular, we are embracing a broad vision for the future of our profession."¹² At the time, Chief Judge Lippman declared that there would be a "thorough and rigorous" portion of the exam that would cover "[i]mportant and unique principles of New York law."¹³ This, however, has not occurred. The NYLE cannot fairly be described as either "thorough" or "rigorous."

The Rules of the Court of Appeals leave the content and method of the NYLE to the BOLE.¹⁴ While the BOLE has the proven ability to construct a thorough and rigorous examination, it has not done so. The BOLE, in its construction of the NYLE, followed the guidance of the Advisory Committee on the Uniform Bar Examination, which urged setting the passing score of 30 out of 50 and designing the test as a means of assuring that applicants have processed the information provided in the New York Law Course (NYLC) and "have at least a basic understanding of the ways in which New York law differs from generally accepted principles of law."¹⁵ Following this guidance, the BOLE eschewed any effort to make the NYLE a "high stakes test" or "a significant hurdle to admission."¹⁶ As designed and

¹¹ *Id.* at 340; *see Chase Sci. Research, Inc. v. NIA Group, Inc.*, 96 N.Y.2d 20, 29 (2001) (Chief Justice Kaye observing that "the learned profession[]" of the practice of law "include[s] extensive formal learning and training, licensure and regulation indicating a qualification to practice, a code of conduct imposing standards beyond those accepted in the marketplace and a system of discipline for violation of those standards").

¹² Jonathan Lippman, Chief Judge of the New York State Court of Appeals, Law Day 2015 Address, at 7 (May 5, 2015) (transcript available at https://www.nycourts.gov/ctapps/news/LawDay2015.pdf).

¹³ *Id.* at 6.

¹⁴ 22 N.Y.C.R.R. § 520.9(a)(3).

¹⁵ ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON THE UNIFORM BAR EXAMINATION, ENSURING STANDARDS AND INCREASING OPPORTUNITIES FOR THE NEXT GENERATION OF NEW YORK ATTORNEYS, FINAL REPORT TO CHIEF JUDGE JONATHAN LIPPMAN AND TO THE COURT OF APPEALS 47 (2015) [hereinafter, "ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT"].

¹⁶ Appendix A: *Letter to Presiding Justice Alan D. Scheinkman*, New York State Board of Law Examiners, at 9 (Dec. 16, 2019) [hereinafter, "BOLE Letter"].

administered by BOLE, there is no question that the NYLE is an extremely minimal hurdle for an applicant seeking admission in New York.

On April 1, 2019, in response to widespread concerns from the bench and the practicing bar that newly-admitted lawyers were not sufficiently prepared to practice law in New York, the New York State Bar Association (NYSBA) created the Task Force,¹⁷ whose mission was to investigate and report on the experience and impact of New York's adoption of the UBE. The Task Force considered the impact that the UBE has had on applicants; on the qualifications and relevant knowledge of newly-admitted New York attorneys; on potential employers; on current members of the bar; on the Judiciary; and on diversity in the profession. Ultimately, the Task Force was charged with making recommendations regarding the future content and form of New York's bar exam.¹⁸

During the past eleven months, the Task Force conducted public hearings across the State, heard from experts in measuring lawyer competency and the study of bar examinations, analyzed alternative approaches to law licensing, examined numerous studies, surveyed law students, and engaged with all relevant stakeholders, including bar associations, the judiciary, practitioners, the BOLE, students, professors, and law school deans. This allowed the Task Force to more fully understand the impact of the UBE and determine what could be done to ensure that newly-admitted attorneys are equipped to serve the citizens of New York. All of these activities culminated in this report.

III. <u>BACKGROUND</u>

A. The New York Bar Examination Prior to the Adoption of the UBE

The last true New York bar examination (the "NYBE") was administered in February 2016. The first day of the exam included five essay questions and fifty multiple-choice questions, prepared by the BOLE.¹⁹ These portions of the exam exclusively tested knowledge of New York law, specifically "New York Civil Practice Law and Rules (CPLR), and . . . the numerous New York distinctions in wills, domestic relations, criminal law and procedure, and other subjects."²⁰ Generally, about half of the fifty multiple-choice questions tested on the CPLR.²¹

In formulating this portion of the exam, the BOLE "specifically encourage[d] comments as to what new lawyers need to know for effective practice and where New York law may vary from the common law and/or prevailing views."²² "The [NYBE] contained a unique feature . . . , as many of the essay questions were drawn from opinions in . . . cases that had reached the Appellate Division and Court of Appeals. That meant that the New York essays were testing

¹⁷ See Press Release, New York State Bar Association Forms Task Force to Review NY Bar Exam (Apr. 1, 2019) (available at https://www.nysba.org/CustomTemplates/SecondaryStandard.aspx?id=92358).

 $^{^{18}}$ Id.

¹⁹ See ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, supra note 15 at 10.

²⁰ Mary Campbell Gallagher & Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus, A Comparison of the New York Bar Examination and the Proposed Uniform Bar Examination, 87 NYSBA JOURNAL 32, 33 (Feb. 2015).

²¹ See id.

²² Diane F. Bosse, *The New York Bar Exam by the Numbers*, 85 NYSBA JOURNAL 24, 26 (Sept. 2013).

applicants on issues and points of law that were actually confronted by a great number of lawyers in practice. . . . [A]pplicants were often rewarded for their knowledge of New York decisional law, which is invaluable to the practice of law."²³ The "New York Day" comprised half of a test-taker's overall score, with multiple-choice questions weighted 10% and essays 40%. "When 50 percent of one's bar exam grade depended on retained knowledge of New York law, and the application of it in a closed book exam, applicants took great pains to learn that material in law school and in bar review courses."²⁴

The distinctions between New York law and the common law and federal rules were prevalent on the essays and the multiple-choice questions. New York also tested specifically on workers' compensation, no fault, and professional ethics. Often, New York essays would include professional ethics as an issue on two different essays. And virtually every bar exam administration tested New York civil practice and procedure as embedded issues in the substantive law questions in the essays. The questions often included summary judgment motions or CPLR 3211(A) motions for failure to state a cause of action. These motions were woven into the fabric of the substantive law questions and were in addition to the specific multiple-choice questions testing on various areas of New York substantive law. Those multiple-choice questions could be on any area of civil practice or New York statutory or common law. This model of testing dovetailed with the way procedural and substantive law issues arise in practice.

The "New York Day" fulfilled a number of important purposes. Foremost, it assured the public that attorneys would not be admitted to practice in New York without a working knowledge of New York legal principles, as demonstrated by attainment of a passing score on a meaningful New York law-oriented test. Secondly, it ensured that persons who attained New York admission, whether they practiced here or not, had demonstrated knowledge of key common law principles articulated by the New York Court of Appeals, principles which have been adopted and applied elsewhere, through judicial or legislative adoption, or a New York choice-of-law clause.

The remainder of the first day included the Multistate Performance Test (MPT), which was developed by the National Conference of Bar Examiners (NCBE) and added to the NYBE in 2001 by the BOLE. The MPT was "designed to examine [the] fundamental skills lawyers are expected to demonstrate regardless of the area of law in which the skills arise."²⁵ The MPT was worth 10% of one's overall score on the NYBE.²⁶

The second day of the NYBE consisted of the MBE (added in 1979), a 200-question multiple-choice exam developed by the NCBE. The MBE accounted for 40% of a test-taker's

²³ Patrick M. Connors, Will New Bar Exam Prepare Attorneys for Practice?, N.Y.L.J. (Feb. 26, 2016), https://www.law.com/newyorklawjournal/almID/1202750651634/Will-New-Bar-Exam-Prepare-Attorneys-for-Practice/.

²⁴ *Id*.

²⁵ ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, *supra* note 15 at 11.

See id. at 10. In addition to passing the bar examination, applicants for admission to practice in New York still had to pass the Multistate Professional Responsibility Exam and, as of January 2015, complete 50 hours of pro bono service.

overall score.²⁷ The use of the MBE reflected that there are some legal principles that apply across state lines, such as federal constitutional law and federal civil procedure. However, the importance of New York legal principles was reflected in the 50% weight given to the New York specific portion of the examination administered on the "New York Day."

The NYBE tested on the following subjects: administrative law, constitutional law, professional responsibility, business relationships, contracts and contract remedies, real property, New York civil practice and procedure, criminal law and procedure, torts and tort damages, conflict of laws, evidence, trusts, wills, and estates, matrimonial and family law, and UCC Articles 2 and 9.²⁸ According to the BOLE, the NYBE was "designed to assess minimum competence" in these subjects.²⁹

The NYBE had "exceptional prestige among state bar examinations in the United States."³⁰ However, it was by no means perfect. There were concerns that the format of the bar exam failed to measure the full range of competencies needed to practice law in New York and disparately impacted the diversity of the legal profession.³¹ As a result, in February 2012, the NYSBA Committee on Legal Education and Admission to the Bar ("CLEAB") issued several recommendations for improving the bar exam, including many aimed at ensuring that a broader range of practice skills played a role in licensing: incorporating "criteria-referenced assessment," such as those used in law school clinical courses; granting credit toward an applicant's bar exam score from a limited group of pre-approved, specially assessed, clinical courses; and developing a pilot project through which a limited number of applicants could provide meaningful legal services while being assessed on a range of lawyering competencies.³² CLEAB also explored the idea of appointing a task force, made up of various private and public-interest practitioners, to provide input on modifying bar exam content to "realistically test a candidate's essential knowledge" and ensure that the New York portion of the exam was focused only on skills and knowledge that new attorneys must possess.³³ Several members of CLEAB dissented from the majority view at the time these recommendations were made,³⁴ including John McAlary, Executive Director of the BOLE, who noted: "Making changes to the bar examination is not going to alter the education that graduates receive or better prepare them for the practice of law."³⁵

However, as experience under the UBE has shown, changes to the bar examination do alter the education that law school students receive. Law schools are ranked and accredited, in

²⁷ See id. at 10-11.

²⁸ See Gallagher & Darrow-Kleinhaus, *supra* note 20 at 33.

²⁹ Bosse, *supra* note 22 at 26.

³⁰ Gallagher & Darrow-Kleinhaus, *supra* note 20 at 33.

³¹ See Mary A. Lynch & Kim Diana Connolly, Is It Time for Real Reform? NYSBA's 20 Years of Examining the Bar Exam, 85 NYSBA JOURNAL 31, 33 (Sept. 2013).

³² THE NEW YORK STATE BAR ASSOCIATION COMMITTEE ON LEGAL EDUCATION AND ADMISSION TO THE BAR, RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE REPORT OF THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE TO STUDY THE BAR EXAMINATION AND OTHER MEANS OF MEASURING LAWYER COMPETENCE 12 (2012).

³³ *Id.*

³⁴ *Id.* at 28-41.

³⁵ *Id.* at 34.

part, based on their bar admission rates. Furthermore, law school applicants, who will likely spend over \$200,000 on their law school education, are understandably interested in knowing their chances of passing the bar before enrolling in a law school. Therefore, course offerings, and student choices as to which offered courses to take, are heavily influenced by the subjects tested on the bar examination.

B. BOLE Proposal to Change to the UBE

(i) Background

As early as 2013, BOLE officials were monitoring the development of the UBE by certain states in consideration of replacing the NYBE. At the time, the UBE had been adopted by 14 jurisdictions: Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Colorado, Idaho, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire, North Dakota, Utah, Washington, and Wyoming.³⁶ The BOLE observed that "portability is a worthy goal, especially in the current job market," and "follow[ed] the progress of this movement with great interest."³⁷ Diane Bosse,³⁸ Chairwoman of the BOLE, noted that "[1]aw is the only profession that doesn't have a uniform exam," and adopting the UBE "would enable people to get admitted without the delay, costs and uncertainty and anxiety of taking another bar exam."³⁹ However, Ms. Bosse admitted the importance of local law. She acknowledged that "New York state does have some distinctions and they'll be tested in th[e] [NYLE]."⁴⁰

Despite its name, the UBE is not, in fact, a uniform bar examination, partly because the passing score varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and, as will be reviewed further, the grading of the UBE is not consistent. Unless and until every state decides to adopt a single, uniform examination, and have it graded consistently, there will not be a uniform bar examination. That other professions have adopted uniform national licensure has little, if any, relevance to lawyer licensing because the bedrock principles do not vary across state lines. The human anatomy, for one, is the same regardless of where one is in the world.

On October 6, 2014, Chief Judge Lippman announced the BOLE's proposal to replace the NYBE with the UBE.⁴¹ The proposed UBE was "a two-day package of bar-exam components created by the NCBE and licensed to the states."⁴² The UBE was designed to be a

³⁹ Michael Petro, *NYS Eyes Changes to the Bar Exam*, Buffalo Law Journal (Nov. 4, 2014), https://www.bizjournals.com/buffalo/news/2014/11/04/nys-eyes-changes-to-the-bar-exam.html.

³⁶ See Gallagher & Darrow-Kleinhaus, supra note 20 at 34.

³⁷ Bosse, *supra* note 22 at 26.

³⁸ Bosse was appointed to the BOLE in 1998, and has chaired the BOLE since 2001. She served on the Board of Trustees of the NCBE from 1999 to 2008, and was the chair from 2006 to 2007. Bosse previously chaired the NCBE's Long Range Planning Committee, and currently serves on the NCBE's Testing Task Force. Additionally, Bosse serves as Chair of the Council of the American Bar Association Section of Legal Education and Admissions to the Bar, and has previously chaired its Accreditation Committee.

⁴⁰ *Id.*

⁴¹ See Proposed Rule Change to the Rules of the Court of Appeals for the Admission of Attorneys and Counselors at Law (to modify 22 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 520) (available at https://www.nycourts.gov/legacyPDFs/IP/barexam/Appendices/18Proposed_Rule_Change.pdf).

⁴² Gallagher & Darrow-Kleinhaus, *supra* note 20 at 34.

complete substitute for the components of the NYBE, and none of the content would be drafted by the BOLE. The BOLE would create only an add-on one-hour multiple-choice test on New York law.⁴³ The proposal called for the elimination of the New York-specific portion of the first day of the NYBE, the replacement of the New York essays and multiple-choice questions with six essays on uniform laws, and the addition of a second MPT to day one of the exam. The second day would retain the MBE. The Court of Appeals considered adopting the UBE for the July 2015 bar exam.⁴⁴

(ii) Rationale

In a presentation to CLEAB, BOLE Chairwoman Bosse argued that adoption of the UBE would have the following advantages for test-takers: (1) it would eliminate the duplication of effort associated with taking multiple bar exams; (2) it would reduce the cost, delay, anxiety, and uncertainty of taking multiple bar exams; (3) it would maximize employment opportunities; (4) it would enhance mobility for law graduates; and (5) it would provide additional options for where to take the bar exam.⁴⁵ Other proponents noted that the legal profession should move towards a national licensing exam and New York's participation would convince other states to follow suit; law firms would be able to recruit from a more geographically diverse applicant pool; and the use of a second MPT segment would enhance the exam's utility by assessing "practice ready" skills.⁴⁶ Chairwoman Bosse assured CLEAB that each state would continue to decide how to assess knowledge of local law.⁴⁷

C. Consideration of the UBE Proposal

(i) Public Comment Period

Initially, the Court of Appeals issued a Request for Public Comment on the BOLE's proposal and accepted submissions until November 7, 2014.⁴⁸

During the initial public comment period, NYSBA's CLEAB carefully considered what was then known about the proposal and assessed the presentation of Chairwoman Bosse regarding the proposed change.⁴⁹ In the report that followed, CLEAB noted the changes proposed to the New York portion of the bar exam; specifically, the transition away from New York distinctions and issue-spotting across multiple practice areas and towards general principles of uniform law.⁵⁰ CLEAB ultimately concluded "[p]rudence dictates proceeding with caution with a change of this significance."⁵¹ Therefore, the report submitted to the Executive

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 2-3.

⁴³ See id. at 34-35.

⁴⁴ See The New York State Bar Association Committee on Legal Education and Admission to the Bar, Report of New York Board of Law Examiners (BOLE) Proposed Change in New York to the UNIFORM Bar Exam 1 (2014) [hereinafter, "NYSBA COMMITTEE INITIAL REPORT"].

⁴⁵ See Gallagher & Darrow-Kleinhaus, *supra* note 20 at 36.

⁴⁶ See NYSBA COMMITTEE INITIAL REPORT, *supra* note 44 at 5-6.

⁴⁷ *Id.* at 3.

⁴⁸ See id. at 1.

⁴⁹ See id.

⁵¹ *Id.* at 9.

Committee of NYSBA took no position on the proposal, but urged delay and careful consideration.⁵²

A major concern was the practical effect of adopting a test that was designed to assess a person's competency in laws that had the potential to be at odds with New York law. At the November 1, 2014 meeting of the NYSBA House of Delegates, former NYSBA President Justin L. Vigdor said:

I'm very concerned about the fact that [the UBE] is going to test on uniform law. I have been one of New York's five uniform law commissioners for 26 years. Unfortunately, New York is not big on adopting and passing uniform laws. We have a terrible time getting most uniform laws through the legislature When we do get uniform laws passed, we have a New York version of those uniform laws, and it's questionable whether they're really uniform. . . . That is an issue that must be addressed.⁵³

The House of Delegates unanimously adopted the Committee's report, and urged delay of the UBE's implementation in New York so that adequate notice could be provided to all affected parties.⁵⁴

Similar concerns were expressed by the Society of American Law Teachers in a November 3, 2014 letter to the BOLE: "New York should study the proposed change more fully to understand the implications of the change before acting on it."⁵⁵ The Suffolk County Bar Association expressed different critiques with rushing the proposal: "it would appear . . . that adopting the UBE would force New York law schools to teach less about New York substantive law and procedure and more about generic or Federal principles of law."⁵⁶

Although the New York City Bar Association ("City Bar") supported a transition to the UBE in New York, it too asked the Court of Appeals to consider a one-year delay in its implementation.⁵⁷ The City Bar noted that "[s]tate-by-state bar examinations significantly limit lawyer mobility at a time when the practice of law is increasingly national and global,"⁵⁸ and that "implementation of the UBE itself will deliver powerful benefits to disadvantaged groups, especially facilitating the ability of new lawyers to relocate if necessary to areas where jobs

⁵² *Id.*

⁵³ REPORT OF THE NYSBA COMMITTEE ON LEGAL EDUCATION AND ADMISSION TO THE BAR, FOLLOW-UP REPORT TO OCTOBER 2014 REPORT ON THE UNIFORM BAR EXAM 6 (2015) [hereinafter, "NYSBA COMMITTEE FOLLOW-UP REPORT"].

⁵⁴ See id. at 1.

⁵⁵ *Id.* at Appendix E.

⁵⁶ NYSBA COMMITTEE INITIAL REPORT, *supra* note 44 at Appendix E.

⁵⁷ Comments on NYS Board of Law Examiners Proposal Regarding Uniform Bar Examination, New York City Bar (Nov. 6, 2014) (available at https://www2.nycbar.org/pdf/report/uploads/20072798-CommentsonUniformBarExamProposal.pdf) [hereinafter, "City Bar Initial Comments"].

⁵⁸ Id.

become available, as they are available."⁵⁹ However, the City Bar also opined that "the bar examination should continue to have a New York component" and "[w]e should expect lawyers admitted in New York to have a grounding in New York law."⁶⁰

"[I]n light of the issues raised by some of the commentators and the overwhelming request for additional time," Chief Judge Lippman extended the public comment period on the BOLE proposal to March 1, 2015.⁶¹

In response, the New York County Lawyers Association (NYCLA) issued a report supporting a one-year period to study the arguments for and against the UBE.⁶² NYCLA questioned whether a transition to the UBE would force New York law schools to shift their emphasis to a national law curriculum, and whether the reduced focus on New York law would expose the public to new attorneys less qualified to deal with New York specific legal problems.⁶³

NYSBA's CLEAB issued a follow-up report that formally opposed the proposal.⁶⁴ Its three main areas of concern were "whether the proposal adequately tests knowledge of [New York] law requisite for practice in the state; whether the proposal adequately tests the professional skills required for practice; and whether the proposal threatens to worsen the disparate impact of the bar exam."⁶⁵ It expressed "reason to be concerned about whether the UBE proposal lessens the significance of the distinctions of New York law, lessens New York peculiarities, and lessens the high esteem in which the New York exam is held."⁶⁶ It worried that "[t]he preparation and the emphasis for the proposed UBE will be different" and "will not require the same rigorous attention to the study of the uniqueness of New York law distinctions as does the current exam."⁶⁷ It discussed how the former state-specific essays were "longer and more complex than the proposed multistate essays," making "an applicant … less reliant on rote memorization and more attentive to analytical thinking, and to the interplay of various legal concepts and theories."⁶⁸ In contrast, it found "the proposed UBE change will not require the same rigorous attention to the study of the uniqueness of New York law distinctions as does the current exam."⁶⁹ CLEAB concluded that "adoption of the proposed UBE . . . has the potential to

- ⁶⁸ Id.
- ⁶⁹ *Id.*

⁵⁹ Supplemental Statement of the New York City Bar Association Before the Advisory Committee on the Uniform Bar Examination (Feb. 18, 2015) (available at https://www.2.muchen.org/adf/an.org/adf/unloadg/SumplementalStatementarEnterParExamplement2015 n

https://www2.nycbar.org/pdf/report/uploads/SupplementalStatementonUniformBarExamFebruary2015.pdf).

⁶⁰ City Bar Initial Comments, *supra* note 57.

⁶¹ ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, *supra* note 15 at 9.

⁶² NEW YORK COUNTY LAWYERS ASSOCIATION REPORT ON THE NEW YORK UNIFORM BAR EXAM PROPOSAL 15 (2015) (available at https://www.nycla.org/siteFiles/Publications/Publications1746_0.pdf) [hereinafter, "NYCLA REPORT"].

⁶³ *Id.* at 11-13.

⁶⁴ NYSBA COMMITTEE FOLLOW-UP REPORT, *supra* note 53 at 15.

⁶⁵ *Id.* at 3.

⁶⁶ *Id.* at 5.

⁶⁷ Id.

diminish the value and prestige of being admitted to the bar in New York state."⁷⁰ Moreover, practitioners on the Committee thought that "the conceptual NYLE is inadequate to demonstrate an acceptable minimal level of proficiency in New York law prior to admission."⁷¹

Others shared similar concerns. For instance, Professor Patrick M. Connors⁷² stressed that although students might learn "fundamental principles of law that will assist them in representing clients in matters governed by federal or nationally uniform law, ... *they will have only minimal education in New York law*."⁷³ Professor Connors predicted that

[t]his facile treatment and examination of New York law will almost certainly lead to a significant erosion of the quality of the legal representation offered to our citizenry. . . . With the rigors of testing New York law essentially reduced to the level of difficulty of an extra point after a touchdown, that level of preparation will no longer occur.⁷⁴

(ii) Advisory Committee Recommendation

When Chief Judge Lippman extended the public comment period in November 2014, he appointed an Advisory Committee on the Uniform Bar Exam.⁷⁵ Similar to this Task Force, the Advisory Committee held public hearings throughout New York in early 2015 "to receive the views of interested individuals, organizations[,] and entities on the possible transition to the UBE."⁷⁶ It is not without significance that the Advisory Committee was formed after the Chief Judge and the BOLE had already declared themselves in favor of the adoption of the UBE.

In April 2015, the Advisory Committee determined:

[A]doption of the UBE and two separate New York components . . . will propel New York's licensing process into the modern economy while at the same time ensuring that applicants for admission in this state have sufficient competence in fundamental legal principles and New York-specific law. In short, the measure is good for the profession and good for the public.⁷⁷

⁷⁰ *Id.* at 6.

⁷¹ *Id.* at 7.

⁷² Prof. Patrick M. Connors is a member of the Task Force. He is a distinguished Professor of Law at Albany Law School where he teaches New York Practice and Legal Ethics. Since 2013, Professor Connors has authored the *New York Practice* treatise, Siegel & Connors, New York Practice (6th ed. Thomson 2018). He also authors numerous portions of McKinney's C.P.L.R. Practice Commentaries, and previously authored the Practice Commentaries for the New York Rules of Professional Conduct and the Surrogate's Court Procedure Act.

⁷³ Connors, *supra* note 23.

⁷⁴ Id.

⁷⁵ See NYSBA COMMITTEE FOLLOW-UP REPORT, supra note 53 at 1.

⁷⁶ ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, *supra* note 15 at 9.

⁷⁷ *Id.* at 38.

Notably, the Advisory Committee highlighted what it dubbed "a unique two-component paradigm in bar testing."⁷⁸ This state-specific portion would consist of: "(1) an online educational course devoted to New York rules and distinctions, to be denominated the [NYLC] and (2) a separate open-book, online 50-question multiple choice test on New York law (the [NYLE])," requiring a score of thirty correct answers.⁷⁹ Observing that, "no other UBE jurisdiction require[d] both an online course and a separate online exam," the Committee asserted, "this hybrid approach will best serve the goal of ensuring that new attorneys are competent to practice law in New York."⁸⁰ It continued:

The purpose of the NYLC is to highlight those areas of practice and procedure that the Court and [BOLE] believe are important for every new attorney in New York to know. It will serve as a helpful refresher for those who studied New York law in law school and a suitable introduction for those who did not. It is a pedagogically sound vehicle for educating New York State's future lawyers. The separate NYLE will assure that applicants have processed the information presented in the course and have at least a basic understanding of the ways in which New York law differs from generally accepted principles of law.⁸¹

While Chief Judge Lippman stated that the New York test component would be rigorous and thorough, the Advisory Committee spoke of assuring only that applicants have "suitable exposure" to New York law without having a test that would "act as an insurmountable burden to admission."⁸²

The Advisory Committee minimized concerns that New York law schools would move away from teaching New York law by noting that "[t]he current New York bar exam tests general principles of law, through the use of the MBE, and New York law, through the essays and New York multiple choice questions" and the "same principles would be tested on the UBE and the separate NYLE."⁸³ It emphasized that for several years members of the legal academy, bar, and the judiciary had had concerns that applicants entering the legal profession were insufficiently prepared for the demands of New York practice.⁸⁴ The Advisory Committee found that the UBE recognized the importance of skills training by requiring two MPT tasks, more than the NYBE.⁸⁵ It found this increased skills testing consistent with the growing emphasis on clinical and practical training in law schools and responsive to the profession's calls for "more practical skills training" for new attorneys.⁸⁶

The Advisory Committee did not think that the UBE would tarnish the perceived New York gold standard for legal practice: "In sum, the Committee believes that New York's 'gold

- ⁷⁹ Id.
- ⁸⁰ *Id.*
- ⁸¹ *Id.*
- ⁸² *Id.*
- ⁸³ *Id.* at 49.
- ⁸⁴ *Id* at 50.
- ⁸⁵ *Id.*
- ⁸⁶ *Id.*

⁷⁸ *Id.* at 47.

standard' reputation results not from the difficulty of the bar exam, but from the rigorous demands of practice in New York State."⁸⁷ It concluded that "a transition to the UBE, NYLC and NYLE will help maintain the New York professional bar's reputation of excellence by ensuring that new attorneys are competent in general legal principles and important New York distinctions."⁸⁸

D. Decision by Court of Appeals to Adopt the UBE

(i) Rationale

The Court of Appeals approved the Advisory Committee's recommendations and adopted the UBE, effective for the July 2016 bar exam.⁸⁹ Chief Judge Lippman remarked that "[t]his reform will enormously benefit law school graduates, the legal profession, and the public."⁹⁰ The Chief Judge justified "this dramatic step here in New York" by stressing the portability the new test would offer, an asset for lawyers and their families (particularly those with military spouses or partners).⁹¹ He thought it would aid in the modern era of multi-jurisdictional practice.⁹² The Chief Judge also theorized that the move would reverse the decline in enrollment at New York law schools because it would make the process more cost-efficient and less burdensome for New York law school graduates.⁹³ Although he acknowledged the need for New York-specific questions, he said that court administrators were reluctant to add a third-day of testing.⁹⁴ "We don't think it's necessary to test New York law on the bar exam itself anymore."⁹⁵

(ii) Expectations

Chief Judge Lippman expected that UBE scores would "demonstrate that applicants have the fundamental knowledge and skills necessary for legal practice," but stressed that "each state [will] still maintain[] control over setting the requirements for admission to their individual jurisdiction and the method of evaluating local law."⁹⁶ He proclaimed that "[i]n many ways, the new paradigm will be more comprehensive in testing state-specific knowledge."⁹⁷ He reasoned that, "[u]nder the [NYBE], an applicant does not actually need to show great knowledge of distinctive aspects of New York law at all. A high MBE score can outweigh weaker

⁹² See id. at 1-2.

⁸⁷ *Id.* at 52.

⁸⁸ *Id.* at 71.

⁸⁹ See Lippman, supra note 12 at 1.

⁹⁰ *Id.*

⁹¹ *Id.*

⁹³ See id. at 2.

⁹⁴ See Joel Stashenko, Court System Seeks Comment on Adopting Uniform Bar Exam, N.Y.L.J. (Oct. 7, 2014), https://www.law.com/newyorklawjournal/almID/1202672451929/CourtSystem-Seeks-Comment-on-Adopting-/.

⁹⁵ Stephanie Clifford & James C. McKinley Jr., *New York to Adopt a Uniform Bar Exam Used in 15 Other States*, N.Y. TIMES (May 5, 2015), https://www.nytimes.com/2015/05/06/nyregion/new-york-state-to-adopt-uniformbar-exam.html.

⁹⁶ Lippman, *supra* note 12 at 2-3.

⁹⁷ *Id.* at 6.

performance on the New York essays and multiple choice questions and still result in a passing score. In contrast, under the new regime, a test taker must pass the UBE exam, which has some significant overlap with New York law, and complete the New York component, which will cover areas of New York law not encompassed by the UBE."⁹⁸

Chief Judge Lippman stated that the NYLC and NYLE "will ensure the integrity of the state's licensing structure."⁹⁹ He stressed his expectation that "the online test will be thorough and rigorous"¹⁰⁰ and would test "[i]mportant and unique principles of New York law."¹⁰¹ When asked about the "practical aspects" of expecting an out-of-state attorney to know New York law, Chief Judge Lippman responded that an out-of-state attorney is "going to have to take an online course and a little test so we know people know New York law. But if you're a good lawyer and you know where to find answers, you should be able to practice anywhere in the country."¹⁰²

E. Current State of the Bar Exam

(i) UBE

New York became the 16th state to adopt the UBE. Since then, twenty more states have adopted it. ¹⁰³ The fact that UBE participation more than doubled after New York adopted it reflects the advantage seen by other jurisdictions, whose law graduates now have a clear pathway to admission in New York without having to demonstrate knowledge of New York law. New York's adoption of the UBE also resulted in a boon to the NCBE's coffers, as it now administers many more exams.¹⁰⁴

According to the NCBE, "[t]he UBE is designed to test knowledge and skills that every lawyer should be able to demonstrate prior to becoming licensed to practice law."¹⁰⁵ The BOLE, in its annual budgetary submissions, describes the UBE as "a high quality, uniform battery of tests that are administered simultaneously in the UBE jurisdictions."¹⁰⁶ As discussed above, day one consists of two MPTs and the MEE, and day two consists of the MBE.

$(a) \qquad The MPT$

 101 Id.

¹⁰⁴ See Comprehensive Guide to Bar Admission Requirements 2019, CHART 9: Bar Examination Application Deadlines and Fees, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, http://www.ncbex.org/pdfviewer/?file=%2Fassets%2FBarAdmissionGuide%2FNCBE-CompGuide-2019.pdf#page=41 (last visited Feb. 10, 2020).

⁹⁸ *Id.* at 6-7.

⁹⁹ *Id.* at 5.

¹⁰⁰ *Id.* at 6.

¹⁰² Karen Freifeld, *Q&A: Ex-Chief New York Judge on Practicing Law Across State, National Borders*, REUTERS LEGAL (Nov. 29, 2016).

¹⁰³ See Jurisdictions That Have Adopted the UBE, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, http://www.ncbex.org/exams/ube/ (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

¹⁰⁵ See Purpose, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, http://www.ncbex.org/exams/ube/ (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

¹⁰⁶ Appendix B at 115.

According to the NCBE's website, the "Test Format" for the MPT is as follows:

The materials for each MPT include a File and a Library. The File consists of source documents containing all the facts of the case. The specific assignment the examinee is to complete is described in a memorandum from a supervising attorney. The File might also include transcripts of interviews, depositions, hearings or trials, pleadings, correspondence, client documents, contracts, newspaper articles, medical records, police reports, or lawyer's notes. Relevant as well as irrelevant facts are included. Facts are sometimes ambiguous, incomplete, or even conflicting. As in practice, a client's or a supervising attorney's version of events may be incomplete or unreliable. Examinees are expected to recognize when facts are inclusion or missing and are expected to identify sources of additional facts.

The Library may contain cases, statutes, regulations, or rules, some of which may not be relevant to the assigned lawyering task. The examinee is expected to extract from the Library the legal principles necessary to analyze the problem and perform the task. The MPT is *not a test of substantive law; the Library materials provide sufficient substantive information to complete the task*.¹⁰⁷

For each MPT, the candidate is given 90 minutes to complete the assigned task. "The MPT is designed to test an examinee's ability to use fundamental lawyering skills in a realistic situation and complete a task that a beginning lawyer should be able to accomplish. *The MPT is not a test of substantive knowledge*. Rather, it is designed to evaluate certain fundamental skills lawyers are expected to demonstrate regardless of the area of law in which the skills are applied."¹⁰⁸

$(b) \qquad The MBE$

The MBE "assess[es] the extent to which an examinee can apply fundamental legal principles and legal reasoning to analyze given fact patterns."¹⁰⁹ The general principles tested by the MBE were not changed with the adoption of the UBE.¹¹⁰ Seven subjects are tested equally on the MBE: Civil Procedure, Constitutional Law, Contracts, Criminal Law, Evidence, Real Property, and Torts.¹¹¹ The MBE still consists of 200 multiple-choice questions, only 175 of which are scored. The other 25 questions are unscored pretest questions.¹¹² Although this

¹⁰⁷ Preparing for the MPT, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, http://www.ncbex.org/exams/mpt/preparing/ (last visited Feb. 18, 2020) (emphasis added).

¹⁰⁸ *Jurisdictions Administering the MPT*, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, <u>http://www.ncbex.org/exams/mpt/</u> (last visited Feb. 9, 2020) (emphasis added).

¹⁰⁹ *Jurisdictions Administering the MBE*, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, <u>http://www.ncbex.org/exams/mbe/</u> (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

¹¹⁰ See BOLE Letter, supra note 16 at 4.

¹¹¹ Presentation of Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus at the Sept. 17, 2019 meeting of the Task Force [hereinafter, "Darrow-Kleinhaus Presentation"].

¹¹² *Id.*

scoring system has not changed with the adoption of the UBE, the MBE itself is now weighted more.¹¹³

(c) The MEE

The MEE consists of six thirty-minute essays. Essay topics include all MBE subjects and business associations: agency and partnership; business associations: corporations and LLCs; conflict of laws; family law; secured transactions; trusts and estates: decedent's estates; and trusts and estates: trusts and future interests.¹¹⁴ The MEE does not test Administrative Law, Professional Responsibility, or New York Civil Practice and Procedure, which are covered exclusively by the NYLE, as discussed below.¹¹⁵ However, it does test Federal Civil Procedure—a subject that was previously dropped from the NYBE in 2015 when it was added to the MBE.¹¹⁶ According to the NCBE,

[t]he purpose of the MEE is to test the examinee's ability to (1) identify legal issues raised by a hypothetical factual situation; (2) separate material which is relevant from that which is not; (3) present a reasoned analysis of the relevant issues in a clear, concise, and well-organized composition; and (4) demonstrate an understanding of the fundamental legal principles relevant to the probable solution of the issues raised by the factual situation.¹¹⁷

Under the new scoring regimen, the MBE makes up 50% of a candidate's overall score; the MEE 30%; and the MPT 20%.¹¹⁸ Overall, the UBE in New York has a cut score (the minimum score necessary to pass the exam in a specific jurisdiction) of 266 on a 400 point scale.¹¹⁹ It is said to correspond to what the previous cut score in New York was at 665 on a 1,000 point scale.¹²⁰

(ii) State-Specific Requirement for Admission

New York also requires an applicant to pass the NYLC and the NYLE, which essentially replaced the five essays and fifty multiple-choice questions testing New York law that were part of the former NYBE. The NYLC and NYLE focus on aspects of New York law that are either different from the general principles and prevailing views of the law tested on the MBE and the MEE or are unique to New York.¹²¹

¹¹³ *Id.*

¹¹⁴ See Appendix H.

¹¹⁵ See BOLE Letter, supra note 16 at 4.

¹¹⁶ See id.

¹¹⁷ *Jurisdictions Administering the MEE*, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, http://www.ncbex.org/exams/mee/ (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

¹¹⁸ Darrow-Kleinhaus Presentation, *supra* note 111.

¹¹⁹ *Id.*

¹²⁰ Id.

¹²¹ See generally Course Materials for the New York Law Course and New York Law Exam, NEW YORK STATE BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS (revised Sept. 2019), https://www.nybarexam.org/content/newyorkcoursematerials.pdf.

The NYLC is an online course that covers Administrative Law, Business Relationships, Civil Practice and Procedure, Conflict of Laws, Contracts, Criminal Law and Procedure, Evidence, Matrimonial and Family Law, Professional Responsibility, Real Property, Torts and Tort Damages, and Trusts, Wills and Estates. It consists of approximately 17 hours of recorded lectures, which each contains embedded questions that must be answered correctly before the viewer may continue viewing the lecture.¹²² If the applicants answer incorrectly, they are required to restart from an earlier point in the lecture. Applicants must achieve a minimum score of only 30 correct answers out of 50 questions to pass the NYLE.¹²³ Although the NYLE is an unproctored, open-book examination, "[e]very applicant is required to certify that he or she completed the NYLE without assistance from anyone else and that he or she did not provide assistance to any other applicant."¹²⁴

According to the BOLE, "[t]he purpose of the [NYLC] and the [NYLE] is to provide assurance that candidates who have passed the [UBE] and are being certified for admission to the New York State bar have been exposed to and have knowledge of law that is specific to New York State."¹²⁵ The BOLE also maintains that "[a]lthough the NYLE is an open book exam, it will be a rigorous one. Time will not permit an applicant to research the materials for the answer to every question. Preparation for the NYLE by taking the NYLC and studying the Course Materials will be necessary."¹²⁶

The BOLE's statements reflect a fundamental inconsistency. To those who seek information on its public website, the BOLE states that the NYLE is a "rigorous" examination.¹²⁷ To our Task Force, however, the BOLE has stated the NYLE is not intended to "mimic a bar exam" and is not intended to be "a high stakes test" or "a significant hurdle to admission."¹²⁸

IV. THE EFFECT OF NEW YORK'S ADOPTION OF THE UBE

A. Anecdotal Evidence of a Problem

When the Court of Appeals adopted the UBE, Glenn Lau-Kee, then President of NYSBA, said his central question was "how prepared are new lawyers to practice law in New York, both for the protection of the profession and the public."¹²⁹ His question would soon be answered.

During a March 2019 lecture at Fordham School of Law, New York State Supreme Court Justice Barry Ostrager called attention to his concerns about the unpreparedness of newlyadmitted attorneys, noting that his law clerks receive several calls a day from lawyers asking for information that they should know or be able to find easily in the CPLR. He reflected, "[I]t is

¹²² See BOLE Letter, supra note 16 at 5.

¹²³ See Uniform Bar Examination, New York Law Course & New York Law Exam, THE NEW YORK STATE BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS, https://www.nybarexam.org/UBE/UBE.html (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

¹²⁴ See NYLC & NYLE Course Materials & Sample Questions, THE NEW YORK STATE BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS, https://www.nybarexam.org/Content/CourseMaterials.htm (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

¹²⁵ *Course Materials, supra* note 121 at iii.

¹²⁶ NYLC & NYLE Course Materials & Sample Questions, supra note 124.

¹²⁷ *Id.*

¹²⁸ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 8-9.

¹²⁹ Clifford & McKinley, *supra* note 95.

unfathomable that practitioners who plan to practice in New York would start their careers without the most basic knowledge of the rules that govern almost every aspect of practice in the New York State Courts."¹³⁰

At the Task Force's first meeting in April 2019, members discussed the negative impacts they noticed after New York's transition to the UBE. They shared stories of newly-admitted attorneys unprepared at court appearances. The Task Force decided to examine whether the NYLE was achieving its objective of capturing what is significant and unique to New York practice and serving as a vehicle for retention of such knowledge. Furthermore, the Task Force was concerned that the open-book format of the NYLE invited dishonest behavior and that it lacked coverage of New York specific substantive law—such as Domestic Relations, Estates, Powers and Trusts Law (EPTL), and Criminal Procedure. The Task Force was dismayed by reports that student enrollment in New York Practice courses had plummeted, despite the forecasts by the proponents of the UBE.

Accordingly, the Task Force sought information to substantiate or debunk the anecdotal evidence. It held public hearings throughout New York where it heard testimony from professors, law school officials, bar association leaders, students, and practitioners. It also met monthly to receive and discuss presentations from experts in legal competency and law licensing as well as members of academia and to discuss its findings. The Task Force engaged in extensive and constructive dialogue with as many relevant stakeholders as it could, including the BOLE.

B. Public Hearings Across the State

The Task Force held public hearings in Rochester on October 4, 2019, in Mineola on October 21, 2019, in Albany on October 25, 2019, and in New York City on November 18, 2019. The hearings provided a useful insight from law school professors, directors of academic success, bar leaders, and practitioners.

(i) Western New York

Bill McDonald, the Director of Academic Success at University at Buffalo School of Law ("Buffalo"), shared two chief concerns with the UBE: (1) the practice-readiness of applicants in New York, and (2) the possible effect on diversity in the legal profession. He reported that there has been a lessening of preparedness noted by some of the attorneys hiring students from Buffalo, that enrollment in New York Practice has decreased, and that there has been a disproportionate effect on solo and small practitioners.

McDonald noted that many of Buffalo's students tend to be local and intend to practice in New York after graduation. A "significant" number of graduates go into small firms. However, he testified that the Dean of Buffalo is hearing from alumni who are reluctant to hire recent graduates because of increased costs and efforts in taking them on and training them.

¹³⁰ Susan DeSantis, NYSBA to Study if Move to Uniform Bar Exam Led to a Rise in Lawyers Unprepared to Practice, N.Y.L.J. (Apr. 1, 2019), https://www.law.com/newyorklawjournal/2019/04/01/nysba-to-study-ifmove-to-uniform-bar-exam-led-to-a-rise-in-lawyers-unprepared-to-practice/.

McDonald highlighted his concerns with the content of the NYLC and NYLE: "The online test does not appear to be as challenging as it was before," on the previous NYBE. He noted the detrimental impact this had on learning New York distinctions, because less emphasis is given to New York law under the NYLE and NYLC than on the previous NYBE. He reached this conclusion because students believe the NYLC is designed to help them pass the NYLE, not to practice law in New York.

McDonald shared his concerns with the NYLE's format. First, he stated that the test is does not demonstrate that the taker is ready to practice in New York. He criticized the rote memorization required by an exam that exclusively consists of multiple-choice questions. He observed that students are accordingly less prepared in a broader range of things, including writing and New York law.

To combat these issues, McDonald suggested a formalization and modification of the NYLE and/or coupling the NYLE score with the UBE score. McDonald hoped there was something the Task Force could do with the exam to improve writing and knowledge of New York law: "[i]nclusion of an essay portion can be helpful because it does require students to think in a different way, to apply facts, and it gives them room to make arguments that maybe would not have been anticipated." McDonald observed "[i]f we choose what we think is important to test because we want to know that our students have these skills, we are sending a message to students that this is what you actually need to focus on while you're in school."

He suggested that a third day of New York testing would just mean formalizing the current NYLE—since the State already requires a State-specific portion of the exam. This way, McDonald contended, New York would be sending a message to students that the NYLE is just as important because New York law is taken seriously. He saw this as having the potential for a domino effect: students would take New York law courses and ask professors to teach more New York specific material. He also theorized that combining the UBE and NYLE score would force students to take the NYLE more seriously.

John McCann, a Task Force member, asked if law schools could certify students that completed a certain number of courses focusing on New York law as "ready for practice in the State." McDonald personally endorsed the idea but expressed some concern that it might overburden for students already heavily burdened with preparing for the UBE.

McDonald acknowledged that adoption of the UBE was done for valid reasons, that the Task Force should endeavor to retain the portability component in whatever change is suggested, and that "[a]ny change would have to be phased in to give students a chance to adjust to the changing expectations."

The Director of Student Affairs at Syracuse College of Law, Sarah Collins, noted that "[a]nything we can do to prepare students [for practice] in the real-world is going to be beneficial for them."

(ii) Nassau County

Vincent J. Messina, Jr., a partner at Sinnreich Kosakoff & Messina LLP and Second Vice President of the Suffolk County Bar Association, testified as to his perspective on the state of legal training and education in New York. "The verdict is in and unfortunately it is not good," he said, citing near-unanimous sense that newly-admitted attorneys are unready for the practice of law. It is more difficult for newly-admitted attorneys to get their first job because the burden and costs of training falls on the employer, and many employers would rather just hire a more experienced attorney.

When asked whether these changes result from the change to the UBE, Messina mentioned the "unanimous response" from practitioners that new attorneys need more training than in previous years. The former "New York day," he thought, was an important component under the old bar exam. He concluded that the bar examination should be one component of several to ensure a basic competency to practice law.

Richard D. Collins, founding partner at Collins Gann McCloskey & Barry PLLC and President of the Nassau County Bar Association, spoke about the need for educational changes in training, preparing, and introducing young lawyers to the profession. Specifically, Collins noted that: (1) in-person communications must be emphasized over digital connections since there is a decline in younger lawyers' interpersonal skills; (2) there should be a remedial approach to "cogent and clever" critical thinking and writing in law school; and (3) the qualifications for measuring the ability to practice law should be reexamined.

Robert M. Nigro, Administrator of the Nassau County Assigned Counsel Defender Plan, commented that, with many experienced practitioners retiring, he is having a hard time finding practitioners to serve as assigned counsel for children in Family Court. He also suggested that law schools should provide more specialized experiential training for the needed open positions.

Liz Post, Executive Director of the Nassau County Bar Association, agreed that additional experiential programs, including those providing pro bono representation, may help to better train newly-admitted attorneys.

One attorney present, who was licensed to practice in New Mexico, commented that he recently took the NYLE and found it to be "easy and straightforward."

(iii) Capital Region

Albany Law Professor Patrick Connors, a member of the Task Force, testified that he is "constantly hearing from lawyers and judges that young lawyers don't know enough about New York law. And it's not just New York Practice. It's criminal law, it's trust and estates, criminal procedure, evidence." Under the former NYBE, where New York Practice and other New York distinctions were significantly tested in detail in a closed book exam, the level of preparation was much greater. The former NYBE served students well when it based questions on leading Court of Appeals decisions because it incentivized students to study those cases. This sort of studying allowed a student to acquire a general reservoir of knowledge so that when an issue arose in practice, it triggered something.

Most bar review companies offered at least nine hours of classroom instruction in New York civil practice, in addition to additional lectures on federal civil procedure. Some bar review companies offered between fifteen and twenty hours of New York Practice instruction in their bar review course. All of the bar review companies also taught significant New York distinctions in substantive law courses such as Evidence, Torts, Contracts, and Criminal Law and Procedure. After the UBE was adopted, all of the bar review courses stopped teaching New York Practice and New York distinctions in other substantive law subjects.

Now, Professor Connors observed, students are not actually studying for the NYLE, which is "[n]ot a testing of New York law sufficient to practice law in this state." In the NYLC, "[s]tudents race through lectures while they're home doing other things.... They are treating it as a joke." Anecdotes have been shared of students watching the lectures at home while watching television and drinking wine.

Professor Connors considers the UBE "a mistake [that] led to what we have now, where the lawyers in the State are unable to serve their clients to the degree they should be serving them." He believes this impact is felt more in remote and rural communities, where small firms have more difficulty absorbing the costs of getting a new lawyer up to speed.

Professor Connors suggested adding a written component to the NYLE or requiring applicants to take closed-book exams at testing centers (a là the MPRE exam). Such steps aimed at making the exam more rigorous would force students to take the exam more seriously. It would not add an additional day to the UBE because it could remain separated from the two-day UBE, and the NYLE is already given in the middle of the weekday.

Joe Buffington, the Director of Bar Success and an Assistant Professor at Albany Law School, echoed the sentiment that his students do not take the NYLE seriously. More troubling still, some students were comfortable cheating or finding work-arounds for the various restrictions on the NYLE put in place by BOLE because they did not perceive that others took the exam seriously. The problem was not the materials, which he described as comprehensive and quite helpful, but the fact that the students did not need to learn those materials to pass the NYLE. He suggested building a more formal test and have it administered at a testing center.

John J. McAlary, Executive Director of the BOLE, indicated that adding a written component would increase the time it took to grade the exam. Professor Connors acknowledged that producing essays and getting them all graded would be a lot more work for the BOLE, "but it's a much more effective way of testing a person's skill to go out and practice law." "[It would] be more expensive no doubt, but I think it's worth it."

McAlary went on to note that, of the 36 UBE jurisdictions, most had no state-specific portion whatsoever, and those that did were not as rigorous as New York's. McAlary reminded the Task Force that the NYLE was not designed to be as rigorous as the bar exam, but rather to look at where there are key differences and alert the applicant to them. He said students take it seriously because it's interesting to them, and if they don't, "shame on them."

C. Viewpoints of the Deans of New York Law Schools

The Task Force solicited the opinions of all the ABA-accredited law schools in the state, because of reports of changing curriculum since the UBE, and because of these stakeholders' institutional and academic expertise.

In a letter to the Task Force, New York Law School Dean Anthony W. Crowell stressed that "[t]he move away from state-specific law resulting from the adoption of the UBE . . . has undermined the importance that New York law plays in both the global and local economies and in resolving cases and conflicts."¹³¹ He said that "[t]he vast majority of NYLS graduates who enter the profession historically have relied on their knowledge of New York law to serve New York's communities, including those with vulnerable populations in need of representation and access to justice."¹³² Since the adoption of the UBE, there has been a "pedagogical shift" in curriculum, which "require[s] students to focus on law that they may never need to know except for purposes of the UBE."¹³³ "This ... problem [may be] more acute in some subjects than others, but there is little doubt that the most glaring example of the problem, as reported by many law schools across the state, is the change in enrollment in courses focused on New York Practice."¹³⁴ He said that "although the [NYLE] is designed to test state-specific subjects, the weight and value of an open book test after completion of an online course as a measure of any true knowledge or competency can, at best, be described as limited."¹³⁵

Dean Crowell recommended that the Task Force "identify ways to make testing of New York State law a more relevant and meaningful component of admission to the New York State Bar"; "work with the state to examine the format, relevancy, transparency, and necessity of the [NYLE]"; and "explore options to require that UBE takers answer written questions applying the law of the state in which they take the exam."¹³⁶

As for the UBE, Dean Crowell recommended that the Task Force (1) "review the feasibility of combining the MEE and MPT, making all written work for the UBE an expanded MPT that not only tests the analytical and writing skills of bar takers, but also requires them to apply their substantive knowledge of the law, including relevant state law, in the process"; (2) "review the feasibility of refining the scope and complexity, but keeping the rigor, of the MBE"; and (3) "explore whether the bar exam can be disaggregated and re-sequenced in three stages as follows: MPRE after the 1L year, MBE after the 2L year, and a newly-expanded MPT during or after the 3L year."¹³⁷

The Task Force also invited the Deans of every law school in New York to discuss their views of the current bar exam in person. Twelve of the fifteen law school deans (or their representatives) attended personally or by phone for a lengthy dialogue with many views presented and much commonality. All of the Deans seemed to agree that the current NYLE had issues. Most believe that the students do not regard it as important and treat it casually. Most Deans felt that the exam needs to emphasize New York practice specific areas, and they differed on how that could be accomplished. Others believed the UBE has serious flaws, including racial

¹³¹ Appendix C: *Letter to the Co-Chairs of the Task Force*, Anthony W. Crowell, at 2 (Oct. 23, 2019) [hereinafter, "NY Law School Letter"].

¹³² *Id.*

¹³³ *Id.*

¹³⁴ *Id.*

¹³⁵ *Id.* Moreover, Dean Crowell expressed a concern that results of the NYLE are not made available to law schools, "leaving [them] without any way to gauge the success of [their] students." *Id.* It is worth noting that our investigation revealed very few reported failures of the NYLE.

¹³⁶ *Id.* at 3.

¹³⁷ *Id.* at 3-4.

and gender inequality on the MBE, overemphasis on speed on the MPT, and a disparity in overall scoring depending on the state where the exam is taken.

The University at Buffalo School of Law Dean, Aviva Abramovsky, wanted to explore what areas should be tested and when. Most Buffalo students come from and remain in New York. She therefore generally supported a greater emphasis on New York law. Albany Law School's Dean, Alicia Ouellette, shared the concern regarding a lack of knowledge of New York practice, a complaint that she has heard from many employers. Like Buffalo students, most Albany Law students come from and remain in New York. Dean Ouellette also said that students do not take the NYLE seriously and it should be changed. She supported emphasizing New York law both on the bar exam and in law schools.

Dean Crowell of New York Law School repeated his concern about the lack of focus on New York law and the declining enrollment in New York Practice courses. He has heard from judges and employers that new lawyers do not know any New York practice. Students are aware that the NYLE is not relevant or meaningful, he said, and, as a result, they do not take it seriously. He supported restoring a New York law emphasis on the bar exam, which would reverberate throughout law schools.

The Dean of St. John's University School of Law, Michael Simons, agreed that as the bar exam moves away from New York specific law, so does the curriculum and the importance of New York law in law schools. He was concerned by this trend and suggested changes were necessary to protect New York's gold standard. CUNY School of Law's Dean, Mary Lu Bilek, said that students did not understand the CPLR, and that fewer third-year students took the CPLR clinic than in previous years. A representative for Dean Michael Cahill of Brooklyn Law School also observed the trend away from New York specific law.

Conversely, the Columbia Law School Dean, Gillian Webster, said that while many of Columbia's law students remain in New York after graduation, the UBE had helped foster growth in New York by attracting students to New York from elsewhere. (She did, however, express concern regarding the racial disparity of the UBE. CUNY's Dean also stressed that the current bar exam has a disproportionate negative impact on women and minorities.) Fordham Law School's Dean, Matthew Diller, supported the movement to the UBE and the recruitment of law students and law graduates from out of state. The Cornell Law School Dean, Edwardo Penalver, cautioned that you cannot design a bar exam for the few graduates who will hang out a shingle, and that most new attorneys get mentoring and support from their employment.

Other deans shared innovative ideas for improving the state's licensing system. The Syracuse University College of Law Dean, Craig Boise, suggested re-sequencing the exam to ensure that students come out of law school "practice ready." He "welcome[d] the recent national interest in rethinking the bar exam."¹³⁸ He observed that "[t]he dominance of traditional bar subjects makes it difficult to expand our curriculum into current critical legal topics, including subjects like compliance, data privacy and cybersecurity, smart contracts and the blockchain, healthcare, the legal implications of climate change and others."¹³⁹

¹³⁸ Boise, *supra* note 2.

¹³⁹ *Id*.

The Dean of Pace Law School, Horace Anderson, discussed the benefit of clinical programs, which are much more valuable for practice after law school. The Brooklyn Law School Dean's representative also noted the importance of clinical programs.

D. Student Survey

The Task Force surveyed law graduates seeking admission in all four of the Judicial Departments. As of February 24, 2019, 1,617 applicants provided responses. ¹⁴⁰ 768 students reported that their law school did not offer a course focused exclusively on New York law, such as New York practice. ¹⁴¹ (285 students were not sure if their law schools offered such a course, perhaps even more troubling. ¹⁴²) According to the responses received, where law schools offered a New York specific course, students choosing not to take the course greatly exceeded those who did (229 students took the course; 609 students did not). ¹⁴³ Of the surveyed students who took one of the courses, only 81 did so because they expected the course to benefit them for practice in New York. ¹⁴⁴ Of the surveyed students who could have taken a New York course but did not, the reasons given were primarily because their schedules did not permit it, ¹⁴⁵ because it was not required for the bar exam, or because they were interested in other courses. 249 students whose law school offered a course exclusively teaching New York law did not take such a course even though they intended to practice law in New York. ¹⁴⁶

716 respondents that the NYLC was either a helpful or somewhat helpful educational experience, while only 279 found it unhelpful. 348 applicants found the NYLE was challenging, 625 thought it was somewhat challenging, and 573 thought it was not challenging at all. 494 applicants reported that they intended to seek admission in another American jurisdiction, while 448 reported that they did not so intend and 464 indicated that they were uncertain.¹⁴⁷

E. Presentations from Experts and Studies on Bar Exams

(i) Alternative Approaches to Licensing Lawyers: Presentations of Professor Deborah Merritt and Dean Judith Wegner on Assessing Legal Competency

At its June 2019 meeting, the Task Force had three questions on its agenda: How should we address competency and training for lawyers entering the profession? What are the essential questions to ask on a bar exam? What goes into devising the best bar exam? To help answer

- ¹⁴³ *Id.*
- ¹⁴⁴ *Id*.
- 145 *Id.*
- ¹⁴⁶ *Id.*
- ¹⁴⁷ *Id.*

¹⁴⁰ Since approximately 8,500 attorneys are admitted to practice in New York State each year, it is unclear whether these 1,617 respondents represent a representative sample of the whole. *See* NEW YORK STATE UNIFIED COURT SYSTEM 2018 ANNUAL REPORT, REPORT OF THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATOR OF THE COURTS FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR JANUARY 1 THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2018 at 38.

¹⁴¹ Appendix D.

¹⁴² *Id.*

these questions, the Task Force heard from Professor Deborah Merritt¹⁴⁸ and Dean Judith Welch Wegner,¹⁴⁹ experts on the subject of lawyer competency.

Professor Merritt acknowledged that, in the abstract, portability was a benefit of the UBE.¹⁵⁰ "The portability does increase the lawyer pool, so there are somewhat more lawyers here in New York and in other states who are available to serve clients."¹⁵¹ Portability is "particularly attractive to clients who are national or international, because whether or not a lawyer actually moves from one place to another, having a lawyer who is licensed in both New York and Ohio may be beneficial to some clients in [the] tristate area."¹⁵²

Yet, in an earlier study conducted by Professor Merritt, she found that the impact the UBE has had on the number of attorneys available to serve New York clients is difficult to assess.¹⁵³ The limited available data shows that "New York transferred more 2018 scores out of the state (1,663) than into the state (747)."¹⁵⁴ There was a similar pattern for 2017 scores.¹⁵⁵ The available data also suggested that the number of candidates who obtain a passing score in New York versus the number who gain admission in New York based on that passing score has diminished since adoption of the UBE.¹⁵⁶ "Whether they use that license to advise clients physically located in New York or in other parts of the nation/world, they understand the value of a New York license when serving clients."¹⁵⁷

"From the perspective of client access to lawyers," Professor Merritt says, "it is reassuring that adoption of the UBE did not diminish the number of lawyers admitted to practice

¹⁵¹ *Id.*

¹⁵⁴ *Id.*

¹⁴⁸ Professor Deborah Merritt is the John Deaver Drinko-Baker & Hostetler Chair at The Ohio State University Moritz College of Law. She formerly clerked for then-Judge Ruth Bader Ginsburg on the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals, and Justice Sandra Day O'Connor, on the United States Supreme Court. She serves on the ABA Commission on the Future of Legal Education (the "ABA Commission"), and has been studying lawyer competencies and lawyer licensing for many years. Professor Merritt is the lead investigator on "Measuring Minimum Competence: New Lawyers in the Workplace," a project co-sponsored by the ABA Commission and AccessLex Institute, and the Institute for the Advancement of the American Legal System.

¹⁴⁹ Judith Welch Wegner was the principal investigator and co-author of the renowned Carnegie Report on Educating Lawyers. See THE CARNEGIE FOUNDATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF TEACHING, EDUCATING LAWYERS, PREPARATION FOR THE PRACTICE OF LAW (2007). She has been the President of the American Association of Law Schools, the Dean of the University of North Carolina School of Law, and a visiting scholar in Australia studying law competency. Dean Wegner has written numerous articles on lawyer competencies and lawyer licensing.

¹⁵⁰ Deborah Merritt Presentation at the June 3, 2019 meeting of the NYSBA Task Force [hereinafter, "Merritt Presentation"].

¹⁵² *Id.*

¹⁵³ See Appendix E: Deborah Merritt, *The UBE and Service to New York* Clients, at 1 (June 12, 2019).

See id. However, given other factors, these numbers did not necessarily mean that New York is suffering a net loss of registered attorneys. For instance, "many of the lawyers transferring UBE scores out of New York are doing so to obtain a second license that will complement their New York license—not because they are relocating to another state." *Id.* at 1, 4.

¹⁵⁶ *See id.* at 6.

¹⁵⁷ *Id.*

in New York."¹⁵⁸ From 2016 to 2018 the number of applicants admitted to practice in New York through examination has seen a gradual increase from 7,885 in 2016, to 8,181 in 2018, to 8,199 in 2018.¹⁵⁹ The number of applicants being admitted by transferring a UBE score has also increased each year since adoption of the UBE, from 11 to 172 to 283.¹⁶⁰ That number is expected to grow in 2019 and beyond as students have three years to transfer their UBE score.

Part of the benefit of the UBE's portability is the reliability associated with the UBE scores, assuming that "[the NCBE] are experts at reliability, which means that the exam they produce is consistent from year to year, in terms of the line that they're drawing."¹⁶¹ However, Professor Merritt considered reliability only a minor benefit because it hinged on the exam's content and quality as a measure of competency. Ultimately, Professor Merritt concluded that the detriments of the UBE eclipsed its benefits.¹⁶²

Specifically, since New York's transition to the UBE, Professor Merritt found that "clients are losing. [Newly-admitted attorneys] are entering the workplace with less knowledge of New York law. . . . That is aggravated by the fact that the UBE requires really extensive memorization of federal rules and what we call 'the law of nowhere,' because the law of nowhere is supposedly majority rules."¹⁶³ Professor Merritt discussed her research on rote memorization. "The more you focus the exam and you're testing only things that have already been memorized, you both are limiting the scope of the exam and you're creating some of these dangers . . . that people are memorizing federal rules when they really need to know New York rules."¹⁶⁴ Moreover, she noted, "[t]hat ... is further aggravated by the fact that the UBE as well as the [MBE] . . . ha[ve] over time come to focus more and more on weeds rather than on trees."¹⁶⁵

Professor Merritt found that the UBE "doesn't test some key skills that lawyers need"¹⁶⁶ She referred to soft lawyering skills such as plea bargaining, which is essential to prosecution and criminal defense practitioners. New York was not alone in facing these issues: "the ABA Commission on the Future of Legal Education has heard from other states . . . that the UBE is not what they thought it was cracked up to be, and one of the options that people have started talking about is to create alternative paths to the same license."¹⁶⁷ She provided an overview of several alternatives to the current UBE. For starters, New York could specify that students take particular courses to demonstrate that they are prepared for legal practice in the State.¹⁶⁸ "This path might be just for people in New York, and the others just go the UBE path. Or it could be that if they have not taken New York Practice while in law school, they could do that in some

- ¹⁶⁴ *Id.*
- ¹⁶⁵ *Id.*
- 166 *Id.*
- ¹⁶⁷ *Id.*
- 168 *Id.*

¹⁵⁸ *Id.* at 7.

¹⁵⁹ See Appendix F.

¹⁶⁰ See id.

¹⁶¹ Merritt Presentation, *supra* note 150.

 $^{^{162}}$ *Id.*

¹⁶³ *Id*.

other way online[.]"¹⁶⁹ New York could allow students to forego the UBE entirely by taking a certain number of hours of clinical or externship work as a practical component, and then taking an exam specifically tailored to New York law.¹⁷⁰ Another option would be an exam focused on fundamental lawyering skills. "One could take all the money that people currently spend on bar prep and the bar itself and have them instead pay for a six-week boot camp in which they would be intensively learning and practicing both doctrinal law and skills."¹⁷¹ Although Merritt acknowledged the additional costs of setting up these alternatives, she noted that larger states, like New York, would be better equipped to handle such pilot programs.

Dean Wegner spoke about developing a better New York-specific portion of the exam. She thought it should be tailored to career paths and communities that the attorney will represent.¹⁷² She said it is important to recognize the additional burden placed on students.¹⁷³ She suggested that the Task Force "may want to look more closely at whatever the patterns of complaints are . . . and try to zero in to see where those are before assuming that you're going to overhaul the whole approach to a state law you have now in order to target better solutions."¹⁷⁴

After some Task Force members raised the concerns they had heard from students at Character and Fitness interviews—that the NYLE is not taken seriously and students can circumvent exam rules—Dean Wegner articulated ways to make the test seem less like a joke and reduce the potential for cheating. She noted how the field of medicine uses test centers. "People can go to monitored centers and do something online and the cheating can be controlled. So, you don't need to necessarily have an exam that takes place in the Javits Center that everybody comes to."¹⁷⁵

As for the content of the NYLE, Dean Wegner suggested better ways to format statespecific portions of tests to enable students to obtain competence in those subjects. "For example, having to look up the law and not simply answer multiple-choice questions on previously served videos or materials . . .would more likely help people achieve some mastery[.]"¹⁷⁶ She also noted that assessing students based on work product in short courses would be beneficial, "rather than simply having them read [the outline], watch the video, and then answer multiple-choice questions."¹⁷⁷

Dean Wegner previously cautioned that a "singular focus on bar examinations misses important points."¹⁷⁸ She advocated for multifaceted licensing systems, which "are already

¹⁶⁹ *Id.*

¹⁷⁰ *Id.*

¹⁷¹ *Id.*

¹⁷² Judith Welch Wegner Presentation at the June 3, 2019 meeting of the NYSBA Task Force [hereinafter, "Wegner Presentation"].

¹⁷³ *Id.*

¹⁷⁴ *Id.*

¹⁷⁵ *Id.*

¹⁷⁶ *Id.*

¹⁷⁷ *Id.*

¹⁷⁸ Judith Welch Wegner, *Rethinking Law Licensing*, NYSBA JOURNAL, https://www.nysba.org/Journal/2018/Sep/Rethinking_Law_Licensing/ (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

embedded in the existing American legal licensing system."¹⁷⁹ "A multifaceted licensing system should reflect best practices in professional licensing and should foster incentives for practitioners to achieve the highest possible level of competence in the public interest."¹⁸⁰ Accordingly, Dean Wegner theorized about adopting the following components: "(1) an initial post-1L test on foundational skills involving critical thinking, legal writing and research; (2) a 'residency' requirement that facilitates training and assessment of students" performance in practice-based settings such as clinics, externships and jobs; (3) a possible limited license system that allows qualified students to gain skills in specific practice areas and be credentialed based on performance in those areas before returning to seek a general license; and (4) an advanced bar examination system that allows applicants who have passed the initial post-1L year exam to demonstrate more in-depth expertise in substantive areas and additional skills."¹⁸¹

Dean Wegner observed that countries like England and Scotland have been moving towards allowing students the option of being examined in depth in a couple of areas and basic competency in others, which she observed "give[s] students an incentive to focus and to develop more expertise so they are more confident when they come out."¹⁸² Canada uses assessment centers for skills-based assessments. These jurisdictions "may have an online contained set of cases that if a student is doing some kind of a written assessment in a particular area, if research is involved, they would be expected to use that online controlled set of materials in terms of their performance. The assessment centers also allow them to do things like client counseling or negotiation."¹⁸³ Dean Wegner also compared training and licensing of students in Australia, which has "a very, very effective system of online teaching and learning where students are supervised by preceptors, that we might call mentors, that are assigned simulation exercises that relate to both practice skills and content."¹⁸⁴

The Task Force also considered the Daniel Webster Scholar Honors Program, "a first-ofits-kind program in the country allowing students to graduate without the need to take the traditional two-day bar exam."¹⁸⁵ Instead, licensure follows successful completion of a rigorous practice-based curriculum in the second and third years of law school. According to the University of New Hampshire Franklin Pierce School of Law, "[s]uccessful Webster Scholars pass a variant of the New Hampshire Bar exam during their last two years of law school and are sworn into the New Hampshire bar the day before graduation. They are also eligible to sit for the bar exam in any jurisdiction outside New Hampshire for which they would qualify having graduated from an ABA-accredited law school."¹⁸⁶

¹⁷⁹ *Id.*

¹⁸⁰ *Id.*

¹⁸¹ *Id.*

¹⁸² Wegner Presentation, *supra* note 172.

¹⁸³ *Id.*

¹⁸⁴ *Id.*

¹⁸⁵ Daniel Webster Scholar Honors Program, UNIVERSITY OF NEW HAMPSHIRE FRANKLIN PIERCE SCHOOL OF LAW, https://law.unh.edu/academics/experiential-education/daniel-webster-scholar-honors-program (last visited Feb. 10, 2020); see John Burwell Garvey, Making Law Students Client-Ready" The Daniel Webster Scholar Honors Program: A Performance-Based Variant of the Bar Exam, 85 NYSBA JOURNAL 44, 44-50 (Sept. 2013).

¹⁸⁶ Daniel Webster Scholar Honors Program, supra note 185.

In the Webster program, students are accepted into the program after their first year of law school and have the opportunity to counsel clients, work with practicing lawyers, conduct depositions, appear before judges, negotiate, mediate, and draft business documents—all "while creating portfolios of written and oral work for bar examiners to assess every semester."¹⁸⁷ Dean Wegner noted that the Daniel Webster Scholar Honors Program had stringent selection criteria, but that the committee tasked with selecting scholars is focused on admitting minority students.¹⁸⁸ Specifically, "the committee seeks an overall balanced group from the pool of qualified applicants. In addition to each individual's qualifications, the committee considers personal experiences including … urban/rural background, education, culture, life/work experience, travel, extra-curricular activities before and during law school, hobbies, and goals for the applicant's legal career."¹⁸⁹ Notably, "[t]he committee also considers whether an applicant is likely to remain in New Hampshire in order to balance the class between prospective New Hampshire and non-New Hampshire practitioners."¹⁹⁰

Ultimately, Dean Wegner concluded that whatever change is made, it is important "to think about the whole enterprise as not just a test at the end of the third year, but how you stage different assessments as you go along. Think about the fact too that if you only test at the end of the third year, you're really putting your finger on the scale in terms of debt load and people's capacity to serve those with limited means."¹⁹¹

(ii) Building a Better Bar Exam: Report by Andrea A. Curcio, Carol L. Chomsky, and Eileen Kaufman¹⁹²

The Task Force examined a study co-authored by one of its members that explored alternatives to licensing systems that could serve as examples for improving New York's licensing system. That study was centered on the bedrock principle that "the purpose of the bar exam (both the UBE and the NYLE) is consumer protection—ensuring that new lawyers have the competencies required to practice law effectively."¹⁹³

The study looked at the 1983 Performance Test offered in California and the Law Society of Upper Canada Exam used in Ontario. The study found that these examples, which were both

¹⁸⁷ *Id.*

¹⁸⁸ Wegner Presentation, *supra* note 172.

¹⁸⁹ Daniel Webster Scholar Honors Program, supra note 185.

¹⁹⁰ *Id*.

¹⁹¹ Wegner Presentation, *supra* note 172.

¹⁹² Eileen Kaufman is a Professor of Law at Touro Law Center where she teaches Torts, Constitutional Law, Evidence, Sex-Based Discrimination, and Civil Liberties in an Age of Terrorism. Professor Kaufman was Touro's Vice Dean from 1996-2000, the founder of Touro Law's summer program in India and the co-director of Touro Law's summer program in Israel. Among her professional activities, Professor Kaufman served as the Co-President of the Society of American Law Teachers, the Reporter for the New York Pattern Jury Instructions Committee, the Chairperson of the Bar Admission and Lawyer Performance Committee of the American Association of Law Schools, and the Co-Chair of CLEAB.

¹⁹³ Andrea A. Curcio et al., *How to Build a Better Bar Exam*, 90 NYSBA JOURNAL 38, 38 (Sept. 2019). One of the authors of this study, Eileen Kaufman, is also a Task Force member.

open-book exams that featured multiple-choice questions, could be built on, and either would "do a better job of testing minimum competence" than the UBE.¹⁹⁴

The 1983 California Performance Test provides an example of the benefits of a case-file approach to testing. The test consisted of "factual material and appellate opinions that provided the basis for both multiple-choice and essay questions."¹⁹⁵ Test-takers therefore "had information lawyers might see when working on a client's file."¹⁹⁶ The multiple-choice portion of the assessment "focus[ed] directly on an important analytical we expect lawyers to have: the ability to read and understand appellate cases and use those cases to support a party's legal contentions and theories."¹⁹⁷ "Answering these questions was not a simple matter of identifying case holdings but, instead, demanded close reading of the cases and understanding subtle differences in holdings and rationales."¹⁹⁸ The study concluded that these techniques would improve the status quo in New York because it "shifts the testing lens from the ability to *recall* rules to the ability to *discern* and *comprehend* legal rules in typical legal materials."¹⁹⁹

The Ontario Exam, which is still administered today, consists of "a seven-hour multiplechoice test consisting of 220 to 240 multiple choice questions [testing] a wide range of lawyering competencies including ethical and professional understanding, knowledge of the law, establishing and maintaining client relationships, practice management issues, and (for barristers) problem/issue identification, analysis, and assessment."²⁰⁰ The exam, "like U.S. bar exams, tests legal knowledge and analytical skills, but it often does so in a practice-oriented context, focusing on how knowledge of the law informs the proper representation of clients."²⁰¹

Like the NYLE, the Ontario Exam is open book and provides examinees online access to the necessary materials before the exam. The administrators also encourage students to organize, code, and summarize the materials in ways that best suit their learning styles.²⁰² However, candidates must take the exam at a testing site.²⁰³

The study makes clear that "it is possible to design multiple-choice questions that test a wider range of lawyering competencies[.]"²⁰⁴ These examples could also be built upon. For

¹⁹⁶ *Id.*

¹⁹⁴ *Id.* at 38, 41.

¹⁹⁵ *Id.* at 38.

¹⁹⁷ *Id.*

¹⁹⁸ *Id.* at 39.

¹⁹⁹ Id. As the study notes, such an exam could also be validated, as demonstrated by the fact that the Law School Admission Council developed and validated a similar assessment method as part of a 2008 study. See id.

²⁰⁰ *Id.* at 40.

 $^{^{201}}$ Id.

²⁰² See id.

²⁰³ See Barrister Licensing Examination - Tuesday, March 3, 2020, LAW SOCIETY OF ONTARIO, https://lso.ca/becoming-licensed/lawyer-licensing-process/licensing-examinations/dates,-times-andlocations/barrister-exams (last visited Feb. 10, 2020).

²⁰⁴ Curcio et al., *supra* note 193 at 41.

instance, New York could test experiential skills, such as client interviewing and negotiation, through a closely-supervised clinical or externship experience.²⁰⁵

(iii) Assessing the Transition to the UBE: Professors Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus and Allison Robbins

On September 17, 2019 the Task Force heard from Professor Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus²⁰⁶ and Professor Allie Robbins.²⁰⁷

Professor Darrow-Kleinhaus spoke of the change in law school curriculum soon after the adoption of the UBE. "New York law schools have modified their curriculums to cover more of the UBE tested subjects."²⁰⁸ For example, she noted that they added previously untaught subjects like secured transactions. "New York law schools have also modified the content of courses. . . . We reviewed our content of *all* of our courses to make sure we are covering the general principles of law, often instead of New York law, because there is no time to teach everything."²⁰⁹

She confirmed statistics of "[d]ecreased student enrollment in New York practice courses across the board in all of our schools."²¹⁰ The schools that continue to offer New York Practice have lessened its credit value.²¹¹ "There's also greater emphasis now in law school classes on bar prep itself and on the MBE portion of the bar exam, as opposed to the written portion … because it drives the scoring with being 50% of your score."²¹² She also noted, and other professors confirmed, that many schools have six credit courses that focus exclusively on how to pass the UBE. In some New York law schools, students can take more than ten credits in bar review courses. These are essentially bar review courses in which students can receive credit toward their J.D. degree. "[T]his is life in New York and that local color is missing. Every jurisdiction that has gone UBE has lost its own identity."²¹³

Furthermore, she explained why the current state of the NYLC and NYLE does not make up for what was lost when the state abandoned the NYBE.

[S]ince students are not tested on New York law, faculty don't cover it in their classes. Which means that they're not studying it from day one and throughout their three and four years of law school. And when you're not studying it to take

²¹³ *Id.*

²⁰⁵ See id.

²⁰⁶ Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus is a member of the Task Force. She is also a professor and the Director of Academic Development and Bar Programs at Touro Law School.

²⁰⁷ Allie Robbins is an associate professor of law at CUNY School of Law, where she has helped to coordinate and develop new bar support programs.

²⁰⁸ Darrow-Kleinhaus Presentation, *supra* note 111.

²⁰⁹ Id.

²¹⁰ *Id.*

²¹¹ *Id.*

²¹² *Id.*

law school exams, you're not learning it the way that you would normally learn the law as part of your law school education.²¹⁴

She said that students "study" for the NYLE by developing a coded system of tabs and highlighting for the outline provided by the BOLE so that they can easily find an answer to a corresponding question on the NYLE.²¹⁵ Other students simply "get another laptop and they automate it and they just do control, find."²¹⁶

One Task Force member noted that New York Rules of Professional Responsibility are different from the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct tested on the MPRE. Because of this, Chief Judge Judith Kaye had urged, and the Court of Appeals had decided, that New York should test the New York Rules of Professional Conduct on the NYBE so applicants were aware of their professional responsibilities when practicing in the state. Such testing now is done only in a handful of multiple-choice questions on the NYLE.

Robbins gave an overview of the MPT. She discussed the time constraints of the MPT and how preparing for that portion of the exam may teach bad lawyering skills. Task Force members questioned whether the MPT would be a better assessment of practice readiness if it focused on practical law that compounds understanding, instead of the fictional law of an imaginary jurisdiction.²¹⁷

(iv) New York Study on the Transition to the UBE

In August 2019, the New York Court of Appeals released the results of a three-year study on the impact of adoption of the UBE in New York.²¹⁸ The Study was conducted by staff from the Research Department of the NCBE at the request of the BOLE. The impartiality of this Study is open to question because of the NCBE's own significant role in the UBE, and the stream of money it receives from those who are required to take the UBE. The NCBE develops the major constituent parts of the UBE, that is, the MEE, MPT, and MBE. The NCBE then scores the MBE, calculates scaled written scores (MEE and MPT) for jurisdictions, and serves as the coordinating body for UBE administrative policies. The NCBE is compensated for its licensing of the examination and for its services in scoring it. Having the NCBE critique the UBE is like having an author write her own book review.

Apart from NCBE's lack of neutrality, we also note that the data sample sizes were small:

- (a) Only two samples were from the prior NYBE: July 2015 and February 2016;
- (b) Only three samples were of the UBE: July 2016 and July 2017; and

²¹⁴ *Id.*

²¹⁵ *Id.*

²¹⁶ *Id.*

²¹⁷ Allie Robbins Presentation at the September 17, 2019 meeting of the NYSBA Task Force.

²¹⁸ See generally Impact of Adoption of the Uniform Bar Examination in New York, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS RESEARCH DEPARTMENT (2019) (available at https://www.nybarexam.org/UBEReport/NY% 20UBE% 20Adoption% 20Part% 202% 20Study.pdf) [hereinafter "BOLE Study"].

(c) February results tend to be less stable in general.²¹⁹

Notwithstanding this, the study concluded that "[t]he short answer, based on the data available, is that the impact [of the adoption of the UBE in New York] was, at most, small."²²⁰ The study concluded that "[b]ar exam performance increased, on average, after UBE adoption and the improvement in performance appeared to be explained in large part by improvements in the background characteristics of candidates taking the New York bar exam. In other words, the improvement in bar exam performance after UBE adoption was likely not attributable to the UBE."²²¹

The study revealed that Caucasian/white test takers tended to have the highest average score on the UBE.²²² Male test-takers tended to have higher pass rates than females.²²³ The study also found that "[d]ifferences observed across groups defined by gender or race/ethnicity on the UBE also tended to be observed prior to UBE adoption in New York."²²⁴

That these troubling statistics existed prior to the adoption of the UBE is not a surprise. Former NYSBA President Seymour James stated in 2013: "Achieving diversity and inclusion is an ongoing and multi-faceted goal for the State Bar and our profession. In our increasingly diverse society, a legal profession representative of our society at large is necessary to maintain the legitimacy of our legal system and respect for the rule of law. A diverse legal profession allows us to better represent our clients and helps to ensure the fair administration of justice."²²⁵

What is surprising, and totally unacceptable, is the NCBE's bland acceptance of the broken status quo. The NCBE should not take comfort in a finding that disparities exist but are no worse than they always were. As one Task Force member stated at the September 17 meeting, "[T]he [NCBE] is saying there's a gender disparity and there's a race disparity, but we're fine with it. And I think that that's a huge problem for a licensing exam in a profession that's the least diverse profession in the country."

Despite New York's being—as NYSBA President Hank Greenberg dubbed it—a "gorgeous mosaic of diversity," New York law firms continue to be plagued by a diversity imbalance. The Task Force shares President Greenberg's opinion that "[t]his state of affairs is unacceptable. It is a moral imperative that our profession better reflects the diversity of our clients and communities, and we can no longer accept empty rhetoric or half-measures to realize

²¹⁹ Id. at 112. "In general, February results appeared less stable likely due to (a) the nature of the group taking the exam in February, where most candidates are repeat takers and the first-time takers tended to be different than first-time takers in July, (b) the sample sizes in February were smaller, which may have affected the stability of results for first-time takers, and (c) candidates included in the school-based sample may not have well represented candidates taking the New York bar exam, particularly first-time takers and candidates taking the February 2016 bar exam." Id.

²²⁰ National Conference of Bar Examiners Research Department, Executive Summary, Impact of Adoption of the Uniform Bar Examination in New York, at 1 [hereinafter, "The Executive Summary"].

²²¹ *Id*.

²²² *Id.* at 4.

²²³ *Id.*

²²⁴ *Id.* at 7.

²²⁵ Seymour James, *President's Message*, NYSBA JOURNAL, May 2013, at 5.

that goal."²²⁶ The New York Study does little to assuage this concern. While we need further investigation on how to eliminate gender and race disparity from the legal profession,²²⁷ the recommendations below would start to make New York's attorney-licensing system more equitable.

(v) NCBE Study on the Transition to the UBE

In 2018, the NCBE appointed a Testing Task Force charged with undertaking a threeyear study "to ensure that the bar exam continues to test the knowledge, skills, and abilities required for competent entry-level legal practice in a changing legal profession."²²⁸

In Phase One of the study, the Testing Task Force met with stakeholders and reported its findings from various listening sessions. Some common threads from the listening sessions are notable. They include the following critiques: the UBE should emphasize more lawyering skills and less subject matter knowledge; the UBE should feature more writing, less multiple-choice, and additional testing-methods, like simulations; and the UBE should be divided into different parts over multiple days.²²⁹

F. Meeting with the BOLE

The Task Force distributed several questions and concerns to the BOLE as it studied the issue. On December 16, 2019, the BOLE issued a statement in response.

²²⁸ NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS TESTING TASK FORCE, YOUR VOICE: STAKEHOLDER THOUGHTS ABOUT THE BAR EXAM 1 (2019). The NCBE has now entered into phase two of its study, "a nationwide practice analysis [designed] to collect information about the importance and frequency of tasks performed by [newly-admitted attorneys], as well as the importance of related knowledge, technologies, skills, abilities, and other characteristics necessary for competent entry-level practice." *Id.* at 5. The final phase of the study will "develop[] recommendations for the next generation of the bar examination and MPRE." *Id.* "The Task Force aims to have its final recommendations in place sometime in 2021." Karen Sloan, *Overhaul the Bar Exam? Two Major Studies Focus on the Test's Future*, LAW.COM (July 31, 2019),

²²⁶ Hank Greenberg, *Diversifying the Legal Profession: A Moral Imperative*, NYSBA NEW YORK CRIMINAL LAW NEWSLETTER, Winter 2020, at 4.

²²⁷ The Dean of New York Law School was one of the stakeholders who encouraged the Task Force to continue studying how the UBE truly impacts law graduates of color, considering the short period since the UBE's implementation. *See* NY Law School Letter, *supra* note 131 at 2. Likewise, the Director of Academic Success at Buffalo noted that there appears to be a downward trend of diverse applicants since adoption of the UBE and suggested the issue is something that should be studied further.

https://www.law.com/2019/07/31/overhaul-the-bar-exam-two-major-studies-focus-on-the-tests-future/. Additionally, the Institute for the Association for the Advancement of the American Legal System ("IAALS") is working on its own study of the exam. *See Building a Better Bar: Capturing Minimum Competence*, UNIVERSITY OF DENVER INSTITUTE FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF THE AMERICAN LEGAL SYSTEM,

https://iaals.du.edu/projects/building-a-better-bar (last visited Feb. 10, 2020). IAALS aims to speak with new attorneys across the country to pinpoint the knowledge and skills that make them effective, as well as more seasoned attorneys who supervise newly-admitted attorneys. *See id.* The Task Force will be monitoring both groups of reports closely.

²²⁹ See Kyle McEntee, *The Future of the Bar Exam*, ABOVE THE LAW (Aug. 16, 2019), https://abovethelaw.com/2019/08/the-future-of-the-bar-exam/?rf=1.

The BOLE opined that none of the anecdotal problems regarding new attorney's practice-readiness is attributable to the bar exam.²³⁰ "It is a false premise that passing the [NYBE] demonstrated practice-readiness, while passing the UBE and the NYLE does not so demonstrate."²³¹ Notably, BOLE pointed out that "although the Board supported the answers to the multiple-choice and essay questions it drafted for the prior New York exam with New York authorities, [it] made no concerted effort to test New York distinctions in most doctrinal areas" and "[w]hile [it] did test specific New York statutes, [it] did not seek to determine if the particular statute was in accord with prevailing views or any applicable model rule or code."232 "Consequently, a candidate who had no knowledge of New York specific law but who was adequately educated in general principles of law could apply those principles and easily pass the exam."²³³ As for concerns regarding the newly-admitted attorneys' lack of knowledge of New York Civil Procedure, the BOLE observed that "in many respects, the testing of New York civil procedure under the NYLE is more effective than was the testing on the [NYBE] because it is specific, and a lack of knowledge of New York procedure could be masked on the prior exam by a strong performance on the MBE and answering questions based on general principles."²³⁴ Instead of considering any changes to the UBE or NYLE, the BOLE suggested that law schools could require students take a New York Practice course, employers could require new attorneys to have taken a New York Practice course in order to receive a job offer, or new lawyers could be required to take New York-specific CLE courses.²³⁵

What is missing from the BOLE's comment that a student could have masked his or her lack of knowledge of New York civil procedure by strongly performing on other aspects of the prior examination is that the same could be said about any subject of the examination. An applicant may balance out a poor performance on one aspect of a test with a stronger performance on another. The solution is not to eliminate New York specific questions from the examination. The common-sense notion that a person may perform better on some aspects of a test than others supports having a test that measures a broad base of knowledge—as the NYBE once did.

The Task Force invited the BOLE to a meeting, and the dialogue was robust and constructive. Chairwoman Bosse, BOLE members Bryan Williams and Michael Colodner, and Executive Director McAlary attended the Task Force's meeting on January 13, 2020, where we focused primarily on the NYLE.

First, Ms. Bosse defended the open-book format of the NYLE as "pedagogically sound." She also asserted its value as an educational tool because using resources to look up an answer is the same way lawyers find answers to legal questions in practice. Additionally, Ms. Bosse noted that the NYLE had to be open-book because the BOLE could not control it otherwise because

²³⁰ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 25.

²³¹ *Id.* at 23.

²³² *Id.* at 4.

²³³ *Id.* at 5.

²³⁴ *Id.* at 25.

²³⁵ *Id.* at 26.

"thousands of people all over the world tak[e] the test at the same time." She also observed that there would be a burden and expense to changing the open-book format.

However, Mr. McAlary later noted "the State takes in more than what it costs for [the BOLE] to run [the bar exam]." Although the funds allocated to the BOLE to administer the bar exam are not derived directly from the fees paid by applicants, the \$250 application fee for domestically educated applicants, which was last raised in 1991, "is the lowest fee in the country at this point, and it's not even close." Indeed, Indiana and Puerto Rico are the only other jurisdictions that charge the same fee as New York.²³⁶ For comparison, New Jersey charges \$675, Massachusetts charges \$815, and California charges \$1,228.²³⁷ As will be discussed further below, the adoption of the UBE was not urged on the basis of expense and it appears from available data that the fees received from the administration of the test exceed the expenses incurred by the BOLE.²³⁸

Despite evidence to the contrary uncovered by the Task Force's investigation,²³⁹ Ms. Bosse emphasized that the NYBE did not test distinctions that heavily. "I think there might be a misunderstanding of what the [NYBE] was in terms of the amount of New York law that was actually on it. I mean we would cite New York authorities for answers, but it didn't necessarily mean that that was the law of New York and nowhere else." She also argued that "essentially 70% of the exam now is the same as it was before."

Furthermore, Ms. Bosse stated that "the purpose of this test . . . isn't supposed to be a test of minimum competence. It's supposed to be a test whereby people would get some exposure to fundamental principles of New York law." She indicated this is so because the BOLE was "directed by the Court of Appeals, relying on the recommendation of the Advisory Committee on the Uniform Bar Exam, not to create too high a hurdle." Mr. McAlary emphasized, "it's not the bar exam. The bar exam is the UBE.

Yet, Ms. Bosse acknowledged that "in the beginning [the NYLE] was perhaps not challenging enough when we first started . . . but we've learned a lot over the . . . three and a half years now that we've been administering it and we've made more challenging questions. We've made questions that you can't just look up or look for a few words and find the answers." She noted that "it's more challenging now than it has been [a]nd I think people now would be less inclined to say it's a joke."

When the Task Force questioned Ms. Bosse on the ramifications of newly-admitted attorneys not being tested on the New York distinctions, she stated:

²³⁶ See Comprehensive Guide to Bar Admission Requirements 2019, CHART 9: Bar Examination Application Deadlines and Fees, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS http://www.ncbex.org/pdfviewer/?file=%2Fassets%2FBarAdmissionGuide%2FNCBE-CompGuide-2019.pdf#page=41 (last visited Feb. 10, 2020).

²³⁷ See id.

²³⁸ It is also worth noting that the NCBE receives fees for every applicant taking the UBE exam and it is, therefore, in its economic interests to have the UBE adopted in as many states as possible.

²³⁹ See Appendices G-H.

[I]t seems to me that people weren't learning it on the bar exam before. I mean we always heard that people were memorizing rules and then the day after the bar exam, they forgot everything that they knew. So, I'm not quite sure it isn't better now that people are required to sit through a couple of hours' worth of civil procedure lectures and answer questions—even if they're finding the answers within materials that we provide that I think are pretty good in outlining what are the distinctions in New York law and what are the important principles that they ought to know if they want to practice in New York—regardless of whether or not they had the opportunity to take a New York practice course or took advantage of that opportunity while they were in law school.

As to rumors of cheating, Ms. Bosse stated "they can't collaborate really, because you can't backward navigate while you're taking it" and "the questions are scrambled." As for other people not taking the exam assisting, Ms. Bosse said she had not heard such reports. (As will be discussed *infra*, cheating does occur because of readily-available work arounds to the security precautions identified by Ms. Bosse.)

The BOLE's response did little to address the negative effect of the NYLE and UBE on certain New York law schools that used to ground their students for practice in New York, which meant that those students were essentially reviewing for the NYBE throughout law school. Prior to the UBE, there was a reason why students went to New York law schools that focused on the study of New York law, such as Albany Law, New York Law, and Buffalo, to name a few. Students were required to learn New York law, both because it was tested on the bar examination and because it made students ready to practice. While the intensive study of New York law in many New York law schools did not negatively impact students who went on to practice with the large, elite law firms, it greatly benefitted the students who went into practice with smaller law firms in the City, in the suburbs, and in upstate New York. This has been entirely lost with the adoption of the UBE. It is simply not possible to replace it, or even come close to replacing it, by giving everyone a limited, generic, low-threshold, open book test, prior to which everyone has the course materials and knows what questions are coming. Prior to the adoption of the UBE, law teaching in most New York law schools and the bar examination were closely aligned with what most of the newly-admitted attorneys would end up doing. That alignment is now broken.

Ms. Bosse responded that the ABA has done curriculum studies and has never found that the bar exam drives curriculum. As previously noted, this point of view is opposed by many of the Deans of New York's law schools. When pressed on the idea that pushing bar pass rates as a measure for law school accreditation may be reinforcing the idea of teaching to the bar exam, Ms. Bosse stated that she would be surprised if that drives schools, other than those schools with performance problems. Ms. Bosse expressed similar disbelief when Task Force members shared what they had heard from several law school deans: "I'm surprised that the deans would say that the bar exam is driving curriculum." ²⁴⁰ Additionally, Ms. Bosse reminded the Task Force that "the number of people taking New York Practice courses had declined prior to the adoption of the [UBE]."

²⁴⁰ In September 2013, Chairwoman Bosse suggested that the high passing rate for the NYBE was "a credit to the high quality of legal education offered in New York." Bosse, *supra* note 22 at 26.

Eileen Kaufman responded that many professors have made dramatic changes to their syllabi over the last three years. "We never have enough time to cover everything we want. So, for example, in my torts class, I used to always include the leading New York Court of Appeals cases, recent cases that profoundly affected law in the State. In the last three years, I dropped most of them just because of the emphasis on the bar exam and the need to cover broad concepts, [which] left less room to cover New York laws." In response, Ms. Bosse noted that New York "never had more than a third generally of our people sitting for the bar exam who went to New York law schools that would've had whatever opportunity there is to study those New York specific rules during their legal education."²⁴¹

Ultimately, although the BOLE did not endorse any changes to the NYLE or UBE, when asked whether it was possible to create a hybrid bar exam with a more robust New York piece that would then translate back to the law schools, Ms. Bosse stated, "I think it's something that we could consider."

V. <u>FINDINGS</u>

A. The Lost Purpose of the Bar Exam

We conclude that since the adoption of the UBE, the fundamental purpose of the bar examination has been lost. As Judge Crane said 100 years ago, the very purpose of a rigorous admissions process is to protect the public from ignorance, inexperience, and unscrupulousness. None of the arguments in support of the UBE's adoption asserted that making this change would better protect the public. Rather, the arguments centered largely, if not entirely, upon the perceived benefits to law school graduates.

As Ms. Bosse said at the time, adoption of the UBE would mean that law graduates would not have to take multiple bar examinations and would have greater flexibility in pursuing employment opportunities in multiple jurisdictions. We, however, reject the idea that the bar admission process should benefit bar applicants. The purpose of the bar admission process is to assure the public that only those persons with the requisite skill, knowledge, character, and fitness may become members of the New York Bar. Moreover, a member of the public confronted with litigation in the New York courts cares little about the flexibility offered by a bar exam. Rather, the party seeks comfort in knowing that her attorney can provide competent representation, which "requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation."²⁴²

B. The NYLE has Failed

We believe that the NYLE has proven to be a complete failure and needs to be eliminated.

²⁴¹ It must be noted, however, that several law schools outside New York State offered courses on New York law. For example, Seton Hall Law School offered a course in New York Practice for many years, as did Rutgers University School of Law-Newark.

²⁴² New York Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 1.1(a).

We distinguish between the NYLC and the NYLE. The materials and presentation of the NYLC provide useful and important information to applicants to the New York Bar.²⁴³ However, the laxity of the NYLE, both in terms of its content and in terms of its administration, communicate a message to applicants that they need not learn the materials, no matter how excellent they may be, in order to pass the NYLE. In essence, the NYLC is simply an on-line CLE program. While CLE programs are useful to further the continuing education of admitted attorneys, to assure that they are current on relevant legal topics, a CLE is no way to teach the full measure of New York law. Those taking the NYLC are not required to devote their full attention to the materials, as they are not tested on it. Applicants multi-task during the NYLC and pay only enough attention to respond to the periodic prompts and simplistic questions.

The evidence is overwhelming that applicants to the Bar simply do not take the NYLE seriously, with the NYLE being described variously as a farce or a joke. The evidence likewise reflects that cheating occurs to a considerable extent. The Advisory Committee anticipated that applicants would cheat on the NYLE and, to deter it, suggested that the BOLE employ technological methodologies, such as the use of scrambled questions and answers. The evidence we have gathered demonstrates that students have readily apparent work-rounds, such as taking the NYLE in groups and using multiple screens in order to share answers to questions, which are the same, even if posed to different applicants in different order.

The Advisory Committee also suggested, and the BOLE implemented, a requirement that applicants complete an affirmation swearing that they completed the NYLC and NYLE without assistance from anyone else and did not provide assistance to any other applicant. The Advisory Committee proposed that an applicant who violated the oath be subject to disciplinary action, including denial of admission.²⁴⁴ This requirement has proven to be wholly ineffectual and, if anything, counterproductive.

While the BOLE claimed, at least before we raised the issue to it, to be unaware that cheating occurs, it seems apparent that the BOLE has not expended any energy to find out if cheating occurs and, if so, how to prevent it. The BOLE most certainly does not claim to have any methods in place to investigate incidents of cheating and, even though we have informed the BOLE of methods by which cheating occurs, the BOLE has not proposed or identified any methods to prevent it. One method would be to have the NYLE administered at test centers, a suggestion that the BOLE rejects.

Since individuals take the BOLE online in the setting of their choice, there is no practical means to control cheating and no reason to believe that any test takers will disclose their violations or violations of others. The BOLE has not reported that any have to date. We have received no indication from the BOLE that it reviews any of the affirmations submitted to it or that it has ever notified any of the Departments of the Appellate Division, or any Committee on Character and Fitness, that a given applicant has cheated on the NYLE. The BOLE has not given us any reason to expect that it intends to treat the affirmation requirement as anything other than a formality.

²⁴³ This is not to say that the NYLC is perfect. *See, e.g.*, Joe Patrice, *NY Bar Exam in Complete Disarray*, ABOVE THE LAW (Feb. 11, 2020), https://abovethelaw.com/2020/02/ny-bar-exam-in-complete-disarray/?rf=1.

²⁴⁴ See ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, supra note 15 at 48-49.

The Advisory Committee, in relying upon the oath requirement, stated that "the legal profession is based on truth and integrity" and that the threat of non-admission would be "a sufficient deterrent"²⁴⁵ However, as experience has shown, the threat of non-admission is an idle one. We are in agreement with the Advisory Committee that our profession is based on truth and integrity. Because we agree with that foundational principle, we conclude the NYLE is a detriment to truth and integrity as an unquantifiable, but significant, number of bar applicants are submitting false affirmations. It is ironic, to say the least, that one of the initial acts of a prospective New York lawyer is to submit a knowingly false affirmation regarding the taking of the NYLE.

We asked the BOLE if it would consider changing the way the test is administered. The BOLE responded that "[c]ontinuing the test on-line is the only feasible way it can be administered."²⁴⁶ The BOLE explained that the test is taken routinely by thousands of people all over the world, so offering it in an on-site proctored format would be both administratively and economically infeasible.²⁴⁷

C. The Problems with the UBE

In this section of our Report we address a complicated but necessary part of our evaluation. During its investigation, the Task Force learned of claims made by psychometric experts that the UBE's scoring and equating practices do not necessarily result in "uniform scores" so as to have the same meaning and thus be sufficiently reliable for high-stakes testing. We are not psychometricians and do not profess to be. We are concerned that the science of testing has been given greater weight in the bar examination development and administration process than the primary object of the examination—to determine whether an applicant has the basic competence to practice law in the relevant jurisdiction.

The Advisory Committee Final Report on the Adoption of the UBE did not discuss any of the grading or scoring practices of the UBE except to claim that the UBE is a "**uniformly administered, graded and scored**" examination.²⁴⁸ We have learned in the course of our work that this assertion may not be accurate and, therefore, it is our obligation to present the information we have gathered.

In discussing these issues, we recognize our own limitations. We also recognize that many of the readers of this report may not be conversant with the technical jargon and data analysis that follows. We have endeavored to explain the relevant concepts regarding grading, scoring, and scaling as clearly as possible, relying on the expertise of those who provided the information. Understanding the basic metrics of the bar examination and how it is scored is essential to our work for several reasons, but perhaps most importantly for the following two reasons: first, the recently released Study on the Impact of Adoption of the Uniform Bar Examination in New York contains 185 pages of data in Appendices A through O and another 24 pages of data in an Addendum; and, second, the reliance by the BOLE on the data and analysis

²⁴⁵ *Id.* at 49.

²⁴⁶ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 11.

²⁴⁷ *Id.*

²⁴⁸ ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, *supra* note 15 at 7 (emphasis added).

presented by the NCBE in its support of the reliability and validity of the UBE. Notably, the NCBE conducted the three-year study of the impact of the transition from the traditional New York bar examination to the UBE.

We have been required to seek an understanding of the basic metrics of the bar examination so we can independently assess what the NCBE and the BOLE have provided to us in their reports and articles. Because we have grave concerns with what we have learned, we believe it imperative that an independent psychometric authority (not connected to the NCBE or BOLE) undertake a fuller examination of the grading and scoring issues discussed in this report.

Fundamental questions have been raised as to the UBE itself by experts who have studied the UBE's scoring and scaling extensively. The Advisory Committee favored the adoption of the UBE, asserting that "[o]nce an applicant has achieved a certain score on this **uniformly administered and graded** test, the applicant should be able to seek admission in other UBE jurisdictions."²⁴⁹ We have been advised that the UBE is not uniformly administered and graded.

1. Understanding the Methodology

By adopting the UBE, jurisdictions agree to weigh the MEE at 30%, the MPT at 20%, and the MBE at 50% to determine an examinee's UBE score. A UBE score is obtained through a three-step process:

- 1. Relative grading or "rank-ordering" of the written score;
- 2. Scaling the "ranked" written score to the MBE score for the group of test takers; and
- 3. "Equating" the MBE to determine the strength or weakness of the group of test takers and then scaling the MBE score to adjust for differences in overall difficulty between administrations.

Each of these steps is nuanced.

Relative grading or "rank-ordering" occurs when graders make grading distinctions among papers predicated, not on whether the top grade goes to the most excellent paper, but on which paper is better than the others. Essay graders engage in relative grading so that the top performers in a group get the same top scores as those in a prior group, regardless of whether the pool is less or more competent than a prior pool.

In relative grading, graders sort papers into buckets according to their strength relative to the other papers. For example, using the scoring scale in New York of 1-10, a score of 10 goes to the best papers among all the answers assigned to that particular grader and they go into the "10 bucket." These papers are "better" than those that go into the "9 bucket," which are, in turn, better than those placed in the "8 bucket" and so forth down the line to the "1 bucket," which contains the weakest papers.

A weakness with the practice of rank ordering is that graders may change the score that the examinee earned to make it fit whatever score scale the jurisdiction has in place. To

²⁴⁹ *Id.* at 39 (emphasis added).

illustrate, after reading a set of examinee answers and assessing them according to the grading materials, the grader finds that most of the answers belong in the 4 and 5 buckets. However, since all the buckets must be filled, distinctions must be made and the papers are redistributed. Papers at the top end of the bucket may get a boost up but others may move down simply because some papers must be placed in the 1, 2, and 3 buckets. This may result in an examinee failing simply because of bucket placement.

The objective of a bar examination should not be to rank-order examinees for entrance into the profession based on relative performance as compared to others. Rather, a bar examination should determine whether a particular examinee meets the requirements for minimum competency. Whether an examinee meets the criteria set for minimum competency, should not be dependent upon other how other examinees performed. An examinee's being bumped up into a higher bucket does not make the examinee's paper any better or the examinee any more competent. Conversely, because an examinee's paper is downgraded to a lower bucket does not make the examinee any less competent.

Scaling is the process where the examinees' "ranked" essay scores are then scaled to that jurisdiction's MBE distribution by forcing them to have the mean and standard deviation as that of the MBE distribution for that jurisdiction. Essays are not scaled to a national distribution.

Since the mean and standard deviation is different in each jurisdiction based on the relative MBE skill of that jurisdiction's examinees, this means that the same skill level on the MEEs and MPTs would get a different score in different jurisdictions, depending not only on the relative written skill of the jurisdiction's candidates, but also on the relative MBE skill. This can have a significant impact on individual scores, especially in smaller jurisdictions where the size of the applicant pool might affect the standard deviation of the MBE distribution.

What meaning does such a "local" score have when it is used for "transport" to another jurisdiction where the examinee was not "ranked" or scaled against these examinees to achieve her score? How would the scores be "uniform"?

The MBE also uses a process known as "equating," which "scales" the test to adjust for differences between exams and by different test takers over time. Equating uses versions of questions from previous administrations of the exam, known as "anchor" questions or "equators" to compare two different groups. This way, in theory, one can tell if the second group performed better, worse, or similarly on the anchor questions, which allows groups of test takers to be compared across test administrations. Then, how the second group did on the new questions is examined so that performance on the new questions can be evaluated based on performance on the anchor questions.

Consider two groups of similarly-situated test-takers, Group A and Group B. They each achieve the same score, 15 correct, on a set of the "equator" questions. But Group A scores 21 correct on the unique questions, while Group B scores just 17 of these questions right. Based on Groups A and B's same score on the equator questions, we can feel fairly certain that Groups A and B are of similar ability. We can also feel fairly certain that Group B had a harder test than Group A. This is because we would expect Group B's scores to look like Group A's scores because they are of a similar capability. Because Group B performed worse on unique questions, it looks like they received a harder group of questions. Now we scale the answers so that Group

B's 17 correct answers look like Group A's 21 correct answers, thus accounting for the harder questions. Bar pass rates between Group A and Group B should then look the same. In short, it is irrelevant if Group B's test is harder because the results will be adjusted to account for variances in test difficulty. Group B's pass rate will match Group A's pass rate because the equators establish that they are of similar ability.

Now consider Group C. In the unique questions, Group C did worse than Group A (16 right as opposed to 21 right), much like Group B (17 to 21). But on the equators, the measure for comparing performance across tests, Group C also performed worse, 13 right instead of Group A's 15. We can feel fairly certain, then, that Group C is of lesser ability than Group A. Their performance on the equators shows as much. That also suggests that when Group C performed worse on unique questions than Group A, it was not because the questions were harder; it was because they were of lesser ability.

2. Summary of the Issue

Substantial evidence shows that the UBE's scaling and scoring practices make its score unreliable and an inappropriate measure of a person's minimum competency to practice law. This is especially problematic when the UBE score is earned in another jurisdiction and then transported to New York. Although Chairwoman Bosse assured the Task Force at our meeting that a passing score earned in any UBE jurisdiction reliably tests competency despite differences in cut scores because of the validity of the test itself, this is true only if one accepts NCBE's assumption that the MBE controls the uniformity of the candidates' scores across jurisdictions and over time. It appears that test scoring is, at best, an imperfect process, raising significant concerns over the validity of this assumption.

Exam scores earned by a person in a state scoring its own written exam differ from exam scores earned in another state where it is based on a different cohort. This may result in a "portable" score but not a "true" one because the written score—50% of the total—depends on the strength of the applicant pool in the jurisdiction where the candidate took the exam. The BOLE has acknowledged that it is "a theoretical possibility that a candidate might receive different scores in two different UBE jurisdictions."²⁵⁰

This is a stunning admission in itself, but what follows only confirms that a "portable" UBE score is the product of the time and place in which it was taken. The performance of a candidate varies according to the specific group of papers against which it is evaluated.

The problem is that when a candidate goes to another jurisdiction and takes the test, the performance is judged in that context—meaning the written performance is evaluated with the specific group of papers produced for that exam. It can't be assumed that the written score achieved on one exam would be the same as a written score achieved on another. It would be mere speculation to assume that a written score would increase by a given amount because of the perceived ability of the population with which the test was taken.²⁵¹

²⁵⁰ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 16.

²⁵¹ *Id.* at 18.

The "portable" score is just a "local" score, dependent on the cohort that took that exam—and it is also "relative." This is because of NCBE's practice of scaling the written component to the MBE,²⁵² which comes only from that jurisdiction. The BOLE confirmed the locality of the "portable score" when it stated that "[s]caling related to putting written scores onto a distribution of the same mean and standard deviation as the MBE scores of a given group of test-takers."²⁵³

According to Dr. Nancy Johnson, this practice could result in the case where an examinee who writes her essays in New York might get a different score than if she had written the same answers in a state with a lower MBE mean. "[T]he examinee's written raw scores [are] forced into a distribution that compares them to the [examinee] pool in New York, whereas if [the examinee] had written the same answers in a state with a lower MBE mean, their scaled written score could then be different. That [i]s a problem, because that scaled score is supposed to be portable—it's supposed to mean the same thing from one [UBE] jurisdiction to the next."²⁵⁴ And it may not.

The NCBE is protective of the confidentiality of its scoring practices and appears to consider at least some of its methodologies to be its own intellectual property. However, it is clear from anecdotal evidence that at least some applicants are forum-shopping their test locations, so that their scaled scores will be higher, as a result of taking the test with presumptively less able test takers. This is an outrageous gaming of the system and, critically, operates to the unfairness of at least some other test takers. If one assumes that the system is a closed system and that someone will come up to the line but not cross it, it is *ipso facto* true that the unfair elevation of one or more test takers as a result of the foregoing will result in the failure of that number of test takers that would otherwise have been regarded as having passed the test.

3. The Reliability Issue: Scaling the Written Component to the MBE

When questioned about the scaling of the UBE, the BOLE deferred to the NCBE Testing and Research Department's description of the concept:

As with MBE items, the written components of the bar exam (essay questions and performance test items) change with every administration. The difficulty of the questions/items, the proficiency of the group of examinees taking the exam, and the graders (and the stringency with which they grade) may also change. All three of these variables can affect the grades assigned by graders to examinees' responses to these written components of the exam and as with MBE items, the

See Susan M. Case, The Testing Column, Demystifying Scaling To the MBE: How'd You Do That?, THE BAR EXAMINER, May 2005, at 46. According to Dr. Susan Case, the Director of Testing for the NCBE until November 2013, "[s]caling the essays to the MBE is an essential step in ensuring that scores have a consistent meaning over time. When essay scores are not scaled to the MBE, they tend to remain about the same: for example, it is common for the average raw July essay score to be similar to the average February score even if the July examinees are known to be more knowledgeable on average than the February examinees. Using raw essay scores rather than scaled essay scores tends to provide an unintended advantage to some examinees and an unintended disadvantage to others."

²⁵³ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 23.

²⁵⁴ Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus, A Reply to the National Conference of Bar Examiners: More Talk, No Answers, so Keep on Shopping, 44 OHIO N.U.L. REV. 173, 178-79 (2018) [hereinafter, "Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply"].

written components of the bar exam (essay questions and performance test items) change with every administration. The difficulty of the questions/items, the proficiency of the group of examinees taking the exam, and the graders (and the stringency with which they grade) may also change. All three of these variables can affect the grades assigned by graders to examinees' responses to these written components of the exam and can have the potential to cause variation in the level of performance the grades represent across administrations. Unlike the MBE, the answers to the written questions/items of the bar examination cannot be equated, because previously used questions/items can't be reused or embedded in a current exam—there are too few written questions/items on the exam and they are too memorable. If essay questions or performance test items were reused, any examinee who had seen them on a previous administration would be very likely to have an unfair advantage over examinees who had not seen them previously.

Because directly equating the written components is not possible, most jurisdictions use an indirect process referred to as scaling the written component to the MBE. This process has graders assign grades to each question/item using the grading scale employed in their particular jurisdiction (e.g., 1 to 6). The individual grades on each written question/item are typically combined into a raw written score for each examinee. These raw written scores are then statistically adjusted so that collectively they have the same mean and standard deviation as do the scaled scores on the MBE in the jurisdiction. (Standard deviation is the measure of the spread of scores—that is, the average deviation of scores from the mean. The term scaled score refers to the score as it has been applied to the scale used for the test—in the case of the MBE, the 200-point MBE scale.)

Conceptually, this process is similar to listing MBE scaled scores in order from best to worst and then listing raw written scores in order from best to worst to generate a rank-ordering of MBE scores and written scores. The best written score assumes the value of the best MBE score; the second-best written score is set to the second-best MBE score, and so on. Functionally, the process yields a distribution of scaled written scores that is the same as the jurisdiction's distribution of the equated MBE scaled scores. Another way to think about the process is that the raw written scores are used to measure how far each examinee's written performance is from the group's average written performance, and then the information from the distribution of the group's MBE scores is used to determine what "scaled" values should be associated with those distances from the average.

This conversion process leaves intact the important rank-ordering decisions made by graders, and it adjusts them so that they align with the MBE scaled score distribution. Because the MBE scaled scores have been equated, converting the written scores to the MBE scale takes advantage of the MBE equating process to indirectly equate the written scores. The justification for scaling the written scores to the MBE has been anchored on the facts that the content and concepts assessed on the MBE and written components are aligned and performance on the MBE and the written components is strongly correlated. The added benefit of having scores of both the MBE and the written component on the same score scale is that it simplifies combining the two when calculating the total bar examination score. In the end, the result of scaling (like equating) is that the scores represent the same level of performance regardless of the administration in which they were earned.²⁵⁵

However, just because the NCBE contends that scaling and equating the written scores to the MBE assures reliability does not make it so. The NCBE acknowledges that there is a low correlation of the written component score with the MBE scaled score and that this correlation varies widely across the UBE jurisdictions.²⁵⁶ Nonetheless, the NCBE assures us that despite a "low correlation," when "these correlations are adjusted for their less-than-perfect reliability, they are generally above 0.60, indicating that the MBE and written components 'assess some shared aspects of competency, and that each method also assesses some unique aspect of competency."²⁵⁷ How is it possible that an average of "generally above 0.60" is an acceptable correlation when 0.90 is "the minimum level normally considered adequate for high-stakes testing purposes"?²⁵⁸

Why would the NCBE insist on scaling the written component scores to the MBE scaled score to achieve reliability when it admits that the written component score is unreliable and there is a low correlation between the written component score and the MBE scaled score? A low correlation between the written component and the MBE scaled score seems to undermine a fundamental premise of the scoring of the bar exam. In fact, a low correlation between exam components should justify ceasing the practice as antithetical to a high-stakes licensing exam. Instead, NCBE supports it and makes "adjustments." What does it mean to have correlations "adjusted for their less-than-perfect reliability"? Why would it be an acceptable practice for a "high-stakes" licensing exam to make "adjustments"?

Perhaps "reliability adjustments" are what Judith A. Gundersen, NCBE's prior program director for the MEE and the MPT, relies upon in finding a "correlation above .80" between the MBE scaled score and the written components and calling it "strongly correlated."²⁵⁹ "In addition to possible reliability adjustments, the .80 correlation that Ms. Gundersen refers to is a

²⁵⁵ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 16-18.

See Mark A. Albanese, The Testing Colum, Let the Games Begin: Jurisdiction-Shopping For the Shopaholics (Good Luck With That), THE BAR EXAMINER, Sept. 2016, at 52 [hereinafter, "Albanese, Let the Games Begin"]. For the July 2015 administration of the UBE, we are informed that "the correlations of the written component score with the MBE scaled score ranged from 0.44 to 0.81 and averaged 0.66 across the 14 UBE jurisdictions." The February 2016 administration of the UBE showed even weaker correlations, ranging "from 0.51 to 0.67 and averaged .60 across the 17 UBE jurisdictions." Id.

²⁵⁷ *Id.*

²⁵⁸ *Id.*

²⁵⁹ Judith A. Gundersen, *It's All Relative—MEE and MPT Grading, That Is*, THE BAR EXAMINER, June 2016, at 41. Gundersen claims that "[b]ecause the data have consistently shown across groups and time that the total MBE scaled score is strongly correlated with overall performance on the written components (correlation above .80 when reliability of the two measures is taken into account), we can use MBE performance information as a proxy indicator of the groups' general ability levels." Gunderson, former director of test operations, succeeded Erica Moeser as President of the NCBE in 2017. Moeser retired on August 20, 2017, after 23 years as NCBE President and CEO.

correlation of scaled MBE score to scaled written score, and that is a disattenuated correlation (it represents an estimation of the true scores' correlations)."²⁶⁰

This reliance on scaled score correlations is not in keeping with NCBE's own past practices in grader training and workshops where Dr. Susan Case, former Director of Testing for the NCBE, presented accurate raw score correlations.²⁶¹ According to Dr. Case, "the correlation with the MBE is "0.58 for the MEE" and only "0.38 for the MPT."²⁶² She explains that "[t]his shows a moderate correlation for . . . the MEE, but a weaker correlation for the MPT, indicating that the MPT is measuring different skills than the MBE, and the MPT skills are less like those measured by the MEE[.]" On the other hand, "[i]f two components measured exactly the same thing, the correlation would be 1.00 (perfectly related)."²⁶³

In contrast to Dr. Case, who presents raw score correlations by the individual components—0.58 for MBE with MEE and only 0.38 for MBE with MPT—Ms. Gundersen combines the MEE and MPT scores before scaling to the MBE. Still, a more fundamental flaw infects the resulting .80 correlation: it is the fact that Ms. Gundersen's MEE and MPT are 'scaled scores'—scores that result after they[have] been forced into the same distribution as the MBE, and after estimating what the 'true scores' are (that is, trying to take out the error of measurement inherent in the tests).²⁶⁴

"Even so, it is a correlation of only .80. While this appears to be a strong correlation, it is not. It would be strong if it were based on raw scores, uncorrected," but it is not.²⁶⁵

Scaling and correlations matter. They relate to exam "validity," a core psychometric concept. An examination needs to be reliable; that is, each year, it must produce the same results despite the change in the individuals who are taking the test. But validity is all about whether the examination is truly testing the knowledge, skills, and values required in practice. Whether or not the examination is testing what it should be testing must be the central starting point for any licensing examination. "The most important psychometric property of any exam is that it be 'valid,' which means that the exam measures whatever it is supposed to measure. An exam that is not valid is not worth much[.]"²⁶⁶ There are significant national studies now underway as to whether the UBE is reliable. We question whether it is.

A .80 correlation seems to indicate that the MBE and the written component are largely measuring the same construct—the same ability—so this kind of equating of the written to the MBE is fine. It is not. With these disattenuated correlations,

²⁶⁰ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 181.

²⁶¹ See Susan M. Case, The Testing Column, Relationships Among Bar Examination Component Scores: Do They Measure Anything Different?, THE BAR EXAMINER, Aug. 2008, at 31.

²⁶² *Id.*

²⁶³ *Id.*

²⁶⁴ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 181.

²⁶⁵ *Id.* at 181-82.

²⁶⁶ Lynn M. Daggett, All of the Above: Computerized Exam Scoring of Multiple Choice Items Helps To: (A) Show How Exam Items Worked Technically, (B) Maximize Exam Fairness, (C) Justly Assign Letter Grades, and (D) Provide Feedback on Student Learning, 57 J. OF LEGAL EDUC. 391, 393 (2007).

for the test to [be] measuring the same thing, the correlation must approach unity (1.0). [Ms. Gundersen's] reported [a] number of .80, even if this were the disattenuated correlation of the raw scores rather than the standard scores, [it] is too low.²⁶⁷

Studies indicate cause for concern as to the validity and adequacy of using only multiplechoice items as anchors to equate forms of a mixed-format test:

For mixed-format tests, if the MC and CR [written] portions measure the same construct, in principle we would expect an MC-only anchor . . . to be sufficient to equate the test forms. . . . In the case of an MC-only anchor and a mixed-format test, the anchor can be construct representative of the total test only to the extent that the MC and CR portions measure the same thing (i.e., the test must be unidimensional).²⁶⁸

"Further, [w]hen we say the disattenuated correlations must approach unity, that means they must be on the order of .97 - 1.0. A disattenuated correlation of .88 is called 'much less than unity, casting doubt on the unidimensional[ity] of these mixed-format tests.""²⁶⁹ The disattenuated correlation reported by Gundersen is lower yet at .80. The evidence indicates that the bar exam's written component and the MBE do not measure the same thing, further supporting the claim that equating written to MBE as the anchor may be a deeply flawed technique.

4. The Low Correlation Between the Written Component and the MBE is Attributable to Differences in the Skills and Knowledge Tested

It is reasonable to question NCBE's grading practices: why would components be scaled to each other when they are so different from each other in terms of what is tested? While a low and widely varying correlation between the written and MBE scaled score cause major concern as to the validity of final test scores, it is not the only problem: NCBE reports that there is also a problem with the reliabilities of the individual written component scores for the 14 UBE jurisdictions, since they ranged from "0.62 to 0.82 and averaged 0.73" in July 2015²⁷⁰ and from "0.48 to 0.77 and averaged 0.72" for the 17 UBE jurisdictions in February 2016.²⁷¹ Currently, there are 36 UBE jurisdictions. The natural inference is that they would share the same reliability issue of the written component scores as with the other 14 jurisdictions.

As if these numbers were not sufficiently alarming, Dr. Albanese reports that "[a] bigger problem is that even the highest reliability [of the written component total scores] achieved in

²⁶⁷ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 182.

²⁶⁸ Sooyeon Kim & Michael E. Walker, RESEARCH REPORT ETS RR-11-44, DOES LINKING MIXED-FORMAT TESTS USING A MULTIPLE-CHOICE ANCHOR PRODUCE COMPARABLE RESULTS FOR MALE AND FEMALE SUBGROUPS? 17 (2011) (available at https://www.ets.org/Media/Research/pdf/RR-11-44.pdf) [hereinafter, "Kim & Walker, Linking Mixed-Format Tests"].

²⁶⁹ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 182-83.

²⁷⁰ Albanese, *Let the Games* Begin, *supra* note 256 at 52.

²⁷¹ *Id.*

any [UBE] jurisdiction (0.82) does not reach 0.90, the minimum level normally considered adequate for high-stakes testing purposes."²⁷² Nonetheless, Dr. Albanese asserts that scaling the written score to the MBE will account for the "possible variation in grading practices across jurisdictions."²⁷³ We are assured that "[j]urisdictions that scale the essays to the MBE scores for their jurisdiction, that weight the MBE at least 50%, and that make the pass/fail decision on the total score are assured of a sufficiently high reliability and high decision consistency."²⁷⁴ In short, NCBE asks us to accept the premise that it is possible to achieve a reliable final score when it is based in part on an unreliable one and to accept the underlying assumption that the written score is in fact unreliable.

5. The MBE Issue

The MBE is not the control factor for scoring reliability that NCBE and the BOLE would have us believe. Changes in the number and content of MBE items may affect equating, and just because NCBE says "no" does not make it so.

(a) What is the effect of reducing the number of MBE live test items by about 8%?

NCBE contends that scaling and equating "unreliable" written scores to the MBE assures reliability and relies on the MBE and its "anchor" items for equating purposes.²⁷⁵ While the MBE has a large population for each exam administration, which would help with the accuracy of equating, changing the number of MBE test items from 190 to 175 items commencing with the February 2017 bar exam must have some effect—even if NCBE denies it. Moeser advised law school deans that while the MBE will consist of only 175 scored items, "MBE scores will continue to be expressed on a 200-point scale. Because MBE scores are equated and scaled, scores will still be comparable to those earned when there were more scored questions."²⁷⁶ One need not "be a mathematician to recognize that the effect of one wrong answer is magnified when the number of test items goes down, and that this effect is most pronounced for those near the pass line."²⁷⁷

NCBE's conclusory, unsupported position that the change in the number of pre-test items will have no positive or negative effect contradicts Dr. Case's own prior statements regarding the

Id. According to Dr. Albanese, "the reliabilities of the written component total scores for the 14 UBE jurisdictions ranged from 0.62 to 0.82 and averaged 0.73" in July 2015. Id. "In February 2016, the reliabilities of the written component total scores for the 17 UBE jurisdictions ranged from 0.48 to 0.77 and averaged 0.72." Id. No basis for calculating these scores is provided, which leads one to question how they are determined.

²⁷³ *Id.*

²⁷⁴ Susan M. Case, *The Testing Column, Quality Control for Developing and Grading Written Bar Exam Components*, THE BAR EXAMINER, June 2013, at 34, 36.

²⁷⁵ See generally Erica M. Moeser, President's Page, THE BAR EXAMINER, Dec. 2014.

²⁷⁶ Memorandum from Erica M. Moeser, President, NCBE, to Law School Deans (at all American Bar Association-accredited law schools) (Aug. 31, 2016) (available at http://online.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/2016_0831_moeser_memo.pdf).

²⁷⁷ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 184.

inherent sampling, reliability, and validity issues with respect to written portions of the bar exam and equating to the MBE:²⁷⁸

- "[T]he more questions you ask, the higher the reliability."²⁷⁹
- "The broader the content domain, the more questions are required."²⁸⁰
- "If more questions provide greater reliability, it follows that reliability is reduced when fewer questions are used."²⁸¹

(b) How many of the 175 scored items are MBE's "anchor items"?

The MBE's anchor items present a separate issue. Anchor items are embedded test questions that have appeared on both previous and the current test form. They are used to compare "the performance of the new group of test takers … with the performance of prior test takers on those questions. The embedded items are carefully selected to mirror the content of the overall test and to effectively represent a mini-test within a test."²⁸² The anchor questions' content and statistical properties are critical to the equating process, but we don't know how many of the MBE's 175 scored items are anchor items and how the change in the number and content of the MBE's scored items has affected them. However, we do know that the higher the number, the more accurate the equating process. Everything is related: "the accuracy of the equating of the MBE affects the accuracy of the scaled written score because [the NCBE] scales the written [score] to the MBE distribution for the jurisdiction."²⁸³

(c) How has the change in the examinee population affected the equating process?

The other critical issue with scaling the entire exam concerns the changes in the population taking the MBE when NCBE claims that their standardization process means that a 135 on the MBE last year is the same as a 135 now and a 135 ten years ago.²⁸⁴ "NCBE's standardization of the MBE assumes that the population today is the same (in terms of the underlying ability they're testing) as was the population who originally answered the anchor items they're using to standardize. To the extent that those two populations differ in that ability

²⁷⁸ See Susan M. Case, *The Testing Column, What Everyone Needs To Know About Testing, Whether They Like It Or Not*, THE BAR EXAMINER, June 2012, at 29 [hereinafter, "Case, What Everyone Needs To Know"].

²⁷⁹ *Id.*

²⁸⁰ *Id.*

²⁸¹ *Id.* at 29-30.

²⁸² Moeser, *supra* note 275 at 4.

²⁸³ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 187.

See Case, What Everyone Needs To Know, supra note 278 at 31. Dr. Case explains that "[s]caling writtencomponent scores to the MBE involves an algebraic process that places the written-component scores on the same scale as the MBE. This process 'equates' the written-component scores and assures that the scores mean the same thing across test administrations." *Id.* Moeser states that "[t]he result is that a scaled score on the MBE this past summer—say 135—is equivalent to a score of 135 on any MBE in the past or in the future." Moeser, supra note 275 at 4.

the standardization becomes unreliable."²⁸⁵ And all indicators "point to the fact that the group that sat in July 2014 was less able than the group that sat in July 2013."²⁸⁶

According to Erica Moeser, the recent historic plunges in bar exam pass rates are likely not an aberration but the start of a trend.²⁸⁷ A convergence of events has changed the world of legal education and law licensure, a situation she terms "the new normal."²⁸⁸ According to Moeser, "[i]t is telling that between fall 2012 and fall 2013 the law school entering class that emerged in 2016 was reduced from 43,155 to 39,674. That figure dropped to 37,892 first-year students in the fall of 2014, the class that will graduate in 2017 and test that July."²⁸⁹ Today's bar candidates differ from previous ones for many reasons, not least of which is that they are "less able" because law schools are admitting less qualified students.²⁹⁰ The determination of "less qualified" is based on entering class data for scores marking the 25th percentile level of the Law School Admission Test (LSAT). The data for the class that entered law school in fall 2015 and will graduate in 2018 are "still discouraging."²⁹¹ Further, Moeser claims that the downward spiral was "not unexpected" in "a period where we can expect to see some decline, until the market for going to law school improves."²⁹²

A true vulnerability has thus been exposed: there is no valid way to standardize the test if the current population is not equivalent to past ones. Still, NCBE stands firmly behind the quality of MBE scoring and its equating process—even while pointing "to the fact that the group that sat in July 2014 was less able than the group that sat in July 2013."²⁹³ Historically, NCBE's defense to changes in candidate populations is that "[t]he MBE is merely the messenger" and each jurisdiction "sets its own standards for admission."²⁹⁴ However, the UBE score is promoted

²⁸⁵ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 188.

²⁸⁶ Memorandum from Erica Moeser, President National Conference of Bar Examiners to Law School Deans on Two Matters (Oct. 23, 2014) [hereinafter, "Moeser, Letter to Law School Deans, Oct. 23, 2014"]. Moeser defended the MBE scores from the July 2014 test administration, and informed law school deans, that "[b]eyond checking and rechecking our equating, we have looked at other indicators to challenge the results. All point to the fact that the group that sat in July 2014 was less able than the group that sat in July 2013." *Id.*

²⁸⁷ See Erica M. Moeser, President's Page, THE BAR EXAMINER, Sept. 2015, at 4 ("Over the course of the past year, [last year's] analysis pointed to the probability that the scores earned in July 2015 would represent the continuation of a downward slide, and that is what we can now confirm. At 139.9, this July's mean MBE score is the lowest July score since 1988, when it was 139.8.").

²⁸⁸ Id.

²⁸⁹ Erica M. Moeser, *President's Page*, THE BAR EXAMINER, Dec. 2016, at 4

²⁹⁰ See Moeser, Letter to Law School Deans, Oct. 23, 2014, *supra* note 286.

²⁹¹ Moeser, *President's Page*, THE BAR EXAMINER, March 2016, at 5, 11-12. Although NCBE provides no total number for how many law schools provided data for the charts, the scatterplot analysis indicates that "[m]ost of the schools appear in the lower left quadrant; this quadrant contains schools that have experienced decreases in both the LSAT score at the 25th percentile and their enrollment numbers." *Id.; see* Paul L. Caron, *Law School Applicants From Top Colleges Increased 1% In 2016 (But Down 48% Since 2010)*, TAXPROF BLOG, March 1, 2017 ("For the first time since 2010, the total number of graduates from the nation's top universities increased instead of continuing to decline.").

²⁹² Natalie Kitroeff, Bar Exam Scores Drop to Their Lowest Point in Decades: Unprepared Students Can't Handle a Harder Test, BLOOMBERG (Sept. 17, 2015), https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-09-17/bar-exam-scores-drop-to-their-lowest-point-in-decades.

²⁹³ Moeser, Letter to Law School Deans, Oct. 23, 2014, *supra* note 286.

²⁹⁴ Moeser, *supra* note 287 at 4.

as "portable," so that it has the same meaning in one UBE jurisdiction as it does in another. When populations differ in ability, NCBE's standardization and equating process "becomes unreliable."²⁹⁵

(d) How are varying groups affected by the changes?

Researchers have raised concern as to whether equating method works equivalently for different subpopulations.²⁹⁶ In a 2011 study, Kim and Walker "looked at linking mixed-format using a multiple-choice anchor and asked whether it would produce comparable results for men and women. They found that when the correlation between the multiple choice and the written (constructed response items) is relatively low, large differences are seen between groups, and the use of multiple choice anchors is of questionable efficacy."²⁹⁷ In a recent empirical study, Dennis P. Saccuzzo and Nancy E. Johnson evaluated the likely outcome, by California ABA law school, of upcoming changes in the California Bar Exam. The results show that law schools will be affected unequally because the weighting of the MBE will be increased and that of the written component will be decreased. The authors sent this research to all of the ABA deans in California informing them that the changes would hurt women and minorities. To the extent that a school's proportion of women relative to men increases, the school's pass rate will be differentially affected by the scoring changes in the California bar exam beginning in July 2017.²⁹⁸

Data are essential to determine the validity of the equating process. Dr. Nancy Johnson explains that "[t]here are two basic assumptions that must be met in order to get equated scores (assuming [the NCBE uses] a technique called chained equipercentile method): the relationship between the anchor (the subset of MBE items used as the anchor) and the total scores is invariant across populations, and the same thing is true on the new form."²⁹⁹ As Dr. Johnson further explains, "[i]f you do not have data on populations (ethnic sub populations, gender, jurisdiction etc.), then you cannot know if those assumptions are met and you therefore do not know if the technique is invariant across populations. Apparently, NCBE doesn't know."³⁰⁰

But figuring out whether there is bias across groups is a complex thing to do, and you would need to know not just correlations, but also effect sizes—how much did the test takers differ in average proficiency from one administration to the next? We know they differ, because NCBE repeatedly tells us they do. February takers are less proficient than July takers, and recent takers are less proficient than previous takers.³⁰¹ Equating tends to be more accurate when those

²⁹⁵ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 187-88.

²⁹⁶ *See id.* at 190.

²⁹⁷ *Id.*; *see generally* Kim & Walker, *supra* note 268.

²⁹⁸ See Dennis P. Saccuzzo & Nancy E. Johnson, California's New Bar Exam Format and ABA's Proposed 75% Bar Passage Requirement Will Adversely Impact Diversity, Women, and Access to the Legal Profession, TAXPROF BLOG, (Jan. 30, 2017), http://taxprof.typepad.com/files/taxprof-blog-op-ed-adverse-impact-ondiversity.pdf l.

²⁹⁹ Darrow-Kleinhaus Reply, *supra* note 254 at 191.

³⁰⁰ *Id.*

³⁰¹ *See* Gundersen, *supra* note 259 at 41. As an example of the variation in examinee proficiency, Gundersen states that "in the February administration, examinee proficiency tends to be lower due to a larger proportion of

differences are very small. The magnitude of the error in equating increases as the correlation between two constructs (for example, MBE versus written) decreases, but the error in equating also increases as the group difference increases. "In general, a higher correlation is needed as the group difference increases to achieve adequate equating."³⁰²

D. The Loss of Meaningful New York Testing

There is no longer a New York portion of the bar exam: there is the UBE and the NYLE, which is not a bar exam. Previously, the NYBE was "designed to assess minimum competence" in several subjects, including New York law.³⁰³ The loss of New York testing on the main bar examination, the UBE, was supposed to be made up by the NYLC and NYLE, which were touted to ensure "that applicants for admission in this state have sufficient competence in fundamental legal principles and New York-specific law" and "that new attorneys are competent in general legal principles and important New York distinctions."³⁰⁴ Chief Judge Lippman promised that the NYLE would be "thorough and rigorous" to "ensure the integrity of the state's licensing structure." His promises have failed. The NYLE was not designed to be rigorous. The BOLE has conceded that the NYLE more challenging, it is nothing more than a low-height speed bump "whereby people . . . get some exposure to fundamental principles of New York law."

The BOLE admits that the NYLC is "merely to present important New York rules and distinctions, to introduce candidates to the relevant New York statutory scheme, and to provide some additional information important for lawyers seeking to practice in New York ...,"³⁰⁵ and that the NYLE is "in the nature of a notice test, to assure that, before becoming licensed in New York, candidates will have been exposed to important principles of New York law and required to demonstrate sufficient knowledge of the material taught in the NYLC."³⁰⁶

Are "notice" and "exposure" to the law the criteria for admission to the bar? What does it mean to be "exposed to the law"? Clearly, it is not the same as "knowing the law." Is this the new standard for minimum competency to practice law in New York? Can someone become a New York lawyer by having "notice" of and "exposure" to the law? Such concepts fly in the face of the century-old precept that law licensing is meant to protect the public from ignorance, inexperience, and unscrupulousness.

For example, applicants sitting for the NYLC will likely be provided with "notice" and "exposure" to the notice-of-claim requirements in General Municipal Law section 50-e. Is this "notice" and "exposure" sufficient to jar a young lawyer's memory when multiple tortfeasors cause the client harm, and one of them is a municipal entity? Probably not, and if the young

repeat test takers. We see this lower performance reflected on the MBE in February and expect to see lower scores on the MEE and MPT as well." *Id.*

³⁰² Michael J. Kolen & Won-Chan Lee, CENTER FOR ADVANCED STUDIES IN MEASUREMENT AND ASSESSMENT, *Mixed-Format Tests: Psychometric Properties with a Primary Focus on Equating (Volume 2)* (Dec. 2012).

³⁰³ See Bosse, supra note 22 at 26.

³⁰⁴ ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, *supra* note 15 at 71.

³⁰⁵ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 6.

³⁰⁶ *Id.* at 8-9.

lawyer cannot negotiate this statute, the client's recovery can be compromised. Before the UBE, the notice-of-claim requirements in General Municipal Law section 50-e were taught in New York Practice courses and all bar exam courses. They were tested in essay questions on the New York bar exam. This was more than "notice" and "exposure." A young lawyer would more likely remember these requirements and consult the statute to ensure compliance with them.

The fault with the NYLE is not necessarily that it is an open-book exam. It is simply not designed to assess students' abilities to find relevant law and apply that law in a contextualized setting. And students know it, and do not take it seriously.

Moreover, while we do not doubt the BOLE's good faith, the evidence that the NYLC and NYLE are colossal failures is too significant to ignore. We have repeatedly heard from law school deans, law school faculty, admitted attorneys and from the applicants themselves that the majority of applicants do not take the NYLC or the NYLE seriously. The NYLC and the NYLE are described as a "joke" and a "farce."

We have also heard substantial reports of cheating on the NYLE—despite the BOLE's remonstrations. Applicants have taken the NYLE in groups, sharing their responses to the questions. Though questions are posed in different sequences to different test takers, law students ingenuity has readily overcome this attempt at examination security by such ruses as using double computer screens, taking screen shots, or simply writing down the answers for others to use when they eventually get the questions. When students then complete an affirmation attesting to their honesty, they lie as one of their first steps into the practice of law. We must change the current administration of the exam.

Given the low standards required to complete the NYLC and pass the NYLE (30 correct answers out of 50 questions), it is even more troubling that students resort to cheating. In light of the "more than adequate time allowed for completion," all candidates might be expected to achieve perfect scores. In the most recent administrations, the average score has been approximately 70% and more than 80% of the candidates have passed.³⁰⁷ Compare this to the 65% pass rate achieved on the July 2019 administration of the UBE in New York.³⁰⁸ "In light of the minimal knowledge required to successfully complete the NYLC and NYLE, it is reasonable to question whether the UBE regime will further the laudable goal of ensuring that newly-admitted lawyers are 'practice ready' in New York State."³⁰⁹

Students are not learning New York law. As rational, goal-oriented actors, students want to learn the information they need to pass the bar examination. The subject matter is almost irrelevant. If the bar examination tested the Hammurabi Code, students would seek to learn it. Many law schools, whose accreditations and rankings focus on bar pass rates, focus their efforts on aiding students to pass the bar rather than preparing them for the practice of law.

³⁰⁷ See id. at 8.

³⁰⁸ See Tom McParland, New York State Bar Exam Pass Rate Edges Upward, to 65% in 2019, N.Y.L.J. (Oct. 24, 2019), https://www.law.com/newyorklawjournal/2019/10/24/ny-state-bar-exam-pass-rates-edge-upward-to-65-in-2019/.

³⁰⁹ Connors, *supra* note 23.

This phenomenon was recognized by the NYCLA report on the adoption of the UBE. The report pointed to a 2014 Massachusetts Law Review article describing how law schools changed their curricula in response to bar examination changes.³¹⁰ Likewise, the MacCrate Report noted that bar examinations influence law schools to develop curricula that overemphasize courses in the subject matter tested by the exam and that law students choose courses in areas tested by the bar exam.³¹¹ In some Michigan law schools, enrollments in no-fault automobile insurance and workers' compensation classes spiked when those subjects were added to the Michigan bar exam.³¹²

There is little doubt that in most New York law schools, the UBE is driving the curriculum, just as, prior to its adoption, New York law drove at least parts of the curriculum. Since the UBE, students focus on learning the uniform rules, not on New York specific subjects. With fewer students taking New York law oriented courses, the law schools are constricting or eliminating courses in New York specific subjects. The teaching of New York distinctions in courses such as Torts, Contracts, Evidence, and Criminal Law and Procedure has similarly diminished.

New York subjects have been displaced by material that may prove useless to students once they begin to practice in New York. For example, the UBE tests generic rules relating to Trusts and Estates; students are not taught the EPTL or Surrogate's Court Procedure Act (SCPA), which were both heavily tested on the NYBE. Once in practice in New York, of course, the attorney will have little use for the "law of nowhere" but will need to know the EPTL and SCPA. How does it help the public for a lawyer to be admitted in New York without demonstrating knowledge that is relevant to what that lawyer will be doing to assist a client?

Similarly, professors have less time to focus on important New York distinctions. In key courses such as Family Law, Evidence, Torts, Contracts, and Criminal Law and Procedure, where faculty once taught the governing New York statutes alongside nationally recognized concepts, the need to teach to the UBE (and to the "law of nowhere") has crowded out the New York material. Consequently, students are not building a foundation of New York law throughout their law school experience.

The NYLC and NYLE simply do not supply the necessary foundation for lawyers to practice in New York State. Because they are designed only to give examinees exposure to New York law, the new lawyer barely understands New York law. This weakness has been noted by practitioners and judges across the state. The BOLE acknowledges the need to make the NYLE more difficult, but more is needed. "The practicing bar should be interested in having a licensing requirement that requires a competent lawyer, not one that keeps out the competition."³¹³

³¹⁰ See NYCLA REPORT, supra note 62 at 11 (citing Andrea A. Curcio et al., *Testing, Diversity, and Merit: A Reply to Dan Subotnik and Others*, 9 U. Mass. L. Rev. 206, 276 (2014)).

³¹¹ See ABA Section of Legal Education and Admissions to the Bar, Am. Bar. Association Report of the Task Force on Law Schools and the Profession: Narrowing the Gap 279 (1992).

³¹² See Byron D. Cooper, The Bar Exam and Law Schools, 80 MICH. B.J. 72, 73 (2001).

³¹³ Stephanie Francis Ward, A Better Bar Exam? Law Profs Weigh in on Whether Test Accurately Measures Skills Required for Law Practice, ABA JOURNAL, (Jan. 8, 2020), http://www.abajournal.com/web/article/building-abetter-bar-exam.

The studies conducted by the NCBE did not address the impact of the UBE on the readiness of candidates to practice law in New York or the impact that the UBE has had on New York in general. The responses we received from the BOLE did not address these issues either. Stunningly, the BOLE informed us that the prior NYBE did not actually require candidates to know New York law in order to pass.

We made no concerted effort to test New York distinctions in most doctrinal areas. While we did test specific New York statutes, we did not seek to determine if the particular statute was in accord with prevailing views or any applicable model rule or code. General principles of law were necessarily intertwined with some New York specific rules. *Consequently, a candidate who had no knowledge of New York specific law but who was adequately educated in general principles of law could apply those principles and easily pass the exam. The point to be made is that it is error to assume that the [NYBE] was a test solely of New York law and that the UBE is a test of some unidentified fictional law that is antithetical to New York.³¹⁴*

We disagree. The prior NYBE was not exclusively based on New York law. But the fact is undeniable that the UBE does test "the law of nowhere," such as the Model Probate Code. Such "fictional law" may or may not have similarities to New York law. The BOLE obfuscates the true question, which is not whether New York should have a bar examination that tests only New York law; it is whether New York should have a bar examination that tests New York law to a degree necessary to ensure that applicants are competent to represent their clients in New York.

The Task Force asked the BOLE whether it had "any views on the desirability of testing New York bar applicants on New York specific subject matter." The BOLE answered that the general principles of law tested on the UBE and the New York law tested in the fifty multiple-choices questions on the NYLE is sufficient. The BOLE repeated, without any supporting data, "[t]his is because a candidate could pass the prior exam without knowing or demonstrating any specific knowledge of New York law by scoring highly enough on the MBE and MPT and by using general principles to answer the New York essays and the New York multiple choice questions."³¹⁵

It is a shocking, disturbing statement about the NYBE, that candidates could pass the bar exam, including its five essays and the 50 New York multiple-choice questions, without knowledge of any specific New York law. This revisionist history defies what had long been considered the importance of the "New York Day" precisely because it tested New York law. Candidates attending New York law schools studied New York law in all of the tested subjects and all candidates studied New York law extensively in their bar review courses. While a candidate might have scored well on essays in Property, Contracts, Criminal Law, and Constitutional Law without noting specific New York distinctions, they would not have done so in such New York specific subjects as Business Corporations, Evidence, Family Law, Torts, Trusts and Estates, Wills, Professional Responsibility, New York Civil Practice, Workers'

³¹⁴ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 4-5 (emphasis added).

³¹⁵ *Id.* at 10 (emphasis added).

Compensation, and No-fault Insurance. New York rules are specific in these areas and often differ markedly from other jurisdictions' rules. It strains credulity to believe that mere statements of general principles would be sufficient to answer these questions on anything but the most basic level.

The New York multiple-choice questions tested specific New York statutes and rules of law. A candidate either knew the answer or did not. There was no reasoning your way through these multiple-choice questions by applying general principles of law. They were not testing general principles of law, but specific New York law. To state otherwise now is disingenuous.

In fact, if this were true then we never needed the NYBE. New York could have adopted the MEE years ago and not spent the time and effort to create its own essay questions.

Further, the NYBE would not have been any different from the New Jersey bar exam, which many New York candidates took the day after the NYBE, since New Jersey did not test New Jersey law, but only the multi-state subjects covered on the MBE. Taking the NYBE based merely on bar review preparation in another jurisdiction was a sure way to fail it. Conversely, many students took the New Jersey, Connecticut, or Massachusetts bar exams based merely on taking a New York bar review course.

In brief, we must test New York subject matter to realign the bar exam with its fundamental purpose of protecting clients. We need a bar examination "designed to test knowledge and skills that every lawyer should be able to demonstrate prior to becoming licensed to practice law [in New York]."³¹⁶

The bar examination need not be intentionally pitched to pressure schools to offer courses with a focus on New York practice. New York welcomes and tries to draw lawyers from non-New York schools, and many schools outside New York view New York as a target area. But having no meaningful New York component to the exam is minimizing the New York element of many curricula. Thus, we make what we think is a narrower point, that a renewed focus on New York practice in the exam would have the desirable effect of reinvigorating the teaching of New York Practice in law schools.

E. The Devaluation of New York Law and the Teaching of New York Law

The adoption of the UBE has led to a devaluation of the importance of New York law, both within and without New York's own law schools.

In recommending the UBE's adoption, the Advisory Committee, based on what it heard from law professors and law school administrators, opined that "to the extent that any curricular changes are necessary, these changes would be minor," and that "[t]here seems to be no basis for the contention that if the Court of Appeals adopts [the UBE], New York law schools will no longer teach New York law." ³¹⁷ That has proven to be spectacularly wrong.

³¹⁶ *Cf. Jurisdictions That Have Adopted the UBE*, NATIONAL CONFERENCE OF BAR EXAMINERS, http://www.ncbex.org/exams/ube/ (last visited Feb. 9, 2020).

³¹⁷ ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, *supra* note 15 at 49.

The overwhelming majority of Deans of New York Law Schools, as well as the law faculty we have heard from, report that the teaching of New York law in their schools has dropped dramatically. While in some of the more elite law schools (e.g., Columbia, New York University) a lack of student interest reduced or eliminated a course in New York Civil Practice before the UBE, there is stronger evidence that after the UBE, a New York Civil Practice course became optional, rather than mandatory, that the course was reduced in credit hours, and that fewer and fewer students have elected to take it. The evidence is also substantial that teaching New York law within a broader course (such as Contracts, Criminal Law, and Trusts and Estates) has diminished due to the need to teach UBE-tested law.

The Advisory Committee suggested that New York law schools would continue to teach New York law in tandem with teaching of general legal principles, motivated by the need to prepare their students for practice here, or at least to prepare them for the online New York test.³¹⁸ This suggestion proved wrong. The NYLE does not require law school preparation, as evident from the fact that students from a myriad of law schools that offer no New York courses easily pass it. Further, the UBE incentivizes New York law schools to alter their curricula to teach to the UBE, and it incentivizes students to study those principles that help them pass the UBE. Concerns about actual law practice are more distant.

New York law has been devalued within its own law schools. With enrollments in New York law specific courses dropping like a rock, fewer faculty are needed to teach such courses, and more faculty are needed to teach courses laden with material tested on the UBE. As the "New York law-oriented" faculty matures into retirement, it is likely that their number will decline and the teaching of New York law will become a lost art. While the days of Jack Weinstein and Arthur Miller teaching New York Civil Practice at Columbia are long gone, unless we focus anew on teaching New York law in New York's law schools, more recent losses, such as that of David Siegel at Albany Law School and Vincent Alexander at St. John's, will not be replaced. With loss of distinguished faculty well versed in New York law, the learned treatises, practice commentaries, and law review articles that illuminate important New York specific subjects will simply go unwritten.

In urging the adoption of the UBE, the Advisory Committee commented that New York's well-earned "gold standard reputation" results "not from the difficulty of the bar exam, but from the rigorous demands of practice in New York State."³¹⁹ The unavoidable fact is that law students are not being taught what they need to know to meet those rigorous demands.

F. The Undue Predominance of Multiple-Choice Questions and its Disparities

We have heard from lawyers, judges, and law faculty that law students and newlyadmitted attorneys often lack the writing skills they need to practice law. We believe that part of the reason lies in the UBE's dependence on multiple-choice questions: the number of them, the weight given to them (as opposed to essays and short answers), and the scaling of the UBE. Because some law schools seek to familiarize their students with the form of test that they will encounter when they take the bar exam, law school exams often mimic the UBE's structure.

³¹⁸ *Id.* at 49-50.

³¹⁹ *Id.* at 52.

Multiple-choice questions test a specific type of skill. To know something is not to be able to express it. That is, "the ability to recognize the applicable legal rule when it presents itself in a structured array [is not] the same skill as the ability to summon it forth from a body of facts. The answer to a multiple-choice question is quite literally on the page; the answer to an essay question is in the student's mind waiting to be born."³²⁰

Answering an essay or a question calling for a short, written answer requires the test taker to contemplate the appropriate answer and then express it clearly and concisely. This is a key skill for lawyers—the knowledge to answer a question and the ability to communicate that answer effectively. The absence of, or lack of weight given to, essay or short answer questions leaves this fundamental ability untested.

Numerous studies find gender differences in performance on multiple-choice and essay exams, and the NCBE study on the Impact of Adoption of the UBE in New York ("the Study") confirms it. According to the Study, males outperform females on multiple-choice exams while females take the lead on the written portion. Average MBE scores for domestic-educated first-time male candidates were higher than females at each bar exam administration in the Study.³²¹ Average written scores for domestic-educated first-time female candidates were higher than males in "February 2016 and February 2017 by 0.8 and 1.1 points, respectively. In July, females had higher average written scores in 2015 and 2017 (by 1.1 points) but lower average written scores in 2016 (by 0.75 points)."³²²

It does not appear that the bar examiners considered these differences when they decided to make the NYLE multiple-choice. Nor has anyone questioned the differences based on race/ethnicity; according to the Study, "[a]verage MBE scores differed by racial/ethnic group, particularly for the Caucasian/White group compared to other groups (see Figures 4.2.22 and 4.2.23). The Caucasian/White group had the highest average scores, followed by the Hispanic/Latino group (in all but July 2017) or Asian/Pacific Islander group, and then Black/African American group."³²³ The same differences occurred with respect to average written scores (see Table 4.2.14, Figure 4.2.24, and Figure 4.2.25). "The Caucasian/White group had the highest means, followed by the Hispanic/Latino or Asian/Pacific Islander (in July 2017) groups, and the Black/African American group."³²⁴ New York, and all states that have local tests using solely multiple-choice questions, set the stage for disparate treatment of females and minorities.

The UBE itself creates this disparity. In assessing the UBE over the prior NYBE, the Study concluded:

³²⁰ Herbert T. Krimmel, *Dear Professor: Why Do I Ace Essay Exams but Bomb Multiple Choice Ones?*, 63 J. OF LEGAL EDUC. 433, 433 (2014).

³²¹ See BOLE Study, supra note 218 at 133.

³²² *Id.* at 135. The Study found the same difference in performance on the LSAT: "males at each bar exam administration had higher average LSAT scores than females." *Id.* at 54. These administrations included July 2015, 2016, and 2017 as well as February 2016 and 2017. *Id.* at 53 Table 3.3.3.

³²³ *Id.* at 141.

³²⁴ *Id.* at 144.

- "Average MBE scores, written scores, bar exam scores and pass rates tended to differ by groups defined by gender or race/ethnicity."
- "Males tended to have consistently higher average scores on the MBE than females. Females tended to have slightly higher scores on the written component than males, although this pattern did not always hold."
- "Differences in performance on the bar exam across groups were observed before and after UBE adoption. These differences tended to be of similar magnitude before and after UBE adoption."³²⁵

This is stunning, but for now, we are focusing on the NYLE. The gender and race differential provides a rational basis for inclusion of an essay test instead of or in addition to the multiple-choice exam. If an essay component is added, the multiple-choice component can be reduced from 50 to 30 questions. This would level the playing field to allow females to use their written skills to offset their multiple-choice test-taking skills. A stronger performance on one component could offset a weaker performance on the other.

Other arguments against essay questions will persist, such as the administration costs and the limited number of topics that can be tested by essays. While it takes more time to grade essays than to run a scantron, this should not be the criterion for selecting a test instrument that regulates law licensure.

Moreover, administrative costs did not motivate the move to the UBE/NYLE. In the 2015-2016 state fiscal year, the last year before the UBE, the BOLE spent \$4,897,864, of which \$3,161,181 was for contractual services and \$1,736,683 was for personnel costs. In contrast, in 2018-19, the BOLE spent \$5,183,074, of which \$3,320,910 was for contractual services and \$1,862,164 was for personnel costs. On the other side of the ledger, in 2018-2019, the bar exam fees generated \$6.8 million in revenue, which was deposited into the State's General Fund. That amount has remained constant over the past several years; the BOLE reported \$6.9 million in bar examination fees in 2015-2016³²⁶. The dropping of the former New York Day essays had no significant impact on the BOLE's budget. Even without any increase in the low New York test fee, the bar exam generates a "profit" for the State.

G. The Portability Issue

The most significant argument for the adoption of the UBE was that it would make it easier for prospective attorneys to have career portability. An attorney could seek employment in multiple states without having to take multiple bar examinations. We have studied this question, and we conclude that portability provides only a small benefit to only a minority of test takers.

The BOLE does not permit people to take the UBE in New York unless they intend to practice here. Each candidate must certify that he or she is a bona fide candidate for admission in New York. The BOLE assumes that the "vast majority" of candidates taking the UBE in New

³²⁵ The Executive Summary, *supra* note 220 at 4.

³²⁶ Appendix B.

York intend to practice here.³²⁷ The Law School Deans unanimously believe that the overwhelming majority of their students remain in New York.

The BOLE has no information on whether candidates actually used their New York UBE score to obtain admission in another UBE jurisdiction. Such information resides with the NCBE, but the NCBE has no information on what law school a candidate attended. On transfers into New York, the BOLE has no information on where candidates attended law schools until applicants demonstrate that they have satisfied New York's educational eligibility requirements.³²⁸

The BOLE did report that, in 2019, there were 14,200 UBE scores earned in New York. Of these scores, 1,981 were transferred out and 754 transferred in. The 2019 figures are roughly comparable to those in 2018 and 2017. ³²⁹ In 2017, there were 14,093 New York UBE scores earned, with 1,373 being transferred out and 517 transferred in. ³³⁰

This is complicated. A person who attends law school in New York may not intend to become a New York attorney, and a person who attends law school outside of New York may intend to become a New York attorney. Of the 685 2019 UBE scores transferred into New York and certified to the Appellate Divisions, only 69 were from graduates of New York law schools and 616 were from out of state law schools.

In other words, the overwhelming majority of New York UBE score earners do not transfer the scores to other UBE jurisdictions. Only those who intend to practice here are permitted to take the test here, and the score is usable only for 3 years. We therefore conclude that no meaningful "portability" benefit enures to most law school graduates who take the bar examination in New York to gain admission here. Thus, the portability issue is relevant only to two subsets of test takers; (1) those who seek to come here to practice within the first 3 years after taking the test; and (2) those who decided, within the first 3 years after the test, to seek to practice in another UBE jurisdiction.

The first subset (UBE test takers who take the exam outside New York and seek to be admitted here) need meaningful knowledge of New York law. They seek admission in New York because that they have decided that, after taking the test in another jurisdiction, they wish to practice law here. For the second subset (New York UBE test takers who decide, within the first 3 years, to practice in another UBE jurisdiction), their knowledge of New York law will benefit them, because they will retain their New York Bar admission. Indeed, to retain their New York Bar admission, they will have to take New York approved CLE classes and pay New York's registration fee.

But most importantly, the majority of New York UBE test takers stay in New York to represent clients here. We are failing to protect the public unless we ensure that these lawyers know New York.

³²⁷ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 11.

³²⁸ See id. at 13-14.

³²⁹ *Id.* at 14.

³³⁰ Id.

Of some interest, among the non-New York law schools that have had the largest number of graduates pass the bar examination in New York, since the adoption of the UBE, there has been a consistent decline in the number of graduates passing the UBE in New York:

<u>SCHOOL</u>	<u>2016</u>	<u>2017</u>	<u>2018</u>
Harvard	313	288	287
Georgetown	249	227	198
Rutgers/Newark	173	36	27
Seton Hall	142	32	27
U. Pennsylvania	137	139	133
American U.	117	93	50
U. Virginia	113	108	99
U. Michigan	107	124	111
George Washington	106	144	118
Yale	105	128	101
Duke	103	101	88
Northwestern	70	71	68
Emory	67	66	76
Boston U.	66	92	47
U. Chicago	61	55	57
Washington/St. Louis	57	63	32
Boston College	55	83	56
UC/Berkeley	49	47	55
Stanford	44	51	38
Vanderbilt	41	42	43
U. Texas	38	45	40
Howard	35	32	33
U. Miami	35	34	34
William and Mary	32	32	34
New England	31	47	33
Tulane	29	40	49
Vermont	28	32	46
Notre Dame	27	26	30 ³³¹

H. Foreign Law School Graduates

The "portability" issue is driven almost entirely by foreign law graduates. The UBE in New York was intended to, and did, primarily benefit the pool of foreign law graduates (especially those who obtain their LLMs from New York-based law schools). The number of foreign law school graduates taking the UBE in New York represented 35% of all candidates who sat for the July 2019 test administration.³³² When the number and quality of law school applicants decreased, some law schools made the economic decision to develop and expand

³³¹ This information was provided by the BOLE.

³³² Press Release, NEW YORK STATE BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS (Oct. 23, 2019) (available at https://www.nybarexam.org/press/Press%20Release_July2019exam.pdf).

LLM programs catering to foreign law school graduates. When some Law Deans speak of the economic boon fostered by the UBE, they are referring to the increasing numbers of foreign students attending their law schools. However, this is not a benefit that is exclusive to New York.

According to information provided by the BOLE, the total number of foreign-educated attorneys sitting for the bar examination in New York increased from 4,601 in 2013 to 5,445 in 2019. Most of these attorneys had both a foreign degree and an LLM (3,547 in 2013 and 4,176 in 2019). However, most of the foreign attorneys with LLM degrees attained them from out-of-state law schools. In 2019, there were 2,879 foreign-educated attorneys with LLMs from out-of-state as compared with 1,297 with in-state LLMs. In 2013, there were 2,487 with out-of-state LLMs and 1,060 with in-state LLMs.

New York's admission policy for foreign law graduates is one of the most favorable such policies in the nation.

Even though the BOLE requires a person who seeks to take the UBE in New York to certify that she intends to practice in New York, many of the foreign law graduates do not intend to. The BOLE has acknowledged that some "foreign-educated candidates . . . seek admission as an employment credential for use in their home or other country."³³⁴

Foreign law graduates had historically low passage rates on the NYBE, with first-time foreign-educated graduates having a pass rate of 46%, 46%, and 44%, on the July 2012, 2013, and 2014 NYBE, respectively.³³⁵ The UBE changed that. The passing rate for all first-time foreign-educated candidates who sat for the July 2019 examination was 53%;³³⁶ that rate was 50% in 2018³³⁷ and 57% in 2017.³³⁸ Perhaps it is easier for foreign law school graduates to pass a test that focuses solely on general legal principles than one that includes state-specific laws. It also benefits law schools to teach only general legal concepts and not be burdened with any obligation to teach local law.

A foreign law graduate who does not intend to practice law here but views admission to New York as a résumé enhancement has no need to learn New York law, which is practically useless to him or her, just as it useless to teach an attorney who intends to practice in New York the "law of nowhere" instead of New York law. However, it is impossible to distinguish between those admitted attorneys who are truly practicing in New York and those who are not. We have learned that in foreign law firms, attorneys do not rely on advice on New York law given by firm members admitted in New York without making sure that they truly know New

³³³ See BOLE Letter, supra note 16 at 13.

³³⁴ *Id.* at 11.

³³⁵ See ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, supra note 15 at 52 & n.44.

³³⁶ Press Release, *supra* note 332.

³³⁷ Press Release, NEW YORK STATE BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS (Oct. 23, 2018) (available at https://www.nybarexam.org/press/Press%20Release_July2018exam.pdf).

³³⁸ Press Release, NEW YORK STATE BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS (Oct. 24, 2017) (available at https://www.nybarexam.org/press/Press_Release_July2017.pdf).

York law. If it is difficult for attorneys to make this distinction, it is impossible for members of the public.

The UBE's portability does not appear to benefit foreign educated lawyers; it does not appear that many of them use their UBE score to gain admission to another UBE jurisdiction. As above noted, in 2019, only 1,981 UBE New York scores transferred out, whereas 5,445 foreign educated attorneys took the New York UBE. Even if we assume that all 1,981 score transferees out of New York were foreign law graduates (most likely not the case), only about one-quarter of that cohort sought to use their New York UBE score elsewhere.

As of the end of 2019, there were 30,827 attorneys registered with the Office of Court Administration with out-of-country addresses. This contrasts with 184,662 attorneys with New York addresses and 117,326 with out of state addresses.

I. Employment and Employers

We begin our review of this issue by reflecting on the fact that since the Great Recession of this century both law school enrollment and legal employment have declined greatly. Fewer law graduates are being hired than in 2007. While employment rates of recent law school classes have increased, this is because, with smaller class sizes, there are fewer students seeking legal employment.³³⁹

The advent of the UBE has not, by itself, increased or decreased the number of positions available for new lawyers. Nevertheless, we conclude that the UBE's adoption in New York has negatively affected the employability of new law graduates by New York mid-size and small law firms. We have heard repeatedly that these firms prefer to hire attorneys with experience. A matrimonial lawyer and leader of a large county bar association told us, as did several others, that she cannot teach newly-admitted attorneys about affidavits, return dates, court rules and procedures. It is easier for her to do the work herself and not worry about billing clients for a new law graduate's practical skills education. We have not heard the same about the large elite law firms, prosecutorial agencies, institutional criminal defense providers, or in-house counsel.

The UBE has not affected the number of attorneys employed in New York. The type of bar examination does not increase or decrease the job market. It does, to some degree, change the competition for jobs. Graduates from out of state may compete for jobs in New York, and graduates from New York law schools may compete for out-of-state jobs. This competition does not seem to have changed since the UBE, except that it may be easier for New York educated attorneys to gain admittance elsewhere in the country. It also may be easier for out-of-state attorneys to gain admittance to the New York Bar, but the transfers out appear to be substantially greater than the transfers in.

VI. OPTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

As set forth above, we have identified serious concerns with both the UBE and the NYLE. After a thorough review of the available data and the various recommendations

³³⁹ See Boise, supra note 2.

proposed by experts and stakeholders across the state over our eleven months of study, we recommend the following:

- The NYLE be eliminated;
- Passage of a rigorous examination on New York law should be made a prerequisite to admission to the New York Bar;
- An independent psychometric analysis should be conducted on the grading and scaling of the UBE;
- Pending such analysis, the UBE should be retained to accommodate law graduates, especially foreign law school graduates, who seek admission to American UBE jurisdictions; however, any graduates who seek New York admission should pass a separate, rigorous New York based test. Those who pass the UBE in New York should receive from the BOLE an appropriate certification that they passed.
- While the Multi-State Bar Examination (MBE) and the Multistate Performance Test (MPT) should be re-examined, pending their revision, law graduates who intend to practice only in New York would need to take the MBE and MPT and pass a separate, rigorous New York based test;
- Alternatively, if the UBE continues as it is now, no candidate should be admitted in New York without passing a separate, rigorous New York law-based examination. We acknowledge that this would require an additional day of testing but we cannot endorse perpetuating the current system, which favors a minority of test-takers and disadvantages New York consumers of legal services who do not benefit if we continue to admit attorneys who have not demonstrated any meaningful knowledge of New York law. Furthermore, there are means readily available to mitigate any hardship;
- We urge consideration of a New York Law Certification program that would permit people to forego the bar exam entirely. Under this path, ABA-accredited law schools inside and outside New York would offer courses meeting defined criteria as to New York-law based content. For example, a course on New York Civil Procedure would be entirely credited towards a New York certification, while a course on Evidence could give partial credit if the curriculum contained a specific amount of New York law content. Students have to graduate with a sufficient grade point average in a sufficient number of New York course credits; and
- We also recommend consideration of an experiential learning pilot program, modeled on New Hampshire's Daniel Webster Scholars Honors Program. Students would be permitted to enter the program after their first year of law school and spend their second and third years counseling clients, working with practicing lawyers, conducting depositions, participating in court appearances, negotiating business documents, thus creating a portfolio of work to be assessed every semester.

In reaching these recommendations, we have considered an array of options.

1. Do Nothing

One option is to do nothing and leave the current testing regime alone indefinitely. The only apparent advantage to inaction is to benefit foreign law school graduates who can gain admission to New York to use as an employment credential, without having to know anything significant about New York law. The principal disadvantages are the perpetuation of the NYLC and NYLE, which are regarded as a "joke" and a "farce," and serve only to diminish the seriousness of the admissions process and mislead newly-admitted attorneys regarding the importance of knowledge of New York law while in practice. Keeping the status quo is injurious to the public. The vast majority of law graduates who take the UBE in New York stay in New York to practice. By not requiring them to demonstrate a true working knowledge of New York law, we are failing the public. We are also failing the New York bench and the bar by diminishing the status of New York law, as well as the stature of New York lawyers. By doing nothing we would also continue the perpetuation of disparities in the test against minorities and females.

The Task Force rejected this option.

2. *Eliminate the NYLC and NYLE*

Another option is just to eliminate the NYLC and NYLE. This would eradicate the most troublesome part of the current testing regime, which has little to commend itself on and is widely regarded as ineffectual, at best. However, this option would leave us with no New York component at all and cause us to rely exclusively upon the UBE with its reliability and fairness issues.

The Task Force also rejected this option, which would not help the practice readiness of newly-admitted attorneys.

3. A More Robust New York Test Component

In the Task Force's view, the best option would be to have a true New York bar examination once again.

It is not possible to sever the MEE portion of the UBE and substitute New York questions and remain a UBE jurisdiction. The BOLE touts the UBE because of the portability of the scores.³⁴⁰ However, only a small number of candidates benefit from portability of scores out of New York, while the public is injured by the admission of attorneys who do not know the New York law relevant to their practice. This also costs candidates jobs in small and mid-sized law firms and necessitates additional CLE courses to learn what they should have learned in law school. The State Bar Association, among other CLE providers, have had to offer basic courses on elemental subjects, such as the structure of the New York court system.

³⁴⁰ BOLE Letter, *supra* note 16 at 12.

The BOLE expresses its concern that elimination of a portion of the UBE would compromise the reliability of the test.³⁴¹ This, however, is based on an unwarranted assumption—that the UBE is itself reliable. As we report, there are serious issues with the reliability of the UBE and with its perpetuation of disparities against females and minorities.

We can leave the UBE and return to having a more robust New York test component—a new New York bar examination. The UBE's scaling and scoring practices make a UBE score questionable and therefore may not be an appropriate measure of an individual's minimum competency to practice law. This is especially problematic when the UBE score is earned in another jurisdiction and then transported to New York. Although Chairwoman Bosse assured the Task Force at our meeting that a passing score earned in any UBE jurisdiction is a reliable test of competency, despite differences in cut scores, because of the validity of the test itself, this is only true if one accepts NCBE's basic assumption that the MBE controls the uniformity of the candidates' scores across jurisdictions and over time. This assumption appears to be flawed, as we have discussed.

We have heard numerous suggestions for improving the bar examination so as to make it a better measure of minimum competence to practice law. These suggestions include enhanced use of a case-file approach to testing which is less dependent upon rote memorization and more reflective of the skills required in actual practice. However, the work in this area is ongoing and we cannot recommend at this time what a new bar examination would look like and whether such a new bar examination would include portions prepared by the NCBE or, if New York is dissatisfied with a national revision, would be an entirely New York product.

Pending a redesign of the testing components of the bar exam to ensure that lawyer competency is properly gauged, we should return to a New York law licensing exam which includes a mix of the components—the MBE, New York specific questions, and the MPT—but without relative grading of the written component and without scaling the written score to the MBE score. Relative grading has no place in a licensing test to determine an individual's minimal competency for the practice of law. Only a criterion-based exam for the New York bar exam would ensure that the result is fundamentally fair because it measures the individual's performance and not how that individual performed in relation to others.

The UBE as currently administered does not meet the requirements for what has long been the standard for licensure in New York: a reliable assessment of minimum competency to practice law in our State. A UBE score earned in another jurisdiction does not have the same meaning as one earned in New York. Although NCBE claims that all UBE-earned scores are consistent because the UBE is "uniformly administered, graded, and scored by the jurisdiction that adopt it," the scoring process can result in a different numerical score for the exact same performance depending on where the examinee wrote the test. "The only way for the UBE to be truly portable is to get every jurisdiction to agree to use and pay a centralized scoring service to grade it and standardize it based wholly on a national distribution. That scoring service would, of course, be NCBE."³⁴²

³⁴¹ See id.

³⁴² Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus, *Testing the UBE: Portable But Inaccurate Bar Exam Scores*, Law 360 (July 26, 2016), https://www.law360.com/articles/806049/testing-the-ube-portable-but-inaccurate-bar-exam-scores.

This raises an important question: do we want "centralized control" over the licensing process? Is the next step a national law license? Is this what we want for the state of New York?

While we do not have answers to such questions about the future, we do know what has happened in New York since implementation of the UBE. We know that:

- New York law schools have substantially changed their curriculums to focus on general principles of law, and not New York law;
- Enrollment in New York Civil Practice courses has dropped precipitously, and many law schools have reduced the number of credits in the course or discontinued it entirely, whereas almost all former students at New York law schools had taken this course for generations;
- The BOLE does not know the law schools attended by candidates who transfer scores unless the transferee actually uses the UBE score to obtain admission in New York, nor does the BOLE have any way of knowing if the New York candidate actually uses the UBE score to obtain admission in another jurisdiction;
- The grading leads to a "local" score which is transported to another jurisdiction where that score does not and cannot have the same meaning as the scores earned by the candidates to which the score is transferred; and
- Lawyers who are newly admitted in New York, most of whom stay in New York, lack fundamental practice skills necessary to practice law in New York.

The bar examination in New York is one of the final hurdles to law licensure for most candidates seeking admission to practice law in New York. As conceived and administered, therefore, the bar exam must be a fair and reliable assessment of that candidate's minimum competency to practice law. Currently, it is our view that UBE and the NYLC and NYLE do not satisfy this basic requirement.

We do not recommend simply returning to the NYBE, which had its own flaws. Rather, we should take the opportunity to design a new New York bar examination, one that better measures the competence of applicants to practice law in New York. Formulating a new examination would also provide New York with the opportunity to assess the potential benefits of including new subjects, not currently tested on the UBE, such as compliance, cybersecurity, and healthcare. In turn, this would allow law schools to focus more on these subjects of increased importance in our rapidly-evolving world.³⁴³ The development of a new New York bar examination may be undertaken in conjunction with on-going national bar exam reform efforts or as an entirely New York enterprise.

The disadvantage to returning to a more New York-oriented examination would be that it would undoubtedly cause some dislocation among law schools and law students in re-adjusting curricular choices. A phase-in period would allow current law students to complete their studies and take the examination that they have been trained to take, while giving the law schools time to make adjustments as new classes enter. The advantages are clear: we would again have a New York examination and we would not be entirely dependent upon the NCBE and a consortium of

³⁴³ *See* Boise, *supra* note 2.

other states to reform the examination. The concerns with the NCBE's grading and scaling processes would be mitigated by the presence of a separate New York component. Since the BOLE budget did not change materially from the transition to the UBE, a transition back should not have any meaningful budgetary implications.

4. UBE and New York Choices

Another viable alternative, that would minimize disruption occasioned by elimination of the UBE, as well as avoid the loss of "portability" to that minority of individuals who seek to transport their score, is to offer test takers a choice.

To accommodate those law school graduates, and in particular foreign law school graduates, who do not intend to practice in New York, and those law school graduates who wish to gain admission in UBE jurisdictions other than New York, New York could continue to offer the UBE. These students would then have a portable score that they can use elsewhere and could receive a certification from the BOLE that they attained a passing score on the UBE. This would satisfy the demand of these categories of students for a credential, without conveying admission and without the concomitant administrative burden. Admission to the New York Bar would not be forthcoming without passing a true New York-law test. Those who pass only the UBE would be able to utilize their score in other UBE jurisdictions and could be given a certificate attesting to the attainment of knowledge in American law (somewhat equivalent to a Regents diploma upon high school graduation and completion of the Regents examination). These graduates would not be obligated, unless they chose to, to study and take a separate New York examination.

On the other hand, those law school graduates who wish to gain admission in New York could take a New York law licensing exam which includes a mix of the components—the MBE, New York essays, and the MPT—but without relative grading of the written component and without scaling the written score to the MBE score.

This approach would give law graduates the option as to what path they wish to pursue— New York admission or something else. Foreign law graduates and others with no interest in practicing in New York would not be required to study New York law or pass a New York based test. On the other hand, those who are determined to practice in New York would have the option to study New York law and gain admittance here without having to learn the useless "law of nowhere."

The BOLE opined that substituting a New York test for one of the components of the UBE would deprive candidates of portability.³⁴⁴ However, this assumes that all candidates benefit from portability and, in any event, this downside can be avoided if the candidate is given the option as to which pathway to pursue. The BOLE also told us that "depending on what component part of the UBE was eliminated in favor of the New York test, we could imperil the reliability of the test."³⁴⁵ The assumption that the UBE, as now constructed, is reliable, appears

³⁴⁴ See BOLE Letter, supra note 16 at 12.

³⁴⁵ *Id.*

unwarranted. Moreover, the BOLE formerly administered the MPT and MBE, for several decades, without significant complaint as to reliability.

5. UBE Plus New York Test

Fifteen of the thirty-six UBE jurisdictions (including New York) presently require completion of a state-law component. The formats vary but are alike in that they include video courses with embedded quizzes and online multiple-choice questions as the test component. They are also alike in that they are consistent in their objective to provide "the best method to serve the public without placing any unnecessary additional burden on applicants."³⁴⁶

It seems that "unnecessary additional burdens on applicants" means the absence of rigor and the absence of essay exams. Not one jurisdiction has chosen an essay format for its state component. According to Missouri's Board of Law Examiners, the local law essay question option was rejected for several reasons: "the time it would add to the administration of the exam, the increased costs involved, and the fact that it could only test a limited number of topics."³⁴⁷

These reasons reflect the hardship on the state, not the candidate. Apparently, these UBE jurisdictions are satisfied that a few embedded multiple-choice questions on videos and a passing score on a multiple-choice test is sufficient "to assure that newly[-]admitted attorneys are familiar with key distinctions of Maryland law and procedure not tested in the components of the UBE[.]"³⁴⁸

Under a UBE-Plus model, students would still be able to take the UBE. A satisfactory score on the UBE will still allow test-takers to use that score to seek admission in any UBE state where they satisfy the state admission requirements. New York will maintain the same cut score of 266 for examinees to seek admission in this state. However, to practice here, there will be additional requirements to ensure a minimum competency in New York law. An individual will need to complete a more thorough and rigorous exam on New York law. If a student was not interested in practicing in New York, the student would not have to take the examination.

A new "New York Examination" would replace the NYLE. Like the current NYLE, the New York Exam could be offered multiple times throughout the year. Candidates will be eligible to sit for the New York Exam any time after their second year of law school, and even after the UBE. There is merit to the idea of staging the bar examination such that components could be taken as the applicant progresses along the path to graduation.

³⁴⁶ Jeffrey M. Ward & Lisa Perlen, *Testing Knowledge of Local Law: What Are UBE Jurisdictions Doing?*, *Development of the Tennessee Law Course*, THE BAR EXAMINER, Fall 2019 (available at https://thebarexaminer.org/article/fall-2019/testing-knowledge-of-local-law-ube-jurisdictions-part-one/).

³⁴⁷ Hon. Cindy L. Martin & Hon. Zel M. Fischer, *The Missouri Educational Component Test*, THE BAR EXAMINER, Sept. 2016, at 38 (available at https://thebarexaminer.org/wp-content/uploads/PDFs/BE-UBE-JurisdictionSpecific-850316.pdf).

³⁴⁸ Jonathan A. Azrael & Jeffrey C. Shipley, *Testing Knowledge of Local Law: What are UBE Jurisdictions Doing? Part One: The Maryland Law Component*, THE BAR EXAMINER, Fall 2019 (available at https://thebarexaminer.org/article/fall-2019/testing-knowledge-of-local-law-ube-jurisdictions-part-one/).

We considered the proposal to retain the NYLE but administer it at testing sites. The BOLE rejects the concept of administering the NYLE at test centers. Moreover, this step alone would not address the root of the problem.

To mitigate the gender and race differentials identified with the UBE, the new New York examination should have essays exclusively or essays in addition to the multiple-choice questions. The inclusion of a meaningful essay component would level the playing field to allow females to use their written skills to offset their multiple-choice test-taking skills. The essay and any multiple-choice scores would be added together so a stronger performance on one component could offset a weaker performance on the other.

Still, the other arguments against essay questions will persist, that is, the administration costs and the limited number of topics that can be tested by essays. While it takes more time to read and grade essays than it does to run a scantron, this should not be the criterion for selecting a test instrument that regulates law licensure.

We would suggest four essays for the new examination. Each essay would be 30 minutes in length and cover the topics not covered by the MBE (Contracts and UCC Article 2, Torts, Civil Procedure, Property, Criminal Law and Procedure, Evidence, and Constitutional Law). Instead, the new New York test would test New York Civil Practice, No-fault insurance, Workers' Compensation, Family Law, Professional Ethics, Business Associations, and Trusts and Estates. It is easy to combine a Civil Practice question with Workers' Compensation or Nofault insurance. It is easy as well to combine Professional Ethics with Family Law and Trusts and Estates. The BOLE followed the practice of combining these areas into a single essay for many years in drafting the New York essays.

A single essay might cover three to four issues within that area so that even four essays would test between 16 discrete areas of law. A test of four essays, therefore, might well yield 16 legal issues that includes an identification of the issue, the controlling rule, and an analysis of the relevant facts. This number does not include further breakdowns as would be appropriate on a scoring sheet for rules and facts where there are individual factors, elements, etc. for rules and several relevant facts for an analysis. The final yield of tested items, therefore, would be much greater than just four essays and more like 100-line items.

Candidates could still view the online videos and be exposed to critical New York distinctions in Contracts, Property, Torts, etc., but they would have to really "learn" the law to write the essays. Including thirty multiple-choice questions could test the New York "distinctions" in areas not covered in the essays and test important subjects not currently on the UBE, such as health care, cybersecurity, and data privacy.

Assuming four essays at thirty minutes each and thirty multiple-choice questions at two minutes each, the new exam would take three hours. Even three and a half hours would not create an undue hardship for candidates, but they would have to take it more seriously and actually study for the exam in order to obtain a passing score, thus aligning it more closely with the former "New York Day" of the NYBE.

The New York specific examination could also include performance tests, predicated upon New York law, that measure lawyering skills.

For attorneys who wish to waive into the state after five years of practice in another state, this New York test should also be required. Currently, there is no requirement for these attorneys to demonstrate any knowledge of New York law. A three and a half hour test would be reasonable. Education for it could readily be obtained through law schools and/or bar review courses and obtained on-line.

The adoption of an additional, but rigorous, New York test could obligate a candidate who desires portability and to be admitted in New York to sit for an additional test. We view the protection of the New York public as the paramount concern. That said, as Dean Wegner has reported to us, we should not necessarily be thinking about a test at the end of the last year of law school but about staging different assessments as a student progress through law school. We see no reason why, for example, students could not take the UBE (or some iteration of it) after the second year of law school and use their third year of law school focus on New York specific content, and take a New York-oriented test at the end.

The Advisory Committee argued that imposing a third day of testing, to accommodate a New York specific test, would place a greater burden on New York test-takers than that placed on applicants in other jurisdictions,³⁴⁹ we believe that the more appropriate inquiry is whether applicants to the New York Bar are qualified to practice here and are treated fairly in relation to each other.

And any hardship can be mitigated. Historically, New York bar candidates took the New Jersey essay component on the Thursday after completing the New York bar examination. We could offer the new New York bar examination either on the Monday before the UBE or on the Thursday following the MBE day. For the candidate not interested in taking the UBE, scheduling the new New York test for Monday would provide an extra day to rest and review before taking the MBE. For the student wishing to take the UBE, taking the written component following the New York day will not be an undue hardship—except for the day of taking the exam.

Taking the UBE will not require additional preparation. A minimum of two out of the six MEE questions will be MBE subjects for which they have already prepared. Further, it is more likely to be three, or even four, MBE subjects, based on the average number of MBE subjects tested on the MEE since 2007. For the remaining subjects where general principles of law are tested, it is possible to answer those questions based on knowledge of New York law and state something that "some jurisdictions, although perhaps a minority rule, apply the following . . ." It should be possible to get passing scores in these subjects by doing exactly what Diane Bosse said could be done in taking the New York Bar Exam—only in this case, it would be true. "General principles" would include the law of a minority jurisdiction. And it could be stated that way.

6. New York Law Certification

Alternatively, a New York Law Certification would allow individuals to forego a New York bar examination entirely. Under this path, ABA-accredited law schools, both in and out of New York, would offer courses meeting defined criteria that ensure they are focused on New York law or New York practice. For example, a course on New York Civil Practice would be

³⁴⁹ ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT, *supra* note 15 at 46.

entirely credited towards a New York certification. A course on Evidence could partially be credited to a New York certification if the curricula contains a certain amount of New York content. Students would be required to obtain a specific amount of such New York credits and receive a certain passing grade in order for the law school to certify to the BOLE that that student has obtained the competence necessary to practice law in New York. For out of state law schools, students could obtain the necessary certification either through taking courses during summers at New York law schools or taking courses on-line.

This certification process will also be a more accurate assessment of a student's ability to practice law as it will feature sequential assessments from those with the opportunity to observe the student in a controlled setting. This option will also give students who wish to practice in New York after graduation a reason to more thoroughly focus on New York law throughout their law school enrollment. In return, students who obtain a New York Law Certificate will be more likely to be competent to practice in New York. This would not interfere with students who wish to proceed for admission via the UBE (with or without a New York test).

We offer this recommendation with the expectation that it will have to be built upon to ameliorate the current issues with the bar examination. We acknowledge the necessity of further deliberation concerning the certification process, including whether performance-based testing should be a component.

7. New York CLEs

Another option, as the BOLE suggested, would be to simply require newly-admitted attorneys to take a certain number New York-specific CLE courses in order to practice law in the State.³⁵⁰ A benefit of this option would be that it would give newly-admitted attorneys additional exposure to New York law. However, in practice, these CLE courses would offer the same instruction currently provided by the NYLC—arguably less. Such a requirement would be an increased burden on newly-admitted attorneys without providing much of a return to the State. For instance, it would not help to solve any of the troubling curricula trends away from New York specific law. Without some reliable method of assessment, it would be error to rely on CLEs to safeguard for New York citizens from attorneys who are not competent in New York law. After all, CLEs are supposed to be a continuation of one's legal education, not the beginning of it.

8. Study and Reform the UBE

If nothing else, we have seen that there are serious issues with the reliability of the UBE. Having New York as a UBE state was a compelling draw for the NCBE that led a considerable number of other states to adopt the UBE. Because of the large volume of New York test-takers, and the licensing fees paid to the NCBE, New York should have considerable influence with the NCBE. At a minimum, New York should use its influence to compel a serious, and independent, examination of the reliability of the UBE as a bar admission test.

In this regard, we note that in 2018, NCBE appointed a Testing Task Force "charged with undertaking a three-year study to ensure that the bar examination continues to test the

³⁵⁰ See BOLE Letter, supra note 16 at 26.

knowledge, skills, and abilities required for competent entry-level legal practice in a changing profession." The study is scheduled to be completed by the end of 2020.³⁵¹

The Testing Task Force is investigating and evaluating the content, format, and delivery of each component of the bar exam. In Phase One of the study, the Testing Task Force met with stakeholders and reported its findings from the listening sessions. Among other things, a new approach is being considered for administration of the bar exam which is referred to as "step testing." Here, the MBE would be the first step (test of legal knowledge) and could be completed while candidates are still in law school, when it would be closer to when they take core foundational courses. The second step would be taken upon graduation (test of legal skills) which could be an enhanced MPT and/or an essay exam.

There is support for separating the components of the bar exam and presenting them in "steps," although there are downsides to this option. Still, it is a viable option and will receive significant attention. If it were to be adopted, then the UBE as we know it would be significantly altered. If the time when a candidate takes the MBE is separated from the written component of the exam, then the NCBE can no longer even pretend to claim that the scaling to the MBE is what makes the UBE a reliable, and thus portable, test score.

The question becomes clear: how is a UBE score achieved under these conditions "uniform"? And if it is not "uniform", then why would New York, or any jurisdiction, accept such a score as a valid and reliable measure of the individual's minimum competency to practice law in its jurisdiction? Uniform reciprocity rules based on bar passage and a reasonable number of years in practice would make more sense for the protection of the public and the practitioner. Since a UBE score is only "portable" for a limited period of time, jurisdictions could set a similar window for reciprocity.

9. Experiential Learning Pilot Program

Lastly, whatever the future of the bar exam looks like, New York should consider developing a pilot program that models New Hampshire's Daniel Webster Scholar Honors Program. This program has been demonstrated to produce truly practice-ready attorneys. Moreover, this option would have the most profound effect on addressing the gender and racial gap in New York's legal profession.

The admissions criteria for this program should reflect a holistic approach aimed at assessing the full range of an applicant's education and dedication. That is, the selection criteria will consider each applicant's qualifications as well as their personal experiences including, but not limited to urban/rural background, education, culture, life/work experience, travel, extra-curricular activities before and during law school, community service, hobbies, and goals for the applicant's legal career. Special attention should also be given to whether the applicant intends to use his or her law license to practice in New York and whether he or she intends to pursue a career in public service.

This option would produce practice ready graduates, who would have already practiced in counseling clients, working with lawyers, conducting depositions, appearing before judges,

³⁵¹ See About, TESTING TASK FORCE, https://testingtaskforce.org/about/ (last visited Feb. 16, 2020).

negotiating, mediating, and drafting legal documents under the close supervision of a professor or legal mentor. Additionally, it would be a financial asset to law students who could forego the bar examination and get admitted to practice shortly after graduation. If these students wish to obtain a portable score, they would also be able to sit for the UBE to obtain admission in another jurisdiction.

Adopting these recommendations would be a step towards fixing the current problem created by New York's transition to the UBE. To be sure, this is merely the first report to help ensure that the state bar examination is best suited to serve the interests of New Yorkers and protect the gold standard of New York's legal profession. The Task Force will continue to assess developments in this sphere and examine areas of improvement for the current attorney licensing system in New York.

VII. CONCLUSION

It has been our distinct privilege to have had the opportunity to work on this important issue and we hope that this Report will be a catalyst for needed change so that New York again can have a bar examination that meets its fundamental purpose—that the public is protected by assuring that attorneys admitted to practice law in New York have the basic knowledge required to do so successfully.

> Dated: March 5, 2020 Alan D. Scheinkman, Chair Mark Berman Patrick Connors Suzanne Darrow-Kleinhaus Craig Doran Sarah Gold Evan Goldberg Elena Karabatos Eileen Kaufman Jeffrey D. Lebowitz Michael Marinaccio Michael Miller John T. McCann Michael J. McNamara Andrew L. Oringer

Aimee Richter Margaret V. Turano Richard S. Vecchio³⁵²

³⁵² The Task Force wishes to acknowledge the contributions made by Eileen Millett, Esq., who was originally a Co-Chair of the Task Force but who resigned from the Task Force shortly after the completion of the public hearings due to a change in her professional affiliation. The Task Force wishes to express its appreciation to Michael McNamara and Andrew Matott for their major contributions to the draft of this Report. The Task Force notes that Court of Appeals Associate Judge Michael Garcia attended several meetings, as did some members of the Court of Appeals non-judicial staff, but they took no part in the preparation of this Report.

Appendix A

New York State Board of Law Examiners

Diane F. Bosse, Chair 1300 Liberty Bldg. Buffalo, NY 14202 Bryan R. Williams Robert S. McMillen E. Leo Milonas Michael Colodner CORPORATE PLAZA-BUILDING 3 254 WASHINGTON AVENUE EXTENSION ALBANY, N.Y. 12203-5195 518-452-8700 (NYS) 800-342-3335 FAX 518-452-5729 http://www.nybarexam.org

John J. McAlary Executive Director

To: Hon. Alan D. Scheinkman, Chair NYSBA Task Force on the New York Bar Examination

From: NYS Board of Law Examiners

RE: Response to Questions and Concerns

Date: December 16, 2019

INTRODUCTION

Thank you for the opportunity for the Board of Law Examiners to provide information to the Task Force as it pursues its mission to investigate the impact of New York's adoption of the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE).

In this memo, we will first provide some background information regarding the UBE, including a description of what it is, why it was adopted in New York, and how it compares to the prior New York bar exam. We will similarly describe the New York Law Course (NYLC), and the New York Law Exam (NYLE), and outline the purpose of those components. Where appropriate, we will include a response to some of the comments we heard at the public hearings conducted by the Task Force. We will then respond specifically to the questions posed by Justice Sheinkman in his November 26, 2019 e-mail to Board Chair Diane Bosse. Following that, we will summarize the findings of the recent study conducted by the National Conference of Bar Examiners (NCBE) of the impact of the transition from the prior New York bar exam to the UBE. We will

specifically highlight the findings regarding the performance of various racial and ethnic groups on the two tests. Finally, we will offer some additional observations relevant to the matter under consideration and hopefully helpful to the Task Force as it deliberates on the issues.

THE UNIFORM BAR EXAMINATION

As the Task Force is aware, the UBE is a uniformly administered, graded, and scored bar examination that results in a portable score. Candidates who take the UBE may transfer their scores to seek admission in other UBE jurisdictions within the amount of time determined by the relevant transferee jurisdiction. The UBE has been adopted in 36 jurisdictions as identified on the map attached as Exhibit A.

The UBE consists of three test components – the Multistate Bar Examination (MBE), the Multistate Essay Examination (MEE), and the Multistate Performance Test (MPT). These components are described in Exhibit B.

The UBE was adopted in New York, effective with the July 2016 administration of the bar exam. The UBE was adopted on the recommendation to the Court of Appeals of the Advisory Committee on the Uniform Bar Examination appointed in November 2014 by then Chief Judge Jonathan Lippman. The work of the Advisory Committee and the reasons for its recommendation are detailed in the Advisory Committee's Final Report, attached as Exhibit C. As summarized in the Executive Summary:

> A significant advantage of adopting the UBE is that passage of the test would produce a portable score that could be used by the bar applicant to gain admission in other UBE states, assuming the candidate satisfies any other jurisdiction-specific requirements. This portability is crucial in a legal marketplace that is increasingly mobile and requires more and more attorneys to engage in multi

jurisdictional practice. An additional benefit of the UBE is that it includes two MPT tasks, as opposed to the one used on the current New York bar exam. These MPT questions, which require applicants to use fundamental lawyering skills to perform a legal task, will help better assess whether applicants possess the skills that are necessary to enter practice.

Exhibit C, at p. 2.

The UBE tests knowledge of general principles of law, legal analysis and reasoning, factual analysis, and communication skills to determine readiness to enter legal practice in any jurisdiction. The questions are created by drafting committees recruited by NCBE. The drafting committees are composed of professors from 30+ law schools and lawyers and judges from around the country who are experts in the subjects tested. External professors and practitioners review the questions for validity and fairness. Measurement experts at NCBE assure that the test is assembled in accord with industry principles applicable to high stakes testing and is psychometrically reliable, reliability being the extent to which a group of examinees would be rank-ordered in the same way over multiple testing sessions. All questions are pre-tested before use, and the jurisdictions using the tests review the MEE and MPT items before they are administered.

The structure of the prior New York bar exam as compared to the UBE is outlined in Exhibit D. The essential difference is that an additional MPT item was added, largely in response to comments received regarding the need for more skills assessment, and the MEE was substituted for the former New York essays. While the New York Multiple Choice portion of the prior New York bar exam was dropped, it was replaced by the NYLE, described below. The MBE and MPT, which accounted for 50% of the prior New

York exam by weight, continue as features of the exam in New York, now accounting for 70% of the test.

The content of the prior New York bar exam as compared to the UBE is detailed in Exhibit E. Notably, the UBE does not test Administrative Law, Professional Responsibility, or New York Civil Practice and Procedure. Those topics are now covered by the NYLE.¹ The UBE tests Federal Civil Procedure, a content area that was dropped from the prior New York bar exam when it was added to the MBE in 2015.

The general principles tested on the UBE are principles taught in New York law schools and in law schools across the country from national casebooks. The concept of testing general principles is not a novel concept. New York has been testing general principles and federal law for 40 years, in its use of the MBE as the anchor of its bar exam. The MBE tests general principles in Contracts, Criminal Law, Real Property, and Torts, and tests federal Constitutional Law, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and the Federal Rules of Evidence. That is unchanged with the adoption of the UBE.

In terms of the specific legal principles tested on the UBE as compared to the prior New York bar exam, it is important to appreciate that, although the Board supported the answers to the multiple choice and essay questions it drafted for the prior New York exam with New York authorities, we made no concerted effort to test New York distinctions in most doctrinal areas. While we did test specific New York statutes, we did not seek to determine if the particular statute was in accord with prevailing views or any applicable model rule or code. General principles of law were necessarily

¹ Professional Responsibility is also tested on the Multistate Professional Responsibility Examination.

intertwined with some New York specific rules. Consequently, a candidate who had no knowledge of New York specific law but who was adequately educated in general principles of law could apply those principles and easily pass the exam.

The point to be made is that it is error to assume that the prior New York bar exam was a test solely of New York law and that the UBE is a test of some unidentified fictional law that is antithetical to New York. We invite the Task Force to review the MEE questions asked on recent exams and sample candidate answers, which can be found on our website² at: https://www.nybarexam.org/ExamQuestions/ExamQuestions.htm

THE NEW YORK LAW COURSE

The NYLC is an online, on demand course on important and unique principles of New York law in the subjects of Administrative Law, Business Relationships, Civil Practice and Procedure, Conflict of Laws, Contracts, Criminal Law and Procedure, Evidence, Matrimonial and Family Law, Professional Responsibility, Real Property, Torts and Tort Damages, and Trusts, Wills and Estates. The NYLC consists of approximately 17 hours of recorded lectures, each lecture having embedded questions which must be answered correctly before a candidate may continue viewing the lecture. The Civil Practice and Procedure lectures extend over two hours. A candidate must complete all of the videos before the candidate may register for the NYLE.

² At the Albany public hearing, a comment was made that the Board previously posted essay questions and model answers and no longer does so. The Board never posted model answers, but has for many years posted essay questions and sample candidate answers. That practice has not changed with the adoption of the UBE. MEE questions and sample candidate answers are available on our website, as are summaries of MPT items and sample candidate answers to those items.

A comment was made during the Albany public hearing that these content areas cannot be taught in the number of hours comprising the NYLC. The Board does not disagree. However, it is not the intent of the NYLC to be a full course in the content areas that are included. Rather, the intent is merely to present important New York rules and distinctions, to introduce candidates to the relevant New York statutory scheme, and to provide some additional information important for lawyers seeking to practice in New York. For example, information is provided on the structure of the New York courts, together with a listing of the counties in each judicial department and a map of the judicial districts. A glossary of state statutes is included. Important information on attorney registration, CLE and other licensing requirements, pro bono obligations, and the Lawyers Assistance Program is provided. These matters, critical for new lawyers to know, would not have been taught in a traditional bar review course or tested on the prior bar exam.

The Course Materials for the NYLC, currently 158 pages in length, are posted on the Board's website and are available to all at no charge. They are constantly being revised and updated versions are posted at appropriate intervals, the most recent version being September 2019. The Course Materials are attached as Exhibit F and may be found at: <u>https://www.nybarexam.org/Content/NewYorkCourseMaterials.pdf</u>

The lecturers are 18 volunteer judges, professors and practitioners, all experts in their subject matters. The roster of lecturers is attached as Exhibit G and may be found on our website at:

https://www.nybarexam.org/Content/NYLC_Faculty_ListandFaculty_Bios.pdf.

In order to keep the course current and to reflect changes in the law since the original iteration of the NYLC, several of the lectures were redone, and the new version of the course was presented as of spring 2019.

The Board is aware that there have been abuses by candidates, and we have been vigilant in addressing them. The Board has promulgated rules requiring that candidates comply with all instructions for the course and that they must view each lecture in its entirety and at its normal speed. Advancing or speeding up the video by any means is strictly prohibited, as is attempting to watch more than one video at one time. Candidates are constantly reminded of these prohibitions and the penalties for violation as they take the course. The time candidates spend viewing each video segment is audited by the Board, and the Board institutes misconduct charges and imposes penalties on candidates who violate those rules. When a candidate is charged with a violation, the candidate is automatically withdrawn from taking any NYLE for which the candidate has applied. If the candidate is found guilty, the penalties imposed include requiring the candidate to re-watch the NYLC in its entirety, notifying the Appellate Division for consideration of the violation by the Character and Fitness Committee, and, depending on the severity of the violation, prohibiting the candidate from taking one or more administrations of the NYLE.

THE NEW YORK LAW EXAM

The NYLE is a 50 item, two-hour, open book, multiple choice test administered online four times per year. Candidates have two hours to complete it, except that candidates may be granted extended time by reason of disabilities. Candidates are permitted to have access to the Course Materials and their notes during the exam. All of the material tested on the NYLE is in the Course Materials or in the videos. The order of the questions is scrambled so that candidates receive the questions in different orders. No backward navigation is allowed, so once a candidate has navigated to the next question, the candidate may not return to the prior question. Consequently, if a group of candidates take the NYLE together, they cannot be of much assistance to each other. The Course Materials posted on the Board's website are not a computer-searchable version, and electronically searching the Course Materials while taking the NYLE by using a searchable version of the Course Materials is prohibited. The passing score on the NYLE is 60% (a candidate must answer 30 out of the 50 items correctly). A candidate who fails the NYLE is required to retake both the NYLC and the NYLE.

The NYLE is intended both as a motivation for candidates to pay attention to the NYLC lectures while thoroughly reviewing the Course Materials and as a continuation of the learning process by having them utilize the Course Materials to answer specific questions. Because the NYLE is an open book test with more than adequate time allowed for completion, it might be expected that all candidates would achieve near perfect scores. However, in the most recent administrations, the average score has been approximately 70% and almost 20% of the candidates have actually failed.

Statements made during the public hearings conducted by the Task Force indicated skepticism regarding the NYLE. Some of the negative views of the NYLE may be a function of a misunderstanding of its nature and purpose. If it is the view of the Task Force that the NYLE should be akin to the former New York bar exam, we will come up short every time. This test is not intended to mimic a true bar exam. It is in the nature of a notice test, to assure that, before becoming licensed in New York, candidates will have been exposed to important principles of New York law and required to demonstrate sufficient knowledge of the material taught in the NYLC. It is not intended to be a high stakes test or to establish a significant hurdle to admission. As the Advisory Committee explained it its Final Report:

The Committee stresses that the purpose of [the NYLC and the NYLE] is to ensure that applicants are sufficiently versed in New York law and to provide them with opportunities to learn the intricacies of New York law, not to erect unnecessary or unduly burdensome protectionist barriers.

At p. 3-4.

The Board recognizes that in striving to comply with the Advisory Committee's direction that the NYLE not be "unduly burdensome," we may have prepared some questions for the initial versions of the NYLE which were overly simplistic. The Board has modified the questions to require more analysis and to require, in some instances, synthesis of two or more sections of the Course Materials. We track performance of every question individually and every exam as a whole, and we are seeing results that indicate the exam has become more challenging overall, while success remains attainable for candidates who diligently prepare by attending to the NYLC and studying the Course Materials.

QUESTIONS AND CONCERNS OF THE TASK FORCE

With that introduction, we turn to answering the questions posed by Justice Scheinkman in his e-mail to Board Chair Diane Bosse of November 26, 2019. We will repeat each question for ease of reference.

1. Do you have any views on the desirability of testing New York bar applicants on New York specific subject matter?

Answer: First, we do test New York bar applicants on New York specific subject matter, both to the extent that New York law aligns with general principles tested on the UBE and additionally on the NYLE. To that extent, we do think such testing is desirable. Second, if the question is directed to whether or not we believe that New York law should again be tested as it was on the prior New York bar exam, we believe that the current scheme may more effectively test specific distinctions and unique and important New York rules than did the prior New York bar exam. This is because a candidate could pass the prior exam without knowing or demonstrating any specific knowledge of New York law by scoring highly enough on the MBE and MPT and by using general principles to answer the New York essays and the New York multiple choice questions. The NYLE requires demonstration of knowledge on a sampling of the New York specific law taught in the NYLC. The current scheme requires independent demonstrations of knowledge of general principles and unique New York rules. Finally, we do not believe that any return to traditional testing of New York law would impact the concerns raised by the Task Force regarding the preparedness of lawyers to practice in New York, as further discussed below.

2. In light of the experience to date, do you believe that the current New York Law Exam should be continued in its present form and as presently administered or should it be eliminated entirely or modified in some way?

Answer: At the present time, the Board believes that the NYLE should continue in its present form and as presently administered. We believe that having an open book test for a test of this nature contributes to the learning process and more closely represents what lawyers do in practice – they look it up.

Because this test is not intended to be a high stakes test or barrier to admission, offering the test four times per year, as recommended by the Advisory Committee and adopted by the Court of Appeals, is appropriate. Continuing the test on-line is the only feasible way it can be administered. This test is routinely taken by thousands of people all over the world. The burden and expense of offering the test in an on-site proctored format is both administratively and economically infeasible.

3. Would it be feasible to create an option whereby NY test takers who wish to practice elsewhere would take only the UBE and those test takers who wish to be admitted in New York would take either (i) the UBE plus an additional NY test to be administered on a third day (either half or whole); or (ii) an additional NY test to be administered in lieu of some portion of the UBE?

Answer: The Board does not permit candidates who are not seeking admission in New York to sit for the bar exam here. Every candidate taking the UBE in New York is required to certify that they are a bona fide candidate for admission in New York. We assume that the vast majority of candidates sitting for the UBE in New York intend to practice here. There are some test-takers who do not intend to practice in New York, primarily foreign-educated candidates who seek admission as an employment credential for use in their home or other country. There is no benefit to establishing a separate administration of the UBE for them, separate from the test administered to applicants intending to practice in New York. Moreover, it would create scaling issues, that would be difficult to overcome.

The idea of having a test of New York law on a third day following the UBE was considered and soundly rejected by the Advisory Committee. That would put New York

UBE-takers at a significant disadvantage to UBE-takers in other jurisdictions because they would be required to prepare for an additional test while simultaneously preparing for the UBE. Furthermore, a third day of testing would create an administrative burden and additional cost that would not justify the effort.

The question appears to assume that most test-takers in New York who intend to practice here do not intend to seek admission in another jurisdiction. For many years prior to the time New York adopted the UBE, followed later by New Jersey and Massachusetts, we had many candidates who would transfer their MBE scores between New York and those other jurisdictions. Candidates would then take the state day of the exam in each jurisdiction in order to seek multiple admissions. We assume many of the score transfers discussed below are transfers that would have been MBE score transfers under the prior scheme, and many more will seek transfer before the score achieved on the UBE expires. The difference is those candidates no longer have the burden and expense of taking another bar exam.

We cannot substitute a New York test for some component of the UBE and remain a UBE jurisdiction with the benefits it offers to candidates taking the test today. It would deprive candidates of the portability of their scores. Moreover, depending on what component part of the UBE was eliminated in favor of the New York test, we could imperil the reliability of the test. We would strongly urge against such a proposal.

4. Can you provide information as to the number of foreign law graduates who have taken the test in New York just before and then after the adoption of the UBE and if so, provide information as to the number of such graduates who attended programs at New York-based law schools?

Answer: See chart below. Note the shaded areas represent tests administered after the adoption of the UBE.

	All Foreign-Educated		Foreign Degree Only [common law graduates]		Foreign Degree and LLM Degree			LLM from New York School			LLM from Out of State School				
	Feb Exam	July Exam	Feb & July Combined	Feb Exam	July Exam	Feb & July Combined	Feb Exam	July Exam	Feb & July Combined	Feb Exam	July Exam	Feb & July Combined	Feb Exam	July Exam	Feb & July Combined
2013	1620	2981	4601	449	605	1054	1171	2376	3547	348	712	1060	823	1664	2487
2014	1761	3052	4813	520	650	1170	1241	2402	3643	337	716	1053	904	1686	2590
2015	1600	3154	4754	457	598	1055	1143	2556	3699	306	745	1051	837	1811	2648
2016	1848	3005	4853	539	612	1151	1309	2393	3702	372	693	1065	937	1700	2637
2017	1792	3156	4948	521	661	1182	1271	2495	3766	372	792	1164	899	1703	2602
2018	1632	3232	4864	499	584	1083	1133	2648	3781	355	788	1143	778	1860	2638
2019	1885	3560	5445	545	724	1269	1340	2836	4176	412	885	1297	928	1951	2879

5. Do you have information as to the number of New York law school graduates who have used the UBE to gain admission elsewhere, for each year since the adoption of the UBE?

6. Do you have information as to the number of graduates of non-New York law schools who have used the UBE to gain admission in New York, for each year since the adoption of the UBE?

We take these Questions together as the Answers to both of these questions, to the extent available, are contained in the chart below.

Answer to Question 5: The chart below shows, among other data, by year, the number of UBE scores earned in New York that were transferred to other jurisdictions. We have no way of knowing if the candidate actually used the score to obtain admission in the transferee jurisdiction. All UBE score transfers are handled by NCBE, and NCBE has no information as to the law school attended by the candidate.

We have no knowledge of whose scores are being transferred out, so we have no way of knowing how many of those candidates are graduates of New York law schools.

It should be noted that many of the scores transferred out were likely earned by candidates who are intending to practice in New York, but because of job requirements or opportunities, also seek admission in another state, such as New Jersey.

Answer to Question 6: The chart below shows, among other data, by year, the number of UBE scores transferred into New York. NCBE transfers the UBE scores to us upon request, but candidates must then apply to the Board for admission by examination by transferred UBE score. Accordingly, the chart below shows more scores transferred into New York than candidates certified to the Appellate Division for admission. Also, as noted above, NCBE does not know the law schools attended by the candidates for whom they transfer scores, and we do not have that information until the candidate files an application with us demonstrating that the candidate satisfies New York's educational eligibility requirements.

UBE Score Transfers In and Out of New York								
Jurisdiction	Year	UBE Scores Earned in NY	UBE Scores Transferred OUT	UBE Scores Transferred IN	UBE Score Transfers Into NY Certified by BOLE to AD	Graduates of NY Law Schools	Graduates of Out of State Law Schools	
NY	2019	14,200	1981	754	685	69	616	
NY	2018	13,438	1,663	747	664	79	585	
NY	2017	14,093	1,373	517	457	61	396	
NY	2016 (July only)	10,297	526	270	255	59	196	
NY Total		52,028	5,543	2,288	2061	268	1793	

7. Do you have a view as to whether attorneys who wish to gain admission in New York on the basis of reciprocity should be required to take a New York specific test as a condition of admission?

Answer: The Board does not have a position on this.

8. It has been pointed out that a candidate who completed the same UBE exam in two different jurisdictions could receive different scores because of variations in the strength of the pools of other test takers. Do you agree that such could occur and, if you agree that this could occur, is it a matter of concern? To this point, is it possible to provide an explanation of the manner in which raw scores are adjusted based on the state in which test-takers are seated? Is it possible to chart for a recent testing date or dates that shows how several sample raw scores would have been converted to respective final scores in NY and in other jurisdictions in which the examination was given. The concern being articulated is whether it is possible to see empirical results so that we can analyze possible manipulation by test-takers under the current system and otherwise address fairness concerns that have been expressed by some.

Answer: We understand this question to inquire whether a candidate might get an advantage depending on in what jurisdiction the candidate sat for the UBE. The idea of forum-shopping to take the bar exam is complicated. First, presumably the candidate would get the same MBE score in whatever jurisdiction the test was taken, so it is the written score that might vary. Scores on the written portion of the test are scaled to the MBE scores achieved in that same jurisdiction. That means the written scores are placed on a scale with the same mean and standard deviation as the MBE scores. Thus, while a candidate might score better on the written portion of the test

than other test-takers in a lower-performing jurisdiction, the candidate's written score would be put on that lower jurisdiction's MBE scale, compromising the intended advantage. While it is a theoretical possibility that a candidate might receive different scores in two different UBE jurisdictions, figuring out which jurisdiction might offer the candidate an advantage is so complex that the possibility of this occurring is no basis for concern.

We refer you to an article that appeared in *The Bar Examiner* (a publication of the NCBE) in September 2016 addressing this issue. The article, authored by Mark A. Albanese, Ph.D., NCBE Director of Testing and Research and Professor Emeritus, U. Wisconsin-Madison, is entitled The Testing Column Let the Games Begin: Jurisdiction-Shopping for the Shopaholics (Good Luck With That). It is attached as Exhibit H.

As to how raw scores are adjusted based on the state in which the test-takers are seated, we have pasted in below an answer provided by the NCBE Testing and Research Department Staff Members to the question of what is essay scaling. This is taken from The Testing Column: Q&A: NCBE Testing and Research Department Staff Members Answer Your Questions, By Mark A. Albanese, Ph.D., et al, Winter 2017-2018 (Vol. 86, No. 4).³

As with MBE items, the written components of the bar exam (essay questions and performance test items) change with every administration. The difficulty of the questions/items, the proficiency of the group of examinees taking the exam, and the graders (and the stringency with which they grade) may also change. All three of these variables can affect the grades assigned by graders to examinees' responses to these written components of the exam and

³ Found online at: <u>https://thebarexaminer.org/article/winter-2017-2018/the-testing-column-qa-ncbe-testing-and-research-department-staff-members-answer-your-guestions/</u>. Site last visited on December 11, 2019.

can have the potential to cause variation in the level of performance the grades represent across administrations. Unlike the MBE, the answers to the written questions/items of the bar examination cannot be equated, because previously used questions/items can't be reused or embedded in a current exam—there are too few written questions/items on the exam and they are too memorable. If essay questions or performance test items were reused, any examinee who had seen them on a previous administration would be very likely to have an unfair advantage over examinees who had not seen them previously.

Because directly equating the written components is not possible, most jurisdictions use an indirect process referred to as *scaling the written component to the MBE.* This process has graders assign grades to each question/item using the grading scale employed in their particular jurisdiction (e.g., 1 to 6). The individual grades on each written question/item are typically combined into a raw written score for each examinee. These raw written scores are then statistically adjusted so that collectively they have the same mean and standard deviation as do the scaled scores on the MBE in the jurisdiction. (*Standard deviation* is the measure of the spread of scores—that is, the average deviation of scores from the mean. The term *scaled score* refers to the score as it has been applied to the scale used for the test—in the case of the MBE, the 200-point MBE scale.)

Conceptually, this process is similar to listing MBE scaled scores in order from best to worst and then listing raw written scores in order from best to worst to generate a rank-ordering of MBE scores and written scores. The best written score assumes the value of the best MBE score; the second-best written score is set to the second-best MBE score, and so on. Functionally, the process yields a distribution of scaled written scores that is the same as the jurisdiction's distribution of the equated MBE scaled scores. Another way to think about the process is that the raw written scores are used to measure how far each examinee's written performance is from the group's average written performance, and then the information from the distribution of the group's MBE scores is used to determine what "scaled" values should be associated with those distances from the average.

This conversion process leaves intact the important rank-ordering decisions made by graders, and it adjusts them so that they align with the MBE scaled score distribution. Because the MBE scaled scores have been equated, converting the written scores to the MBE scale takes advantage of the MBE equating process to indirectly equate the written scores. The justification for scaling the written scores to the MBE has been anchored on the facts that the content

and concepts assessed on the MBE and written components are aligned and performance on the MBE and the written components is strongly correlated. The added benefit of having scores of both the MBE and the written component on the same score scale is that it simplifies combining the two when calculating the total bar examination score. In the end, the result of scaling (like equating) is that the scores represent the same level of performance regardless of the administration in which they were earned.

We are not able to provide you with the chart you requested showing the raw score conversions to final scores in New York and other jurisdictions. We do not have raw score data for other jurisdictions to make the comparison you request. Moreover, given the stated intent to analyze possible manipulation by test-takers, we do not believe any such chart would enable such an analysis. The problem is that when a candidate goes to another jurisdiction and takes the test, the performance is judged in that context – meaning the written performance is evaluated with the specific group of papers produced for that exam. It can't be assumed that the written score achieved on one exam would be the same as a written score achieved on another. It would be mere speculation to assume that a written score would increase by a given amount because of the perceived ability of the population with which the test was taken.

STUDY OF THE IMPACT OF THE TRANSITION TO THE UBE FROM THE FORMER NEW YORK BAR EXAM

On August 20, 2019, the Court of Appeals released the report of a three-year study on the impact of the transition from the former New York bar exam to the UBE. In its April 2015 report, the Advisory Committee on the UBE recommended that the Court explore whether adopting the UBE would have an adverse impact on bar passage rates overall or affect differences in passing rates among various test-taker subpopulations. The study concluded that there was a small, at most, and generally positive impact on

the performance of candidates taking the bar exam, overall and grouped by race, ethnicity, and gender.

Researchers at the NCBE conducted the study at the request of the Board of Law Examiners. Performance on the bar exam was analyzed in comparison to other metrics, including undergraduate grade point average (UGPA), Law School Admission Test (LSAT) scores, and law school grade point average (LGPA). The study looked at bar passage rates overall and by race, ethnicity and gender on the former exam, comparing them with the bar passage rates for various groups on the UBE.

Candidates sitting for the bar exam in New York are traditionally diverse in many respects. First, there are 203 ABA-approved law schools granting a J.D. degree in the United States, 15 of which are located in New York. Typically, one-third of the candidates taking the bar exam in New York are graduates of the New York law schools, and one-third are J.D. graduates of ABA-approved law schools outside of New York. The study refers to those candidates as "domestic-educated". Most years, the number of law schools represented in the cohort taking the bar exam in New York is 190 or more. The other one-third of candidates sitting for the bar exam in New York are foreign-educated candidates who qualify to take the bar exam based upon their foreign education alone or their foreign education as supplemented by an LL.M. degree obtained at an ABA-approved law school in the United States. Each year, candidates from over 100 countries take the bar exam in New York. In addition to the source of their education, the candidate pool taking the New York bar exam is racially and ethnically diverse.

The study looked at the performance of all groups of candidates, first-time and repeat takers, domestic and foreign-educated, and by subgroups based on gender, race, and ethnicity. It also looked closely at the cohort of domestic-educated first-time takers, with the data as to the July test-takers deemed most reliable. The study included two former New York bar exams (July 2015 and February 2016) and three administrations of the UBE (July 2016, February 2017, and July 2017). Based on New York's passing score of 266, overall, mean scores and passing rates increased after the adoption of the UBE, which was effective with the July 2016 exam. The results for the February and July exams for all candidates, including first-time and repeat takers, and both domestic-educated and foreign-educated candidates, were as follows:

FEBRUARY EXAMS	MEAN SCORE (266 REQUIRED TO PASS)	PASSING RATE
FEBRUARY 2016 - (PRE-UBE)	258	40.5%
FEBRUARY 2017 - (UBE)	261	43.8%
JULY EXAMS	MEAN SCORE (266 REQUIRED TO PASS)	PASSING RATE
JULY 2015 - (PRE-UBE)	274	60.8%
JULY 2016 - (UBE)	277	63.9%
JULY 2017 - (UBE)	282	68.5%

This improved performance holds for domestic-educated candidates taking the bar exam for the first time:

FEBRUARY EXAMS	MEAN SCORE (266 REQUIRED TO PASS)	PASSING RATE
FEBRUARY 2016 - (PRE-UBE)	277	67.1%
FEBRUARY 2017 - (UBE)	281	70.5%
JULY EXAMS	MEAN SCORE (266 REQUIRED TO PASS)	PASSING RATE
JULY 2015 - (PRE-UBE)	288	79.3%
JULY 2016 - (UBE)	293	82.8%
JULY 2017 - (UBE)	297	86.0%

Notably, the performance of candidates over the course of the study was generally comparable or showed improvement for all gender, racial, and ethnic groups. The increases seen in mean bar exam scores and passing rates, as well as differences in performance by gender and racial and ethnic groups were generally, but not exclusively, found to be attributable to differences in the metrics considered in the study, including UGPA, LSAT scores and LGPA. Other factors noted by the study as possibly affecting performance include differences in law school experiences and in how candidates prepared for the bar exam, as well as changes in the population taking the bar exam in New York given the portability of UBE scores.

Other important findings in the study relate to the correlation of UGPA, LSAT scores, and LGPA with bar exam performance, the relative performance of subgroups on different parts of the test, and the persistence of candidates in re-taking the exam.

The results of the study are presented in a comprehensive report which, along with its executive summary and appendices, is available on the website of the State Board of Law Examiners at: <u>https://www.nybarexam.org/UBEReport.html</u>

FURTHER THOUGHTS AND OBSERVATIONS

Passing Score

One of the concerns expressed in the public hearings was the variation in passing scores on the UBE in the jurisdictions administering the test. Establishing the passing score for the test is a task left to the jurisdictions that administer it. Obviously, NCBE has no authority to impose a passing score.

New York's passing score did not change with the adoption of the UBE. It remained at a 133 MBE scaled score equivalent. The only difference is that on the prior New York bar exam, scores were multiplied by five, setting a passing score of 665; now MBE and written scores are weighted at 50% each and added together to determine the score, with the passing score now set at 266 or twice the MBE scaled score of 133.

New York's passing score is among the lowest of the UBE jurisdictions, as can be seen from the attached map, Exhibit I. Twenty of the 36 UBE jurisdictions have established passing scores above New York's score of 266. Ten jurisdictions have the same score as New York, and five have a lower score. A score is portable and relieves the candidate from taking an additional bar exam provided the score achieved meets the minimum passing score in the jurisdiction to which admission is sought.

We heard comments in the public hearings questioning the fairness of UBE scores given that each state may select its own passing score. The concern expressed

was a concern that reliability of scores was somehow compromised because a different score was required to pass in different jurisdictions. The issue of reliability has no relationship to the passing score. Reliability relates to the reproducibility of scores, not to whether the score is a passing one. The score achieved by a candidate on the test is a reliable score, wherever it is achieved, based on the psychometric properties of the test itself. But whether or not it is sufficient for admission is a state-by-state decision that has no bearing on reliability.

In this context, we heard comments questioning the fairness of the exam due to "curving" of scores. How the scaling process works is described above. Scaling relates to putting written scores onto a distribution with the same mean and standard deviation as the MBE scores of a given group of test-takers. Scaled scores are not "curved," and no part of the UBE is "curved." We understand that term to relate to, for example, in a law school class where it is pre-determined that a certain percentage of students will get a given grade. No such process is undertaken in scoring the bar exam.

"Practice-ready" lawyers

We heard several complaints in the public hearings suggesting that new lawyers are no longer "practice-ready," however that term is defined. It is a false premise that passing the former New York bar exam demonstrated practice-readiness, while passing the UBE and the NYLE does not so demonstrate. Preparedness to practice is not a function of what bar exam a person took, nor is the purpose of the bar exam to assure practice-readiness. Preparedness to practice develops on a continuum beginning with a sound program of legal education, consisting of training in doctrinal law and legal skills, followed by on-the-job training and continuing legal education.

23

Law schools have always taught legal principles and have strived to teach law students how to think like lawyers. Whether or not they have taught the specific skills needed to be "practice-ready" or would even view that as their function is debatable. The American Bar Association Standards for Approval of Law Schools now require that law schools offer a curriculum that requires each student to satisfactorily complete at least one or more experiential course(s) totaling at least six credit hours [Standard 303(a)(3)]. Law schools perhaps now offer more experiential courses than they did in the past, and those courses will presumably assist in preparation for practice. Additionally, Rule §520.18 of the Rules of the Court of Appeals now requires that applicants for admission to practice "demonstrate that the applicant possesses the skills and values necessary to provide effective, ethical and responsible legal services in this State." Satisfaction of one of five pathways is required.

These requirements may impact the "practice-readiness" of new lawyers going forward, but as of yet, any change has not been significant, based on the anecdotal complaints the Task Force has reported hearing from practitioners and judges. What has changed in recent years is that clients are refusing to pay for providing new lawyers with the training they need, causing the frequency and volume of such complaints to rise. Additionally, in the recent past there was a precipitous decline in law school applications, with the consequent admission to some law schools of some students whose scores on the LSAT were not as strong as those of students applying for admission when applications were at record highs. Some of those students with lower entering credentials have now completed law school and are being admitted to practice with perhaps a weaker grasp of the requirements of law practice. Additionally,

24

we heard during the public hearings concerns about the generational differences between new lawyers of the past and those entering the practice today. None of that is attributable to the bar exam, and the bar exam cannot be expected to solve whatever problem is perceived.

New York Civil Procedure

We heard the complaints raised in the public hearings regarding new lawyers' lack of understanding of New York civil procedure. We heard that registration in courses in New York Practice is down (and was down before the adoption of the UBE) and concern that new lawyers are not learning the essentials of New York civil procedure, allegedly because they are not tested on it in the traditional way of the former New York bar exam.

First, two-thirds of our candidate population did not go to New York law schools, such that they never had the opportunity to take a course in New York civil procedure. While they may have previously learned some New York civil procedure from their bar review courses, in many respects, the testing of New York civil procedure under the NYLE is more effective than was the testing on the prior New York bar exam because it is specific, and a lack of knowledge of New York procedure could be masked on the prior exam by a strong performance on the MBE and answering questions based on general principles. On the NYLE, 20 of the 50 questions are routinely taken from the Course Materials and lectures on New York Civil Practice and Procedure.

New York law schools presumably counsel their students who wish to engage in civil litigation in New York of the availability and desirability of taking a course in New York civil procedure for purposes of practice, and if they believe it is necessary, could require the course. If employers are concerned that new lawyers aren't suitably schooled in New York practice, they could require it as well. New lawyers could be required to take New York practice-specific CLE courses, pre or post admission, with graduates of New York law schools exempt from the requirement to the extent they have taken and passed a New York practice course in law school.

In any event, bar exam content has never seemed to significantly drive curricular offerings or choices at most law schools. The MBE subjects are mostly required courses in law schools, and were required courses long before the MBE came into existence.

The Board respectfully disagrees that the UBE is the cause of any alleged lack of preparedness of new lawyers for practice or that a return to the exam of the past or some proxy for it would solve the perceived problem.

New York as the "Gold Standard"

We heard comments in the public hearings that the prior New York bar exam was the "gold standard" for bar examinations and a suggestion that switching to the UBE diminished that standard. This is a repetition of comments made to the Advisory Committee on the UBE and directly addressed in the Committee's Final Report (Exhibit C at p. 51-53.)

New York law may be admired as the law of choice in many international contracts, and deservedly so. As a center of international commerce, New York attracts lawyers of extraordinary skill and competence. But it is difficult to believe that passing the prior New York bar exam, with its comparatively low passing standard, was ever a

mark of some superior achievement. In any event, we see no diminishment in the reputation of New York law or its lawyers as a consequence of adoption of the UBE.

Multistate Performance Test

We were surprised to hear criticism of the MPT in one of the public hearings. The comment made was that the test assessed "test speediness" and not analytical skills. We strongly disagree and question the basis for such a statement. The MPT is a timed test, and no doubt candidates may feel that they could do a better job at the task presented if given more time. But everyone is under the same time pressure, and the graders, in grading the papers, are well-aware that the task was required to be completed within 90 minutes or more specifically, that two tasks were required to be completed in three hours. Reviewing the answers given by candidates over the 18 years we have given the test as part of our bar exam convinces the Board that the test is a meaningful assessment of lawyering skills and not a test of speed.

CONCLUSION

We hope that the information provided in this memo is useful to the Task Force as it proceeds with its work. We look forward to meeting with you on January 13, 2020, and will be happy to offer additional thoughts and answer additional questions. Again, thank you for the opportunity to provide this information to you for your consideration.

27

Appendix B

State Board of Law Examiners Budget and Expenditure History

	2015	-16	2016	5-17	2017	7-18	201	.8-19	201	9-20	2020-21
Object Description	Budget	Expend	Budget Req								
										thru 2/5	
41100 PERSONAL SERVICE REG	0	1,702,361	0	2,010,390	0	1,954,696	0	1,848,744	0	1,716,676	0
41103 PERMANENT POSITION -NJ	1,586,300	0	1,529,611	0	2,033,455	0	1,992,524	0	2,159,440		2034644
41114 GENERAL SALARY INCR -NJ	35,733	0	41,489	0	15,827	0	33,071	0	56,013		52292
41126 OTHER	9,900	0	34,050	0	19,700	0	33,750	0	24,238		19775
42100 TEMPORARY SERVICE	0	19,860	0	0		0	0	0	0		0
41300 OVERTIME	16,000	14,462	16,000	17,230	16,000	16,036	16,000	13,420	16,000	8,540	16,000
Personal Service Total	1,647,933	1,736,683	1,621,150	2,027,620	2,084,982	1,970,732	2,075,345	1,862,164	2,255,691	1,725,216	2,122,711
53660 OFFICE SUPPLIES	30,000	13,640	15,000	20,729	14,200	7,574	13,500	7,139	13,500	5,438	12000
53661 EDP SUPPLIES	12,000	7,542	8,000	13,008	8,800	2,226	7,200	3,211	7,200	0	6200
53663 POSTAGE ONLY	40,000	215	10,000	0	10,000	254	10,000	5,000	10,000	0	5000
Supplies and Mats Total	82,000	21,397	33,000	33,737	33,000	10,054	30,700	15,350	30,700	5,438	23,200
54150 Travel Total	50,000	40,627	47,000	43,661	47,000	32,573	47,000	31,833	47,000	24,560	40,000
55100 RENTALS OF EQUIPMENT	125.000	92,511	100,000	106,642	100.000	99,403	100.000	72,089	100.000	63,756	100000
55200 REPAIRS OF EQUIPMENT	53,000	17,294	25,000	20,277	25,000	20,691	25,000		25,000	,	20000
55400 REAL ESTATE RENTALS	1,300,000	736,956		667,215	775,000	580,364	775,000	,	765,000	,	685000
55450 CONFERENCES/TRAINING	0	625	0	275	0	,	0		0	,	0
55601 SHIPPING	7,500	6,995	7,500	5,487	7,500	5,601	7,500	7,701	7,500	2,597	6000
55700 PRINTING - GENERAL	90,000	76,287	40,000	66,633	40,000		40,000	16,469	40,000		35000
55800 TELEPHONES	50,000	27,213	32,000	22,885	32,000	20,560	32,000	20,223	27,000	15,739	24000
55915 IT SERVICES	10,000	6,673	7,500	4,621	7,500	8,377	7,500	19,765	7,500	16,717	25000
55920 ACCTG & AUDIT SERVICES	100,000	108,258	115,000	116,408	115,000	115,327	115,000	112,854	115,000	127,383	125000
55961 OTHER GENERAL SERVICES	1,899,500	1,997,723	2,880,000	1,738,379	2,380,000	2,444,421	2,380,000	2,346,493	2,380,000	1,727,094	2500000
55962 PER DIEM COURT REPORTERS	10,000	0	5,000	0	5,000	0	5,000	0	5,000	0	5000
Contractual Services Total	3,645,000	3,070,535	3,987,000	2,748,822	3,487,000	3,314,252	3,487,000	3,242,515	3,472,000	2,386,144	3,525,000
57220 Equipment Total	0	28,622	0	0	0	10,410	0	31,212	0	8,496	0
Total NPS	3,777,000	,	4,067,000	2,826,220	3,567,000	3,367,289	3,564,700	,	3,549,700	2,424,638	3,588,200
Grand Total*	5,424,933	4,897,864	5,688,150	4,853,840	5,651,982	5,338,021	5,640,045	5,183,074	5.805.391	4,149,854	5,710,911

* This anlaysis excludes fringe benefit costs which are paid centrally. On average, the fringe cost for this program is approximately \$600,000 annually. The budget supports 15 FTE plus 5 Board members who are paid NS salaries.

2015-16

APPELLATE AUXILIARY OPERATIONS CANDIDATE EXAMINATION PROGRAM

2015-16 Budget Request:

Program Description

This Program provides funding for the operation of the State Board of Law Examiners.

State Board of Law Examiners: All applicants for admission to practice law in New York State are required by law to demonstrate their fitness by successful performance on the NYS Bar Examination and by demonstrating good moral character on a credential review. The State Board of Law Examiners develops and administers the NYS Bar Examination twice annually, and the Appellate Divisions, through their Committees on Character and Fitness, conduct the requisite character review of each candidate for admission. The Committees on Character and Fitness are funded through the Candidate Fitness program.

Summary of 2015-16 Funding Request:	2015-16 Budget Request:	\$5,424,933
Candidate Examination	Personal Service:	1,647,933
	Nonpersonal Service:	3,777,000
	Maintenance Undistributed:	0

The Candidate Examination Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund budget request is \$5.4 million or an increase of \$133,943 (2.5%) over the current year adjusted appropriation.

The personal service request of \$1.6 million represents an increase of \$133,943 (8.8%) over the current year adjusted appropriation. This includes funding for all filled nonjudicial positions. Funding is also included for collectively negotiated salary increases as well as the payment of increments and longevity bomuses as required by law, for all eligible employees.

The personal service budget also includes \$16,000 for overtime to support current levels of operations.

The nonpersonal service funding supports expenses associated with the administration of the Bar Examination including: other professional services for fees paid to the national association for the multi-state portion of the exam, consultant fees, security costs and proctor and grader payments. The nonpersonal service funding also includes real estate rentals for testing locations and accounting and auditing services for credit card payments,

The nonpersonal service request of \$3.8 million reflects no change from current year funding.

The Candidate Examination program collects revenue of approximately \$6.9 million annually in Bar Examination fees which is deposited into the General Fund.

Appellate Auxiliary Operations Budget Summary - Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund

Candidate Examination Program

Candidate Examination	Personal Service	Nonpersonal Service	Total
Board of Law Examiners	\$1,647,933	\$3,777,000	\$5,424,933
Total:	\$1,647,933	\$3,777,000	\$5,424,933

2015-16 Request

State of New York - Judiciary Budget Summary for Fiscal Year 2015-2016

BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS MISCELLANEOUS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

	Current Appropriation as Adjusted	UCS Recommended	Changes to Current Appropriation
Personal Service			
PS Regular	1,497,990	1,631,933	133,943
PS Overtime	16,000	16,000	0
Total Personal Service	1,513,990	1,647,933	133,943
Nonpersonal Service			
Supplies and Materials	42,000	42,000	0
Travel	50,000	50,000	0
Equipment Rental and Repairs	178,000	178,000	0
Real Estate Rentals	1,300,000	1,300,000	0
Postage and Printing	137,500	137,500	0
Telecommunications	50,000	50,000	0
Information Technology Services	10,000	10,000	0
Accounting and Auditing Services	100,000	100,000	0
Other Professional Services	1,899,500	1,899,500	0
In-Part Services	10,000	10,000	0
Total Nonpersonal Service	3,777,000	3,777,000	0
Grand Total	5,290,999	5,424,933	133,943

2016-17

APPELLATE AUXILIARY OPERATIONS Candidate Examination Program

2016-17 Budget Request:	\$5,688,150
Personal Service:	1,621,150
Nonpersonal Service:	4,067,000
Maintenance Undistributed:	0

Program Description

This Program provides funding for the operation of the State Board of Law Examiners.

State Board of Law Examiners: Applicants for admission to practice law in New York State are required by law to demonstrate their fitness by successful performance on the NYS Bar Examination and by demonstrating good moral character on a credential review. Applicants who are admitted to practice in a reciprocal jurisdiction, have graduated from an ABA approved law school and have practiced for five of the preceding seven years may be admitted on motion without examination.

The State Board of Law Examiners develops and administers the bar examination twice annually. Beginning in July 2016, as adopted by the Court of Appeals, the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE) will be administered in New York. The UBE is a high quality, uniform battery of tests that are administered simultaneously in the UBE jurisdictions. Applicants will also be required to complete an online course and pass an online examination on New York law, as a requirement for admission.

The Appellate Divisions, through their Committees on Character and Fitness, conduct the requisite character review of each candidate for admission. The Committees on Character and Fitness are funded through the Candidate Fitness program.

Summary of 2016-17 Funding Request

The Candidate Examination Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund budget request is \$5.7 million or an increase of \$263,217 (4.9%) over the current year adjusted appropriation.

The personal service request of \$1.6 million represents a slight decrease of \$26,783 (-1.6%) from the current year adjusted appropriation. This includes funding for all filled nonjudicial positions. Funding is also included for collectively negotiated salary increases as well as the payment of increments and longevity bonuses, as required by law, for all eligible employees. Additionally, funding is included for a one-time lump sum payment of \$750 for eligible employees in active status on March 31, 2017. The net increase in these funding requirements is offset by savings associated with turnover.

The personal service budget also includes \$16,000 for overtime to support current levels of operations.

The nonpersonal service funding supports expenses associated with the administration of the Bar Examination including: other professional services for fees paid to the national association for the exam, consultant fees, security costs and proctor and grader payments; real estate rentals for testing locations and accounting and auditing services for processing credit card payments.

The nonpersonal service request of \$4.1 million reflects an increase of \$290,000 (7.7%) over the current year adjusted appropriation. The increase is attributable to other professional services for the purchase of UBE examinations from the National Conference of Bar Examiners and for additional grading services. The increase is partially offset by an expenditure-based reduction in real estate rentals for test locations as well as cost-saving initiatives for postage and printing, equipment rental and repairs, telecommunications and supplies and materials.

The Candidate Examination program collects revenue of approximately \$6.9 million annually in Bar Examination fees which is deposited into the General Fund.

Appellate Auxiliary Operations Budget Summary - Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund

Candidate Examination Program

Candidate Examination	Personal Service	Nonpersonal Service	Total
Board of Law Examiners	\$1,621,150	\$4,067,000	\$5,688,150
Total:	\$1,621,150	\$ 4,067, 000	\$5,688,150

2016-17 Request

State of New York - Judiciary Budget Summary for Fiscal Year 2016-2017

BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS MISCELLANEOUS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

.

	Current Appropriation as Adjusted	UCS Recommended	Changes to Curtent Appropriation
Personal Service			
PS Regular	1,631,933	1,605,150	(26,783)
PS Overtime	16,000	16,000	0
Total Personal Service	1,647,933	1,621,150	(26,783)
Nonpersonal Service			
Supplies and Materials	42,000	23,000	(19,000)
Travel	50,000	47,000	(3,000)
Equipment Rental and Repairs	178,000	125,000	(53,000)
Real Estate Rentals	1,300,000	775,000	(525,000)
Postage and Printing	137,500	57,500	(80,000)
Telecommunications	50,000	32,000	(18,000)
Information Technology Services	10,000	7,500	(2,500)
Accounting and Auditing Services	100,000	115,000	15,000
Other Professional Services	1,899,500	2,880,000	980,500
In-Part Services	10,000	5,000	(5,000)
Total Nonpersonal Service	3,777,000	4,067,000	290,000
Grand Total	5,424,933	5,688,150	263,217

2017-18

APPELLATE AUXILIARY OPERATIONS Candidate Examination Program

2017-18 Budget Request:	\$5,651,982
Personal Service:	2,084,982
Nonpersonal Service:	3,567,000
Maintenance Undistributed:	0

Program Description

This Program provides funding for the operation of the State Board of Law Examiners.

State Board of Law Examiners: Applicants for admission to practice law in New York State are required by law to demonstrate their fitness by successful performance on the NYS Bar Examination and by demonstrating good moral character on a credential review. Applicants who are admitted to practice in a reciprocal jurisdiction, have graduated from an ABA approved law school and have practiced for five of the preceding seven years may be admitted on motion without examination.

The State Board of Law Examiners develops and administers the bar examination twice annually. Beginning in July 2016, as adopted by the Court of Appeals, the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE) was first administered in New York in place of the Multi-State Bar Exam (MBE). The UBE is a high quality, uniform battery of tests that are administered simultaneously in the UBE jurisdictions. Applicants are also required to complete an online course and pass an online examination on New York law, as a requirement for admission.

The Appellate Divisions, through their Committees on Character and Fitness, conduct the requisite character review of each candidate for admission. The Committees on Character and Fitness are funded through the Candidate Fitness program.

Summary of 2017-18 Funding Request

The Candidate Examination Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund budget request is \$5.7 million or a slight decrease of \$36,168 (-0.6%) from the current year adjusted appropriation.

The personal service request of \$2.1 million represents an increase of \$0.5 million (28.6%) over the current year adjusted appropriation. This includes funding for all filled nonjudicial positions. Funding is also included for the payment of increments and longevity bonuses, as required by law, for all eligible employees. The personal service request also reflects an increase of \$0.5 million for payments to examination proctors with a corresponding offset to the other professional services category.

The personal service budget also includes \$16,000 for overtime to support current levels of operations.

The nonpersonal service funding supports expenses associated with the administration of the Bar Examination including: other professional services for fees paid to the national association for the UBE exam, consultant fees and security costs; real estate rentals for testing locations and accounting and auditing services for processing credit card payments. The nonpersonal service request of \$3.6 million reflects a decrease of \$0.5 million (-12.3%) in the other general services category for payments to proctors. This funding requirement is now reflected in the personal service request. The remaining nonpersonal service request is flat.

The Candidate Examination program collects revenue of approximately \$6.9 million annually in Bar Examination fees which is deposited into the General Fund.

Appellate Auxiliary Operations Budget Summary - Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund

Candidate Examination Program

	Personal	Nonpersonal	
Candidate Examination	Service	Service	Total
Board of Law Examiners	\$2,084,982	\$3,567,000	\$5,651,982
Total:	<u>\$2.084.982</u>	<u>\$3.567.000</u>	\$5.651.982

State of New York - Judiciary Budget Summary for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS MISCELLANEOUS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

	Current Appropriation as Adjusted	UCS Recommended	Changes to Current Appropriation
Personal Service			
PS Regular	1,605,150	2,068,982	463,832
PS Overtime	16,000	16,000	D
Total Personal Service	1,621,150	2,084,982	463,832
Nonpersonal Service			
Supplies and Materials	23,000	23,000	0
Travel	47,000	47,000	0
Equipment Rental and Repairs	125,000	125,000	0
Real Estate Rentals	775,000	775,000	0
Postage and Printing	57,500	57,500	0
Telecommunications	32,000	32,000	0
Information Technology Services	7,500	7,500	0
Accounting and Auditing Services	115,000	115,000	0
Other Professional Services	2,880,000	2,380,000	(500,000)
In-Part Services	5,000	5,000	0
Total Nonpersonal Service	4,067,000	3,567,000	(500,000)
Grand Total	5,688,150	5,651,982	(36,168)

2018-19

APPELLATE AUXILIARY OPERATIONS Candidate Examination Program

2018-19 Budget Request:	\$5,640,045
Personal Service:	2,075,345
Nonpersonal Service:	3,564,700
Maintenance Undistributed:	0

Program Description

This Program provides funding for the operation of the State Board of Law Examiners.

State Board of Law Examiners: Applicants for admission to practice law in New York State are required by law to demonstrate their fitness by successful performance on the NYS Bar Examination and by demonstrating good moral character on a credential review. Applicants who are admitted to practice in a reciprocal jurisdiction, have graduated from an ABA approved law school and have practiced for five of the preceding seven years may be admitted on motion without examination.

The State Board of Law Examiners develops and administers the Bar Examination twice annually. Beginning in July 2016, as adopted by the Court of Appeals, the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE) was first administered in New York in place of the Multi-State Bar Exam (MBE). The UBE is a high quality, uniform battery of tests that are administered simultaneously in the UBE jurisdictions. Applicants are also required to complete an online course and pass an online examination on New York law, as a requirement for admission.

The Appellate Divisions, through their Committees on Character and Fitness, conduct the requisite character review of each candidate for admission. The Committees on Character and Fitness are funded through the Candidate Fitness Program.

Summary of 2018-19 Funding Request

The Candidate Examination Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund budget request is \$5.6 million or a slight decrease of \$14,237 (-0.3%) from the current year adjusted appropriation.

The personal service request of \$2.1 million represents a decrease of \$9,637 (-0.5%) from the current year adjusted appropriation. This includes funding for all filled nonjudicial positions. Funding is also included for collectively negotiated salary increases as well as the payment of increments and longevity bonuses as required by law, for all eligible nonjudicial employees. The net increase in these funding requirements is offset by savings associated with turnover.

The personal service budget also includes \$16,000 for overtime to support current levels of operations.

The nonpersonal service funding supports expenses associated with the administration of the Bar Examination including: other professional services for fees paid to the national association for the UBE exam, consultant fees and security costs; real estate rentals for testing locations and accounting and auditing services for processing credit card payments. The nonpersonal service request of \$3.6 million reflects a slight decrease of \$4,600 (-0.1%) over the current year adjusted appropriation attributable to expenditure-based decreases in office supplies and EDP supplies.

The Candidate Examination Program collects revenue of approximately \$6.8 million annually in Bar Examination fees which is deposited into the General Fund.

Appellate Auxiliary Operations Budget Summary - Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund

Candidate Examination Program

	Personal	Nonpersonal	
Candidate Examination	Service	Service	Total
Board of Law Examiners	\$2,075,345	\$3,564,700	\$5,640,045
Total:	<u>\$2.075.345</u>	<u>\$3.564.700</u>	\$5.640.045

State of New York - Judiciary Budget Summary for Fiscal Year 2018-2019

BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS MISCELLANEOUS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

	Current Appropriation as Adjusted	UCS Recommended	Changes to Current Appropriation
Personal Service			
PS Regular	2,068,982	2,059,345	(9,637)
PS Overtime	16,000	16,000	0
Total Personal Service	2,084,982	2,075,345	(9,637)
Nonpersonal Service			
Supplies and Materials	25,300	20,700	(4,600)
Travel	47,000	47,000	0
Equipment Rental and Repairs	125,000	125,000	0
Real Estate Rentals	775,000	775,000	D
Postage and Printing	57,500	57,500	0
Telecommunications	32,000	32,000	0
Information Technology Services	7,500	7,500	Q
Accounting and Auditing Services	115,000	115,000	0
Other Professional Services	2,380,000	2,380,000	0
In-Part Services	5,000	5,000	0
Total Nonpersonal Service	3,569,300	3,564,700	(4,600)
Grand Total	5,654,282	5,640,045	(14,237)

2019-20

APPELLATE AUXILIARY OPERATIONS Candidate Examination Program

2019-20 Budget Request:	\$5,805,391
Personal Service:	2,255,691
Nonpersonal Service:	3,549,700
Maintenance Undistributed:	0

Program Description

This Program provides funding for the operation of the State Board of Law Examiners.

State Board of Law Examiners: Applicants for admission to practice law in New York State are required by law to demonstrate their fitness by successful performance on the NYS Bar Examination and by demonstrating good moral character on a credential review. Applicants who are admitted to practice in a reciprocal jurisdiction, have graduated from an ABA approved law school and have practiced for five of the preceding seven years, may be admitted on motion without examination.

The State Board of Law Examiners develops and administers the Bar Examination twice annually. Beginning in July 2016, as adopted by the Court of Appeals, the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE) was first administered in New York in place of the Multi-State Bar Exam (MBE). The UBE is a high quality, uniform battery of tests that are administered simultaneously in the UBE jurisdictions. Applicants are also required to complete an online course and pass an online examination on New York law, as a requirement for admission.

The Appellate Divisions, through their Committees on Character and Fitness, conduct the requisite character review of each candidate for admission. The Committees on Character and Fitness are funded through the Candidate Fitness Program.

Summary of 2019-20 Funding Request

The Candidate Examination Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund budget request is \$5.8 million or a slight increase of \$0.2 million (2.9%) over the current year adjusted appropriation.

The personal service request of \$2.3 million represents an increase of \$0.2 million (8.7%) over the current year adjusted appropriation. This includes funding for all filled nonjudicial positions. Funding is also included for collectively negotiated salary increases, as well as the payment of increments and longevity bonuses, as required by law, for all eligible nonjudicial employees.

The personal service budget also includes \$16,000 for overtime to support current levels of operations.

The nonpersonal service funding supports expenses associated with the administration of the Bar Examination including: other professional services for fees paid to the national association for the UBE exam, consultant fees and security costs, real estate rentals for testing locations and accounting and auditing services for processing credit card payments. The nonpersonal service request of \$3.5 million reflects a slight decrease of \$15,000 (-0.4%) from the current year adjusted appropriation attributable to expenditure-based decreases in real estate rentals and telephones.

The Candidate Examination Program collects revenue of approximately \$6.9 million annually in Bar Examination fees, which is deposited into the General Fund.

Appellate Auxiliary Operations Budget Summary - Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund

Candidate Examination Program

	Personal	Nonpersonal	
Candidate Examination	Service	Service	Total
Board of Law Examiners	\$2,255,691	\$3,549,700	\$5,805,391
Total:	\$2.255.691	<u>\$3.549.700</u>	\$5,805,391

State of New York - Judiciary Budget Summary for Fiscal Year 2019-2020

BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS MISCELLANEOUS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

	Current Appropriation as Adjusted	UCS Recommended	Changes to Current Appropriation
Personal Service			
PS Regular	2,059,345	2,239,691	180,346
PS Overtime	16,000	16,000	0
Total Personal Service	2,075,345	2,255,691	180,346
Nonpersonal Service			
Supplies and Materials	20,700	20,700	0
Travel	47,000	47,000	0
Equipment Rental and Repairs	125,000	125,000	0
Real Estate Rentals	775,000	765,000	(10,000)
Postage and Printing	57,500	57,500	0
Telecommunications	32,000	27,000	(5,000)
Information Technology Services	7,500	7,500	0
Accounting and Auditing Services	115,000	115,000	0
Other Professional Services	2,380,000	2,380,000	0
In-Part Services	5,000	5,000	0
Total Nonpersonal Service	3,564,700	3,549,700	(15,000)
Grand Total	5,649,045	5,805,391	1 65,3 46

2020-21

APPELLATE AUXILIARY OPERATIONS	2020-21 Budget Request:	\$5,710,911
Candidate Examination Program	Personal Service:	2,122,711
	Nonpersonal Service:	3,588,200
	Maintenance Undistributed:	0

Program Description

This Program provides funding for the operation of the State Board of Law Examiners.

State Board of Law Examiners: Applicants for admission to practice law in New York State are required by law to demonstrate their fitness by successful performance on the NYS Bar Examination and by demonstrating good moral character on a credential review. Applicants who are admitted to practice in a reciprocal jurisdiction, have graduated from an ABA approved law school, and have practiced for five of the preceding seven years, may be admitted on motion without examination.

The State Board of Law Examiners develops and administers the Bar Examination twice annually. Beginning in July 2016, as adopted by the Court of Appeals, the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE) was first administered in New York in place of the Multi-State Bar Exam (MBE). The UBE is a high quality, uniform battery of tests that are administered simultaneously in the UBE jurisdictions. Applicants are also required to complete an online course and pass an online examination on New York law, as a requirement for admission.

The Appellate Divisions, through their Committees on Character and Fitness, conduct the requisite character review of each candidate for admission. The Committees on Character and Fitness are funded through the Candidate Fitness Program.

Summary of 2020-21 Funding Request

The Candidate Examination Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund budget request is \$5.7 million or a decrease of \$94,480 (-1.6%) from the current year adjusted appropriation.

The personal service request of \$2.1 million represents a decrease of \$0.1 million (-5.9%) from the current year adjusted appropriation. This includes funding for all filled nonjudicial positions. Funding is also included for collectively negotiated salary increases as well as the payment of increments and longevity bonuses, as required by law, for all eligible nonjudicial employees. The net increase in these funding requirements is offset by savings associated with turnover.

The personal service budget also includes \$16,000 for overtime to support current levels of operations.

The nonpersonal service funding supports expenses associated with the administration of the Bar Examination including: other professional services for fees paid to the national association for the UBE exam, consultant fees and security costs, real estate rentals for testing locations, and accounting and auditing services for processing credit card payments. The nonpersonal service request of \$3.5 million reflects an increase of \$38,500 (1.1%) over the current year adjusted appropriation attributable to inflationary cost increases in the rental of test sites and an increase in the UBE materials purchased from the National Conference of Board Examiners.

The Candidate Examination Program collects revenue of approximately \$6 million annually in Bar Examination fees, UBE score transfer fees, and admission on motion registration fees, which are deposited into the General Fund.

Appellate Auxiliary Operations Budget Summary - Miscellaneous Special Revenue Fund

Candidate Examination Program

	Personal	Nonpersonal	
Candidate Examination	Service	Service	Total
Board of Law Examiners	\$2,122,711	\$3,588,200	\$5,710,911
Total:	<u>\$2.122.711</u>	\$3.588.200	<u>\$5.710.911</u>

State of New York - Judiciary Budget Summary for Fiscal Year 2020-2021

BOARD OF LAW EXAMINERS MISCELLANEOUS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

	Current Appropriation as Adjusted	UCS Recommended	Changes to Current Appropriation
Personal Service			
PS Regular	2,239,691	2,106,711	(132,980)
PS Overtime	16,000	16,000	0
Total Personal Service	2,255,691	2,122,711	(132,980)
Nonpersonal Service			
Supplies and Materials	20,700	18,200	(2,500)
Travel	47,000	40,000	(7,000)
Equipment Rental and Repairs	125,000	120,000	(5,000)
Real Estate Rentals	765,000	685,000	(80,000)
Postage and Printing	57,500	46,000	(11,500)
Telecommunications	27,000	24,000	(3,000)
Information Technology Services	7,500	25,000	17,500
Accounting and Auditing Services	115,000	125,000	10,000
Other Professional Services	2,380,000	2,500,000	120,000
In-Part Services	5,000	5,000	0
Total Nonpersonal Service	3,549,700	3,588,200	38,500
Grand Total	5,805,391	5,710,911	(94,480)

Appendix C

NEW YORK

Anthony W. Crowell Dean and President Professor of Law

185 West Broadway, New York, NY 10013-2921 T 212.431.2840 F.2.12,219.3752 E anthony.crowell@nyls.edu www.nyls.edu

October 23, 2019

The Honorable Alan Sheinkman and Eileen D. Millet Co-Chairs, Task Force on the New York Bar Examination/Uniform Bar Examination New York State Bar Association One Elk Street Albany, NY 12207

Dear Justice Sheinkman and Ms. Millet,

New York Law School ("NYLS") writes in response to the New York State Bar Association's Task Force on the New York State Bar Examination/Uniform Bar Exam request for comments. The Task Force was established by NYSBA to "investigate and report on the experience and impact of New York's adoption in May 2015 of the Uniform Bar Examination ('UBE'). Among the matters the Task Force will consider are: the impact that the UBE has had upon applicants, upon the qualifications and relevant knowledge of newly admitted New York attorneys, upon potential employers, and upon diversity in the profession. Based upon its investigation, the task force will make recommendations as to the future content and form of the New York Bar examination."

The Task Force has requested input from the State's law schools on specific topics related to the above mission statement. It also has specifically referenced the National Conference of Bar Examiners ("NCBE") Task Force Phase I Report, released August 16, 2019, critiquing the UBE and suggesting the following:

- The UBE should emphasize more lawyering skills and less subject matter knowledge.
- The UBE should utilize more writing and less multiple choice, and use additional methods like simulation.
- Jutisdictions should consider breaking the exam into different parts over more than just a few days.

NYLS is one of the State's oldest and largest law schools and prides itself on being New York's law rebool. It is deeply committed to diversity and inclusion in its program of legal education and in the profession, and to preparing students to engage in a life of service and excellence in the law. In 2015, NYLS provided commentary on New York State's proposal to move to the UBE. At that time, NYLS expressed to the State Judiciary's Advisory Committee on the Uniform Bar Examination the concerns raised and shared by many in legal education and the profession about the impact of the move to the UBE on law graduates of color. We also expressed concern about the impact that the change could have on the teaching and understanding of New York law for those who seek to practice law in New York State. NYLS submits brief responses keyed mainly to the three areas bulleted above, as well as the two additional areas of concern identified in 2015 when NYLS submitted comments to the State Judiciary about the proposed adoption of the UBE.

Impact of UBE on Law Graduates of Color

In 2019, NCBE published a research report entitled "Impact of Adoption of the Uniform Bar Examination in New York." That report addressed issues previously raised by NYLS. It concluded that in regard to the relatively small number of administrations since the adoption of the UBE in New York, the impacts of the move on graduates of color was "small and positive."

Recommendation No. 1: The Task Force should encourage New York State and the NCBE to continue to study the impact of the UBE, and any potential changes to be made in the future, on law graduates of color over a longer period. Considering the short period since UBE implementation, the goals of diversity and inclusion in legal education and the profession will not be well served without a methodical longitudinal study of how the design and administration of the UBE truly impacts law graduates of color. The study should be conducted by an independent organization and not the NCBE.

State-Specific Law

The move away from state-specific law resulting from the adoption of the UBE, in NYLS's view, has undermined the importance that New York law plays in both the global and local economies and in resolving cases and conflicts. Accordingly, like many law schools in New York State, NYLS has historically prided itself on offering a rich curriculum that is not only national and international in scope, but also celebrates and emphasizes the value of knowing New York law, and its practical application to cases and controversies in New York's courts. The vast majority of NYLS graduates who enter the profession historically have relied on their knowledge of New York law to serve New York's communities, including those with vulnerable populations in need of representation and access to justice.

In 2015, NYLS posited that a change in emphasis away from New York law by the New York bar examination, in favor of the UBE, could result in the unintended consequence of those students most likely to serve New York's communities being less knowledgeable about New York law. This is because faculty who teach bar-tested subjects have needed to move away from a traditional focus on New York State law (e.g., wills and trusts) to a more balanced approach incorporating law that will be tested on the UBE, which may not be the law found in any particular state. This pedagogical shift has required students to focus on law that they may never need to know except for the purposes of the UBE. This may be a problem that is more acute in some subjects than others, but there is little doubt that the most glaring example of the problem, as reported by many schools across the state, is the change in enrollment in courses focused on New York Practice.

Once among the most heavily subscribed courses at NYLS, New York Practice has seen dramatically declining enrollment in favor of courses that now have more direct application to the UBE rather than the pre-UBE exam's New York-specific essays and multiple choice questions. Indeed, although the New York Law Exam ("NYLE") is designed to test state-specific subjects, the weight and value of an open book test after completion of an online course as a measure of any true knowledge or competency can, at best, be described as limited. In addition, it is problematic that the results of the NYLE are not made available to law schools in the state, leaving us without any way to gauge the success of our students.

Recommendation No. 2: The Task Force should identify ways to make testing of New York State law a more relevant and meaningful component of admission to the New York State Bar. The Task Force should work with the state to examine the format, relevancy, transparency, and necessity of the New York Law Examination. The Task Force should explore options to require that UBE takers answer written questions applying the law of the state in which they take the exam.

The UBE should assess lawyering skills by requiring more meaningful writing and analysis through simulations, specifically an expanded MPT.

In the years leading up to, and after, the adoption of the UBE, the ABA and law schools generally have changed their programs of legal education, placing greater emphasis on the development of legal skills alongside critical doctrinal learning. This shift in emphasis is designed, among other things, to drive professionalism and practice readiness in new lawyers. Accordingly, NYLS believes the UBE should be redesigned to embrace this change in American legal education. To that end, NYLS recommends that the Task Force should examine the feasibility of eliminating the MEE. Instead, NYLS believes there would be great benefit in requiring graduates applying to the bar to demonstrate, as part of their exam, the skills used every day by lawyers. The current essay answer format of the MEE does not relate to the ways in which lawyers are asked to generate work product. Therefore, we specifically suggest combining the MEE and the MPT, thus making all written work for the bar exam conform to MPT style questions that not only test the analytical and writing skills of bar takers, but also require them to apply their substantive knowledge of the law, including New York State specific law, in the process. The alternate approach we recommend would be a better, more useful, and more accurate way to assess how well a test taker will perform as a lawyer. In addition, the effectiveness of any reform would be enhanced if the NCBE would publish the list of subjects that will be tested.

Recommendation No. 3: The Task Force should review the feasibility of combining the MEE and the MPT, making all written work for the UBE an expanded MPT that not only tests the analytical and writing skills of bar takers, but also requires them to apply their substantive knowledge of the law, including relevant state law, in the process. The Task Force should explore whether the NCBE could publish, before the bar exam, the subject matter that will be tested as a means to focus bar takers.

The scope of the MBE should be reduced.

The Multistate Bar Examination ("MBE") generally provides an efficient means to test bar takers' knowledge of a wide range of subjects, and to evaluate how well they think like a lawyer, including how well they read, analyze, make critical distinctions, and choose from among competing options. It is fair to say that the breadth and complexity of the MBE is, in some ways, counterproductive if the bar exam aims at evaluating the minimum competency needed to be a lawyer. To that end, NYLS recommends that that the Task Force review the feasibility of refining the scope and complexity, without compromising the rigor, of the MBE.

Recommendation No. 4: The Task Force should review the feasibility of refining the scope and complexity, but keeping the rigor, of the MBE.

The administration of the various tests required for bar admission should be more rationally sequenced.

NYLS believes that reordering the sequence of the various tests required for bar admission may present a more rational and beneficial approach to testing and credentialing. NYLS proposes that the Task Force review whether bar testing could take place in a three-stage sequence. First, the MPRE could be taken by all students in the summer of their first year. This would suggest that law schools begin to prioritize Professional Responsibility as a first-year required course, underscoring the profound importance of legal ethics and integrity as a baseline for all activities in law school and the profession. Second, the MBE could be taken after the second year of study, once students have completed all core doctrinal courses, appropriately testing how well they have mastered the subject matter. And third, a reformated and expanded MPT could be administered during or after the third year of study, bringing together all skills and substantive doctrinal knowledge, including New York. State-specific law, in a more heavily-weighted summative assessment.

Recommendation No. 5: The Task Force should explore whether the bar exam can be disaggregated and re-sequenced in three stages as follows: MPRE after the 1L year, MBE after the 2L year, and a newly expanded MPT during or after the 3L year.

Thank you for your consideration of these recommendations. NYLS stands ready to further discuss with you the options for reform outlined above.

Sincerely, iny W. Crowell

Appendix D

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR APPLICANTS TO THE BAR

Name: Click or tap here to enter text. Date: Click or tap to enter a date.

CCF Office: Second Department Law School: Click here to choose from drop down list

The New York State Bar Association created a task force to study the Uniform Bar Exam and its impact on applicants to the bar, newly admitted attorneys, potential employers, current members of the bar, and diversity in the profession. The Appellate Division has been asked to assist that task force by gathering some data from bar applicants. Please take a few moments to complete the questionnaire, save it and submit it via return e-mail. The information contained in the questionnaire is confidential and will be compiled anonymously. Thank you.

- 1. Date most recent Bar Exam was taken: Click or tap to enter a date.
- Did your law school offer any courses focused exclusively on New York law, such as New York Practice? (Yes (□)) (No (□)) (Not Sure (□))
 - a. If yes, did you take any such course? (Yes ()) (No ()) (Not Sure)
 - b. What was the reason for decision to take (or not take) such classes? Click or tap here to enter text.
- 3. How did you prepare for the New York Law Examination, i.e. the New York component of the Bar exam? Click here to choose from drop down list
- 4. Did you find that the New York Course was a helpful educational experience?

Somewhat

Yes	(No ())	Somewhat (Not Sure

5. Did you find the New York Law Examination to be a challenging test?

	and the second se		a construction of the second sec
Yes		No	

Not Sure (

- 6. Do you have law employment in New York?
- 7. Do you intend to practice in New York?

 Yes (□)
 (No (□))
 Maybe (□))

- If no, why have you applied for admission in New York? Click or tap here to enter text.
- Have you applied, or do you intend to apply within the next 3 years, for admission in any other American jurisdiction? (Yes ()) (No ()) (Maybe ()) (Not Sure ())

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	No	No	No	Other	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	No	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Helpful for career	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	No	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	No Response	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	o Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Other	No	No	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Helpful for career	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Study Group	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Dindrated Contains in Francisco	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes		Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No		Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No		Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	A Andreas Andre	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	a la provincia de la construcción d	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	Yes	and the second se	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response		Bar Prep Course	No Response	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	A State of the sta	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	NOR GNODAY COMMON	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	and the second	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response		Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	(1.3.50) (1.3.50 Providence)	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes		Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No		Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No		Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	The second s	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Care Internation and a strand and a strand and the	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	No Response	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Study Group	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No	Helpful for career	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	o Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Study Group	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No Response	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	No Response	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Other	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Combination of Methods	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	Other	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	No Response	No	No Response	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Other	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Other	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No Response	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	No	Not Sure	No	Yes	Other	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not required for Exam	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Not Sure	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Other	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	No	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No Response	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Other	Individual Study	No	No	No	Maybe	Other	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Not Sure	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of		Somewhat	No	Yes	Maybe	Other	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No Response	No Response	Other	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Law School Resources	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No Response	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No Response	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Other	No Response	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Not relevant to future area of p	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Study Group	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	No	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No Response	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	No	No	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Not Sure	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Study Group	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Not relevant to future area of p	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Study Group	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No Response	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Combination of Methods	No Response	Yes	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Second Dept.
1										

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Study Group	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Second Dept.
No Response	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	No	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Study Group	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Not Sure	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Other	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
No	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	No Response	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Other	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
No	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	No	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Law School Resources	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No Response	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Study Group	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	No Response	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	No Response	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	No Response	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Other	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Combination of Methods	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Other	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	No	No	No	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Other	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Study Group	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	o Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No Response	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Study Group	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Fourth Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	No	Other	Maybe	Fourth Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Helpful for career	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Not Sure	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	No Response	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	Maybe	Helpful for career	Maybe	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Study Group	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	Stands of Street	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Other	Not Sure	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	No	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Other	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Law School Resources	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	No	Recognized accreditat	ic Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Study Group	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No	Not relevant to future area of	and an other statement of the statement	No	Yes	No	Maybe	Other	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No Response		No Response	No Response	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
100.000			The second se							

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	May need in future	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Maybe	May need in future	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Not Sure	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	No Response	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Other	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Other	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	No	Maybe	May need in future	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	No Response	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	No	Required by Employer	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	Required by Employer	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Study Group	Yes	No	Maybe	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Law School Resources	No	No	Yes	Yes	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	No	No	Other	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Not Sure	Not Sure	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Study Group	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	No Response	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Study Group	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
/es	No	Not required for Exam	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Law School Resources	No	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	No	Yes	Required by Employer	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	Other	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not relevant to future area of p	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Other	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	No Response	No	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	No	Required by Employer	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	No Response	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of p	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Recognized accreditati	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	Required by Employer	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Helpful for career	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Other	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	No	No	No	Maybe	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Required by Employer	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Law School Resources	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Study Group	No	Yes	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	No	No	No	Required by Employer	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	Recognized accreditati	c Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Study Group	No	No	No	No	Required by Employer	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Not Sure	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No Response	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	No	Helpful for career	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	Not Sure	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Required by Employer	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	No	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Law School Resources	Not Sure	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	No Response	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Not Sure	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	No	Required by Employer	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
res	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	No	No	Other	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No Response	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Not Sure	No	Maybe	May need in future	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No Response	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	Other	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Maybe	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	No Response	No Response	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	No	No	No	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	May need in future	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	No Response	Somewhat	No	No Response	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	No	Other	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	No	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	Not Sure	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
res	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	Recognized accreditatio	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Recognized accreditatio	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	No Response	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Not Sure	No Response	Law School Resources	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No	Required by Employer	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No Response	Not Sure	No Response	Law School Resources	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	No	Recognized accreditatio	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	No Response	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	No	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	No	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response		Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response		Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	Required by Employer	Not Sure	Third Dept.
lo	No Response		Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	The second se	No Response	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	No	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	and the second	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Helpful for career	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	and and a second se	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No Response	No Response		Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No		Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response		Study Group	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
les	No		Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response		Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	No	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response		Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	Yes	and the second	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response		Combination of Methods	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of p	and the second se	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Contraction of the second s	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No Not Sure	No Kesponse	Interested in other courses	Law School Resources	Not Sure	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Schedule did not permit	Study Group	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Maybe	Maybe	Required by Employer	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Law School Resources	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	No	Other	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Study Group	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Other	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No Response	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe			Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of		No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Required by Employer	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	o Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Other	Study Group	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	o Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Required by Employer	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Study Group	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	No	No	May need in future	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Other	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	No Response	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Study Group	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Third Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	Yes	Helpful for career	Yes	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	May need in future	Yes	Third Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Study Group	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	No Response	Not Sure	Not Sure	No	Maybe	No Response	No	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	Yes	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	No	Required by Employer	Maybe	Third Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Vo	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Vo	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Vo	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Vo	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Vo	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
lo	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Vo	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Vo	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Vo	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Study Group	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	No Response	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	No	No	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No Response	No Response	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No Response	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Other	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	No	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No	No Response	Maybe	First Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	No Response	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	No Response	No Response	No Response	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	Yes	Not applicable	No Response	First Dept.
Yes	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	No Response	Yes	Not applicable	No Response	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Not Sure	No Response	Law School Resources	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Other	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
lo	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
'es	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
lo	No Response	Not applicable	Other	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
lot Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
lot Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
lot Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
lo	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
lo	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
lot Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
/es	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Vo	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
/es	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
/es	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Law School Resources	No Response	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
/es	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Not Sure	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Other	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	Not Sure	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Other	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No Response	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
res	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	No Response	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	No Response	Other	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
les	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
/es	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	No	May need in future	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Other	No	No	Yes	No Response	Other	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Other	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	No	Recognized accreditation	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	No Response	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	No	Helpful for career	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Recognized accreditation	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Other	No Response	No Response	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	No Response	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	No	No	Helpful for career	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Other	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	Helpful for career	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Other	No	No	No	Maybe	Helpful for career	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Other	No	Somewhat	No	No	Other	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	No	Other	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	No	Other	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	No	No	No	Required by Employer	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	No	Maybe	Maybe	Required by Employer	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Somewhat	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	o Study Group	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	No	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Maybe	No Response	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Yes	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	Contraction of the State of the	Somewhat	Somewhat	Maybe	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	No	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	No Response	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Other	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of		Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Other	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	No Response	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Law School Resources	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of		No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not relevant to future area of	Contraction of the second s	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
/es	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	Not relevant to future area of	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No Response	Other	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
/es	No	Schedule did not permit	Other	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
/es	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
/es	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Combination of Methods	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Combination of Methods	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Combination of Methods	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Other	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Study Group	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Other	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
/es	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
/es	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Bar Prep Course	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No Response	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Not Sure	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes .	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Not Sure	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of p	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
les	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	o Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	o Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
No	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not relevant to future area of	p Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.

Question 2	Question 2a	Question 2b	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 7a	Question 8	Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Other	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not offered/promoted	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	First Dept.
Not Sure	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	No	Other	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	First Dept.
No	No	Not applicable	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Not Sure	Not Sure	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No Response	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	First Dept.
Yes	No	Interested in other courses	Individual Study	No	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	First Dept.
No	No	Not required for Exam	Bar Prep Course	No	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Individual Study	Somewhat	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Individual Study	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Required/Recommended	Individual Study	Somewhat	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Second Dept.
Yes	Yes	Beneficial for practice in NY	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Yes	Second Dept.
Not Sure	No	Interested in other courses	Combination of Methods	Yes	Somewhat	No	Maybe	No Response	Yes	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	Somewhat	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.
No	No Response	Not applicable	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Schedule did not permit	Combination of Methods	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Not Sure	Second Dept.
Yes	No	Not required for Exam	Bar Prep Course	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	No	Second Dept.
Yes	No Response	Interested in other courses	Bar Prep Course	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Not applicable	Maybe	Second Dept.

Law Schools that Offer Courses in New York Law

Count of Question 2	Column La	bels																
Row Labels	Albany	Brooklyn	Buffalo	Cardozo	Columbia	Cornell	CUNY	Fordham	Hofstra	New York	No Response	NYU	Other	Pace	St. John's	Syracuse	Touro	Grand Total
No		2	6 2	2 :	1 26	9)		2 4	1 1	1 3	2 2	3 653	3 1		3 2	2 1	768
No Response			2						1		1	8	1	5 1				18
Not Sure		1	2 2	2 20	39	9)		7 3	2 9	Ð	8 4	9 114	1 5	ò	7	7 2	285
Yes		37 4	4 70	0 3	7 6	4	22	2 59	9 22	2 28	3 1	9 1	3 65	5 28	3 3	2 44	1 16	5 546
Grand Total	5 Mar 19	39 6	4 74	4 51	8 71	22	22	2 6!	9 21	3 39	9 6	7 8	5 83	7 35	3	5 53	3 19	9 1617

Question 2: Did your law school offer an courses focused exclusively on New York law, such as New York Practice?

Number of Students who took the course if it was offered?

Count of Question 2 Row Labels	Column Labels No		No Response	Not Sure	Yes	(blank)	Grand Total
No	1	170	3	142	294		609
No Response	5	593	14	119	21		747
Not Sure		2	1	24	5		32
Yes		3			226	l.	229
(blank)							
Grand Total	The second s	768	18	285	546	0.495	1617

Column: Did your law school offer any courses focused exclusively on New York law, such as New York Practice? Row: If yes, did you take any such course?

Reason most chosen to take course if it was offered

Question 2	Yes

Count of Question 2	Column La				
Row Labels	Yes	Gra	Grand Total		
Beneficial for practice in NY		131	131		
Interested in other courses		1	1		
No Response		36	36		
Other		19	19		
Required/Recommended		39	39		
Grand Total		226	226		

Column: If yes, did you take any such course?

Row: What was the reason for decision to take such classes?

Filter: Did your law school offer any courses focused exclusively on New York law, such as New York Practice?

Reason course not taken, if it was offered

Question 2	Yes	.75	
Count of Question 2	Column Labels		
Row Labels	No	G	rand Total
Beneficial for practice in NY		1	1
Interested in other courses		58	58
No Response		41	41
Not applicable		3	3
Not offered/promoted		5	5
Not relevant to future area of practice		25	25
Not required for Exam		42	42
Other		25	25
Schedule did not permit		94	94
Grand Total		294	294

Column: If yes, did you take any such course?

Row: What was the reason for decision to not take such classes?

Filter: Did your law school offer any courses focused exclusively on New York law, such as New York Practice?

Number of Students who didn't take course, if offered, and intend to practice in NY

Question 2	Yes	

Count of Question 2	Column Labels	Gr	and Total
Row Labels	No		and the second second
Maybe		25	25
No		8	8
No Response		1	1
Yes		260	260
Grand Total		294	294

Column: If yes, did you take any such course?

Row: Do you intend to practice in New York?

Filter: Did your law school offer any courses focused exclusively on New York law, such as New York Practice?

How did students prepare for the New York Law Examination i.e. the NY component of the Bar exam

Row Labels	Count of Question 3
Bar Prep Course	449
Combination of Methods	189
Individual Study	779
Law School Resources	70
No Response	41
Other	61
Study Group	28
Grand Total	1617

Did you find that the New York Course was a helpful educational experience?

Row Labels	Count of Question 4
No	279
No Response	52
Not Sure	70
Somewhat	564
Yes	652
Grand Total	1617

Did you find the NY Law Examination to be a challenging test?

Row Labels	Count of Question 5
No	573
No Response	40
Not Sure	31
Somewhat	625
Yes	348
Grand Total	1617

Have you applied or do you intend to apply for admission in another American jurisdiction?

Row Labels	Count of Question 8
Maybe	432
No	448
No Response	11
Not Sure	232
Yes	494
Grand Total	1617

Appendix E

The UBE and Service to New York Clients Deborah Jones Merritt June 12, 2019

What impact has the UBE had on the number of attorneys available to serve New York clients? It is difficult to answer that question definitively because (a) New York adopted the UBE relatively recently; (b) publicly available data are limited; and (c) other trends in legal education and the profession are affecting the number of attorneys licensed in New York and other states. I explore here, however, data from several different sources that offer at least a preliminary answer to the question.

I. Transfers of UBE Scores

The National Conference of Bar Examiners (NCBE) tracks the number of lawyers who transfer UBE scores in and out of a state. A lawyer who transfers a score *into* New York is one who obtains a New York license based on a UBE score earned in another state. Conversely, a lawyer who transfers a score *out of* New York is one who takes the UBE in New York and then uses that score to obtain a license in another state. Table One (on the next page) shows national transfer data for 2018.

As the table shows, New York transferred more 2018 scores out of the state (1,663) than into the state (747). Table Two, also drawn from NCBE data, shows a similar pattern for 2017 scores. That table appears on page three of this review.

At first glance, these numbers suggest that New York is suffering a net loss of registered attorneys under the UBE. There are, however, two very important counterpoints to that interpretation. First, lawyers who transfer a UBE score from one state to another do not necessarily leave the first state. Instead, some of these lawyers transfer scores so that they can maintain licenses in both states. This is especially true in states like New York that (a) have metropolitan areas spanning several states, and (b) are home to sophisticated clients with interests in multiple states.

Second, participation in the UBE may attract some law students and new attorneys to New York drawing them away from schools and job offers in other states. The UBE is attractive to law students and new lawyers because of its mobility; these students and new professionals like to maximize their options. New York's participation in the UBE is unlikely to play a major role in decisions about which law school or employment offer to accept, but it could have a noticeable impact on the margins.

NCBE's raw transfer numbers, in other words, only begin to answer the question, "What impact has the UBE had on the number of attorneys available to serve New York clients?" To answer the question more fully, I looked at two other sources of data.

UBE Jurisdiction	2018 UBE	2018 Scores	2018 Scores
	Scores	Transferred	Transferred
	Earned	Out	In
Alabama	806	56	101
Alaska	82	35	52
Arizona	966	242	107
Colorado	1,081	341	151
Connecticut	510	90	162
District of Columbia	2,232	298	822
Idaho	171	51	61
Iowa	250	39	82
Kansas	147	60	158
Maine	162	52	28
Massachusetts	1,426	112	338
Minnesota	800	128	191
Missouri	857	265	146
Montana	117	61	70
Nebraska	195	89	32
New Hampshire	204	133	43
New Jersey	1,446	340	618
New Mexico	300	58	154
New York	13,438	1,663	747
North Dakota	84	41	66
Oregon	622	117	39
South Carolina	655	272	272
Utah	358	85	58
Vermont	117	54	27
Washington	1,003	232	207
West Virginia	227	43	12
Wyoming	85	26	73
Virgin Islands	11	5	8
TOTALS	28,352	4,988	4,825

Table One: UBE Scores Earned in 2018 That WereTransferred In and Out of Each UBE State1

¹ This table is taken from The Bar Examiner, UBE Scores Earned and Transferred by Jurisdiction in 2018 <u>https://thebarexaminer.org/statistics/2018-statistics/ube2018/#step3</u> (last visited June 12, 2019).

UBE Jurisdiction	UBE	Scores	Scores
	Scores	Transferred	Transferred
	Earned	Out	In
Alabama	740	61	64
Alaska	100	50	47
Arizona	971	249	89
Colorado	1,103	285	162
Connecticut	517	36	125
District of	1,497	155	709
Columbia			
Idaho	182	46	63
Iowa	260	45	68
Kansas	172	41	129
Maine†	119	8	20
Minnesota	825	117	178
Missouri	925	273	121
Montana	149	57	56
Nebraska	217	80	41
New Hampshire	234	82	16
New Jersey	1,351	183	629
New Mexico	308	40	124
New York	14,093	1,373	517
North Dakota	113	31	42
Oregon†	459	51	16
South Carolina	680	142	211
Utah	397	93	58
Vermont	111	20	28
Washington	1,117	200	189
West Virginia [†]	158	11	12
Wyoming	90	47	60
Virgin Islands†	9	0	2
TOTALS	26,897	3,776	3,776

Table Two: UBE Scores Earned in 2017 That WereTransferred In and Out of Each UBE State2

² This table is taken from The Bar Examiner, UBE Scores Earned and Transferred by Jurisdiction in 2017, <u>https://thebarexaminer.org/statistics/2017-statistics/ube2017/#step3</u> (last visited June 12, 2019). NCBE has not published a similar table for 2016, the first year that New York administered the UBE, so data from that year are not publicly available.

II. New Lawyers with Multiple Licenses

As noted above, lawyers who transfer UBE scores from New York to another state do not necessarily leave New York. Instead, these lawyers may maintain an active New York practice that is enriched by a license from another state. This is especially likely in the New York City metropolitan area, where client interests easily spill over state lines.

NCBE's publicly released data, unfortunately, do not tell us where New York examinees are transferring their UBE scores. Are these lawyers moving to Colorado rather than establishing any New York practice? Or are they complementing their New York license with a New Jersey license, so that they can serve New York clients with interests in both states?

NCBE might be willing to release more detailed information about UBE transfers to the Task Force; they will not share that information with a private individual like me. Meanwhile, other publicly available data suggest that many of the lawyers transferring UBE scores out of New York are doing to obtain a second license that will complement their New York license—not because they are relocating to another state. I discuss that data further here.

First, Tables One and Two show that New Jersey, Connecticut, and Massachusetts are all net *importers* of UBE scores; each of those states transfers more scores into the state than out of the state. Indeed, New Jersey now admits more than a third of its new lawyers through transferred UBE scores.³ There is no reason for those "transfer in" lawyers to take the UBE in New York or another state if they plan to practice full-time in New Jersey: New Jersey has the same UBE cut score (266) as New York. Instead, it is quite likely that most of New Jersey's "transfer in" lawyers are New York practitioners who are transferring their New York score in order to serve clients with interests in both New York and New Jersey.⁴ The same appears to be true, although to a lesser extent, with scores transferred to Connecticut and Massachusetts.

Second, data suggest that most of the people who pass the UBE in New York do obtain admission in the state. Table Three reports that information.⁵ Each row of the table represents two administrations of a New York exam, one in July and the other in February.⁶ The first two rows

³ In 2017, New Jersey admitted 954 lawyers through the UBE taken in that state; another 496 lawyers (34.2%) obtained admission by transferring their UBE scores to New Jersey. In 2018, the percentage of transfer admissions was even higher: New Jersey admitted 750 lawyers through the UBE taken in that state; another 483 lawyers (39.2%) gained admission by transferring their UBE scores transferred into the state. *See* The Bar Examiner, Admissions to the Bar by Examination and by Transferred UBE Score, 2014–2018,

https://thebarexaminer.org/statistics/2018-statistics/admissions-to-the-bar-by-examination-and-by-transferred-ubescore-2014-2018-2/ (last visited June 12, 2019).

⁴ Note that New Jersey's "transfer in" lawyers cannot come from Pennsylvania, which also shares a metropolitan area with New Jersey, because Pennsylvania has not adopted the UBE.

⁵ Data in this table are drawn from The Bar Examiner statistics site, <u>https://thebarexaminer.org/statistics/2018-statistics/</u> (last visited June 12, 2019). See in particular the admissions page cited *supra* note 3, and the pages reporting the number of bar passers in each state for each year.

⁶ Rather than pair February and July exams given in the same calendar year, I pair each July exam with the February exam given in the next calendar year. I do that because New York conducts its character and fitness process after candidates pass the bar exam. As a result, most candidates who pass the July exam do not secure admission until the

represent administrations of the UBE; the others reflect administrations of the previous New York Bar Exam.

For each of these paired exam administrations, the second column in the table reports the number of candidates who passed one of those exams. This column does not include any candidates who passed the UBE in another state and ultimately gained admission in New York; it includes only candidates who took a bar exam in New York and passed the exam.

The third column in the table shows the number of candidates who were admitted to the New York bar based on a passing exam score obtained in New York. This column does not include attorneys who were admitted to the bar by motion or based on a UBE score obtained in another state; it focuses exclusively on candidates who gained admission based on a bar exam score earned in New York.

The fourth column shows the net gain or loss between the number of candidates who passed an exam administered in New York and the number who gained admission because they passed that exam. The fifth column shows the number of additional New York admits based on attorneys who transferred their scores into the state, and the final column shows the total number of admits for that cohort of new attorneys.

Exam	Passed Exam	Admitted in	Difference	Additional	Total
Administration	in NY	NY from NY	(Admitted	Admits	Admits
		Exam Score ⁷	- Passed)	from UBE	
			-	Transfer	
Feb 2018 (UBE)	8,223	8,199	- 24	747	8,946
July 2017 (UBE)		(2018)			
Feb 2017 (UBE)	8,399	8,181	- 218	517	8,698
July 2016 (UBE)		(2017)			
Feb 2016 (NY)	8,194	7,885	- 309	11	7,896
July 2015 (NY)		(2016)			
Feb 2015 (NY)	8,978	8,261	- 717		8,261
July 2014 (NY)		(2015)			
Feb 2014 (NY)	10,000	10,273	273		10,273
July 2013 (NY)		(2014)			

Table Three: Exam Passage and Bar Admission In New York, July 2013 -- February 2018

following calendar year. Candidates who pass a July exam, therefore, tend to be admitted during the same calendar year as candidates who pass the following February exam. ⁷ The numbers in parentheses in this column represent the year of admission. As noted in the preceding footnote,

candidates who pass New York's July exam tend to be admitted to the bar during the following calendar year.

As the table shows, the number of candidates who pass the bar exam in New York almost always is smaller than the number who gain admission based on that passing score.⁸ This drop-off occurs because some candidates fail the character and fitness process; some may neglect to complete the Pro Bono Requirement; others (since adoption of the UBE) may fail to finish the New York Law Course or pass the New York Exam; still others may forego admission because of illness, death, other personal crises, or significant changes in career plans. There is always some drop-off between bar exam passage and bar admission.

The most significant point about the figures in Table Three is that this drop-off has diminished—rather than risen—since adoption of the UBE. The average drop-off for the four UBE administrations in Table Three is 121 candidates per year. The average drop-off for the six administrations of the New York Bar Exam preceding adoption of the UBE was 251 candidates per year.

These numbers offer strong evidence that UBE takers who transfer their scores out of New York are doing so to obtain additional licenses, rather than to leave New York. If successful New York examinees were using their UBE scores solely to obtain licenses in other states, the drop-off would have increased—rather than diminished—since adoption of the UBE. Instead, it appears that successful New York examinees are securing admission to New York's bar, even if they also apply for licenses in other states.

It would be unusual, moreover, for those successful examinees to apply for a New York license if they did not plan to use that license to benefit clients. New York's licensing process includes several steps beyond passage of the bar exam: Examinees must also complete New York's Character and Fitness Process, the New York Law Course, the New York Law Exam, and New York's Pro Bono Requirement. New attorneys who complete all of those steps clearly see value in obtaining a New York license. Whether they use that license to advise clients physically located in New York or in other parts of the nation/world, they understand the value of a New York license when serving clients.

III. Attracting More New Lawyers

The number of law school graduates has fallen dramatically over the last five years. In 2013, 46,776 individuals graduated from law school;⁹ by 2018, that number had fallen to 34,221.¹⁰ Bar

https://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/administrative/legal education and admissions to the bar/statistics /2013_law_graduate_employment_data.pdf (last visited June 11, 2019).

⁸ The one exception, in the bottom row of the table, probably stems from variations in the pace of the Character and Fitness process. New York cannot admit more exam passers than the number of people who actually passed its exam! For that reason, it is better to focus on figures that average several years; I do that in the analyses below. ⁹ ABA Section of Legal Education and Admissions to the Bar, 2013 Law Graduate Employment Data,

¹⁰ ABA Section of Legal Education and Admissions to the Bar, Employment Outcomes as of April 2019 (Class of 2018 Graduates),

https://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/administrative/legal_education_and_admissions_to_the_bar/statistics /2018-law-graduate-employment-data.pdf (May 6, 2019).

passage rates also declined during that period.¹¹ As a result, most states have suffered a drop in the number of new lawyers admitted to the bar.

Table Three above shows that New York shared in that national decline. Between 2014 and 2016, admission of new lawyers by exam fell from 10,273 to 7,896—a decline of 23%. Notably, however, the trend reversed after New York adopted the UBE. Total admissions based on the UBE (whether the score was earned in New York or another state) rose to 8,946 in 2018, the latest year for which information is available. Admissions may never reach the high level registered in 2014, but they are on the rebound.

The rebound, of course, could be due to many factors other than the UBE. New York employers may have enhanced their recruitment of new lawyers. Those new lawyers may have realized on their own that New York offers particularly attractive practice opportunities. New York law schools may have created new programs that draw students to the state—and, perhaps, better prepare them to pass the bar exam. Factors like these may greatly outweigh any impact of the UBE on bar admissions.

From the perspective of client access to lawyers, however, it is reassuring that adoption of the UBE did not diminish the number of lawyers admitted to practice in New York. That is particularly reassuring because, as Table Four shows, other states have continued to suffer drops since 2016 in the number of new-attorney admissions.

That table includes admissions data for seven other key states. The table includes California, Florida, and Texas because, after New York, they admit the largest number of new lawyers each year. It also includes New Jersey, Connecticut, Massachusetts, and Pennsylvania because they border New York.¹² In different ways, therefore, these seven states share characteristics with New York.

Year	Calif.	Fla.	Tex.	N.J.	Conn.	Mass.	Pa.
2018	4,975	2,517	2,485	1,233	344	1,198	1,168
2017	5,873	2,745	2,677	1,450	417	1,240	1,261
2016	5,496	2,888	2,849	1,286	353	1,542	1,455
2015	6,150	3,177	2,805	2,586	446	1,787	1,662
2014	6,726	3,137	2,892	3,635	516	1,998	1,883

Table Four: Lawyers Admitted to the Bar by Exam or TransferredUBE Score, Selected States, 2014 – 2018

¹¹ See The Bar Examiner, Ten-Year Summary of Bar Passage Rates, Overall and First-Time, 2009–2018, https://thebarexaminer.org/statistics/2018-statistics/ten-year-summary-of-bar-passage-rates-overall-and-first-time-2009-2018/ (last visited June 11, 2019) (nationally, overall pass rates declined from 68% in 2013 to 54% in 2018; in New York rates declined from 64% to 56%).

¹² All data in this table are drawn from The Bar Examiner, Admissions to the Bar by Examination and by Transferred UBE Score, 2014–2018, <u>https://thebarexaminer.org/statistics/2018-statistics/admissions-to-the-bar-by-examination-and-by-transferred-ube-score-2014-2018-2/</u> (last visited June 12, 2019).

As the table shows, between 2014 and 2016 each of these states experienced the decline in bar admissions that New York witnessed during the same period. In each of these seven other states, however, the decline *continued* between 2016 and 2018—rather than reversing as in New York.

This comparison does not prove that adoption of the UBE increased the number of new lawyer admissions in New York. Indeed, three of the other states listed in Table Four (Connecticut, Massachusetts, and New Jersey) adopted the UBE during this period without seeing a net gain in bar admissions after 2016. The comparison, however, offers additional evidence that adoption of the UBE has not unduly depressed the number of new attorneys serving clients in New York.

Conclusion

The UBE's impact on the number of lawyers available to serve New York clients is uncertain. The state only adopted the exam in 2016, and other trends have affected bar admissions since that year. The existing data, however, seem to support two conclusions.

First, the number of new-attorney admissions in New York has increased since the state adopted the UBE. That increase might have occurred without adoption of the UBE; unfortunately there is no way to test that hypothesis. Adoption of the UBE, however, has not depressed new-attorney bar admissions in the state.

Second, although New York transfers more UBE scores out of the state than it transfers in, many of those transfers out reflect New York attorneys who want to enrich their client service by obtaining a second license—rather than attorneys who are leaving the state. New York's net export status raises some concerns about the resources it devotes to administering and grading bar exams: New York benefits other states by performing those tasks. There is less concern, however, that New York is actually losing lawyers to those other states.

Appendix F

Jurisdiction	Type of Admission	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018
Alabama	Admission by Examination	461	408	381	407	383
Alaska	Admission by Examination	79	84	64	53	42
Arizona	Admission by Examination	683	635	479	440	479
Arkansas	Admission by Examination	219	212	209	220	165
California	Admission by Examination	6,726	6,150	5,496	5,873	4,975
Colorado	Admission by Examination	914	807	787	767	687
Connecticut	Admission by Examination	516	446	353	360	263
Delaware	Admission by Examination	122	99	123	139	116
District of Columbia	Admission by Examination	253	200	466	972	901
Florida	Admission by Examination	3,137	3,177	2,888	2,745	2,517
Georgia	Admission by Examination	1,297	1,029	1,016	1,133	935
Hawaii	Admission by Examination	203	188	146	193	160
Idaho	Admission by Examination	132	118	160	151	152
Illinois	Admission by Examination	2,676	2,327	1,987	1,932	1,752
Indiana	Admission by Examination	565	534	467	491	436
lowa	Admission by Examination	294	262	176	203	185
Kansas	Admission by Examination	277	137	155	130	95
Kentucky	Admission by Examination	475	398	122	185	0
Louisiana	Admission by Examination	722	630	618	558	535
Maine	Admission by Examination	128	92	131	102	152
Maryland	Admission by Examination	1,637	1,382	1,231	1,025	873
Massachusetts	Admission by Examination	1,998	1,787	1,542	1,240	1,113
Michigan	Admission by Examination	1,011	849	805	674	678
Minnesota	Admission by Examination	752	662	601	568	539
Mississippi	Admission by Examination	233	205	198	137	129
Missouri	Admission by Examination	899	887	755	730	632
Montana	Admission by Examination	112	107	80	110	93
Nebraska	Admission by Examination	147	166	169	158	138
Nevada	Admission by Examination	319	321	276	288	279
New Hampshire*	Admission by Examination	168	142	142	162	88
New Jersey	Admission by Examination	3,635	2,586	562	954	750
New Mexico	Admission by Examination	324	191	164	222	195
New York	Admission by Examination	10,273	8,261	7,885	8,181	8,199
North Carolina	Admission by Examination	1,102	956	917	878	555
North Dakota	Admission by Examination	76	64	53	60	45
Ohio	Admission by Examination	1,179	1,036	940	895	802
Oklahoma	Admission by Examination	328	278	302	335	269
Oregon	Admission by Examination	471	384	417	460	629
Pennsylvania	Admission by Examination	1,883	1,662	1,455	1,261	1,168
Rhode Island	Admission by Examination	158	175	130	104	58
South Carolina	Admission by Examination	469	494	422	427	405
South Dakota	Admission by Examination	52	62	53	65	61
Tennessee	Admission by Examination	709	616	612	591	507
Texas	Admission by Examination	2,892	2,805	2,849	2,677	2,485
Utah	Admission by Examination	441	437	317	305	274
Vermont	Admission by Examination	104	48	64	54	66
Virginia	Admission by Examination	1,224	1,050	1,008	816	720
Washington	Admission by Examination	910	856	829	743	629
West Virginia	Admission by Examination	185	181	160	152	136
Wisconsin†	Admission by Examination	204	144	126	148	126
Wyoming	Admission by Examination	61	58	59	54	57
Guam	Admission by Examination	10	11	11	11	2
N. Mariana Islands	Admission by Examination	8	4	7	6	6
Palau	Admission by Examination	4	1	0	1	2
Puerto Rico	Admission by Examination	495	458	375	370	306
Virgin Islands	Admission by Examination	29	19	26	13	6
Total for All Jurisdictions	Admission by Examination	54,381	47,278	41,766	41,929	37,950
Alabama	Admission by Transferred UBE Score	10	10	17	28	50
Alaska	Admission by Transferred UBE Score	8	18	21	21	48
Arizona	Admission by Transferred UBE Score	38	47	53	42	80

Admission by Transferred UBE Score Arkansas California Admission by Transferred UBE Score Colorado Admission by Transferred UBE Score Connecticut Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score Delaware **District of Columbia** Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score Florida Admission by Transferred UBE Score Georgia Hawaii Admission by Transferred UBE Score Idaho Admission by Transferred UBE Score Illinois Admission by Transferred UBE Score Indiana Admission by Transferred UBE Score lowa Admission by Transferred UBE Score Kansas Admission by Transferred UBE Score Kentucky Admission by Transferred UBE Score Louisiana Admission by Transferred UBE Score Maine Admission by Transferred UBE Score Maryland Admission by Transferred UBE Score Massachusetts Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score Michigan Minnesota Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score Mississippi Missouri Admission by Transferred UBE Score Montana Admission by Transferred UBE Score Nebraska Admission by Transferred UBE Score Nevada Admission by Transferred UBE Score New Hampshire* Admission by Transferred UBE Score **New Jersey** Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score New Mexico New York Admission by Transferred UBE Score North Carolina Admission by Transferred UBE Score North Dakota Admission by Transferred UBE Score Ohio Admission by Transferred UBE Score Oklahoma Admission by Transferred UBE Score Oregon Admission by Transferred UBE Score Pennsylvania Admission by Transferred UBE Score **Rhode Island** Admission by Transferred UBE Score South Carolina Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score South Dakota Tennessee Admission by Transferred UBE Score Texas Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score Utah Vermont Admission by Transferred UBE Score Virginia Admission by Transferred UBE Score Washington Admission by Transferred UBE Score West Virginia Admission by Transferred UBE Score Wisconsin⁺ Admission by Transferred UBE Score Wyoming Admission by Transferred UBE Score Guam Admission by Transferred UBE Score N. Mariana Islands Admission by Transferred UBE Score Palau Admission by Transferred UBE Score Admission by Transferred UBE Score **Puerto Rico** Virgin Islands Admission by Transferred UBE Score **Total for All Jurisdictions** Admission by Transferred UBE Score

					_
—	—	—	_	-	0
—	—	_	_	-	0
	45	45	78	70	99
—	_		0	57	81
—	_	—	_	-	0
—	—		6	165	431
—	—	—	_	-	0
—	—	—	_	-	0
—	_	—	_	-	0
	34	33	38	55	47
—	_	_	_	-	0
—	_	—	_	-	0
—		1	38	50	67
—		125	136	96	101
—	—	_	_	-	0
—	—	_	_	-	0
—	—	—		7	19
—	_	_	_	-	0
—	_	_	_	-	85
—	_	_	_	-	0
	48	76	88	111	146
_	_	_	_	-	0
	29	37	50	77	116
	72	51	25	41	51
	3	6	20	30	25
_	_	_	_	-	0
	6	7	9	12	22
_	_		90	496	483
_		1	56	73	80
_	_		11	172	283
_	_	_			4
	28	53	42	32	33
_	_	_	_	-	0
_	_	_	_	_	0
_	_	_	_	_	14
_	_	_	_	_	0
_	_	_	_	_	0
_	_	_		20	56
_	_	_	_		0
_	_	_	_	_	0
_	_		_	_	0
	43	44	52	43	42
_	+J 		7	8	26
_	_	_	, _	_ 0	0
	69	84	94	116	140
_	09	- 04	54	110	140
	_	_	_		0
-			51	- 35	60
	/0	00	21	- 33	00
_	_	—		_	
_	_	_	_	_	0 0
_	_	_	_	-	
_	_	_		_	0
_		— 710		1 050	0
	511	718	982	1,858	2,700

Appendix G

Table of Issues

New York Bar Exam: 2000 --- 2015

Note: The following tables identify every issue tested on the essays in the New York bar exam from 2000 to 2015. The essays are based on both procedural and substantive law. Except for questions involving federal law, the New York essay questions are based on New York law (*as noted by the New York Board of Law Examiners on its website, <u>www.nybarexam.org/barexam.htm</u>, when visited on November 14, 2010).*

Essay Topics	February 2000	July 2000	Essay Topics
ContractsPartner's authority to bind partnership Corporations as partners in a partnership Consideration: validity of termination provisionRevocation of acceptance Breach of express and implied warra Consequential damages Incidental damagesAgency/ PtnrshipFraudulent inducement 		Breach of contract; breach of warranty Revocation of acceptance Breach of express and implied warranties Consequential damages Incidental damages Employment contract Enforceability of restrictive covenant in employment	Contracts Article 2 NY Civil Practice
Essay 2 4 Amend Crim Law	Fourth Amendment Transferred intent Attempt; defenses to attempt Factual impossibility Murder in second degree Manslaughter in first degree Extreme emotional disturbance Burden of proof on affirmative defenses	Changing the beneficiary of a totten trust in a will Spousal right of election Computation of the elective share Identifying testamentary substitutes: totten trusts, life insurance Distribution of the residuary of the estate Lapsed legacies: when a beneficiary renounces a bequest	Wills
Essay 3 Dom Rel Property	Grounds for annulment: fraudulent misrepresentation Defense of cohabitation Prenuptial agreement: when it must be signed and acknowledged Adverse possession; tacking; ousting	Domestic relations retainer agreement Requirements for a conversion divorce Paternity by estoppel Best interests of the child standard for petition for modification of a custody arrangement	Dom Rel Ethics
NY Civil Practice	, averes possession, taoking, saeting	Ethics: non-refundable retainer agreement in domestic relations matter	
Essay 4 Torts NY Civil Practice	Negligence: standard for children Superceding causes Vicarious liability; <i>respondeat superior</i> Joint & several liability Contributory/comparative negligence NY Civil Practice: limits on non-economic losses; failure to state a cause of action; court's grant of summary judgment on its own motion	Strict products liability: design and manufacturing defect Negligence Comparative negligence Conflict of law: torts — interspousal tort immunity Breach of warranty NY Civil Practice: statute of limitations for warranty and products liability claims	Torts Conflict of laws NY Civil Practice
Essay 5 Property Wills NY Civil Practice	Acceleration clauses in mortgage agreements Redemption of mortgage Termination of agency relationship Will execution requirements: assisted signatures; interested witnesses and when their bequest would be forfeited NY Civil Practice: service of notice in foreclosure proceedings	Grand larceny by false promise Basis for grand jury indictment Fourth Amendment searches/seizures: arrest without warrant as defendant was leaving his home Search of the "wingspan" Exclusionary rule Prosecutor's obligation to defense: Rosario material Admissibility of evidence of common plan or scheme	4 Amend Evidence
Essay 6 Corps	Duty of corporate directors/officers: corporate opportunity doctrine Voting requirements: Where written shareholder agreement requires board unanimity but no such provision in cert of incorporation or by-laws Statutory liability of directors for breach of fiduciary duties Preemptive rights	Interested director transaction: interest not disclosed Corporate loans to directors Liability of partners for partnership debts Liability of shareholders in closely held corp for employee wages	Corps Ptnrship

Essay Topics	February 2001	July 2001	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Contracts	Construction contract: defective performance Substantial performance; damages Unconscionability: substantive and procedural Unilateral mistake; basis for rescission	UCC sale of goods; merchants Contract formation when there are different terms in the acceptance: "battle of the forms" Distinction between UCC and common law "mirror image rule" Perfect tender rule; seller's right to cure Employee as agent for employer: scope of authority NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment	Contracts Article 2 NY Civil Practice
Essay 2 Con Law	First Amendment: freedom of expression: "fighting words" exception Assault : the intent required by the statute	Felony murder/burglary Dying declaration exception to hearsay; distinction between NY and Federal rule Basis for mistrial: juror conduct	Crim Law Evidence
4 Amend	Fourth Amendment searches/seizures: scope of search incident to a lawful arrest Defense of justification Citizen's right to resist arrest		
Essay 3 Dom Rel	Grounds for divorce: adultery/conversion of separation agreement Incorporating the separation agreement into the judgment	Requirements for conversion divorce Determining assets subject to equitable distribution Defining marital and separate property Valuation of law license acquired during marriage	Dom Rel
Property NY Civil Practice	Adverse possession License to use land NY Civil Practice: jurisdiction over defendant; durational residency requirement	Inherited property and increase in valuation of property during the marriage – both managed and	
Essay 4 Torts	Negligence Duty of owner/occupier of land Dram Shop Law Assumption of the risk NY Civil Practice: indemnification	Common law negligence; negligence per se Contributory negligence/comparative negligence standard Employee vs. independent contractor	Torts Workers' Comp
NY Civil Practice		Workers' compensation Federal Practice/Procedure: basis for removal to federal court; diversity jurisdiction NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment	
Essay 5	Will execution requirements: witness signatures Codicils: execution requirements	Wills: partial revocation by physical act Codicils: execution requirements	Wills
Wills Ethics	Basis for Attorney General's standing in Surrogate's Court Classification of legacies: per stirpes calculations Ethics: where attorney is a beneficiary under the will; where attorney/beneficiary is the draftsman	Rule of ademption: destruction of the bequest and insurance proceeds Future Interests: whether residuary gift of the principal of a trust violates RAP	
Essay 6 Corps	Notice requirement for special meeting of directors Basis for removal of a director; where director is	MPT Topic: Confidential communication between client and attorney: Social worker exception	MPT
	also an employee of the corporation Basis for judicial dissolution: oppressive conduct toward a minority shareholder Shareholder agreements: "right of first refusal"	MPT Task: Persuasive brief in support of a motion to quash a subpoena.	

Essay Topics	February 2002	July 2002	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Contracts Article 2 Torts	UCC sale of goods Whether a cause of action lies in strict products liability for purely economic damages Rights of intended third party beneficiary Consideration: modification in a writing	Employment contract; at will employment; indefinite terms Consideration: modification and pre-existing duty Statute of frauds/ one year provision Ethics: is compliance with ethical standards an implied term in legal employment contracts	Contracts Ethics
Essay 2 4 Amend	Fourth Amendment searches/seizures: stop of van and arrest of driver Issues of reasonable suspicion for stop and probable cause for arrest When does the Sixth Amendment right to counsel attach Standard for waiver of rights when police know	Admissibility of character evidence; exceptions Accomplice liability Conviction by testimony of an accomplice – need for corroboration Admissibility of liability insurance	Evidence Crim Law
Essay 3 Dom Rel Property	defendant is represented by counsel Marital and separate property Joint bank account Statute of frauds/ marriage provision Engagement ring - is it subject to equitable distribution? Mortgaging property owned in a tenancy by the entirety; forgery of signature; rights of survivorship	Right to maintenance payments after death of paying spouse when provided in separation agreement Validity of signed but not acknowledged mortgage Determining priority of mortgages; recording statutes Whether ex-wife can serve as executrix and/or inherit from ex's estate	
Essay 4 Torts	Negligence, landowner liability, failure to warn, Assumption of risk Conflict of law: contracts — insurance policy	Bringing suit against a municipality for negligence Admissibility of payment of medical expenses by insurance company	
Conflict of law Ethics NY Civil Practice	Ethics: payment of a referral fee; standards for contingent fee retainer agreements NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment	NY Civil Practice: personal jurisdiction over a foreign corporation – assertion of long arm jurisdiction; failure to state a cause of action	
Essay 5 Wills Ethics	Calculating the right of election Identifying testamentary substitutes: totten trust is one; life insurance is not Non-probate transfers: joint tenancy and totten trusts Attorney as executor: need to fully disclose two fees Ethics: conflict of interest, attorney/executor	Granting letters of administration Duties of an administrator Determining intestate shares for spouse and issue Identifying partnership property Dissolution of a partnership upon death of one of the partners; whether estate administrator can be substituted for partner in a partnership upon death of partner	
MPT	MPT Topic:Joint ventureMPT Task:Advisory/opinion letter to a corporate client advising its obligations under a joint venture agreement and assignment agreement	MPT Topic:Criminal case; seeking a felony indictment on two counts of endangering the welfare of a childMPT Task:Persuasive memorandum	MPT

Essay Topics	February 2003	July 2003	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Contracts Corps	Parol evidence rule Power of agent to bind principal Basis for shareholder to request a judicial dissolution	UCC sale of goods; missing price term Determining who bears risk of loss when goods are destroyed Consideration: illlusory promise	Contracts UCC Art 2
Ethics NY Civil Practice	Agency/Ethics: attorney's duty to inform client of settlement offers NY Civil Practice: preliminary injunction	Real estate transaction where "time is of the essence"; forfeiture of 10% down payment Liquidated damages	
Essay 2	Liability for writing a bad check Larceny by means of writing false checks Negotiable instruments	Fourth Amendment searches/seizures: issue of consent; evanescent evidence Burden of proof for affirmative defense of insanity	4 and 6 Amend
Crim Law	Forgery: false endorsement; bank liability	Allowable inquiry into peremptory challenges	Crim Law
UCC Article 3		Sixth Amendment right to effective counsel Ethics: contingency fee arrangement in criminal case	Ethics
Essay 3	Validity of handwritten changes to a will (codicil) Rule of ademption: specific bequest no longer in	Adultery as grounds for divorce; when the accusing spouse is also committing adultery	Dom Rel
Wills	testator's estate at time of death; effect of stock split on specific bequest of "my 100 shares"Requirements for conversion divorce Effect of a default judgment on the distribution of marital property and the calculation of child support Identifying marital and separate property		
Essay 4	Negligence/ negligence per se No-fault insurance	Workers' compensation as a bar to recovery in wrongful death action	Torts
Torts	Affirmative defense of speeding and failure to wear a seatbelt; comparative negligence	Distinction between employee and independent contractor	Workers' Comp
Evidence	Medical malpractice Res ipsa	Wrongful death recovery: what is recoverable and who may recover	NY Civil
NY Civil Practice	Admissibility of traffic conviction in a personal injury trial NY Civil Practice: statute of limitations for med mal; continuous treatment; foreign objects	NY Civil Practice: claim for contribution from an employer; grave injury exception	
Essay 5	Bases for divorce: cruel and inhuman treatment and abandonment	Construction of a residuary clause: following the testator's intent	Wills
Dom Rel	Whether default on mortgage accelerates the payments absent an express acceleration term	Changing a life insurance beneficiary by means of a will's residuary clause	
Property	Enforceability of oral agreement to assume the mortgage		
Contracts			
MPT	MPT Topic: Tenant liability for improvements made by landlord MPT Task: Letter to attorney explaining and	MPT Topic: First Amendment protections for proposed newspaper article which is an expose' of companies'	MPT
	defending client's position	MPT Task: Two-part objective memorandum to the supervising attorney	

Essay Topics	February 2004	July 2004	Essay Topics
Essay 1	Enforceability of pre-incorporation contracts Promoter liability	UCC sale of goods/merchants Anticipatory repudiation; adequate assurances;	Contracts
Contracts	Officer's authority: power of president to initiate contract action on behalf of corp.	retraction of repudiation Right to cover	UCC Art 2
Corps	Statute of frauds/ one-year provision Applicability of part performance exception Satisfying the written memorandum requirement:	Interested director transaction; interest disclosed by director votes on contract Business judgment rule	Corps
NY Civil Practice	material terms/several writings NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment		
Essay 2	Fourth Amendment searches and seizures: scope of search incident to a lawful arrest	Fourth Amendment searches and seizures: probable cause for warrant based on reliability of	4 Amend
4 Amend Crim Law	Exceptions: wingspan/locked containers Statutory interpretation: knowledge element Availability of entrapment defense	informant testimony / Aguilar Spinelli test Police officer's good faith reliance on a defective warrant	
Chin Law	Pleading alternate defense theories	Probable cause standard for wiretap warrant Exclusion of evidence	
Essay 3	Standard for modifying child support agreement contained in a separation agreement that was	Adverse possession Whether tenancy by the entirety when parties were not married when deed was delivered	Property
Dom Rel	of divorce Whether joint tenants can seek the partition of		Ethics
Property	Basis for seeking change in custody Whether restrictive covenants binds successors in interest	property Ethics: attorney represents client in litigation where attorney was previously the mediator trying to resolve the dispute between all parties	
Essay 4	Negligent supervision: whether parents are liable to third parties; whether child has COA against	No-fault insurance – can a pedestrian recover under no-fault insurance when the driver was not negligent	Torts
Torts	own parent Negligence	Conflict of law: contracts — analysis regarding an insurance company's retroactively canceled insurance	No-fault insurance
Property	Landowner's duty to entrants upon his land Joint and several liability	policy NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment;	NY Civil
NY Civil Practice	NY Civil Practice: limits on non-economic losses; failure to state a cause of action; summary judgment	burden and form of proof	Practice
Essay 5	Lapsed legacies: when a beneficiary renunciates a bequest /NY's anti-lapse statute	Validity of oral agreement to execute mutual wills Calculation of elective share	
Wills	Creation of a "pour over trust" Distribution of residuary estate when bequest to	Determining testamentary substitutes: totten trust, joint savings account, joint checking account, condo in	Wills
Trusts	trust fails Effect of simultaneous death on disposition in will /lapsed gift	husband's name only Ethics: conflict of interest in simultaneous representation	Ethics
MPT	MPT Topic: Admissibility of prior incidents of domestic abuse in a prosecution for domestic violence	MPT Topic: Breach of implied warranty of habitability MPT Task: Letter to supervising attorney	MPT
	MPT Task: Trial brief; includes a statement of facts		

Essay Topics	February 2005	July 2005	Essay Topics
Essay 1	UCC sale of goods Disclaimer of warranties, express, implied, and title	Piercing the corporate veil to hold sub corp liable on a contract party had with main corp Term in oral agreement contradicts writing: question of	Corps
Contracts UCC Art 2	Statutory liability of officers and directors for breach of fiduciary duties; personal liability	parol evidence or subsequent modification Recovery under quantum meruit	Contracts
Corps	Basis to initiate a shareholder derivative action against officers and directors Shareholder's right/basis to force dissolution of corp.	Ethics: attorney's refusal to refund unearned portion of non-refundable retainer	Ethics
Essay 2 4 Amend Crim Law	Defendant's due process rights during pre- charge line-up Admissibility of in-court identification when previous line-up ID is tainted Validity of waiver of right to counsel by one in custody when made w/o presence of lawyer Viability of self-defense when possibility of safe retreat exists	Elements of criminal solicitation Need for corroboration of accomplice testimony: "accomplice" is undercover police officer Attempt; defense of impossibility NY's "indelible" right to counsel Waiver of right to counsel Elements of burglary	Crim Law 5 and 6 Amend
Essay 3	Adultery as grounds for divorce; condonation	Conflict of laws: full faith and credit; divisible divorce Subject matter jurisdiction over divorce	Conflict of laws
Dom Rel	Factors for awarding equitable distribution; passive/active contributions	Factors for determining maintenance award	Dom Rel
Property	Effect of mortgage taken by one spouse on a tenancy by the entirety	y one spouse on a Personal jurisdiction requirement for granting maintenance award – exercise of long arm jurisdiction	
Essay 4 Torts	Negligence; assumption of risk of engaging in a sport Whether parent can bring claim for negligent infliction and emotional distress	Negligence; vicarious liability of employer for negligence of its employees Admission admissible as non-hearsay Validity of a waiver of liability	Torts Evidence
	Strict products liability; affirmative defense of consumer modification to product	NY Civil Practice: statute of limitations for negligence action; tolling of statute for minor	NY Civil Practice
Essay 5	Admissibility of opinion testimony by a layperson Wills: execution; testamentary capacity	Probate of a photocopy	Wills
Wills	Interested party's right to an accounting from the executor of the estate Effect of a no-contest clause on beneficiary's right to bequest; exceptions to no-contest clauses		Cy Pres
	NY Civil Practice: personal jurisdiction: basis for jurisdiction, notice and opportunity to be	Incorporation of an outside writing into a will by reference	
NY Civil Practice	heard; service upon a natural person	Cy Pres doctrine	
MPT	MPT Topic: Professional responsibility; fee- splitting among lawyers MPT Task: Memorandum	MPT Topic: Request for a variance of residentially-zoned property to a commercial business	MPT
		MPT Task: Letter to members of the Zoning Board	

Essay Topics		February 2006		July 2006	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Crim law	property and o distinction bet Grand jury sta	criminal possession of stolen criminal possession of weapon/ ween driver and passenger andard for indictment	session of weapon/ and passengerPromoter liability for pre-incorporation contract; promoter as agent in establishing corporation Consequential and incidental damages		Corps UCC Art 2
Ethics	statement to c Ethics: attorne	duty to submit defendant's lefense ey's conflict of interest in wo parties involved in same	of warranty; p	ice: statute of limitations for breach arties' ability to reduce statutory n for summary judgment, including ary judgment	NY Civil Practice
Essay 2 Property	implied ouster	Defeating tenancy in common interest through implied ouster (adverse possession) Biological parent's right/basis to revoke prior consent to adoption		Evidence Crim Law	
Dom Rel	Whether order	r of adoption can be vacated based ain consent from one parent		plice liability; defenses to felony	
Essay 3	goods over \$5	uds: writing requirement for sale of 500; merchant exception when to object to confirmatory writing		ss to chattel, trespass to land creditor's use of self-help to repossess	Torts
Contracts UCC Art 2	Battle of Form	ayment became part of the contract		ity under respondeat superior negligent	UCC Art 9
Corps	(2) whether a became part o Right to reject	waiver of warranties provision		carious liability for driver of vehicle ations for intentional torts, negligence nce coverage	Torts No-fault insurance
Essay 4	Liability for ba	ttery; transferred intent		nt's liability for rent and taxes	Property
Torts	battery action	on of prior criminal conviction in civil based on same operative facts town for negligent police work	property subj to acquired during	aluation of separate and marital o equitable distribution: law license g marriage and real property with active	Dom Rel
Issue Preclusion		ice: statute of limitations for claims icipality; notice of claim		opreciation y obtaining a mortgage on client's sure payment of fees in a matrimonial	Ethics
NY Civil Practice			action		
Essay 5	capacity; undu	ontesting a will: testamentary ue influence; fraud	0	to reach trust income when trust endthrift provision; exceptions to	Trusts
Wills		the elective share: identifying substitutes; life insurance policy; nal property	Whether creditor can reach trust principal when settlor retains power to revoke the trust Distribution of estate following divorce and when testator seeks a per stirpes distribution Whether settlor may Amend trust terms when the instrument is silent as to Amendment		Wills
MPT	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Mediation privilege and its exceptions Persuasive brief in opposition to Motion to Quash	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Duty to disclose "material facts" to future buyers of residential real estate Objective memorandum of law	MPT

Essay Topics		February 2007		July 2007	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Torts Conflict of laws NY Civil	<i>Prima facie</i> cas <i>loquitor</i> Joint and sever	liversity jurisdiction e for negligence and <i>res ipsa</i> al liability e: claim for contribution in a	UCC Art 3 negotiable instruments: liability of bank for cashing a forged check Standard of proof to dismiss criminal indictment; fact application to statute for criminal possession of a forged instrument in second degree		UCC Art 3 Crim Law
Practice					
Essay 2 Wills	Whether spouse who kills the other spouse can inherit under the will/ whether murdering spouse retains right of survivorship in property owned as tenants by the entirety		Torts NY Civil Practice		
UCC Art 9		nitted child under the will cured but unperfected creditor as aser for value	partial summar	e: motion for summary judgment; y judgment	Tactice
Essay 3 Corps	cause where ce	ors may remove a director for ertificate and bylaws are silent orporate opportunity and breach of f loyalty	Effect of a no-c bequest; excep	l with an assisted signature ontest clause on beneficiary's right to tions to no-contest clauses ause: effect of will's exculpation	Wills
Contracts	Corporation's re constructive tru	ecovery of lost profits through st		ee's actions of making an unsecured	Trusts
NY Civil Practice	employment co	e: preliminary injunction;			
Essay 4 4 and 6 Amend	home without w Aguilar-Spinelli Exigent circums Standing to cha privacy Whether there i	Figure a searches/seizures: arrest at me without warrant guilar-Spinelli test sigent circumstances exception anding to challenge a search; expectation of vacy hether there is a Sixth Amendment right to unsel at a pre-charge lineup; NY's "indelible"		Dom Rel	
Essay 5	Joint tenancy; te	enancy in common : just compensation for a "taking"	Shares in corpo services	pration as consideration for future	
Property	of private land f			ls/ one year provision with respect to nt contract	Corps
	real property wh	here property is "condemned"	closely held con dissolution	nduct toward minority shareholder in rp as basis for seeking judicial r conflict of interest in representing	Contracts Ethics
			client and corp		
MPT	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Claims pursuant to Family Medical Leave Act Persuasive letter	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Jurisdiction of a tribal court in a contract dispute Argument section of a brief in support of SJ motion	MPT

Essay Topics	February 2008	July 2008	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Contracts	UCC sale of goods; Who bears risk of loss for rejected shipment of non-conforming goods Interested director transaction: vote by	Landlord liability with respect to common areas Tenant's duty to repair Negligence	Property
	disinterested directors insufficient Application of parol evidence rule to oral	Contributory and comparative negligence	Torts
UCC Art 2 Corps	agreement regarding a corporate buy-back provision	NY Civil Practice: motion for judgment as a matter of law	NY Civil Practice
Essay 2 Crim Law	Justification defense; NY rule regarding use of deadly force and duty to retreat Elements of attempted assault in the first degree Defenses of infancy and withdrawal Elements of criminal conspiracy and solicitation NY unilateral approach to conspiracy	Fourth Amendment searches and seizures: warrant requirement exceptions search incident to valid arrest; plain view; auto exception Excited utterances and present sense impression exceptions to hearsay Sixth Amendment Right to Confrontation Criminal defendant's right to consult with attorney during recess periods.	4 and 6 Amend
Essay 3 Dom Rel	Presumption of paternity / doctrine of equitable estoppel Whether arrears in child support may be cancele Misconduct of spouse by interfering with visitation Modification of child support obligation Separation agreement incorporated but not merged into divorce decree		Ptnrship Contracts
Essay 4 Torts No-fault insurance Ethics NY Civil Practice	Negligence Medical malpractice as foreseeable intervening event Driver's liability under NY's no-fault insurance Ethics: writing requirement for retainer agreemen and contingency fee payment NY Civil Practice: statute of limitations for med mal; continuous treatment rule; contribution	Due execution of will when attesting witnesses sign separately UCC Article 9: Perfection of security interest Whether gift to "issue" includes adopted child Rule of ademption Lapsed legacies: bequest to adopted-out child who predeceases testator leaving issue Testator leaves child out of the will Inheritance rights of adopted children; specific bequest to an adopted-out child Anti-lapse statute	Wills UCC Art 9
Essay 5 Wills Ethics	Will execution Validity of will witnessed by beneficiary Interested witness: when entitled to bequest Claim of undue influence where attorney is drafte and beneficiary (<i>Matter of Putnam</i>) Rule of ademption: specific bequest no longer in testator's estate at time of death Ethics: where attorney is executor has duty to provide full disclosure of entitlement to receive both executor's commissions and legal fees	Grounds for divorce Abandonment, adultery Easement by necessity; easement abandonment Transfer of property owned as tenants by the entirety Durable power of attorney	Dom Rel Property Agency
MPT	MPT Topic: Whether a blog writer is a reporter and protected from revealing confidential sources under Reporter Shield Act MPT Task: Memorandum	MPT Topic:Fraudulent statementsMPT Task:Evaluate statements for fraud; draft a cause of action for the actionable statements	MPT

Essay Topics		February 2009		July 2009	Essay Topics
Essay 1	Separate and	ibution of marital assets marital property (gift funds used to	Agent liability; scope of authority; express and apparent authority UCC sale of goods		Agency
Dom Rel		ss during marriage) venant running with the land	Perfect tender		UCC Art 2
Property Contracts	Constructive tr Statute of frau		installments; c Past considera	ntract; acceptance of non-conforming ourse of performance and trade usage ation: promise to pay bonus based on nce; NY writing exception	Contracts
Essay 2	Strict products defect	liability: design and manufacturing		rceny; exception of claim of right;	Crim Law
Torts	Subsequent m uses	ndlord liability; successor liability	depositing suff	check; defenses of duress and ficient funds tiable instrument	UCC Art 3
Agency Workers'		nt relationship; agency			
Comp Essay 3 Wills	terms of a will Income trust	incorporation by reference into the endment to lifetime revocable trust	adultery, minor breaches of separation agreement Basis for downward modification of maintenance		Dom Rel
Trusts	Right of preter Status of resid	mitted child	Best interests		
Essay 4		ess, unconscionability	Negligence	ion in negligent supervision of a child;	Torts
Contracts Ethics	Quantum meru	ofessional malpractice uit v of oral contingency fee agreement	suffering in neg	torts — limit on recovery for pain and gligence action egligence; failure to wear a seat belt	Conflict of laws
			NY Civil Practi contribution	ce: failure to state a cause of action;	NY Civil Practice
Essay 5	Elements of bu	ismissal of criminal action urglary, unlawful imprisonment		e elective share	Wills
Crim Law	Establishing a wife as alibi wi	libi defense; assessing credibility of tness	Effect of a no- bequest	contest clause on beneficiary's right to	Trusts
5 Amend	prosecutor's c	ent right to remain silent — omment on defendant's failure to n its closing argument	Creation of a ta Revocability of		
MPT	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	DMV administrative hearing for suspension of driver's license Persuasive memorandum	MPT Topic:	Star baseball player alleges violation of recently enacted "right of publicity" statute	MPT
			MPT Task:	Objective memorandum	

Essay Topics		February 2010		July 2010	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Dom Rel Jxn UCC Art 9	granting of divorce based on voluntary consequence of failure to turn over exculpatory cohabitation on single occasion evidence Extent of personal liability of incoming partner for Manslaughter in the first degree partnership's evisting debts and obligations Whether voluntary intovication is a defense to		idence ction can be overturned as of failure to turn over exculpatory in the first degree tary intoxication is a defense to render competent representation; istance of counsel for failure of attorney	Crim Law Ethics	
Essay 2 Wills Evidence Agency	Abatement of Admissibility o testamentary of	r: anti-lapse statute demonstrative legacies f witness testimony as to capacity of testator ^f agency relationship	merchants Breach of cont Breach of warr Revocation of a defects Damages: reco damages Article 3 negoti of a holder in d	sale of goods: parties are not rract — "perfect tender rule" anty — express warranty acceptance; duty to inspect and latent overy of contract price and incidental iable instruments: definition and rights due course ies for payment	UCC Art 2 Contracts UCC Art 3
Essay 3 Torts NY Civil Practice	Strict liability:	ction of emotional distress vicious propensities, "one bite rule" ice: preliminary injunction; unction	determining vo Proxy agreeme Whether a corp shares	ents: definition and revocability poration has the right to vote treasury cate of incorporation or by-laws control	Corps
Essay 4 Property Contracts	Conveyance b	pes and termination y deed including warranties ds: licensed real estate broker	Basis for termination of parental rights Custodial parent's petition to relocate: assessment based on "best interests of the child" Conflict of laws: full faith and credit; divisible divorce Jurisdiction for purposes of divorce and maintenance award		Dom Rel Conflict of Iaws Jxn
Essay 5 Corps	books and rec Derivative acti	ons right to dividends	 Will execution requirements: publication Whether testator can make a bequest of a management interest in a partnership Dissolution of a partnership upon death of one of the partners Validity of bequest of \$1 to adopted child Rights of pretermitted child Calculation of elective share Distribution under intestacy 		Wills Ptnrship
MPT	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Violations of Franklin Criminal Code Persuasive brief; arguments in support of motions	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Attorney-client privilege and the crime-fraud exception Argument section of a brief in support of Motion to Quash	MPT

Essay Topics	February 2011	July 2011	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Property	Adverse possession; NY rule that requires good faith claim to believe she was true owner Hold-over tenant	Creation of the types of tenancies: joint tenancy, tenancy by the entirety, and tenancy in common; rights and obligations of tenants in common with respect to repairs	Property
Contracts	Third-party beneficiaries: intended vs. incidental Whether there an easement in land is created wher the owner gives oral permission to use a portion of property Common law doctrine of equitable conversion; NY where risk of loss remains with seller until buyer tak legal title or possession		
Essay 2 Crim Law Evidence	y Elements of conspiracy, arson, felony murder; affirmative defenses Fourth Amendment searches/seizures: street encounters and levels of suspicion ("sliding scale" of police authority) Plea negotiations: Ineffective assistance of Furth Amendment searches/seizures: street		4 and 5 Amend Crim law
		poisonous tree" Criminal possession of forged instrument Art 3 negotiable instruments: bank's liability where payee's endorsement is forged by company employee	UCC Art 3
Essay 3 Dom Rel	Grounds for divorce: adultery Defenses to adultery: condonation	Presumption of paternity / doctrine of equitable estoppel Modification of child support obligation; separation	Dom Rel
Corps UCC Art 9	Shareholder's derivative suit; breach of the duty of loyalty: interested director votes to give corporate loan to himself	agreement incorporated but not merged into divorce decree Interested director transaction: interest not disclosed in contract but it was a fair market deal	Corps UCC Art 9
	Perfecting a security interest to become a secured creditor	UCC Article 9 creditor's use of self-help to repossess personal property	
Essay 4 Torts Ethics NY Civil	Trespass; assault Atty communication with represented person Notice of claim to a municipality NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment	Negligence; no-fault insurance Compensatory damages under no fault Comparative negligence Driving while intoxicated	Torts No-fault insurance
Practice Essay 5	Effect of divorce on totten trust Validity of partial revocation of a will by physical	Revocation of a will: where second will does not expressly revoke prior will (by implication)	
Wills	act Rule of ademption: specific bequest no longer in testator's estate at time of death Lapsed legacy: anti-lapse statute Rights of inheritance of adopted children	Revocation by physical act Duty of trustee in management of a trust Liability of partners in a limited liability partnership	Wills Trusts Ltd liability ptnrshp
MPT	MPT Topic: Validity of marriage under Franklin Family Code MPT Task: Objective memo and closing argument	MPT Topic: Professional responsibility issue involving an investigation using social networking pages MPT Task: Persuasive memo	MPT

Essay Topics	February 2012	July 2012	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Contracts Art 2	UCC sales of goods; common law of contracts Statute of frauds/ application of "merchant confirmatory memo" exception for sale of a boat Statute of frauds/ one year provision in an oral contract for services Material breach/ substantial performance Damages:"lost volume seller"	UCC sale of goods Determining risk of loss in the absence of breach when goods are destroyed prior to delivery; seller is a merchant without insurance to cover the loss Enforceability of a "general release" in settlement of a claim Defense of mutual mistake Severance of a joint tenancy	Contracts Art 2 Property
Essay 2 Crim Law 4 Amend	Application of facts to elements of burglary in First degree: statute provided in the exam question Fourth Amendment searches/seizures: consent to search residence by suspect's live-in girlfriend	Fourth Amendment searches/seizures: violation of reasonable expectation of privacy by a visual surveillance by store security of suspected customer in fitting room Search incident to an arrest; inevitable discovery; inventory searches	4 and 5 Amend Crim law
	Plain view doctrine Whether an arrest in the home without a warrant violates the Fourth Amendment; exceptions to warrant requirement	Admissibility of evidence on cross examination of criminal defendant: basis for job termination and prior convictions NY Civil Practice: bringing suit against a municipality; notice of claim	Evidence NY Civ Practice
Essay 3 Corps Dom Rel	Basis for judicial dissolution: oppressive conduct toward a minority shareholder and director in a close corporation; whether other shareholders have right to prevent dissolution by acquiring the shares Conflict of laws: full faith and credit for "common law marriage"; requirements for "no fault" divorce Jurisdiction for purposes of divorce Equitable distribution of marital assets Identification/valuation of separate and marital property subject to equitable distribution: professional license acquired during marriage	NY Civil Practice in a matrimonial action: residency requirements Personal jurisdiction over defendant Service of process Grounds for divorce: "irretrievably broken" Identification/valuation of separate and marital property subject to equitable distribution	Dom Rel NY Civil Practice
Essay 4 NY Civil Practice Torts		Duties of landlord/tenant for repairs and maintenance to property Negligence Evidence: hearsay; admissions Conflict of law: torts — limit on recovery for pain and suffering in negligence action	Property Torts Evidence Conflict of Laws
	NY Civil Practice: motions: failure to raise lack of personal jurisdiction in a pre-answer motion; failure to state a cause of action	NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment	NY Civ Practice
Essay 5 Property Wills Trusts	Elements of a constructive trust; defense of unclean hands Will execution: interested witness Inheritance rights of interested witness Incorporation by reference Pour-over trust Rights of disinherited children	Will execution requirements: Attorney signs testator's name at testator's direction Interested witness: when entitled to bequest Effect of a no-contest clause on beneficiary's right to bequest Ethics: where attorney is a beneficiary under the will; where attorney/beneficiary is the draftsman	Wills Ethics
MPT	MPT Topic:Benefits of legislation for royalty to be paid to artistsMPT Task:Persuasive document	MPT Topic:Private nuisance; standards for granting injunctive reliefMPT Task:Persuasive brief	MPT

Essay Topics		February 2013		July 2013	Essay Topics
Essay 1 Contracts Ethics Essay	Statute of Fransatisfied throupromise to pay property to on licensed real of Where lawyer without their a	ation: "the mailbox rule" uds issues: (1) how and where gh multiple writings (2) oral y a commission for the sale of real e who was neither a lawyer nor a estate broker speaks to potential opposing party ttorney present	child's adoption Effect of mortga by the entirety; non-debtor spo Basis for a cou Identification/va property subjec NY Civil Practic a cause of actio	rt-ordered partition aluation of separate and marital ct to equitable distribution ce: motion to dismiss for failure to state	Dom Rel Property NY Civil Practice
2 Evidence Ethics Crim law	exceptions to Lawyer's duty false testimon Burden of proo Double jeopar	hearsay to the court to disclose knowingly y of on an alibi defense dy – where defendant has already d for attempted murder and the	Factual imposs Attempted larce Robbery; assau Defense of just	sibility eny ult	Crim Law
Essay 3 Property Trusts	Rule against F saves a beque Simultaneous	quest to a trust violates "RAP" – Perpetuities; NY exception which est that violates RAP Death Act calculation of elective share	Usurping a cor	company	Ethics Corps/LL0 UCC Art :
Wills Essay 4 Torts NY Civil Practice	gross negliger Res ipsa loqui Joint and seve	<i>itur:</i> sudden stoppage of escalator eral liability ice: limits on non-economic losses;	Workers' comp Manufacturer's employer when "grave injury" e Strict products NY Civil Practic	ion against the employer ensation contribution claim against the the employee was injured on the job: exception to worker's compensation liability: design defect ce: motion to dismiss, statute of rict products liability	Torts Workers' Comp NY Civil Practice
Essay 5 Corps Dom Rel	by the board of where certifica regarding votin Business judg personal liabili corporate loss Basis for share Standard for m agreement wh merged into the Factors in awa	eholder's derivative action nodification of a separation ich was incorporated but not ne divorce judgment arding or modifying child support: s of the child"; substantial change in	paternity Right of preterr Rule of adempt insurance proc Joint bank acco there a right of	ount for purposes of convenience: was survivorship ute; determining per capita distribution) Wills
МРТ	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Petition for guardianship of grandson in Tribal Court Persuasive brief in support of motion to transfer	MPT Topic: MPT Task:	Recording contract Draft contract provisions to meet client's contractual demands objectives	MPT

Essay Topics	February 2014	July 2014	Essay Topics
Essay 1	Modification of divorce judgment Best interests of the child standard for petition for modification of visitation arrangement when	Ethics: referral fee agreement between attorney and non-attorney	Ethics
Dom Rel Property	custodial parent wants to move to accept job offer Types of easements: implied and prescriptive Whether implied easement arose by strict necessity	Fourth Amendment search: probable cause for warrant based on reliability of informant testimony / Aguilar Spinelli test Justification as defense to strict liability crime	4 Amend Crim law Burdens of
		Ordinary and affirmative defenses	proof
Essay 2 Ethics LLC/	Ethics: attorney conflict of interest when attorney loans money to client Non-disclosed principal; liability of agents Scope of authority	Standing of shareholders to bring a derivative action on behalf of the LLC Pre-incorporation liability Fiduciary duties of LLC members De facto and de jure corporations/LLCs	LLCs Contracts UCC Art 2
Agency 4 Amend	Fourth Amendment search/seizures: probable cause for arrest warrant based on informant tip Warrantless arrest in home; Plain view	Statute of Frauds: merchant memo exception Former testimony exception to hearsay, non- availability of witness; party admission as non- hearsay	Evidence
Essay 3 Contracts UCC Art 2 Property	Unconscionability UCC sale of goods Determining risk of loss when seller ships non- conforming goods	Creditor's right to reach assets held in revocable trust Whether income interest from a trust with spendthrift protection is assignable Trustee's violation of fiduciary duty by making improper payments from a trust	Trusts Wills
Tiopeny	Types of tenancies; holdover tenant	Admissibility of prior writing (extrinsic evidence) to aid in construction of a will Whether inter vivos gift by donor is an advancement of the beneficiary's legacy	
Essay 4 Torts	Negligence: bringing suit against a municipality Duty of care based on a relationship: order of protection Landowner's duty to entrants upon his land	Court's consideration of marital fault in equitable distribution of assets Court's consideration of spouse's economic fault in determining equitable distribution Spouses' obligations with respect to visitation rights and child support payments What constitutes "wrongful interference" with visitation Parents' obligation to provide economic support child to age of 21; issue of constructive emancipation	Dom Rel
Essay 5 Wills	Wills: revocation by physical actionable Lapsed legacies: when a beneficiary renounces a bequest Testator specifically makes no provision for son Bequest to wife nullified by subsequent divorce Where the residuary beneficiary predeceases the testator Anti-lapse statute Intestacy distribution	No-fault insurance; exception where driver is intoxicated Negligence; negligence per se Whether injured third party can recover from vehicle owner for injury inflicted by authorized driver Dram Shop Act: tavern owner serves alcohol to visibly intoxicated patron Tort of emotional distress NY Civil Practice: failure to state a cause of action	Torts No-fault insurance NY Civil Practice
MPT	MPT Topic: Immigration matter concerning conditional residency MPT Task: Persuasive brief	MPT Topic: MPT Task: Demand letter	MPT

Essay Topics	February 2015	July 2015	Essay Topics
Essay 1	Validity of will execution; interested witness	Adverse possession; permissive non-structural encroachment	Property
Wills	Revocation and revival of prior will Distribution of estate where net estate is inadequate to cover bequests Specific gifts	"Irretrievable breakdown" of the marriage NY Civil Practice: residency requirement for divorce action	Dom Rel Conflict of Laws NY Civil Practice
Essay 2 5 and 6 Amend	Right to counsel; admissibility of physical evidence Miranda Warnings; right to "remain silent"	Proper party for Letters of Administration Inter-vivos gift and survival of gift where there was a security interest in collateral (gift)	Wills Secured Transaction
Crim Law	Second degree manslaughter; Recklessness Criminally negligent homicide	Intestate distribution of estate: elective share, surviving children, and illegitimate child	
Essay 3 Contracts	Consequential damages: lost profits Enforceability of non-compete agreement Personal liability for negligence of professional	Duty to inspect; perfect tender rule; revocation of acceptance of non-conforming goods Implied warranties of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose	UCC Art 2 Ethics
Corps	corporation	Consequential damages for breach of warranty Contingency fee agreement and communication with adverse party	
Essay 4	Negligence: car accident at stoplight	Negligence: duty of care to landowner to trespasser	Torts
Torts	Choice of law: time period under which medical necessity defense must be raised	Negligent supervision: negligent entrustment of dangerous instrument	
NY Civil Practice Conflict of Law	NY Civil Practice: motion for summary judgment	Damages: joint and several liability	
Essay 5	Specific performance: warranties and conditions in the sale of land	Right to procedural due process	Admin law
Property	Injunction to remove encroachment	Hearsay: rules of evidence do not apply in administrative hearing	Evidence Criminal law
	Warranty of habitability and remedies for breach	Criminal trespass in the second degree NY Civil Practice: statute of limitations for Article 78 proceeding	NY Civil Practice
MPT	MPT Topic:Disclosure of protected health information without written patient authorization (HIPAA)MPT Task:Letter to administrative agency	MPT Topic: Agency: potential liability for credit : card purchases MPT Task: Opinion letter	MPT

Appendix H

Multistate Essay Examination (MEE)

Table of Issues

By Bar Exam Administration: 2005 --- 2019

Note: The following information is helpful in understanding why the number of MEEs varies from 2005 to 2019.

The Multistate Essay Examination (MEE) was first administered in 1988 in six jurisdictions. It underwent significant changes in format, content, and the number of questions over the next two decades. By 2007, it consisted of nine questions covering both MBE and non-MBE subjects in 15 areas of law. Jurisdictions could select which questions and how many they wanted for their bar exam.

First administered in 2011, the Uniform Bar Examination (UBE), consists of a common set of six MEEs. According to NCBE, the "six MEE questions included as part of each UBE administration were selected by NCBE testing staff in light of UBE jurisdictions ratings and input."¹

Effective with the February 2014 exam, the MEE consisted of a common set of six questions offered to all MEE jurisdictions --- UBE and non-UBE jurisdictions alike.

New York joined the UBE with the July 2016 bar administration.

¹ Judith A. Gundersen, *The MEE Marks a Major Milestone*, THE BAR EXAMINER, December 2013, at 20.

F	February 2005	July 2005
Essay # 1	Corporations Officer's authority: power of president to hire attorney to initiate action on behalf of corporation (to collect accounts receivable). Authority of corporate officers: acts within scope of ordinary course of business. Authority of board of directors: declaration of dividends, acts in extraordinary course of business.	Decedents' Estates Whether a life insurance beneficiary be changed by a will provision. Joint bank account with right of survivorship; account of convenience, power to write checks only and the intent of the testator. Lapsed legacy: death of beneficiary prior to death of testator, state lapse statute, application of statute to class gifts and to persons who died before will was executed. Uniform Probate Code (UPC) anti-lapse statute compared to common law and state lapse statutes.
2	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE	Compared to common law and state lapse statutes. Corporations Promoter liability for pre-incorporation contract; promoter as agent in establishing corporation. Novation. Factual issue whether promoter would be personally liable based on whether company intended to held promoter liable: can be argued either way. Corporation's ratification or adoption of pre- incorporation contract: express and implied adoption.
3	Civil Procedure Jurisdiction: federal subject matter jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship (28 U.S.C. §1332(a)); diversity established at the time the suit is filed. Aggregation of claims to satisfy the amount-in- controversy requirement. Federal courts' basis for supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1367(a) over all claims that "derive from a common nucleus of operative fact." Venue: change of venue under 28 U.S.C. §1404(a) is only permitted to a court where the action could have been brought originally (i.e., where venue was proper at the time suit was filed).	Secured Transactions Attachment and rights of creditors with unperfected security interests. Creditor's use of self-help remedies to repossess and sell collateral. Foreclosure sale: notice requirement to debtor and "any secondary obligor"; guarantor of loan with actual knowledge of sale but who did not receive proper notice of the sale. Deficiency judgments: secured party fails to comply with foreclosure rules in business transactions, there is a deficiency, and the "rebuttable presumption rule."
4	Family Law and Conflict of laws Standards governing custodial parent's relocation: balancing of impact on visitation by noncustodial parent against benefits of the move for the child; "best interests of the child." Enforceability of a registered child support order in a non-issuing state pursuant to the Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA). Interstate enforcement and modification of child support orders (UIFSA). Interstate modification of child custody order as governed by Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act (PKPA) and the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (UCCJEA).	Family Law Whether statute of limitations in state's paternity statute violates unwed biological father's substantive due process rights under 14 th Amendment. Factors for establishing a significant parental relationship. Presumption of paternity; presumption of legitimacy. Nonparent estopped from disclaiming parental responsibilities when previously consented to act as a parent and support child and child's interests would be harmed by terminating the parental relationship. Interpreting a state visitation statue: violation of due process of parent when no deference is given to fit parent's determination of best interests of child.
5	Decedents' Estates Revocation: physical destruction with intent to revoke; multiple copies of will executed while only 1 copy was destroyed; proponent's burden of proof. Revival of will: destruction of will revives prior will	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE

	pursuant to state revival statute. Codicil: handwriting and changing a bequest on a previously executed will. Execution requirements: doctrine of dependent relative revocation. Rule of ademption: specific bequest of real property no longer in testator's estate at time of death and whether there is entitlement to replacement property.	
6	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Unperfected security interest compared to judicial lien creditor. Purchase-money security interest; definition of "goods"; delayed filing and 20-day grace period after delivery of the collateral to perfect by filing, and security interest relating back to the date of the attachment. Item of sale changing from "goods" to a "fixture" (an oven). Priority of liens: competing security interests, judgment liens, mortgages, "fixture filing."	Civil Procedure Standard for granting TRO under FRCP 65(b) (to enjoin employee from violating the non-compete provision in contract and disclosing trade secrets). Standard for granting preliminary injunction: (1) risk of "irreparable harm" to plaintiff if preliminary injunction is not granted; (2) likelihood of plaintiff's success on the merits of the underlying claim; (3) "balance of the equities" likelihood that the harm the plaintiff will suffer in the absence of the preliminary injunction outweighs the harm the defendant will suffer if it is granted; (4) the public interest. A mandatory injunction: order compelling party to engage in particular acts.
7	Agency Defining the agency relationship. Undisclosed principals and liability of undisclosed principal for contracts (purchase of supplies and employment contract) entered into by general agent in violation of principal's instructions. Types of authority: actual, inherent, and apparent authority.	Trusts and Future Interests Testamentary trust. Elements of a valid trust: definite beneficiaries required; trust established to give income to "my friends" invalid for want of definite beneficiaries. Donee's exercise of special power of appointment to appoint trust assets (principal) and to create more limited interests (life estate). Special power of appointment exercised in favor of an impermissible object. Partially ineffective exercise of special power of appointment and consequences to permissible object.

Essay #	February 2006	July 2006
1	Trusts and Future Interests Elements of a valid trust: trustee, beneficiary, and trust property. Revocable trust. Trust written on a napkin with intention to fund it at a later date: trust arises when funded. Pour-over will to a trust where the trust's terms were incorporated in a writing (napkin) that was written before the will. Incorporation by reference doctrine: testamentary additions to revocable trust. Self-settled trusts; enforceability of spendthrift provision; reach by settlor's creditors to trust assets of revocable trust.	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE
2	Agency Vicarious liability of employer for acts of employees committed within the scope of employment. Defining the agency relationship: reflected in master- servant relationship. Factors distinguishing between independent contractor and employer/employee. Fiduciary duties of agent/employee: duty to obey reasonable instructions and duty to act solely for benefit of principal.	Agency and Partnership Definition of partnership: determining whether parties are partners based on a loan to the partnership (no) but forgiveness of the loan in exchange of share of the profits (yes). Partner as agent of partnership: partner's authority to bind partnership for an act for carrying on the ordinary course of partnership business, but not for an act outside the ordinary business. Actual and apparent authority. Partners' joint and several liability for partnership obligations.
3	Civil Procedure Jurisdiction: federal subject matter jurisdiction based on anticipation of a federal defense; "well-pleaded complaint rule." Jurisdiction: federal subject matter jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship (28 U.S.C. §1332(a): determining domicile based on residence and "intent to remain." FRCP 4(k)(1): asserting personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant. Exercise of state's long-arm statute where it extends jurisdiction as far as the Due Process Clause of the 14 th Amendment allows; evaluation of internet-based contacts.	Decedents' Estates When a joint will constitutes a will contract: determined by language used, "each of us agrees" is a contract between husband and wife; contract becomes irrevocable at death of first spouse; includes property acquired after death of a spouse; beneficiaries of joint will as contract creditors of surviving spouse's estate. Doctrine of "facts of independent significance" and rule of construction that wills "speak at the time of death." Incorporation by reference: document executed after will executed as compared to a document in existence prior to the execution of a will; invalid bequest not evidenced by a testamentary instrument.
4	 Family Law Validity of common law marriage in states that do not recognize common law marriages. Requirements to establish a common law marriage. Whether agreements between cohabitants establish property or support rights ("ceremony of commitment"). Protection under the due process clause of 14th Amendment for unwed father who lived with his child for a substantial portion of his child's life and wishes to maintain an active, custodial relationship with the child; his parental rights cannot be severed without his consent or showing of parental unfitness. 	Family Law and Conflict of Laws Common law marriage elements. Validity of common law marriage in states that do not recognize common law marriages. Mutual vows, ceremony of commitment and enforceable agreement to share property, verbal cohabitation agreement. Termination of parental rights of unwed father, adoption without consent of father, due process, 14 th Amendment, involved father who lived with his child for a substantial portion of his child's life, and who wishes to maintain an active, custodial relationship with the child.
5	Corporations Authority of board of directors to call a special meeting of shareholders.	Corporations Breach of fiduciary duty of majority shareholder for failure to disclose material information to minority

	What constitutes proper notice for a special shareholder meeting.	shareholders; what constitutes material information.
	Voting rights of different classes of stock: conditions imposed on voting rights by articles of incorporation. Proxy agreements: definition; requirements for a prope Quorum requirements: majority needed to dissolve corporation.	Duty of care and business judgment rule in approving a merger. Duty of fair dealing when a majority shareholder purchases the interest of the minority shareholders.
6	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Consignment agreement: where consignor retains title to goods. Collateral in inventory: creditor of a consignee "deemed to have rights and title to goods identical" to those of consignor. Purchase-money security interest in inventory held by a consignor of goods. Priority of liens: competing security interests. Perfection of a security interest; financing statement; notification requirements.	Civil Procedure Amended pleadings: complaint may be amended "once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served" under FRCP 15(a) and will "relate back to the date of the original pleading" if requirements of FRCP 15(c) are met. Complaint amended after statute of limitations had run to correct a mistake in the name of a defendant. Final judgment rule; consideration of statutory and judge-made exceptions, including the collateral order exception. FRCP 16(a) and (f): pre-trial conferences and court's power to sanction a party for party's attorney for failure to appear. Where entry of default judgment may be an abuse of discretion.
7	Decedents' Estates Advancement: whether intervivos gift by donor is an advancement on the beneficiary's legacy; intention of the testator. Slayer statute: felonious intent and killing of decedent compared to negligence as cause of testator's death. Intestacy distribution incorporated in will. Per capita distribution of assets compared to per stirpes distribution of assets.	Secured Transactions Improper disposition of the collateral (consumer goods); public v. private disposition of collateral; "commercially reasonable" manner; notice of sale. Remedies of consumer as a result of secured party's failure to provide notice of disposition and a "commercially reasonable" disposition of collateral; actual damages, statutory damages, right of redemption, Deficiency judgments: secured party fails to comply with foreclosure rules in a consumer transaction, liability of the debtor, "absolute bar" rule, and "rebuttable presumption rule."

Essay #	February 2007	July 2007
1	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE	Contracts Requirements for an enforceable contract: offer, acceptance, consideration and, when required, a signed writing. Requirements for an offer; distinguishing between a counteroffer and an inquiry. Rules for acceptance: when is acceptance effective upon dispatch, the "mailbox rule"; rejection effective upon receipt. Rule where an acceptance is sent after a rejection: the one to reach the recipient first is effective. Statute of Frauds: one-year provision. Personal services contract: damages are available but specific performance is not.
2	Trusts and Future Interests Testamentary trust. Elements of a valid trust: a trust established to give income to "my friends" fails because it lacks definite beneficiaries. Distribution of trust income to residuary legatee when trust fails; whether to accumulate trust income for ultimate distribution to remainder beneficiaries or currently distribute income to presumptive remainder beneficiaries. Creditor's right to reach trust income when trust contains no spendthrift provision. Rights of creditors no greater than rights of beneficiary. Bequest to charity that no longer exits: cy pres doctrine, general charitable intent.	Civil Procedure Removal from state court to federal court; determining citizenship of executor for diversity and removal purposes. Preclusive effect of default judgment when court had subject matter and personal jurisdiction. FRCP 13(a): compulsory counterclaim requirement.
3	Civil Procedure Discovery: determining what is discoverable. Plaintiff served requests for production of documents in personal injury action seeking investigative and accident reports and the bus driver's entire personnel file, including safety and driving records and disciplinary records. FRCP 26 (b)(1): "documents relevant to a claim or defense." FRCP 26 (b)(3): materials "prepared in anticipation of litigation."	Family Law Basis for setting aside or modifying a divorce settlement or agreement before a final divorce judgment is entered: when a spouse's coercive behavior, fraud, or duress results in a substantively unfair agreement. Setting aside a divorce settlement agreement based on serious misconduct by the mediator. Factors for determining spousal maintenance award: contributions to marriage, duration of marriage, parties' financial resources and needs.
4	Family Law and Conflict of Laws Jurisdiction and divorce: over the marriage and over the property. A court's jurisdiction to grant its domiciliary's divorce petition as long as the state's jurisdictional requirements are satisfied. Divisible divorce: a court's jurisdiction in an <i>ex parte</i> divorce extends to the marriage only and not to the property of the marriage. Personal jurisdiction over both spouses needed for property division order. No-fault divorce granted based on separation and irreconcilable differences; does not matter whether the separation was nonconsensual or one spouse is seeking to reconcile. Separate property and marital property.	Agency and Partnership Definition of partnership: intent to form a partnership; written agreement not required. Partner as agent of partnership: partner's authority to bind partnership for an act for carrying on the ordinary course of partnership business; acts outside the ordinary course of business require consent of all partners. Actual and apparent authority. A partner is jointly and severally liable for partnership obligations; partner liability includes unpaid wages of an employee. Personal liability of general partner and limited partners for partnership's debts. Procedure for recovering against partners personally: judgment must first be obtained individually against each partner and against the partnership and levy execution against partnership assets.

E	Decedents' Estates	Criminal Law
5	Effect of a stock dividend or stock split on a specific bequest of "my 100 shares"; common law compared to the Uniform Probate Code (UPC). Disclaimer of legacy: sister of testator disclaims: beneficiary deemed to have failed to survive testator, lapsed legacy, anti-lapse statute. Advancement: whether the intervivos gift by donor is an advancement on the beneficiary's legacy; intention of the testator. Abatement of legacies in order of the classification of legacy.	Second-degree murder (shot friend while aiming at lamp behind friend). <i>Mens rea</i> , "malice aforethought", "depraved-heart" murder. "Extreme indifference to value of human life", reckless behavior. Causation: defendant's acts must be both the actual ("but for") and proximate cause of death. A "dependent intervening cause", a consequence of defendant's prior wrongful conduct, breaks the chain of causation when it is bizarre or out of the ordinary.
6	Agency and Partnership Limited partnership. Right of limited partners to obtain information from general partner regarding the financial condition of the business upon "reasonable demand": tax returns, contracts, correspondence. Liability of limited partners in a limited liability partnership: generally not liable for the obligations of a limited partnership unless participate in the "control of the business." "Safe harbor": RULPA's list of activities that do not constitute the exercise of control of the business includes removal of a general partner. Participation in control of business can make limited partners liable for obligations of limited partnership under certain circumstances.	Real Property Requirements for a valid deed (grantee must be identified). Adverse possession: elements. Adverse possessor's claim to possession against subsequent BFP. State recording statute and its effect on owner who acquired land by adverse possession (where owner had no deed to record).
7	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Perfection of a security interest in accounts receivable. Errors in UCC filing statements: ineffective filing of financing statement where the name of debtor is incorrect (trade name as opposed to the name of the corporation), "seriously misleading" test", search of records would not disclose the financing statement. Automatic perfection of security interest in accounts (upon attachment); when assignment of accounts do not transfer "significant part of assignor's outstanding accounts." Priority of liens: competing security interests and "first to file or perfect rule."	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE
8	No question	Trusts Drafting of trust agreement to reflect Settlor's intent. MEE task requires comparing list of Settlor's goals in creating the trust to the Trust Agreement drafted by the attorney and making changes to meet the Settlor's stated goals. Settlor wants full control of trust assets in memo: Settlor should retain power to revoke, to withdraw principal; Settlor should be named as sole trustee. Trust should include an additions clause. Ascertainable standard for distributions of trust principal to wife and beneficiary's right to withdrawal of trust principal so that wife is comfortably provided for. Special testamentary power of appointment created by trust so that wife can reward her children in her will.

		Drafting using the term "issue" to ensure child that predeceases wife will take the deceased child's share of trust principal. Anti-lapse statutes and how they apply to inter vivos trusts as compared to testamentary trusts.
9	No question	Corporations and LLCs Members' right (of a manager-managed LLC) to maintain an action against manager of LLC for mismanagement: derivative action vs. direct action. Procedural requirements for bringing a derivative action (set forth in ULLCA). Members of LLC right to bring a derivative action on behalf of LLC for mismanagement. What constitutes a violation of manager's fiduciary duty of care: negligence standards; simple negligence, gross negligence. Business judgment rule. Personal liability of LLC members for negligence. Piercing the LLC veil to hold members personally liable: "mere instrumentality" or "unity of interest and ownership."

Essay #	February 2008	July 2008
1	Decedents' Estates Grounds for contesting a will: elements for undue influence. Effect of finding of undue influence: can invalidate all or a portion of the will. Rules of intestacy are followed upon invalidation of a will. When a residuary bequest fails, does the invalidated share pass to the testator's heirs or to the remaining residuary legatees: common law approach - "no residue of residue" rule (testator's heirs) compared to UPC approach - "residue of residue" rule (other residuary legatee)	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Perfection of a security interest; inventory and equipment; after acquired collateral. Motor vehicles: certificate of title statute and notation on certificate of title as perfection of a security interest as compared to filing a financing statement. Priority of liens: competing security interests. Continuation of security interest: accessions, priority rules governing accessions with certificate of title statutes; description of the collateral in creditor's security agreement. Purchase-money security interest in equipment takes priority over competing security interest which was acquired earlier in time.
2	Torts Strict products liability (food poisoning): liability of commercial product sellers compared to occasional, non-commercial food seller. Defective products: where a product's risk of being unreasonably dangerous cannot be eliminated, adequate warnings or instructions are required or the product is defective. Negligence: where there are multiple defendants and cannot show which of three parties acted negligently because parties acted independently and not jointly. Where <i>res ipsa loquitur</i> , alternative liability, and joint enterprise liability are unavailable to support a negligence claim.	Constitutional Law First Amendment: freedom of the press. Defamation: public figure, "actual malice", "reckless disregard" of the truth. Freedom of the press: lack of immunity for breaking the law or committing a tort. Invasion of privacy: lawfully obtained information involving a matter of public concern, reasonable expectation of privacy.
3	Family Law Meaning of an adoption order; whether an adoptive parent can dissolve the adoption when the parent quarrels frequently with the child. Seeking a retroactive modification of child support obligation: forbidden by federal law. Voluntary reduction of income not a basis to obtain downward modification of child support obligation unless made in good faith and without incurring hardship on child. Must show a "substantial change in circumstances" to obtain modification of future support obligation. Support of children of employable age; compliance with reasonable parental demands.	Agency and Partnership Identifying partnership property. Whether partnership property is subject to attachment and execution by judgment creditor of individual partner. How creditor of individual partner can collect from a partner's financial interest in a partnership. Assignment of partnership interest: rights of assignee (financial interest only). Types of partnerships: partnership for term, partnership at will, or partnership for a particular undertaking; how type of partnership affects a forced dissolution.
4	Evidence Hearsay; exceptions to hearsay. Business-records exception; statements made for purpose of receiving medical diagnosis or treatment. Two evidentiary privileges applicable to the marital relationship: testimonial spousal privilege and marital confidential communications privilege. Hearsay admissible to impeach hearsay declarant's credibility.	Real Property Landlord/tenant: creating periodic and at-will tenancies. Statute of Frauds: one-year provision (3 years in some jurisdictions). Violation of statute of frauds, possession of property and acceptance of rent, creation of at-will or periodic tenancy, month-to month tenancy. Terminating at-will and periodic tenancies: notice requirements. Assignment of lease that is silent about assignments, liability for rent of assignor and assignee.
5	Corporations Corporate officer and director's duty of loyalty to corporation.	Civil Procedure FRCP 19: joinder of a "necessary party."

	Safe harbors for director who breaches his duty of loyalty: approval by disinterested directors, approval by disinterested shareholders, or fairness (RMBCA). Duty of board of directors to act on an informed basis when reviewing a contract in which a director has an interest. Business judgment rule; duty of care.	FRCP 13(a): defendant's counterclaim against plaintiff is compulsory when it arises from the "same transaction or occurrence." Federal courts' basis for supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1367(a) over all claims that "derive from a common nucleus of operative fact" (unpaid \$50 restaurant bill).
6	Civil Procedure FRCP 50(b): judgment as a matter of law ("JMOL", also called a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, "JNOV"); when the motion must be brought. FRCP 50(a): standard for granting a motion for JMOV. FRCP 59(b): procedure for filing a motion for a new trial and the "miscarriage of justice" standard for granting it. Juror misconduct: challenge based on bias and nondisclosure during <i>voir dire</i> .	Trusts Revocable trust. Validity of pour-over will assets to a trust created during testator's lifetime either by testator or another. Validity of additions to revocable trust which was amended after will is executed. Incorporation-by-reference. Construction of a trust amendment with two possible interpretations: grantor's intent regarding age and survivorship contingencies. Whether grandchild is a substituted taker when trust instrument specifies "children" and includes words of survivorship ("who are living"). Anti-lapse statutes and application to wills as opposed to trusts.
7	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Perfection of a security interest in deposit or demand accounts: secured party must have control of the account to perfect their interest. Errors in UCC finance statements; effective filing of financing statement where the name of debtor was incorrect; "seriously misleading" test; search of records would disclose financing statement. Priority of liens: competing security interests.	Family Law and Conflict of Laws Which state law determines enforceability of a premarital agreement: law of state where contract is signed or law of state with which parties have the "most significant relationship." Determining enforceability of premarital agreement governing property distribution: voluntariness, unconscionability, reasonable disclosure of assets and liabilities. Premarital agreement regarding child support or custody is unenforceable if it is not in the "best interests of the child." Separate and marital property; in a majority of states, marital property continues to accrue until final divorce decree.
8	Criminal Law and Procedure Fourth Amendment: determining a "seizure" and whether that seizure was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Exclusionary rule and "fruit of the poisonous tree." Questioning of suspect when there is a "reasonable articulable suspicion." <i>Miranda</i> rights: determining when they attach (suspect is subject to an in-custody interrogation). When is a subject "in custody." Voluntary confession compared to an involuntary confession.	Contracts Calculating damages in breach of contract: cost-of- completion v. difference in value. Award of consequential damages: test of foreseeability. Damages must be calculable with reasonable certainty to be recoverable (calculation difficulties with respect to a new business). Calculation of damage award includes subtraction of costs avoided by not having to perform; reduction of award to present value when assessing damages based on loss of future income; duty to mitigate damages.
9	Trusts Irrevocable trust. Duties of trustee with respect to management of trust. Duty of loyalty: investing in a corporation where the trustee has a substantial investment. Duty to invest prudently: investing in closely held corporation that was "cash poor." Duty to diversify trust investments: investing 90% of trust assets in two corporations that were extremely similar and had same market risks.	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE

Duty of care: investing in items that did not earn	
income and were not liquid so income beneficiary	
received nothing and prevented beneficiary from	
withdrawing trust principal as provided for in the	
terms of the trust.	

Essay #	February 2009	July 2009
1	Agency Defining the agency relationship (consulting contract). Power of agent to bind principal (to a contract). Actual and apparent authority. Agent exceeding authority or acting without authority and consequences.	Trusts Irrevocable trust. Trustee with absolute and uncontrolled discretion to distribute income and principal; abuse of discretion by failing to distribute income based upon personal motives; disagreement with beneficiary's political opinions. Duty of loyalty: self-dealing; purchasing assets from the trust without court approval; no appraisal but purchased by trustee at fair market value. Bequest to charity that no longer exists: <i>cy pres</i> doctrine, general charitable intent.
2	Evidence FRE 404: character evidence. Impeachment of witness on cross-examination with a specific instance of prior bad act about lying on job application. FRE 608(b): forbids use of extrinsic evidence to impeach witness's character for truthfulness. FRE 612: only counsel for opposing party can offer document to refresh recollection of a witness.	Constitutional Law First Amendment: freedom of speech. Sedition Statute: inciting illegal conduct must meet "imminent and likely" test under <i>Brandenburg</i> . Abusive Words Statute: "fighting words" are unprotected speech when likely to cause a violent reaction. Statutes may be overbroad where it punishes speech that is merely rude or abusive because it reaches protected speech. Commentary on matters of public concern are afforded the highest level of First Amendment protection.
3	Decedents' Estates Distribution of assets in will. Effect of stock dividend or stock split on a specific bequest of "my 100 shares." Rule of ademption: specific bequest of real property no longer in testator's estate at time of death, replacement property. Generically described property in a will, "my automobile" does not follow rule of ademption when a different car is owned at time of death. Disclaimer of legacy: friend disclaims and beneficiary deemed to have failed to survive the testator, lapsed legacy, anti-lapse statute.	Family Law and Conflict of Laws Interstate enforcement and modification of child support orders (Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA). Enforcement of registered child support order in non- issuing state even when non-issuing state lacks personal jurisdiction over respondent (UIFSA). Under federal Parental Kidnapping Prevention Act (PKPA), only issuing jurisdiction can modify child custody order so long as child or any contestant continues to reside in that state and issuing states does not decline to exercise jurisdiction. Custody modification based on a "substantial change in circumstances": whether parental relocation qualifies as such a change; consideration of "best interests of the child." Modification of child support obligation; may not be modified retroactively, but may be modified prospectively if there is a "substantial change in circumstances" that significantly reduces the child's need or the obligor's ability to pay.
4	Real Property Tenancy in common: statutory presumption when conveyance to 2 or more grantees. Joint tenancy: 4 unities test (common law); is a joint tenancy or tenancy-in-common created when a deed's language includes "jointly" and "equally, to share and share equally" but does not mention survivorship? Act and consequence of severing a joint tenancy: mortgage by one joint tenant, contract to sell by one joint tenant. Distinction between "lien theory" and "title theory" jurisdictions. Bona fide purchaser for value; recording of mortgagee gives constructive notice to purchasers	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Security interest in equipment; after acquired collateral. Agreement that is called a lease may be a security interest: "economic realities" of the transaction where lessee has option to become owner with a nominal payment at end of the lease. Perfection of a security interest. Creditor's use of self-help remedies to repossess and sell collateral. Priority of liens: competing security interests. Applying proceeds of sale towards competing interests.

	regardless of unrecorded deed. Doctrine of equitable conversion.	Good faith purchaser of collateral at foreclosure sale: "transferee for value."
5	 Civil Procedure and Conflict of Laws FRCP 4 and Due Process clause of U.S. Constitution: evaluating basis for email service of process on a foreign corporation. Action against a foreign corporation on federal law claim and state law claim. Federal court sitting in diversity must apply choice-of-law rule of the state in which court sits when there is non-federal claim. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §145: applying choice of law rules to an issue in tort (unfair competition). 	Contracts Consideration: requirement of a "bargained-for exchange." Past consideration or past performance. Substitutes for consideration: material benefit rule and promissory estoppel.
6	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE	Civil Procedure Process for removing a case from state court to federal court. FRCP 20: joinder of claims in "same transaction or occurrence" and "common questions of law and fact." Subject matter jurisdiction. Diversity jurisdiction. Supplemental jurisdiction statute 28 U.S.C. §1367; claims arising out of state law; "common nucleus of operative fact" test.
7	TortsNegligence: standard of care owed by tenant to tenant's guest; standard for 8-year old child.Contributory negligence/comparative negligence.Negligence per se, state statute to keep apartment in good repair.Causation, proximate cause of injuries, intervening causes to break chain of causation.	Criminal Law and Procedure Fourth Amendment: standing to challenge the legality of a search, reasonable expectation of privacy. Attempted robbery: elements, intention & actions "beyond mere preparation." Defense of voluntary withdrawal or abandonment of crime when actions go beyond mere preparation.
8	 Family Law Due process requirements for assertion of personal jurisdiction over a nonresident parent in a child support action. State long-arm statute in fact pattern same as in Uniform Interstate Family Support Act (UIFSA). Contract to waive Dad's child support duty unenforceable because inconsistent with "best interest of child." Calculation of child support based upon income and earnings of parents, not public assistance levels. Child custody and visitation determination, "best interest of child" standard. 	Partnership Determining type of entity: limited partnership or general partnership when no general partner signs the limited partnership agreement. Partner liability for partnership obligations or debt; partners jointly and severally liable. Procedure for recovering against partners personally: judgment must first be obtained individually against each partner and against the partnership and levy execution against partnership assets. Partner liability for tort (wrongful death); joint and
9	Corporations When directors are entitled to the protection of the business judgment rule. Directors' duty to become informed before making business decisions. Breach of duty of care; breach of duty of loyalty. Director's failure to disclose his interest in a transaction to the other directors. Exculpatory provisions in articles of incorporation shielding directors from liability in money damages for failure to exercise adequate care in performance of their duties as directors.	Decedents' Estates Grounds for contesting a will: elements for undue influence, elements for fraud in the execution (misrepresents character/contents of the instrument) and in the inducement. Effect of finding of undue influence: can invalidate all or a portion of the will. General power of appointment and the proper exercise of power; residuary clause in will that makes no mention of power of appointment. Simultaneous Death Act: common accident where beneficiary survives testator by 1 week. Intestacy distribution rules: whether testator's niece or testator's uncle take if will is declared invalid. Parentelic method (UPC approach) of determining heirship compared to intestacy schemes governed

	by	the	civil	law	consanguinity	method	(minority
	me	thod)					

Essay #	February 2010	July 2010
1	Secured Transactions	Agency and Partnership
	UCC Article 9	Partnership formation (general partnership) without a
	Security interest in inventory. Retention of title by seller of delivered goods until	partnership agreement or formalities of other types of partnerships.
	payment is made is ineffective, resulting in an	Investment with a return of profits and with intention
	unperfected security interest in goods rather than a	to form a partnership; compared to a loan with the
	retention of title.	right to receive profits until loan is paid in full.
	Perfecting a security interest in inventory: raw	Assignment of partnership interest and rights of
	materials as inventory. Priority of liens: competing security interests,	assignee to receive profits. Rights of assignee to inspect books and records and
	perfected v. unperfected.	participate in management of partnership.
	Attachment of security interest, debtor must have	Identifying partnership property and the misuse of
	"rights in collateral" (undelivered goods.)	partnership property by a partner.
2	Real Property	Contracts/Article 2
	Types of easements.	UCC Article 2 sale of goods.
	Actual notice, constructive notice, or inquiry notice with regard to easements which are visible (power	Breach of warranty — creation of express warranty through affirmations of fact relating to the goods that
	lines) and easements which are not visible	are part of the basis of the bargain.
	(underground gas lines), when the easements are	Misrepresentation as common law basis to avoid or
	not recorded and when there are subsequent	rescind the contract; common law principles
	purchasers for value. "Shelter doctrine."	supplement the Code under UCC §1-103. Revocation of acceptance; duty to inspect and
	Conveyance by full covenant and warranty deed:	difficulty of discovery of latent defects.
	covenant against encumbrances.	Damages: recovery of contract price and incidental
		and consequential damages; alternative remedy of
		"cover" damages.
		Negatiable Instrumente/
		Negotiable Instruments/
		No longer on MEE
3	Family Law	Decedents' Estates
U	Basis for setting aside a settlement agreement	Execution requirements of a will: doctrine of
	before a final divorce judgment is entered: if fraud,	integration for multi-page will (validity when all pages
	overreaching, or duress results in a substantively unfair agreement.	of will are together but unstapled). Codicil: effect of handwritten change to bequest on a
	Consideration of marital misconduct in property or	previously executed will.
	alimony determination; distinction between marital	Doctrine of dependent relative revocation (revocation
	misconduct and financial misconduct in award	based on mistaken assumption of law or fact is
	considerations.	ineffective if testator would not have revoked if he
	Marital and separate property: professional license (law degree is marital property only in NY) acquired	had accurate information). Bequest to "my children" when testator intended only
	during the course of the marriage.	biological children to take under the will; rights of
	Rehabilitative award for spousal support and	adopted and non-marital child.
	maintenance; factors in determining spousal	Reformation of a will: use of extrinsic evidence to
4	support and maintenance (alimony) awards.	correct a mistake.
4	Torts Battery: intent and knowledge to a substantial	Constitutional Law First Amendment and types of forums: public forum,
	certainty (pedestrian hit by a baseball that traveled	limited public forum and nonpublic forum.
	over fence at baseball stadium).	Public forum: content-neutral regulation must meet
	Negligence.	intermediate scrutiny (statute preventing leaflet
	Vicarious liability of employer for negligence of	distribution on a public street).
	employee. Custom: industry standards in profession in	Limited public forum: rules applicable to traditional public forum apply; no exception to requirement of
	determining negligence.	content neutrality when religious speech is at issue.
	"Eggshell skull."	Non-public forum: state can regulate conduct without
		communicative value in a nonpublic forum.
5	Corporations	Real Property
	Closely held corporation.	Terms of conveyance ambiguous: fee simple on condition subsequent or fee simple determinable and
		the consequences that arise from each.
L	1	

	Shareholder's right of inspection of corporation's books and records (proper purpose of valuing shares of corporation). Shareholder's right to dividends; whether a suit to compel payment of a dividend is a suit to enforce a right of the corporation or a suit to enforce an individual right of the shareholder. Business judgment rule.	Interpreting grantor's intent: preference for fee simple on condition subsequent. Future interest and interpreting a state statute which allows interest to pass by will; interpreting a will with a survivorship contingency of "my surviving children" where one child predeceases testator.
6	Civil Procedure Subject matter jurisdiction. Jurisdiction: federal subject matter jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship and amount-in- controversy requirement (28 U.S.C. §1332(a)). Determining citizenship of corporation and permanent resident alien for diversity purposes. Diversity jurisdiction in breach of contract case (insurance policy). Domestic relations exception to federal courts' exercise of diversity jurisdiction: federal courts will not exercise jurisdiction over cases that are primarily marital disputes. FRCP 20: joinder of claims in "same transaction or occurrence" and "common questions of law and fact"; the logical-relationship test.	Family Law Determining enforceability of premarital agreement governing property distribution: voluntariness, unconscionability, reasonable disclosure of assets and liabilities. Marital and separate property: property acquired during marriage and by gift; pension can be part marital and part separate property. Alimony: financial resources, marital contributions and marital duration, spousal misconduct, injured spouse.
7	 Evidence Admissibility of relevant evidence in negligence action. FRE 701: non-expert opinion evidence. FRE 404(a): evidence of character trait not admissible for proving action in conformity on a particular occasion. FRE 406: habit evidence (cell phone usage). Relevancy of memory loss concerning events related to the incident. FRE 401-403: where parties have stipulated to injuries, evidence of additional injuries not mentioned in stipulation are inadmissible as waste of time and may be unfairly prejudicial. 	Civil Procedure FRCP 4(k)(1): asserting personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant. Exercise of state's long-arm statute where it extends jurisdiction as far as the Due Process Clause of the 14 th Amendment allows; evaluation of contacts with forum state for finding of specific jurisdiction based on nonresident's purposeful availment of benefits of forum state and foreseeability of being haled into court. Jurisdiction: federal subject matter jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship and amount-in-controversy requirement (28 U.S.C. §1332(a)). Determining citizenship of corporation for diversity purposes. Determining domicile based on residence and "intent to remain"; satisfying the amount-in-controversy requirement. Determining whether federal-question jurisdiction exists: whether claims alleged in complaint are created by federal or state law (federal statute, but state law claim).
8	TrustsRevocable trust.After-born children: "surviving children" as a classdoes not close until Settlor's death and wouldinclude "after-born" children.Distribution of trust assets where remaindermanpredeceases the life tenant: follow the directives intrust instrument; outcome different under UPCwhere survivors take a predeceased person'sshare by representation.Disclaimer of interest in a trust by beneficiary:beneficiary deemed to predecease the Settlor;different result under UPC's survivorship rule.Trustee's duty to invest prudently.	Criminal Law Larceny by false pretenses: elements. <i>Actus reus</i> and m <i>ens rea</i> elements of false pretenses. False statements of a material fact compared to commercial puffery. False statements made knowingly with the intent to defraud.

	Duty of fiduciary of a revocable trust who is acting in accordance with Settlor's wishes as compared to the duty of a fiduciary of an irrevocable trust.	
9	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE	Corporations Shareholder voting: importance of "record date" for determining voting eligibility. Proxy agreements: definition and revocability, action inconsistent with a proxy. Shareholder of record may vote at shareholder's meeting. Whether a corporation has the right to vote treasury shares. Whether certificate of incorporation or by-laws control when there is a conflict.

Essay #	February 2011	July 2011
1	Trusts Trustee with uncontrolled discretion to distribute income and principal. Discretionary trust: rights of creditors no greater than rights of beneficiary to compel trustee to make payments. Inheritance rights in trust of adopted grandchild who was adopted after testator's death. Where trust instrument creates a future interest in grandchildren: when does the class close. Vested remainder: trust provides that if the remainderman predeceases the life tenant that it shall pass to the child of the remainderman and the remainderman dies with no children; common law compared to UPC.	Secured Transactions Security interest in inventory and equipment including future or after acquired items. Perfection of a security interest. Retention of title by seller of delivered goods until payment is made is ineffective and results in an unperfected security interest in goods rather than the retention of title; seller must file a financing statement or retaining possession of goods to perfect a security interest. Priority of liens: competing security interests. Agreement that is called a lease may be a security interest: "economic realities" of the transaction where lessee becomes the owner after making all payments.
2	Evidence Impeaching witness credibility with a prior inconsistent statement. Extrinsic evidence admissible to impeach credibility between prior out-of-court statement and witness's trial testimony. FRE 801(d)(1)(C): non-hearsay statement of identification. FRE 801(d)(1)(A): a prior inconsistent statement admissible as not hearsay when the statement is made under oath, under penalty of perjury at trial, hearing, proceeding, or deposition. FRE 405(a): admissibility of evidence of good character of a relevant character trait may be introduced by defendant only through reputation or opinion testimony.	Criminal Law and Procedure Fourth Amendment: whether constitutional reasonableness of a traffic stop depends on the motivation of the officer. Probable cause to stop vehicle based on minor traffic violation. Search and seizure; evidence found in "plain view." <i>Miranda</i> rights: determining when they attach (arrested and being questioned). Whether <i>Miranda</i> violation's taint's subsequent interrogation. <i>Miranda</i> rights: demand for an attorney must be unequivocal and unambiguous as compared to defendant's statement: "Maybe I need a lawyer."
3	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Security interest in inventory. Sale of collateral: no continuation of security interest with a buyer in ordinary course of business (BIOCOB), consumer. Purchase-money security interest in consumer goods and perfected security interest without filing of financing statement; subsequent sale of collateral.	Trusts Court's power to reform trust provisions: equitable deviation doctrine; reforming trust terms when there is an unanticipated change in circumstances (expanded under the Uniform Trust Code to include modification of administrative trust provisions as well as dispositive provisions). Bequest to charity that no longer exists, <i>cy pres</i> doctrine, presumption of general charitable intent under the UTC.
4	Torts Battery: prima facie case, intent to cause a harmful or offensive contact (use of stun gun). Whether frisk as part of routine screening process is "offensive." Defense to battery: consent. Strict products liability: manufacturing defect. "Eggshell skull."	Real Property Termination of easement: abandonment, non-use, and intent to abandon. Common law first-in-time, first-in-right principle. Notice-type state recording statute that has a grantor-grantee index. Actual, constructive, or inquiry notice. "Wild deed": deed recorded outside the chain of title and therefore undiscoverable by a reasonable search of the grantor-grantee index; provides no constructive notice to subsequent purchaser. Easement (visible railroad tracks): subsequent purchaser put on inquiry notice.
5	Family Law Basis for invalidating a separation agreement's property and support provisions: unconscionability or fraud; whether misrepresentation of paternity would support a finding a fraud. Whether a property division award can be modified after divorce decree is entered.	Civil Procedure Determining what is an appealable final judgment. FRCP 54(b): final judgments are immediately appealable when there is "no just reason for delay." Final judgment rule; consideration of the collateral order exception (non-appealable interlocutory order regarding forum-selection clause).

	Modification of spousal-support award and a "substantial change in circumstances." Modification of child-support obligation based on non-paternity.	Whether pendant appellate jurisdiction would apply to allow appellate court to hear appeal where party is seeking review of a non-final order.
6	Contracts Offer to modify an existing contract: process of offer, counteroffer, acceptance. Breach of contract: failure to use good faith efforts to obtain loan which was a condition precedent to party's duty to perform. Recovery of expectation damages, including loss of potential investment when foreseeable at time of contract. Punitive damages not recoverable in contract.	Family Law and Conflict of Laws Validity of common law marriage in states that do not recognize common law marriages. Requirements to establish a common law marriage. Substantive due process rights under 14 th Amendment of unwed biological father. Whether state can permit adoption without the consent of the biological father. Determining a child's "home state" under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act to issue an initial custody decree (UCCJEA).
7	Corporations Filing of articles of incorporation: sets effective date of corporate existence. Liability of persons purporting to act on behalf of corporation with knowledge that articles of incorporation have not been filed. Personal liability by those who purport to act for a corporation if they entered the contract with knowledge there was no incorporation.	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE
8	Civil Procedure FRCP 12(b)(6): motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action. FRCP 12(b): failure to join other defenses: waiver of defense of insufficient service of process when motion challenging service not joined in initial Rule 12(b) motion. FRCP 13(g): defendant's answer may state crossclaim against a co-defendant where the claim arises out of the same transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the original action. Whether federal court has independent subject matter jurisdiction over a state law cross-claim where there is no diversity of citizenship and the amount-in- controversy is not satisfied. Federal courts' basis for supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §1367(a) over all claims that "derive from a common nucleus of operative fact."	Constitutional Law Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Gender-based discrimination: separate nursing facilities and programs based on gender. State action doctrine: when can actions of private party be considered state action. Classification based on gender: assessed under heightened or intermediate scrutiny. State must show important governmental objectives and means employed are substantially related to achievement of those objectives. Remedying past discrimination as an "important governmental objective."
9	Decedents' Estates Execution requirements of a will: handwritten wills that are properly executed compared to holographic wills. Whether a life insurance beneficiary be changed by a will provision. Incorporation by reference of memorandum regarding testator's jewelry located in safe deposit box. Lapsed legacy and anti-lapse statute with respect to a husband that predeceases the testator. Abatement of legacies in order of the classification of legacy.	Partnership Withdrawing from a partnership and consequences for the partner and the partnership. Dissociation when proper and when wrongful. Winding-up process: partnership obligations incurred during winding-up period; liability of partners for partnership obligations.

Essay #	February 2012	July 2012
1	Evidence	Trusts and Future Interests
	FRE 401: relevant evidence. FRE 407: subsequent remedial measures (hospital change in policy). FRE 408: settlement offers of disputed claim. FRE 409: offers to pay medical expenses. FRE 412(a): "Rape Shield" rule. FRE 412(b)(2): in civil cases, otherwise inadmissible evidence of allege victim's sexual behavior is admissible "if its probative value substantially outweighs the danger of harm to any victim."	Irrevocable trust. Termination of trust upon consent of the income beneficiaries and remainder beneficiaries if there is no material purpose yet to be performed. Whether limitation on remarriage of husband beneficiary is a material purpose. Trust remainder to "Settlor's children": gift to a class related to a common ancestor with no condition of survivorship; who qualifies as trust remainder under common law as compared to a jurisdiction that adopted the UPC survivorship statute. "Surviving children" as a class of persons does not close until death of "Settlor" and includes children born after the creation of the trust (after-born). Trust termination: trust beneficiaries may direct
		distribution of trust property in any manner they choose and so direct the trustee.
2	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE	Criminal Law and Procedure Involuntary manslaughter: elements. <i>Mens rea</i> required for involuntary manslaughter liability; varies by jurisdiction recklessness, gross, criminal, or culpable negligence (defendant dumped bags of marbles at traffic intersection at night resulting in car accident and passenger death). Causation: causation in fact (but for cause) proximate cause. Accomplice liability on charge of involuntary manslaughter: elements. Must have <i>mens rea</i> required for underlying offense.
3	Contracts Substantial performance; when failure to perform or defective performance amounts to a material breach. Determining when a contract is divisible to allow some measure of recovery in event of breach; when a party may be entitled to restitution based on part performance.	Constitutional Law Interstate Commerce Clause: Congressional authority to regulate economic activities that have a "substantial economic effect" on interstate commerce (Federal statute against workplace violence). 10 th Amendment: federalism, Congress may regulate public and private actors on the same terms. Bar of the 11 th Amendment: when abrogation of state immunity is satisfied.
4	Torts False imprisonment: elements (refusal to restart a ferris wheel) Vicarious liability of employer for acts of employee. Negligence: standard of care. Whether parent can bring claim for emotional distress: "zone of danger"; contemporaneously observe injury to child.	Family Law Which state has jurisdiction to issue a child custody decree when the child has no "home state": pursuant to the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act, state may exercise jurisdiction based on "significant connections" and "substantial evidence" (UCCJEA). Weight given to older child's wishes or preferences in determining custody: relevant but not determinative. Interpreting a state grandparent child-custody statute: violation of due process of parent when no deference is given to fit parent's determination of best interests of child.
5	Decedents' Estates Execution requirements of will.	Secured Transactions Perfection of a security interest: present and future inventory, equipment not included.

	Codicil: cannot republish a will that has not been properly executed; codicil will act as a valid partial will. Incorporation by reference where testator says "I republish my will": specific identification to the earlier document and testator's intent to incorporate the document. Intestacy distribution rules: "slayer statute" where heir murdered another but did not kill testator. Rule of ademption: specific bequest of real property no longer in testator's estate at time of death; common law ademption compared to "intent test" regarding substitute or replacement property. Effect of a stock dividend or stock split on a specific bequest of "my 400 shares."	Sale of collateral: no continuation of security interest with a buyer in ordinary course of business (BIOCOB), consumer. Security interest extending beyond inventory to equipment when inventory is traded for equipment. Retention of title by seller of delivered goods until payment is made is ineffective and results in an unperfected security interest in goods rather than the retention of title; seller must file a financing statement or retain possession of goods to perfect a security interest. Priority of liens: competing security interests and a judgment lien.
6	PartnershipLLP liability for pre-existing judgement against sameentity prior to its qualification as an LLP.LLP status: partners' liability for partnershipobligations incurred prior to qualification as LLP andthose incurred after such qualification.Incoming partner's personal liability for LLP'sobligations incurred before becoming a partner.	Torts Negligence: duty of care owed by university to its students; causation (failure to repair broken lock). No general duty to come to aid of another: exception if increase in harm and reliance on actor. Duty of psychotherapist: to warn a reasonably identifiable individual of credible threat from patient; no duty to an indeterminate class. "Eggshell skull."
7	Civil Procedure and Conflict of Laws When removal from state court to federal court is proper under 28 U.S.C. §1441(a). Venue: change of venue under 28 U.S.C. §1404(a) permitted to a court where the action could have been brought originally, convenience of the parties, and "interest of justice." Application of <i>Erie</i> Rule following a change of venue: court to which the case is transferred must apply the same law as would have been applied by the original court: change of venue does not affect the law to be applied.	Civil Procedure FRCP 15(a)(2): leave to amend its answer based on facts learned in discovery where defendant previously failed to raise the affirmative defense. Defendant's burden to plead affirmative defenses under FRCP 8(c). FRCP 56(a): standard for grant of summary judgment: "no genuine issue as to any material fact"; in considering the evidence, inferences must be drawn most favorable to the party opposing the motion.
8	Real Property Appurtenant easement extinguished by merger with a subsequent deed. Creation of easement by implication (implied from prior use): identify criteria. Distribution of proceeds in foreclosure sale with multiple lenders when the first loan which was recorded is a construction loan or "future-advance" mortgage. Whether future-advances mortgage payments are required or optional determines the rights of junior lender.	Corporations and LLCs Member-managed LLC; whether majority member of member-managed LLC has fiduciary duties that require it to bring claims against an LLC member. Claim of LLC v. claim of individual member of LLC. When a derivative action in a member-managed LLC may be brought. Involuntary dissolution: "oppression doctrine" as applied to LLC. Limited liability of LLC members and managers: piercing the LLC veil.
9	Corporations Notice requirements for special meeting of directors (stating the purpose of meeting not necessary): waiver of notice by a director by attending and voting. Quorum required for action at special meeting of board of directors. What it means to be "legally present" at a meeting: all directors must be able to simultaneously hear all others who are present.	Decedents' Estates and Conflict of Laws Conflict of laws: domicile and distribution of personal property, real property and law of the situs. Holographic wills and interpretation of two different state statutes with different execution requirements where both statutes find the will invalid – all assets to pass intestate. Interpretation of two different state intestacy statutes with regard to inheritance rights of biological, adopted, and non-marital child when paternity has been established; constitutional standards.

Essay #	February 2013	July 2013
2	Real Property Landlord/tenant: commercial lease with term-of- years. Constructive eviction: elements at common law. No implied duty for landlord to repair leased premises under common law; courts reluctant to imply duty to repair in commercial leases. Written lease contained no term requiring landlord to repair the air-conditioning. Covenant of quiet enjoyment does not include duty to repair. Surrender of a lease by tenant and whether the landlord accepted the surrender (retaining keys) or held the tenant to lease terms. Common law rule: landlord had not duty to mitigate damages and not entitled to recover unpaid future rents, only what was in arrears at time of suit. Other courts allow landlords to sue tenants for wrongful termination and seek damages equal to difference between unpaid rent due and fair market rental value or other valuations for unpaid future rent. Contracts/Article 2	Civil Procedure Jurisdiction: federal subject matter jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship (28 U.S.C. §1332(a)). Determining domicile: residence and "intent to remain." Determining citizenship for corporations: dual citizenship based on state where incorporated and where corp. has its principal place of business ("nerve center" test). Venue: basis for venue when jurisdiction is based on diversity (28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)). Obtaining personal jurisdiction over a corporate defendant (FRCP 4(k)). Exercise of state's long-arm statute where it extends jurisdiction as far as Due Process Clause of the 14 th Amendment allows.
	UCC Article 2 sale of goods. Reasonable grounds for insecurity regarding prospective performance; written demand for adequate assurances; when failure to provide such assurances constitute a repudiation. Retracting a repudiation.	Vicarious liability of employer for acts of employee committed within the scope of employment. Principal's liability for agent's torts based on apparent authority of employee. Negligence: causation.
3	Constitutional Law First Amendment: freedom of speech (refusal to recite pledge of allegiance). State action where private actor exercises a "public function (running a privately owned "company town"). First Amendment ban on compelled expression; compelled expression of a political belief (school required students to salute flag and Pledge Allegiance). Regulation of student speech by schools and teachers. Traditional public forum: content-neutral regulation of speech, intermediate scrutiny of a statute (preventing leaflet distribution).	Family Law Whether a court would order a parent to stop making contributions from her earnings to a religious organization. Court intervention in parental disputes: whether a court would require one parent to follow the other's preference with respect to child rearing practices (allowing daughter to take skating lessons). Court intervention when health or safety of child is at issue because of parent's religious belief; court may order medication given to child. Whether court may deny a parent custody based the parent's religious faith based on a threat to the child's health or safety: "best interests of the child."
4	UCC Article 9 Perfection of a security interest: "purchase-money security interest" in consumer goods without a financing statement. Sale of collateral and continuation of security interest with a buyer who is not a buyer in the ordinary course of business (BIOCOB), but rather is a buyer of goods used for "personal, family or household purposes." Gift of collateral, for no value and the continuation of a security interest.	Evidence Hearsay; exceptions to hearsay (911 call). FRE 803 (1): present sense impressions. FRE 803 (2): "excited utterances." FRE 803 (4): "statements made for medical diagnosis and treatment." Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause: whether the statement to police was testimonial.
5	Civil Procedure Claim preclusion (<i>res judicata</i>): determining issues of privity between parties (family relationship). Issue preclusion (<i>collateral estoppel</i>): effect of privity on non-party's ability to present her claim in a second suit even if it is factually related to claims and defenses presented in first suit. Non-mutual issue preclusion: abandonment of "traditional" requirement of mutuality where the party	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE

	asserting issue preclusion and party against whom it	
-	was asserted were both bound by the prior judgment.	
6	AgencyDefining the agency relationship.Power of agent to bind principal.Actual and apparent authority.Agent exceeding authority or acting without authorityand consequences.Types of authority: actual, inherent, and apparentauthority.Undisclosed, partially disclosed, and unidentifiedprincipals: impact on liability for contracts enteredinto by agent.Effect of ratification on contract by undisclosedprincipal: whether owner is liable depends onwhether court follows Second or Third Restatementof Agency.	Corporations and LLCs Member-managed LLC: members in a fiduciary relationship with duty of utmost trust and loyalty. Where member participates in a competing business but the express terms of the operating agreement allow members to have such an interest ("opting-out" of the duty of loyalty). Liability of members for debts of LLC: improper dissolution and winding up of LLC; notice to creditors. Piercing the LLC veil: "alter ego" where factors are considered: improper use of the LLC form, siphoning funds, intermingling personal and business funds, failure to follow corporate accounting formalities.
7	Evidence FRE 401: relevant evidence. Hearsay: text message is a "written assertion." FRE 803(1): hearsay exception for present sense impressions. FRE 803(6): text message as a business record. "Thumbs-up" as a non-verbal assertion made out-of- court: when hearsay and when not.	Contracts/Article 2 UCC Article 2 sale of goods. Statute of frauds: sale of goods over \$500. Application of "merchant confirmatory memo" exception. What constitutes a signature to satisfy the statute of frauds. Where statute of frauds is not satisfied but the contract is valid in other respects, it is enforceable as to the goods which have received and accepted.
8	Trusts and Future InterestsRevocable trust (inter vivos); whether a revocabletrust is amendable.Settlor's power of revocation includes the power toamend trust when trust is silent on power to amendor modify.Settlor's ability to amend trust without formalitiesnecessary to execute a will (no need for witnesses toSettlor's signature).Revocable trust may be amended any time prior toSettlor's death and the amendment applies to assetsconveyed to the trust in a pour-over will where the willwas executed prior to amendment.Rule Against Perpetuities: interpreting the statestatute provided in the MEE question; applyingcommon law rule to determine validity of Settlor's	Real Property New home construction: implied warranty against latent defects, implied warranty of fitness, implied warranty of habitability (rejection of caveat emptor doctrine). Extension of implied warranty of latent defects to remote grantees or subsequent purchasers in most jurisdictions (despite lack of privity with builder). Assumption of mortgage: express assumption required for personal liability on unpaid mortgage obligation; implied assumption of mortgage.
9	Negotiable Instruments/ No longer on MEE	Decedents' Estates Prenuptial agreement: waiving rights in spouse's estate will not preclude a surviving spouse from inheriting from a will that was executed after the prenuptial agreement was signed. Divorce: when parties have only filed for divorce as compared to a final divorce at the time of the testator's death. Adopted-out child: rights to inherit when child is adopted out by a family member. Appointment of personal representative when will is silent; priority of devisees.

Essay #	February 2014	July 2014
Essay # 1 2	 Constitutional Law Fifth Amendment: city ordinance requiring business to install floodlights is not a <i>per se</i> taking. Unconstitutional regulatory taking of property without unjust compensation compared to regulating with a legitimate state interest. Determining a regulatory taking: three-part balancing test under <i>Penn Central</i>. Exaction of an easement to obtain a building permit, uncompensated taking, <i>Dolan</i> test. Trusts and Future Interests Testamentary trust. Determining what constitutes income and principal, 	Criminal Law and Procedure Sixth Amendment right to counsel: is charge- or offense- specific; does not attach to uncharged crimes where there is no formal adversarial judicial proceeding. <i>Miranda</i> rights: demand for an attorney must be unequivocal and unambiguous as compared to defendant's statement: "I think I want my lawyer here before I talk to you." <i>Miranda</i> rights: standard for waiver of rights is voluntary, knowing, and intelligent. Contracts Consideration: modification and pre-existing duty rule.
	sale of proceeds of real estate, rental proceeds, cash dividends, and stock dividends. Disclaimer made more than 9 months after testator's death is invalid pursuant to state statute; income beneficiary who invalidly disclaims is not deemed to have predeceased testator; common law rule allowing disclaimers at any time; acceleration of remainder not available where the remainder in will has survivorship contingency.	Exception under the Restatement (Second) for changed circumstances that were unanticipated at the time of contract and the modification would be fair and equitable. UCC Article 2: consideration not required for modifications made in good faith. Defense of economic duress/ business compulsion: when a threat of non-performance is "wrongful" or "improper."
3	 UCC Article 9 Security interest in equipment including future or after acquired items. Priority of liens: competing security interests and "first to file-or-perfect rule." Filing financing statement before security agreement or loan is obtained, attachment, and determining the date of perfection. Sale of collateral and continuation of security interest in equipment where buyer is not a buyer in ordinary course of business (BIOCOB) because seller is not in the business of selling goods of that kind. 	Family Law Interstate enforcement and modification of child support orders (UIFSA), personal jurisdiction, subject matter jurisdiction, enforcement in non- issuing state. UIFSA: does not govern property distributions in divorce decree. Modification of child support obligation, retroactive modification, prospective support obligation and "substantial change in circumstances", involuntary loss of income or voluntary loss of income. Modification of property-division award in divorce decree, personal jurisdiction and property division.
4	Civil Procedure FRCP 26(b)(1), FRCP 34(a)(1). Discovery: work product rule: whether a document prepared in the course of a contract dispute is non- discoverable "work product" when the document was not prepared in anticipation of litigation. Discovery; destruction of discoverable materials, deletion of potentially relevant emails when litigation is possible, role of routine document retention/destruction policy. Duty to preserve discoverable materials when litigation is anticipated. Determining appropriate sanctions for spoliation of evidence: court considers the level of culpability of the spoliating party and the degree of prejudice the loss of evidence causes the other party.	Civil Procedure FRCP 24(a): intervention as a matter of right; identification of the three requirements for intervention of right. Standard and requirements for granting TRO under FRCP 65(b). Standard for granting preliminary injunction: (1) risk of "irreparable harm" to plaintiff if preliminary injunction is not granted; (2) likelihood of plaintiff's success on the merits of the underlying claim; (3) "balance of the equities" likelihood that the harm the plaintiff will suffer in the absence of the preliminary injunction outweighs the harm the defendant will suffer if it is granted; (4) the public interest.
5	Criminal Law and Procedure Fifth Amendment: double jeopardy, two crimes with different elements, theft and burglary. Due Process Clause requires the prosecution to prove all elements of offense beyond a reasonable doubt: jury instructions which create either an "irrebutable conclusive presumption" or a "rebuttable	Evidence Impeachment of witnesses with evidence of prior convictions and specific instances of misconduct (felony drug conviction, perjury, sexual assault). FRE 609(a): evidence of prior convictions admissible to attack witness's character for truthfulness.

	presumption" unconstitutionally shift burden of proof to the defendant. Sixth Amendment: right to jury trial on element of offense, where the value of stolen goods may increase the penalty for a crime, said value is a question for the jury and must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.	 FRE 609(b): determining the 10-year time limit for admissibility: limit runs from date of conviction or release from confinement whichever is later. Admissibility of evidence subject to FRE 403 balancing test. FRE 608(b): cross-examination of witness about specific instance of prior non-conviction misconduct (lying on job application and resume). FRE 608(b): forbids use of extrinsic evidence to impeach witness's character for truthfulness.
6	Agency and Partnership Partner liability in general partnership: joint and several liability for misrepresentations made by partner in the ordinary course of the partnership business. Extent of personal liability of incoming partner in a general partnership on existing claims against the partnership. How a general partnership can make an election and become a limited liability partnership. After the filing by a general partnership of a statement of qualification as a limited liability partnership, whether the partners are personally liable as partners on (a) an existing claim against the general partnership and (b) a claim against the partnership that arose after the filing.	Corporations Whether shareholders have authority to amend corporation's bylaws and if so, what are proper matters (e.g., procedures for nominating directors). Shareholders' power to amend or repeal board-approved bylaws. Derivative suit: to vindicate corporate rights; must make demand on the board. Ability of shareholders to bring direct suit: to vindicate shareholder's own rights.

Essay #	February 2015	July 2015
1	Torts Independent contractor vs. employee Vicarious liability of employer for acts of employee committed within the scope of employment. Negligence <i>per se:</i> violation of traffic ordinance (double-parking). Whether conforming to custom is a defense to negligence. Indemnification of employer by employee for tort claim.	Torts Negligence: minor engaged in a hazardous, adult activity (snowmobiling). Standard of care owed by landowner to a trespasser and to a licensee. Attractive nuisance doctrine. No general duty to come to aid of another: exception if increase in harm and reliance on actor. Contributory/comparative negligence.
2	Constitutional Law Age-based discrimination. Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment: three levels of scrutiny for EP claims. Scope of congressional authority under Section Five of Fourteenth Amendment.	Civil Procedure FRCP (4)(k)(1)(A): asserting personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant. Exercise of state's long-arm statute where it extends jurisdiction as far as the Due Process Clause of the 14 th Amendment allows; evaluation of contacts with a forum state. Jurisdiction: 28 U.S.C. § 1331: original jurisdiction, cause of action based on violating a federal statute. Jurisdiction: 28 U.S.C. § 1367: supplemental jurisdiction, "same case or controversy" even though based on contract claim or state claim.
3	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Criteria for a valid security interest. Security interest in "accounts" and "inventory." Classifying property as an account, inventory, or equipment. Inventory: raw materials as inventory, items left for repair by customers are not inventory. Sale of collateral: no continuation of security interest with a buyer in ordinary course of business (BIOCOB), consumer to consumer. Priority of liens: competing security interest and a judgment lien.	Contracts/Article 2 Statute of frauds: sale of goods over \$500, oral agreement followed by a signed letter indicating that the contract exists. Repudiation of contract, attempted retraction of repudiation. Damages: difference between contract price and resale price plus incidental damages.
4	Real PropertyAdverse possession: elements, calculating the 10- year statutory period by tacking of time of previous possessors.Title acquired by adverse possession extends to only occupied portion and not entire parcel of land. Warranty deed: 6 covenants, present and future covenants, breach of covenant of seisin. Easement: buyer taking property subject to existing sewer-line easement.	Corporations Director's conflicting interest transaction/director self-dealing. Business judgment rule. Safe harbor for director who breaches his duty of loyalty: approval by disinterested directors, approval by disinterested shareholders, or fairness (RMBCA). Corporate directors' breach of duty of loyalty where unable to show that the transaction was fair to the corporation even if not properly authorized. Corporate directors' breach of duty of care by failure to be adequately informed prior to decision- making.
5	Civil Procedure FRCP 4 (h): service of process on a corporation. Subject matter jurisdiction based on federal question (sexual harassment and sex discrimination claim). Subject matter jurisdiction over third party complaint for state law claim, breach of contract: based on diversity, Determining corporate citizenship for purposes of diversity. Determining domicile and amount-in-controversy requirement.	Criminal Law and Procedure Affirmative defense: requirements to establish defense of not guilty by reason of insanity (NGRI). Manslaughter: elements; <i>actus reus and mens rea</i> (death caused by the criminal operation of a motor vehicle). Affirmative defense: duress (knife held to throat of the defendant).

	FRCP 14(a): impleader rules, improper joinder of claims, third-party claim based on derivative liability.	
6	Decedents' Estates	Trusts
-	Revocation of will or a portion of a will: testamentary	Testamentary trust.
	intention to revoke and physical act; writing on will to	Provision of trust that violates public policy is void
	"call lawyer to fix" is only intent to have will reviewed,	(condition of marriage).
	not revoked.	Duty of loyalty: self-dealing, trustee purchasing
	Rights of after-born child (pretermitted child) not	stock from trust; trust beneficiaries may seek to
	mentioned in will.	rescission of the transaction or seek damages.
	Distribution of assets of revocable trust: interpreting	Duty to invest trust assets in a prudent manner
	state intestacy statute and state statute regarding	(mutual funds decline in value during economic
	"illusory" revocable trusts (created during marriage).	downturn).

Essay #	February 2016	July 2016
1	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Security interest in "present and future inventory" in a store; buyer in ordinary course of business (BIOCOB) and "shelter principle" affecting subsequent transfers. Perfection of retailer's security interest: "purchase- money security interest" in "consumer goods"; retailer retaining title is in effect a security interest. Sale of collateral: no continuation of security interest with a buyer in ordinary course of business (BIOCOB), consumer to consumer. Security interests in proceeds (check) of sale of collateral.	Limited Liability Companies Determining whether an LLC is member-managed or manager-managed when its certificate of organization and operating agreement is silent. Whether a member in a member-managed LLC had actual or apparent authority to bind the LLC to a contract based on determinations of whether the acts were within the ordinary course of the LLC's activities or outside it. Consequences of an LLC member's withdrawal: constitutes a "dissociation" and not a "dissolution" and winding up of the business.
2	Evidence Hearsay; exceptions to hearsay. FRE 803 (1): present sense impressions. FRE 803 (2): "excited utterances." Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause: whether the statement was testimonial (arguments either way in this case). FRE 801(d)(1)(C): admissibility of out-of-court statement of identification testified to at trial. Character evidence: inadmissible to show propensity.	Evidence and Criminal Procedure Miranda rights: whether defendant's crying is a testimonial communication. Hearsay; exceptions to hearsay, non-hearsay. FRE 803(5): recorded recollections. FRE 801(d)(2): non-hearsay (statement of opposing party). FRE 803(5): even if written notes meet exception to be read into evidence, admissible as an exhibit only if offered by the adverse party. Whether post-invocation statements are admissible when custodial suspect initiates communication with police: fresh set of Miranda warnings required. Police obligation to honor an invocation of Miranda right to counsel terminates 14 days after suspect has been released from interrogative custody (Maryland v. Shatzer).
3	Agency and Partnership LLP's liability based on LLP partner's apparent authority to take out a bank loan. LLP partner's limited liability for partnership debts; exception for personal misconduct. Partners' fiduciary duties to the partnership and other partners: duty of loyalty, duty of care. Partners' liability for damages to the partnership and co-partners for breach. Partnership and individually injured partner can bring a direct action against the breaching partner and an accounting action.	Torts Medical malpractice: standard of care for the relevant specialty and medical community. Negligence. Strict products liability (pesticide in herbal tea); manufacturing defect. Implied warranty of merchantability. Causation requirement not met where multiple product manufacturers and plaintiff cannot link any particular defendant to his injury. Strict products liability claim against commercial seller.
4	Constitutional Law Commerce Clause: state statute that applies equally to in-state and out-of-state utilities. Where a state statute treats in-state electricity consumers more favorably than out-of-state consumers. Where state acts as a "market participant."	Secured Transactions and Real Property UCC Article 9 Remedies available to a secured creditor when debtor defaults on "equipment"; whether "self-help" is available. Security interest in equipment: defining "equipment" under Article 9. Perfection of a security interest in equipment including fixtures. Determining the priority of interests in equipment after it becomes a fixture when a bank holds a mortgage on the real property; exception relating to the priority of a "purchase-money security interest" in fixtures as against an encumbrance of the related real property. "Fixture filing."
5	Decedents' Estates	Contracts

	Agent's authority to act under a durable health-care power of attorney (POA). Protection of agent from civil (wrongful death action) and criminal liability when acting in good faith. "Slayer statute": where one who intentionally caused the decedent's death is barred from sharing in the estate with regard to health care POA.	Whether contract rights may be assigned without the obligor's consent when the assignment does not change the obligor's duty in any material respect. What is required for an effective assignment. The assignee's rights to enforce the contract when the obligor does not perform. Determining third-party beneficiary status: differences between incidental vs. intended beneficiaries. Delegation of duties: where obligor remains liable for any breach by the delegate.
6	Family Law Determining enforceability of premarital agreement under the Uniform Premarital Agreement Act (UPAA): voluntariness, unconscionability, reasonable disclosure of assets and liabilities. Determination of marital property and separate property; principles of equitable distribution; winning lottery ticket purchased before divorce filing.	jurisdiction based on service of process of defendant who is physically present in the state. Jurisdiction: 28 U.S.C. § 1331: subject matter jurisdiction; federal question jurisdiction based on a

Essay #	February 2017	July 2017
1	Contracts/Article 2 Offer formation under the Code; whether a party is a merchant. Irrevocable offers; "firm offers." Output contracts.	Torts Strict products liability: whether public fireworks display is an abnormally dangerous activity. Negligence; negligence <i>per se</i> . Burden of taking precautions compared to risk of harm. Assessing proximate cause: danger invites rescue. Vicarious liability: whether one who employs an independent contractor is liable for harm caused by the independent contractor when the contractor is hired to engage in work involving a special danger to others and the employer knows about such danger.
2	Trusts Revocable trust. Settlor's power of revocation includes the power to amend trust when trust is silent on power to amend or modify. Under UTC, power to revoke or amend is exercisable by will unless the trust instrument provides otherwise. Power of appointment (specific not general) created in Settlor's trust and exercised in a subsequent will; "permissible appointees." Taker in default of ineffective appointment. Right of election. Surviving spouse's right to the elective share of probate assets pursuant to a state statute. Illusory transfer doctrine and fraudulent transfer doctrine (available in some jurisdictions) allowing surviving spouse to exercise the right of election to claim trust assets held in a revocable trust.	Constitutional Law State's sovereign immunity under the 11 th Amendment from suit for damages in federal court. <i>Ex parte Young:</i> suit against State's Superintendent of Banking to enjoin enforcement of allegedly unconstitutional statute not barred by 11 th Amendment when it is an official-capacity action and seeks prospective relief. Dormant commerce clause: balancing test is used when the state law is nondiscriminatory on its face (because it applies equally to local and out-of-state banks) but still imposes an incidental burden on interstate commerce.
3	 Family Law and Conflict of Laws Requirements to establish a common law marriage. Recognition of common law marriage in other states. Determination of marital property; principles of equitable distribution. Putative-spouse doctrine. Illegality of bigamy: when a first marriage is not legally dissolved, a second marriage has no legal effect. Presumption that the latest in a series of marriages is valid: designed to protect parties' expectations but may be rebutted. Property and support rights between unmarried co- habitants based on an express or implied contract to share assets. Fundamental right of parents to control the upbringing of their children; a fit parent is presumed to act in the best interests of her children. Determining non-parent's visitation rights.	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Perfection of a security interest in "present and future accounts." UCC Article 9 criteria for attachment of a security interest. Priority of liens: competing security interests and "first to file or perfect rule." Determining priority of interests between perfected and unperfected interests. Discharge of obligations by account debtors to assignee upon receiving notice of the assignment.
4	Corporations Shareholder's right to inspect accounting records and board minutes if there is a "proper purpose"; proper purpose as a shareholder includes trying to	Decedent's Estates/Future Interests Execution requirements of will. Validity of will when witnessed by an interested witness and effect on the bequest to that witness.

	determine whether improper corporate transactions have occurred. Shareholder has burden to show credible evidence of possible mismanagement to obtain inspection of books and records. When the board can seek dismissal of a shareholder's derivative suit: need for good faith, reasonable inquiry by majority of board's qualified directors into the shareholder's allegations. Fiduciary and good faith duties of directors; when the business judgment rule protects directors' conduct.	Codicil: republication-by-codicil doctrine cures defect in previously validly executed will with interested witness problem. Bequest of household goods (furniture) made in an unattested document (memo) written after the will was executed and the will evidences intent to so dispose of the property. Whether a bequest violates the Rule Against Perpetuities (RAP). Vesting of a class gift for purposes of the RAP when the class is closed and all members of the class have met any conditions precedent.
5	 Agency Defining the agency relationship. Agents: scope of authority; actual, inherent, and apparent authority. Power of agent to bind the principal: Liability to third party when agent enters into a contract with a third party on behalf of a disclosed principal on terms not authorized by the principal. Liability to third party when agent enters into a contract with a third party on behalf of an undisclosed principal on terms authorized by the principal but the principal later repudiates the contract. Liability to third party when agent enters into a contract on behalf of a partially disclosed principal but the principal later repudiates the contract. 	Evidence/Criminal Law and Procedure Relevant evidence. Hearsay, non-hearsay, & exceptions to hearsay. Hearsay: when an out-of-court statement is not hearsay. Whether criminal defendant's admission violates <i>Miranda</i> when the police officer's question was limited to weapons and asked after a shooting (public safety exception to <i>Miranda</i>). Non-hearsay: statement of opposing party Hearsay exceptions: custodian describing what he heard around the time of the incident: • FRE 803 (1): hearsay exception: present sense impressions; or • FRE 803 (2): "excited utterances."
6	Real Property Landlord/tenant. Validity of lease provision requiring landlord's written consent for assignment; whether refusal to consent to assignment must be reasonable. Actions constituting an abandonment of the premises. Landlord's options when tenant abandons: accept surrender of the premises; re-let or attempt to re- let the premises and leave the premises vacant and sue tenant for unpaid rent. Landlord's duty to mitigate.	Civil Procedure and Conflict of Laws FRCP 12 – whether a motion to dismiss can be amended prior to a responsive filing (no prejudice or delay to other party) to add a ground for dismissal that would have been waived because it was not raised in the initial Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. FRCP 4(e): insufficient service of process when documents are not personally served but delivered to parents' home where defendant used to live. Choice-of-law rules: a federal court sitting in diversity applies the choice-of-law rules of the state where the federal court sits (Restatement) and according to a signed contract between the parties.

Essay #	February 2018	July 2018
1	Family Law Enforceability of premarital agreement with property division, alimony, and child custody provisions. Divisibility of marital assets at divorce: separate and marital property. Whether a parent's adulterous conduct is considered by the court in making a custody decision. "Best interests of the child": factors in determining child custody.	Constitutional Law Whether a federal act requiring state officers/ agencies to assist in the enforcement of federal drug laws violates fundamental principles of federalism. Concepts of federalism and dual sovereignty. Constitutional exercise of Congress's spending power when it conditions the granting of federal funds on a state's compliance with "federal statutory and administrative directives.
2	Criminal Law Determining whether a criminal defendant is competent to stand trial. If found competent and the prosecution proceeds, whether a jurisdiction that follows the <i>M'Naughten</i> test should find the defendant not guilty by reason of insanity (NGRI).	Contracts/Article 2 Determining whether UCC Article 2 applies to a transaction involving a lawnmower. Offer; rejection; renewing an offer. Promise to keep an offer open: by common law, by statute, by reliance. Terminating the power of acceptance: indirect revocation.
3	Contracts/Article 2 Determining whether UCC Article 2 or the common law applies under a mixed contract: predominant purpose test. Applicability of the parol evidence rule to a prior oral agreement. Consideration: modification and pre-existing duty rule.	Real Property Application of the nonconforming-use doctrine: whether proposed changes to expand a convenience store are exempt from the zoning ordinance as a nonconforming use depends on whether they are substantial or unsubstantial changes. "Future-advances" loan: whether the bank's commitment to make future advances optional or obligatory. Determining whether a bank's mortgage has priority over a mechanic's lien when the mortgage was recorded and payment was made before the filing of the lien.
4	Real Property Whether there was a breach of a warranty deed's title covenants, specifically, the covenant against encumbrances. Whether damages are available for breach of the covenant against encumbrances when the easement was plain and obvious and if so, what they would be. Whether there was a breach of the implied warranty of habitability.	Trusts and Future Interests Duties of trustee to the trust beneficiaries. Duty of loyalty: trustee rented a trust-owned apartment to himself but paid the market rate (self- dealing); "no-further-inquiry rule." Duty of prudent administration (duty of care): trustee failed to purchase fire/casualty insurance on the trust's real property. Duty to comply with applicable law: trustee allocated a \$50,000 repair expense necessitated by a fire exclusively to income when it should have been allocated to principal. Distribution of trust principal where the remainder interest was vested.
5	Civil Procedure FRCP 11: filing an answer with a general denial of factual and legal contentions where the attorney made no inquiry into the facts before doing so. Procedure for presenting a Rule 11 motion: giving attorney an opportunity to correct the pleading. Court's discretion in imposing sanctions; possible sanctions; on whom sanctions may be imposed: the party, the attorney the law firm.	Evidence Admissibility of relevant evidence. Opinion evidence: lay and expert opinion. Hearsay; business-records exception. Physician-patient privilege; patient's waiver of the privilege by filing a civil lawsuit placing her medical condition "in issue." Non-hearsay: statement by an opposing party. Hearsay exception for statements made for medical diagnosis or treatment. Question of whether roommate's texting behavior is evidence of habit or character.

6	Partnership	Corporations and LLCs
	Partner's right to dissolve an at-will partnership.	Determining when a corporation comes into
	Partner's continuing duties to the partnership	existence: filing of articles of incorporation.
	during the winding-up process.	Personal liability on a contract by a party acting on
	Partner's fiduciary duties to the partnership and	behalf of a corporation when she did not know that
	other parties during the winding-up process; duty	the business had not been properly incorporated.
	not to appropriate partnership opportunities during	Limited liability in cases of defective incorporation:
	the winding-up of the partnership business.	"de facto corporation" and "corporation by estoppel" doctrine.
		Personal liability of inactive investor in the business
		on an employment contract; apply defective-
		incorporation principles, de facto corporation, and
		corporation by estoppel doctrines.

Essay #	February 2019	July 2019
1	Torts Negligence; negligence <i>per se:</i> state statute for speed limit. <i>Res ipsa loquitur</i> in action against medical providers where patient suffers infection following medical treatment for injuries from car accident. Assessing liability for damages; joint and several liability.	Decedents' Estates/Conflict of Laws Determining which state's law applies for probate of testator's holographic will (law of testator's domicile at death). Validity of a holographic will. Determining whether a will is conditional on an event. Applying the anti-lapse statute. Interpreting a ambiguity in a will provision. Whether a child omitted from the will is entitled to take.
2	Secured Transactions UCC Article 9 Whether a secured party may dispose of collateral after debtor's default without first notifying debtor. Perfecting a security interest: determining who has superior rights as between a secured party with possession and a person who has a judicial lien on the same item. Whether a security agreement describing collateral as "all personal property" creates an enforceable security interest in the debtor's property.	Criminal Law and Procedure Miranda rights: determining when they attach. When is a subject "in custody." Determining whether a suspect has invoked her right to counsel. When may law enforcement reinitiate custodial interrogation when the suspect has previously invoked the right to counsel. Whether the detective's Miranda warnings "reasonably conveyed" the suspect of her right to counsel.
3	Agency and Partnership Determining the type of entity formed: whether general partnership or LLC which they intended and agreed to share profits but failed to sign and file the LLC documents. Partner as agent of partnership; equal rights in management and control of partnership business. Partner's authority to bind partnership for an act for carrying on the ordinary course of partnership business, but not for an act outside the ordinary business. Dissociation from an at-will partnership; where other partners agree to continue the partnership there is no dissolution or winding up; buying-out the dissociating partner how much and when.	Corporations and LLCs Whether a no-dividend policy by the parent corp. violates its fiduciary duty of loyalty and care to its partially owned subsidiary Application of the "business judgment rule" in dealings between a controlling shareholder (parent corporation) and the controlled corporation. Conflict-of-interest transaction and self-dealing transactions. Allocating business opportunities within a corporate group.
4	Civil Procedure Jurisdiction: federal subject matter jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship (28 U.S.C. §1332(a)); diversity established at the time the suit is filed. Determining citizenship of corporation ("nerve center") and individual ("domicile") for purposes of diversity jurisdiction. Specific personal jurisdiction; general jurisdiction. Exercise of state's long-arm statute where it extends jurisdiction as far as the Due Process Clause of the 14 th Amendment allows; evaluation of contacts.	Contracts Recoverable damages in a contract action based on anticipatory repudiation. Determining a recovery based on the party's expectation interest. Whether consequential damages are recoverable. Determining whether lost profits are recoverable and the limits on such recovery.
5	Trusts and Future Interests Discretionary support trust with spendthrift protection; where trust instrument grants trustee discretion whether or not to pay beneficiary's support-related expenses. What constitutes a trustee's abuse of discretion in carrying out the trustee's duties.	Family Law Seeking spousal support in an intact marriage. Parents' constitutional right to care, custody, and control of their children under the14th amendment includes making health-care decisions. State's police authority to mandate vaccinations to protect public health.

	Claims against beneficiary of spendthrift trust: for unpaid child support, for unpaid medical care, for unpaid loan for computer-gaming system. Creditors' reach to beneficiary's trust income and trust interest.	UCCJEA and PKPA: initial child-custody action must be brought in child's "home state" – where the child lived for preceding 6 months. Determining child custody: fit legal parent preference over a non-parent (<i>Troxel</i>). Child's preference is relevant but not determinative when a nonparent seeks custody from a fit legal parent.
6	Criminal Law Applying common law rules to: burglary; larceny; embezzlement; receiving stolen property.	Civil Procedure and Constitutional Law Determining basis for federal diversity jurisdiction in a class action suit. <i>Erie</i> doctrine: applying federal procedural rules for class actions: where claim based on state-law right is brought in federal court. Application of Rule 23: facts of problem within the holding of <i>Shady Grove</i> . Article III: establishing basis for standing to satisfy the "cases" and "controversies" requirement. Whether an "intangible injury", invasion of privacy, satisfies the standing requirement of a "concrete" injury when the plaintiff seeks to recover only statutory damages and does not claim actual damages.



NEW YORK STATE BAR ASSOCIATION One Elk Street Albany, NY 12207